
 
 

 
To: ALL MEMBERS OF THE SHADOW AUTHORITY FOR  

WESTMORLAND AND FURNESS COUNCIL 
 
 
You are hereby summoned to attend the meeting of the Shadow Authority for 
Westmorland and Furness Council to be held at the Council Chamber, County 
Hall, Kendal, Cumbria LA9 4RQ, on Tuesday, 17 May 2022 at 2.30 pm 
 
 

Yours sincerely 

 
 

Sam Plum – Returning Officer Westmorland and Furness 
Council (Proper Officer) 

 
 
9 May 2022  
 
 

 
Enquiries and requests for supporting papers to: Jackie Currie 
Direct Line:  07919 056193 
Email   Jackie.currie@cumbria.gov.uk 
  
 
 
Requests for hard copies of the agenda and papers should be directed to the 
person above. 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

mailto:Jackie.currie@cumbria.gov.uk


A.G.E.N.D.A 
  

PART I - ITEMS CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PUBLIC AND 
PRESS   
  
1.   ROLL CALL FOR MEMBERS AND APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
To carry out a roll call for members and receive any apologies for absence. 
   
  
2.   ELECTION OF CHAIR 

 
To elect a Chair for the ensuing year. 
   
  
3.   APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIR 

 
To appoint a Vice Chair for the ensuing year. 
   
  
4.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
To receive declarations by Members and/or co-optees of interests in respect 
of items on this Agenda, and to consider any dispensations. 
  
Members may however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and  
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such 
disclosable pecuniary interests which they have already declared in  the 
Register, as well as any other registrable or other interests. 
   
  
5.   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 
To consider whether the public and press should be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of any item on the agenda. 
   
  
6.   CODE OF CONDUCT AND STANDARDS ARRANGEMENTS 

 
To consider a report from Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee asking 
Council to adopt a Code of Conduct for the Westmorland and Furness 
Shadow Authority, and note the commencement of recruitment of an 
Independent Person (copy enclosed). 
   
(Pages 5 - 98) 
 
 
 
  

Page 2



7.   PROPOSED SHADOW AUTHORITY CONSTITUTION 
 

To consider a report from the Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee 
asking Council to adopt the Constitution for the Westmorland and Furness 
Shadow Authority, which creates a Leader and Cabinet Executive within the 
meaning of Part 1A of the Local Government Act 2000 (a) (arrangements 
with respect to local authority governance)(the shadow executive) (copy 
enclosed).  
   
(Pages 99 - 230) 
  
8.   INTERIM STATUTORY ROLES 

 
To consider a report on the designation of interim statutory officers (copy 
enclosed). 
   
(Pages 231 - 244) 
  
9.   ELECTION OF LEADER 

 
To elect the Leader until the first meeting of the Westmorland and Furness 
Authority following Vesting Day. 
   
  
10.   DEPUTY LEADER AND SHADOW EXECUTIVE 

 
For Shadow Council to receive the names of the Deputy Leader and members 
of the Shadow Executive. 
   
  
11.   LEADERS AND DEPUTY LEADERS OF THE POLITICAL GROUPS 

 
For Shadow Council to receive the names of the Leader and Deputy Leader of 
the political groups. 
   
  
12.   POLITICAL BALANCE, AND ALLOCATION OF COMMITTEE PLACES 

 
To note the political balance of the Council and to consider the allocation of 
committee places (copy enclosed). 
   
(Pages 245 - 252) 
  
13.   CALENDAR OF MEETINGS - 2022-23 

 
To consider a recommendation from the Westmorland and Furness Joint 
Committee (copy enclosed). 
   
(Pages 253 - 272) 

Page 3



  
14.   IMPLEMENTATION TEAM 

 
To consider a report from the Programme Director (copy enclosed).  
   
(Pages 273 - 280) 
  
15.   IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

 
To consider a report from the Programme Director (copy enclosed). 
   
(Pages 281 - 314) 
  
16.   MEMBERS' ALLOWANCES AND APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT 

REMUNERATION PANEL 
 

To consider a scheme for Members’ Allowances and the appointment of the 
Independent Remuneration Panel (copy enclosed). 
   
(Pages 315 - 330) 
  
17.   URGENT ITEMS 

 
To consider any urgent items of business. 
   
  
PART II - ITEMS NOT CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PUBLIC 
AND PRESS  
 
None for this meeting. 
   

Page 4



Westmorland and Furness Shadow Authority 
Meeting 

17 May 2022 

Code of Conduct and Standards Arrangements 
 

Report from: Linda Fisher - Technical Lead Legal and Democratic 
Work Stream and Monitoring Officer (South Lakeland 
District Council) 

 

Report Author:  Debbie Storr, Monitoring Officer (Barrow Borough  
    Council) 

Wards:   All 
Key Decision:   N 

 
1.0 Purpose/Summary of report 

1.1 This report brings forward proposals for the code of conduct to be 
adopted by the Shadow Authority as formulated by the Westmorland and 
Furness Joint Committee. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Council:- 

(1) Adopts the Code of Conduct, Guidance and Arrangements 
for Dealing with Standards Matters and Register of Interests 
form, as set out in the report; and 

(2) Notes that a recruitment process is being initiated to enable 
the Shadow Authority to appoint an Independent Person at 
the earliest opportunity. 

 
3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 Councils have a legal obligation to adopt a Code of Conduct regarding the 
conduct which is expected of members of the Council and co-opted 
members of the authority (Localism Act 2011). 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



3.2 Article 25 of the Cumbria Structural Changes 2022 (“the 2022 Order”) 
required the Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee to formulate 
proposals for the code of conduct to be adopted by the Shadow Authority 
and present those proposals at the first meeting of the Shadow Authority.  
In formulating the proposals, the Joint Committee was required to have 
regard to sections 27 and 28 of the Localism Act 2011 (“the 2011 Act”).  
The sections of the Act are attached as Appendix 1 to this report. 

3.3 Article 8 of the 2022 Order requires the shadow authority to adopt a code 
proposed pursuant to Article 25 at its first meeting.  In doing so, it must 
make such amendments or modifications to the proposals submitted to 
it as it considers necessary to secure that, when adopted, the code will 
satisfy the requirements of section 27 (duty to promote and maintain 
high standards of conduct) and section 28 (codes of conduct) of the 2011 
Act. 

3.4 Section 28 of the Act requires that the code of conduct, when viewed as 
a whole is consistent with the following principles: 

 a. Selflessness 

 b. Integrity 

 c.  Objectivity 

 d. Accountability 

 e. Openness 

 f. Honesty 

 g. Leadership 

3.5 The code of conduct must include provisions the authority deems 
appropriate in respect of the registration in its register, and disclosure 
of, pecuniary interests and interests other than pecuniary interests. 

3.6 The authority is required to have in place arrangements under which 
allegations relating to the code of conduct may be investigated and 
arrangements under which decisions on allegations can be made. 

3.7 The arrangements referred to must include provision for the appointment 
of at least one independent person whose views are to be sought and 
taken into account by the authority before it makes a decision on an 
allegation that it has decided to investigate. The Joint Committee 
approved the Monitoring Officers from the relevant authorities to consider 
a recruitment exercise in order that Shadow Authorities may consider 
shortlisted applications and make appointments at the earliest 
opportunity. It is proposed that members of the Standards Committee 
will be involved in the process of recruitment and appointment of the 
independent member.  

Page 6



3.8 Once adopted the Council must publicise such adoption in such manner 
as it considers likely to bring the adoption to the attention of persons 
who live in the area.  If adopted it is proposed that the Code be published 
on the Shadow Authority website. 

3.9 Code of Conduct, Arrangements and Guidance for Westmorland 
and Furness 

3.10 Some Members may be aware that the local authorities across Cumbria 
have adopted, subject to minor local variations, a consistent code of 
conduct, arrangements and guidance.  The code used in Cumbria has 
only recently been updated across the authorities (or is in the process of 
being updated) following the publication of a model template by the Local 
Government Association which was designed to incorporate the best 
practice recommendations made by the Committee on Standards in 
Public Life which were published in 2019 (see background documents for 
the relevant link). Other recommendations of the said Committee require 
changes to legislation. 

3.11 The Joint Committee considered the following documents at their 
meeting on 11 April 2022 and have recommended them for adoption by 
the Shadow Authority: 

  Appendix 2: Westmorland and Furness Code of Conduct 
  Appendix 3: Arrangements for dealing with standards matters 
  Appendix 4: Code of Conduct Guidance 
  Appendix 5: Register of Interests Form 

 4.0 Consultation 
 
4.1 The Local Government Association carried out a wide consultation when 

formulating its proposed Code of Conduct.  This was promoted with 
Members of the different Cumbrian Councils at the time in order that they 
could contribute. The suggested Code and arrangements have been 
consulted upon and discussed by the Cumbria Monitoring Officers with 
amendments and a final draft worked up through collaboration of the 
Cumbrian Monitoring Officer Group. 

4.21 The Joint Committee has considered the documents as attached to the 
report and are recommending them to the Shadow Authority for 
adoption. 

5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1 There is an option to put forward revisions to the code, but this is not 
recommended.  The recommended code is based on the LGA Model Code 
of Conduct and collaborative work undertaken by the Cumbria Monitoring 
Officers. 

Page 7



6.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

6.1 The costs incurred in respect of appointing an Independent Person for 
the Shadow Authority would be funded from the combined LGR reserve. 

Human Resources 

6.2 There are no direct staffing implications associated with this report.  The 
Monitoring Officer is required to maintain a register of members’ interests 
which will be made available on the Council’s website. 

Legal 

6.3 All legal implications are as outlined in the report. 

Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment 

6.4 Have you completed a Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment? 
appendix) / No – There are no direct health and sustainability 
implications associated with this report. 

Equality and Diversity.  

6.6 The Code of Conduct fully meets the requirements of the Equality Act 
(2010). An Equality Impact Assessment is not necessary 

    

Risk Management Consequence Controls required 

That the Shadow 
Authority fails to adopt a 
code of conduct at its 
first meeting 

Failure to comply with 
the requirements of 
the Cumbria 
(Structural Changes) 
Order 2022 

Ensure adoption of a 
code in accordance 
with the 
requirements of the 
2022 Order 

 
Contact Officers 

Linda Fisher, Monitoring Officer and Technical Lead Legal and Democratic Work Stream 
(South Lakeland District Council) 

Page 8



Appendices Attached to this Report 
 
Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Sections 27 and 28 of the Localism Act 2011 

2 Proposed Code of Conduct 

3 Proposed Arrangements for Standards 

4 Guidance for Standards matters 

5 Register of Interests Form 

 
Background Documents Available 
 
Name of Background 
document 

Where it is available 

Localism Act 2011 Localism Act 2011 (legislation.gov.uk) 

The Cumbria (Structural 
Changes Order) 2022 

The Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022 
(legislation.gov.uk) 

Recommendations from 
Committee on Standards in 
Public Life 2019 

Local Government Ethical Standards January 2019 
(publishing.service.gov.uk) 

Page 9

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2022/9780348231359/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2022/9780348231359/contents
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/777315/6.4896_CO_CSPL_Command_Paper_on_Local_Government_Standards_v4_WEB.PDF
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/777315/6.4896_CO_CSPL_Command_Paper_on_Local_Government_Standards_v4_WEB.PDF


This page is intentionally left blank



Localism Act 2011 c. 20  
 

© 2021 Thomson Reuters. 1 

APPENDIX 1 
Localism Act 2011 c. 20 
s. 27 Duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct 
 
  

27 Duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct 

(1)  A relevant authority must promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members and co-opted members of the 
authority. 

(2)  In discharging its duty under subsection (1), a relevant authority must, in particular, adopt a code dealing with the 
conduct that is expected of members and co-opted members of the authority when they are acting in that capacity. 

(3)  A relevant authority that is a parish council— 

(a)  may comply with subsection (2) by adopting the code adopted under that subsection by its principal authority, where 
relevant on the basis that references in that code to its principal authority’s register are to its register, and 

(b)  may for that purpose assume that its principal authority has complied with section 28(1) and (2). 

(4)  In this Chapter “co-opted member” , in relation to a relevant authority, means a person who is not a member of the 
authority but who— 

(a)  is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or 

(b)  is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or joint sub-committee of the authority, 

and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any meeting of that committee or sub-committee. 

[ 

(4A)  In this Chapter “co-opted member”  includes a police and crime commissioner who— 

(a)  is entitled to participate in meetings of a county or district council by virtue of paragraph 6ZA of Part 1 of Schedule 
12 to the Local Government Act 1972, or 

(b)  is entitled to participate in meetings of an executive of a county or district council by virtue of paragraph 4A of 
Schedule A1 to the Local Government Act 2000. 

]1 

(5)  A reference in this Chapter to a joint committee or joint sub-committee of a relevant authority is a reference to a joint 
committee on which the authority is represented or a sub-committee of such a committee. 

(6)  In this Chapter “relevant authority”  means— 

Page 11

http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I9AA4F73014C911E1A6718D7CED27531D/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/ID78EFD8114C911E19E5AF8480E3EF42C/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I36DD2F70AFDC11E696A9FD2A9E5DC4E7/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I36DD2F70AFDC11E696A9FD2A9E5DC4E7/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I605CBE51E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I485C6720AFDC11E696A9FD2A9E5DC4E7/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I485C6720AFDC11E696A9FD2A9E5DC4E7/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I5FADB9A1E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)


Localism Act 2011 c. 20  
 

© 2021 Thomson Reuters. 2 

(a)  a county council in England, 

(b)  a district council, 

(c)  a London borough council, 

(d)  a parish council, 

(e)  the Greater London Authority, 

[...]2[...]3 

(h)  the Common Council of the City of London in its capacity as a local authority or police authority, 

(i)  the Council of the Isles of Scilly, 

(j)  a fire and rescue authority in England constituted by a scheme under section 2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 
2004 or a scheme to which section 4 of that Act applies, 

[...]4 

(l)  a joint authority established by Part 4 of the Local Government Act 1985, 

(m)  an economic prosperity board established under section 88 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and 
Construction Act 2009, 

(n)  a combined authority established under section 103 of that Act, 

(o)  the Broads Authority, or 

(p)  a National Park authority in England established under section 63 of the Environment Act 1995. 

(7)  Any reference in this Chapter to a member of a relevant authority— 

(a)  in the case of a relevant authority to which Part 1A of the Local Government Act 2000 applies, includes a reference 
to an elected mayor; 

(b)  in the case of the Greater London Authority, is a reference to the Mayor of London or a London Assembly member. 

(8)  Functions that are conferred by this Chapter on a relevant authority to which Part 1A of the Local Government Act 
2000 applies are not to be the responsibility of an executive of the authority under executive arrangements. 

(9)  Functions that are conferred by this Chapter on the Greater London Authority are to be exercisable by the Mayor of 

Page 12

http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I20538160E44911DA8D70A0E70A78ED65/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I5F926970E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I5F926970E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I4E6BB230E44811DA8D70A0E70A78ED65/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I8B948450E44A11DA8D70A0E70A78ED65/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I6017ED20E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/ID9C6BD82D20A11DEA78F83CF808B96F2/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/IB15F2420D20711DE8B12EF93BCCE7639/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/IB15F2420D20711DE8B12EF93BCCE7639/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/ID9CA6701D20A11DEA78F83CF808B96F2/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I4F1F3C00E44E11DA8D70A0E70A78ED65/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I5FCE12E0E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I79FC8200208B11E1859CFE691AC2A626/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I5FADB9A1E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I79FC8200208B11E1859CFE691AC2A626/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I5FADB9A1E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I5FADB9A1E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)


Localism Act 2011 c. 20  
 

© 2021 Thomson Reuters. 3 

London and the London Assembly acting jointly on behalf of the Authority. 

(10)  In this Chapter except section 35— 

(a)  a reference to a committee or sub-committee of a relevant authority is, where the relevant authority is the Greater 
London Authority, a reference to— 

(i)  a committee or sub-committee of the London Assembly, or 

(ii)  the standards committee, or a sub-committee of that committee, established under that section, 

(b)  a reference to a joint committee on which a relevant authority is represented is, where the relevant authority is the 
Greater London Authority, a reference to a joint committee on which the Authority, the London Assembly or the Mayor 
of London is represented, 

(c)  a reference to becoming a member of a relevant authority is, where the relevant authority is the Greater London 
Authority, a reference to becoming the Mayor of London or a member of the London Assembly, and 

(d)  a reference to a meeting of a relevant authority is, where the relevant authority is the Greater London Authority, a 
reference to a meeting of the London Assembly; 

 and in subsection (4)(b) the reference to representing the relevant authority is, where the relevant authority is the Greater 
London Authority, a reference to representing the Authority, the London Assembly or the Mayor of London. 

Notes 
 

1 
 

Added by Policing and Crime Act 2017 c. 3 Pt 1 c.2 s.7(14) (April 3, 2017) 
 

2 
 

Repealed by Localism Act 2011 c. 20 Pt 1 c.7 s.36(a) (June 7, 2012: repeal came into force on January 15, 2012 but 
could not take effect until the commencement of 2011 c.20 s.27 on June 7, 2012) 
 

3 
 

Repealed by Policing and Crime Act 2017 c. 3 Sch.2(2) para.119 (April 1, 2018) 
 

4 
 

Repealed by Localism Act 2011 c. 20 Sch.25(5) para.1 (November 22, 2012: repeal has effect as SI 2012/2913 
subject to transitional, transitory and savings provisions specified in SI 2012/2913 arts 3, 4, 5 and 6) 
 

 
  

Part 1 LOCAL GOVERNMENT > Chapter 7 STANDARDS > s. 27 Duty to promote and maintain high standards of 
conduct 

Crown Copyright material is reproduced with the permission of the Controller of HMSO and the Queen’s Printer for Scotland 

Page 13

http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/ID793B87114C911E19E5AF8480E3EF42C/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I299A4DA0EA8F11E68406A1E16C4EABC9/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/ID793DF8014C911E19E5AF8480E3EF42C/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/IC4E13D10EA8E11E68406A1E16C4EABC9/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/ID84D6B8314C911E19E5AF8480E3EF42C/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)


Localism Act 2011 c. 20  
 

© 2021 Thomson Reuters. 4 

 

s. 28 Codes of conduct 
 
 

28 Codes of conduct 

(1)  A relevant authority must secure that a code adopted by it under section 27(2) (a “code of conduct”) is, when viewed 
as a whole, consistent with the following principles— 

(a)  selflessness; 

(b)  integrity; 

(c)  objectivity; 

(d)  accountability; 

(e)  openness; 

(f)  honesty; 

(g)  leadership. 

(2)  A relevant authority must secure that its code of conduct includes the provision the authority considers appropriate in 
respect of the registration in its register, and disclosure, of— 

(a)  pecuniary interests, and 

(b)  interests other than pecuniary interests. 

(3)  Sections 29 to 34 do not limit what may be included in a relevant authority’s code of conduct, but nothing in a relevant 
authority’s code of conduct prejudices the operation of those sections. 

(4)  A failure to comply with a relevant authority’s code of conduct is not to be dealt with otherwise than in accordance 
with arrangements made under subsection (6); in particular, a decision is not invalidated just because something that 
occurred in the process of making the decision involved a failure to comply with the code. 

(5)  A relevant authority may— 

(a)  revise its existing code of conduct, or 

(b)  adopt a code of conduct to replace its existing code of conduct. 

Page 14

http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/ID78ED67214C911E19E5AF8480E3EF42C/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/ID78FC0D014C911E19E5AF8480E3EF42C/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)


Localism Act 2011 c. 20  
 

© 2021 Thomson Reuters. 5 

(6)  A relevant authority other than a parish council must have in place— 

(a)  arrangements under which allegations can be investigated, and 

(b)  arrangements under which decisions on allegations can be made. 

(7)  Arrangements put in place under subsection (6)(b) by a relevant authority must include provision for the appointment 
by the authority of at least one independent person— 

(a)  whose views are to be sought, and taken into account, by the authority before it makes its decision on an allegation 
that it has decided to investigate, and 

(b)  whose views may be sought— 

(i)  by the authority in relation to an allegation in circumstances not within paragraph (a), 

(ii)  by a member, or co-opted member, of the authority if that person’s behaviour is the subject of an allegation, and 

(iii)  by a member, or co-opted member, of a parish council if that person’s behaviour is the subject of an allegation 
and the authority is the parish council’s principal authority. 

(8)  For the purposes of subsection (7)— 

(a)  a person is not independent if the person is— 

(i)  a member, co-opted member or officer of the authority, 

(ii)  a member, co-opted member or officer of a parish council of which the authority is the principal authority, or 

(iii)  a relative, or close friend, of a person within sub-paragraph (i) or (ii); 

(b)  a person may not be appointed under the provision required by subsection (7) if at any time during the 5 years 
ending with the appointment the person was— 

(i)  a member, co-opted member or officer of the authority, or 

(ii)  a member, co-opted member or officer of a parish council of which the authority is the principal authority; 

(c)  a person may not be appointed under the provision required by subsection (7) unless— 

(i)  the vacancy for an independent person has been advertised in such manner as the authority considers is likely to 
bring it to the attention of the public, 

Page 15



Localism Act 2011 c. 20  
 

© 2021 Thomson Reuters. 6 

(ii)  the person has submitted an application to fill the vacancy to the authority, and 

(iii)  the person’s appointment has been approved by a majority of the members of the authority; 

(d)  a person appointed under the provision required by subsection (7) does not cease to be independent as a result of 
being paid any amounts by way of allowances or expenses in connection with performing the duties of the appointment. 

(9)  In subsections (6) and (7) “allegation” , in relation to a relevant authority, means a written allegation— 

(a)  that a member or co-opted member of the authority has failed to comply with the authority’s code of conduct, or 

(b)  that a member or co-opted member of a parish council for which the authority is the principal authority has failed to 
comply with the parish council’s code of conduct. 

(10)  For the purposes of subsection (8) a person (“R”) is a relative of another person if R is— 

(a)  the other person’s spouse or civil partner, 

(b)  living with the other person as husband and wife or as if they were civil partners, 

(c)  a grandparent of the other person, 

(d)  a lineal descendant of a grandparent of the other person, 

(e)  a parent, sibling or child of a person within paragraph (a) or (b), 

(f)  the spouse or civil partner of a person within paragraph (c), (d) or (e), or 

(g)  living with a person within paragraph (c), (d) or (e) as husband and wife or as if they were civil partners. 

(11)  If a relevant authority finds that a member or co-opted member of the authority has failed to comply with its code of 
conduct (whether or not the finding is made following an investigation under arrangements put in place under subsection 
(6)) it may have regard to the failure in deciding— 

(a)  whether to take action in relation to the member or co-opted member, and 

(b)  what action to take. 

[ 

 

Page 16



Localism Act 2011 c. 20  
 

© 2021 Thomson Reuters. 7 

(11A)  Subsections (11B) to (11D) apply if a police and crime commissioner is a member or co-opted member of a 
relevant authority in the commissioner’s capacity as such. 

(11B)  Arrangements put in place under subsection (6)(b) by the relevant authority must include provision for an allegation 
against the commissioner to be referred to the police and crime panel for the commissioner’s police area. 

(11C)  If, in response to an allegation referred to it by virtue of subsection (11B), the police and crime panel makes a report 
or recommendation to the police and crime commissioner under section 28(6) of the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011, the panel may also make a report or recommendation on the allegation to the relevant authority. 

(11D)  The relevant authority must take any such report or recommendation into account in determining— 

(a)  whether the police and crime commissioner has failed to comply with the authority’s code of conduct, 

(b)  whether to take action in relation to the commissioner, and 

(c)  what action to take. 

]1 

(12)  A relevant authority must publicise its adoption, revision or replacement of a code of conduct in such manner as it 
considers is likely to bring the adoption, revision or replacement of the code of conduct to the attention of persons who live 
in its area. 

(13)  A relevant authority’s function of adopting, revising or replacing a code of conduct may be discharged only by the 
authority. 

(14)  Accordingly— 

(a)  in the case of an authority to whom section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 (arrangements for discharge of 
functions) applies, the function is not a function to which that section applies; 

(b)  in the case of the Greater London Authority, the function is not a function to which section 35 (delegation of 
functions by the Greater London Authority) applies. 

Notes 
 

1 
 

Added by Policing and Crime Act 2017 c. 3 Pt 1 c.2 s.7(15) (April 3, 2017) 
 

 
  

Part 1 LOCAL GOVERNMENT > Chapter 7 STANDARDS > s. 28 Codes of conduct 

Crown Copyright material is reproduced with the permission of the Controller of HMSO and the Queen’s Printer for Scotland 

Page 17

http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I2029FB01E8BD11E0B267C6FC150056EE/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/IFC99D2F0E8BC11E0953A83229903EB8E/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/IFC99D2F0E8BC11E0953A83229903EB8E/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I20F7FEC0E44911DA8D70A0E70A78ED65/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I605CBE51E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/ID793B87114C911E19E5AF8480E3EF42C/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)
http://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I299A4DA0EA8F11E68406A1E16C4EABC9/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&vr=3.0&rs=PLUK1.0&contextData=(sc.Folder*cid.d61534eb980f474a929cb0d671a11c96*oc.DocLink)


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

1 

 

 

 

 

WESTMORLAND AND FURNESS COUNCIL  

Councillor Code of Conduct 

(Adopted [insert date])  
 
 

Page 19



Appendix 2

Definitions 
 
For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, a “councillor” means a member or co-
opted member of a local authority or a directly elected mayor. A “co-opted member” 
is defined in the Localism Act 2011 Section 27(4) as “a person who is not a member 
of the authority but who 
 

a) is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or; 
b) is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or 

joint sub- committee of the authority; 
 

and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any meeting 
of that committee or sub-committee”. 
 
For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, “local authority” includes county councils, 
district councils, London borough councils, parish councils, town councils, fire and 
rescue authorities, police authorities, joint authorities, economic prosperity boards, 
combined authorities and National Park authorities. 

 
Purpose of the Code of Conduct 
 
The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a councillor, in modelling 
the behaviour that is expected of you, to provide a personal check and balance, 
and to set out the type of conduct that could lead to action being taken against you. 
It is also to protect you, the public, fellow councillors, local authority officers and 
the reputation of local government. It sets out general principles of conduct 
expected of all councillors and your specific obligations in relation to standards of 
conduct. The LGA encourages the use of support, training and mediation prior to 
action being taken using the Code. The fundamental aim of the Code is to create 
and maintain public confidence in the role of councillor and local government. 

 
General principles of councillor conduct 

Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public 
services, including ministers, civil servants, councillors and local authority 
officers; should uphold the Seven Principles of Public Life, also known as the 
Nolan Principles. 

Building on these principles, the following general principles have been 
developed specifically for the role of councillor. 

In accordance with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions: 

  I act with integrity and honesty 
  I act lawfully 
  I treat all persons fairly and with respect; and 
  I lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the 

role of councillor. 

 

 

Page 20

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2


Appendix 2

 

In undertaking my role: 

  I impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local community 
  I do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, 

on any person 
  I avoid conflicts of interest 
  I exercise reasonable care and diligence; and 

 
  I ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with 

my local authority’s requirements and in the public interest. 
 

Application of the Code of Conduct 

This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of 
acceptance of the office of councillor or attend your first meeting as a co-opted 
member and continues to apply to you until you cease to be a councillor. 

This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as a 
councillor which may include when: 

  you misuse your position as a councillor 

  Your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the 
public with knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a councillor; 

The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including: 

  at face-to-face meetings 

  at online or telephone meetings 

  in written communication 

  in verbal communication 

  in non-verbal communication 

  in electronic and social media communication, posts, 
statements and comments. 

You are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show leadership at all 
times when acting as a councillor. 

Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of the 
Code of Conduct, and you are encouraged to seek advice from your Monitoring 
Officer on any matters that may relate to the Code of Conduct. Town and parish 
councillors are encouraged to seek advice from their Clerk, who may refer matters 
to the Monitoring Officer. 

Standards of councillor conduct 

This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct 
required of you as a councillor. Should your conduct fall short of these standards, a 

Page 21



Appendix 2

complaint may be made against you, which may result in action being taken. 

Guidance is included to help explain the reasons for the obligations and how they 
should be followed. 

 

Page 22



Appendix 2

General Conduct 

1. Respect 

As a councillor: 

1.1 I treat other councillors and members of the public with respect. 
 
1.2 I treat local authority employees, employees and 

representatives of partner organisations and those 
volunteering for the local authority with respect and respect the 
role they play. 

Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the written 
word. Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy democracy. As a 
councillor, you can express, challenge, criticise and disagree with views, ideas, 
opinions and policies in a robust but civil manner. You should not, however, subject 
individuals, groups of people or organisations to personal attack. 

In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and courteously. Rude 
and offensive behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in 
councillors. 

In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the public. If members 
of the public are being abusive, intimidatory or threatening you are entitled to stop 
any conversation or interaction in person or online and report them to the local 
authority, the relevant social media provider or the police. This also applies to fellow 
councillors, where action could then be taken under the Councillor Code of Conduct, 
and local authority employees, where concerns should be raised in line with the local 
authority’s councillor- officer protocol. 

2. Bullying, harassment and discrimination  

As a councillor: 

2.1 I do not bully any person. 
 
2.2 I do not harass any person. 
 
2.3 I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully 

against any person. 
 

The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises bullying as 
offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power 
through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. Bullying 
might be a regular pattern of behaviour or a one-off incident, happen face-to-face, 
on social media, in virtual meetings, emails or phone calls, happen in the workplace 
or at work social events and may not always be obvious or noticed by others. 

The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct that 
causes alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve such 
conduct on at least two occasions. It can include repeated attempts to impose 

Page 23



Appendix 2

unwanted communications and contact upon a person in a manner that could be 
expected to cause distress or fear in any reasonable person. 

Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a 
protected characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a 
person's 

identity defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, 
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. Councillors have 
a central role to play in ensuring that equality issues are integral to the local 
authority's performance and strategic aims, and that there is a strong vision and 
public commitment to equality across public services. 

3. Impartiality of officers of the council  

As a councillor: 
 

3.1 I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the 
impartiality of anyone who works for, or on behalf of, 
the local authority. 

Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral (unless 
they are political assistants). They should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a 
way that would undermine their neutrality. You can question officers in order to 
understand, for example, their reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or the 
content of a report that they have written. However, you must not try and force them 
to act differently, change their advice, or alter the content of that report, if doing so 
would prejudice their professional integrity. 
 
4. Confidentiality and access to information  

As a councillor: 

4.1 I do not disclose information: 
 

a. given to me in confidence by anyone 
b. acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably 

to be aware, is of a confidential nature, unless 

i. I have received the consent of a person authorised to give 
it; 

ii. I am required by law to do so; 
iii. the disclosure is made to a third party for the 

purpose of obtaining professional legal advice 
provided that the third party agrees not to disclose 
the information to any other person; or 

iv. the disclosure is: 

Page 24



Appendix 2

1. reasonable and in the public interest; and 
2. made in good faith and in compliance with the 

reasonable requirements of the local authority; 
and 

3. I have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior 
to its release. 

 
4.2 I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of 

my role as a councillor for the advancement of myself, my 
friends, my family members, my employer or my business 
interests. 

 
4.3 I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they are 

entitled to by law. 
 

Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings and 
printed materials are open to the public, except in certain legally defined 
circumstances. You should work on this basis, but there will be times when it is 
required by law that discussions, documents and other information relating to or held 
by the local authority must be treated in a confidential manner. Examples include 
personal data relating to individuals or information relating to ongoing negotiations. 
 
5. Disrepute  

As a councillor: 

5.1 I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute. 

As a councillor, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your community and 
your actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than that of ordinary 
members of the public. You should be aware that your actions might have an 
adverse impact on you, other councillors and/or your local authority and may lower 
the public’s confidence in your or your local authority’s ability to discharge your/it’s 
functions. For example, behaviour that is considered dishonest and/or deceitful can 
bring your local authority into disrepute. 
 
You are able to hold the local authority and fellow councillors to account and are able 
to constructively challenge and express concern about decisions and processes 
undertaken by the council whilst continuing to adhere to other aspects of this Code 
of Conduct. 
 
6. Use of position  

As a councillor: 

6.1 I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the 
advantage or disadvantage of myself or anyone else. 

Your position as a member of the local authority provides you with certain 
opportunities, responsibilities and privileges, and you make choices all the time that 
will impact others. However, you should not take advantage of these opportunities 

Page 25



Appendix 2

to further your own or others’ private interests or to disadvantage anyone unfairly. 

 

 

 

 

7. Use of local authority resources and facilities  

As a councillor: 

7.1 I do not misuse council resources. 

7.2 I will, when using the resources of the local authority or 
authorising their use by others: 

a. act in accordance with the local authority's requirements; and 

b. ensure that such resources are not used for political 
purposes. 

You may be provided with resources and facilities by the local authority to assist you 
in carrying out your duties as a councillor. 

Examples include: 

  office support 
  stationery 
  equipment such as phones, and computers 
  transport 
  access and use of local authority buildings and rooms. 

 
These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a councillor more effectively 
and are not to be used for business or personal gain. They should be used in 
accordance with the purpose for which they have been provided and the local 
authority’s own policies regarding their use. 
 

8. Complying with the Code of Conduct  

As a Councillor: 
 

8.1 I undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my local 
authority. 

 
8.2 I cooperate with any Code of Conduct 

investigation and/or determination. 
 
8.3 I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who 

is likely to be involved with the administration of any 

Page 26



Appendix 2

investigation or proceedings. 
 
8.4 I comply with any sanction imposed on me following a 

finding that I have breached the Code of Conduct. 

It is extremely important for you as a councillor to demonstrate high standards, 
for you to have your actions open to scrutiny and for you not to undermine public 
trust in the local authority or its governance. If you do not understand or are 
concerned about the local authority’s processes in handling a complaint you 
should raise this with your Monitoring Officer. 
 

Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local authority 

9. Interests 

As a councillor: 

9.1 I register and disclose my interests. 

Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to 
establish and maintain a register of interests of members of the authority. 

You need to register your interests so that the public, local authority employees and 
fellow councillors know which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of interest.  
The register is a public document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue 
arises. The register also protects you by allowing you to demonstrate openness and 
a willingness to be held accountable. You are personally responsible for deciding 
whether or not you should disclose an interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for 
you to know early on if others think that a potential conflict might arise. It is also  
important that the public know about any interest that might have to be disclosed by 
you or other councillors when making or taking part in decisions, so that decision 
making is seen by the public as open and honest. This helps to ensure that public 
confidence in the integrity of local governance is maintained. 

You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest 
as set out in Table 1, is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011. 

Appendix B sets out the detailed provisions on registering and disclosing interests. 
If in doubt, you should always seek advice from your Monitoring Officer. 

10. Gifts and hospitality  

As a councillor: 

10.1 I do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, 
which could give rise to real or substantive personal gain or a 
reasonable suspicion of influence on my part to show favour from 
persons seeking to acquire, develop or do business with the local 
authority or from persons who may apply to the local authority for 
any permission, licence or other significant advantage. 

 
 

Page 27



Appendix 2

10.2 I register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality 
with an estimated value of at least £50 within 28 days of its 
receipt. 

 
10.3 I register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or 

hospitality with an estimated value of at least £50 that I 
have been offered but have refused to accept. 

In order to protect your position and the reputation of the local authority, you should 
exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or which you 
reasonably believe to be) offered to you because you are a councillor. The 
presumption should always be not to accept significant gifts or hospitality.  

However, there may be times when such a refusal may be difficult if it is seen as 
rudeness in which case you could accept it but must ensure it is publicly registered. 
However, you do not need to register gifts and hospitality which are not related to 
your role as a councillor, such as Christmas gifts from your friends and family. It is 
also important to note that it is appropriate to accept normal expenses and 
hospitality associated with your duties as a councillor. If you are unsure, do contact 
your Monitoring Officer for guidance 

Appendices 

 
Appendix A – The Seven Principles of Public Life 

The principles are: 

Selflessness 

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

Integrity 

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people 
or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They 
should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits 
for themselves, their family, or their friends. They must disclose and resolve any 
interests and relationships. 

Objectivity 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, 
using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

Accountability 

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and 
actions and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

 

 

Page 28



Appendix 2

Openness 

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 
manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear 
and lawful reasons for so doing. 

Honesty 

Holders of public office should be truthful. 

Leadership 

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They 
should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge 
poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 

Page 29



Appendix 2

12 

Appendix B  

Registering interests 

Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office 
you must register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the 
categories set out in Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as 
described in “The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 
2012”. You should also register details of your other personal interests which fall within 
the categories set out in Table 2 (Other Registerable Interests). 

 
“Disclosable pecuniary interest” means an interest of yourself, or of your partner if 
you are aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 
below. 

 
"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners. 

 
1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and 

within 28 days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change 
to a registered interest, notify the Monitoring Officer. 

 
2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to 

the councillor, or a person connected with the councillor, being subject 
to violence or intimidation. 

 
3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring 

Officer with the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the 
Monitoring Officer agrees they will withhold the interest from the public 
register. 

Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest 

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the 
interest, not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not 
remain in the room/meeting unless you have been granted a dispensation.  
In addition, you may speak on the matter only if members of the public are 
also allowed to speak and having spoken you must leave the room/meeting. 
If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the 
interest, just that you have an interest. Dispensation may be granted in limited 
circumstances, to enable you to participate and vote on a matter in which you 
have a disclosable pecuniary interest. 

5. Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered 
or is being considered by you as an Executive member in exercise of your 
executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and 
must not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart from arranging for 
someone else to deal with it 

 

Page 30



Appendix 2

13 

Disclosure of Other Registrable Interests 

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Other 
Registrable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must disclose the interest. If 
you have such an interest you must consider whether a reasonable member 
of the public, knowing all the facts, would think the interest such that it may 
influence the way you vote.  If the ordinary person would think that the interest 
may influence your vote then you should not participate in the matter.  In these 
circumstances you may speak on the matter only if members of the public are 
also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any 
discussion or vote on the matter. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have 
to disclose the nature of the interest 

 
Disclosure of Non- Registrable Interests 

 
7. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial 

interest or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest set out in 
Table 1) or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, 
you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if 
members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but 
otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter unless 
you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do 
not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

 
8. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects – 

a. your own financial interest or well-being; 
b. a financial interest or well-being of a friend, relative, close associate; or 
c. a financial interest or wellbeing of a body 

included under Other Registrable Interests set 
out in Table 1  

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you may 
participate in the meeting after disclosing your interest the following test 
should be applied: 

9. Where a matter affects your financial interest or well-being so that a 
reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it 
may affect your view of the wider public interest you may speak on the 
matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the 
meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the 
matter. 

If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the 
interest. 

 
10. Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and 

you have made an executive decision in relation to that business, you must 
make sure that any written statement of that decision records the existence 
and nature of your interest. 

 
 
 

Page 31



Appendix 2

14 

Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in 
the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012. 

 
Subject Description 
Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 
 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any 
other financial benefit (other than 
from the council) made to the 
councillor during the previous 12-
month period for expenses incurred 
by him/her in carrying out his/her 
duties as a councillor, or towards 
his/her election expenses. 
This includes any payment or 
financial benefit from a trade union 
within the meaning of the Trade 
Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992. Contracts Any contract made between the 
councillor or his/her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which 
such person is a partner, or an 
incorporated body of which such person  
is a director* or a body that such person 
has a beneficial interest in the securities 
of*) and the council 
— 
(a) under which goods or services are 
to be provided or works are to be 
executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. Land and Property Any beneficial interest in land which 
is within the area of the council. 
‘Land’ excludes an easement, 
servitude, interest or right in or over 
land which does not give the councillor 
or his/her spouse or civil partner or the 
person with whom the councillor is 
living as if they were spouses/ civil 
partners (alone or jointly with another) 
a right to occupy or to receive income. 

Licenses Any licence (alone or jointly with others) 
to occupy land in the area of the council 
for a month or longer 

Page 32

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made


Appendix 2

15 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s 
knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the council; and 
(b) the tenant is a body that the 
councillor, or his/her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were 
spouses/ civil partners is a partner of or 
a director* of or has a beneficial 
interest in the securities* of. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* 
of a body where— 
(a) that body (to the councillor’s 
knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the 
council; and 
(b) either— 
(i) ) the total nominal value of 
the securities* exceeds £25,000 
or one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that 
body; or 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of 
more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in 
which the councillor, or his/ her spouse 
or civil partner or the person with whom 
the councillor is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners has a beneficial 
interest exceeds one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that class. 

 
* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an 
industrial and provident society. 

* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units 
of a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services 
and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money 
deposited with a building society. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 33



Appendix 2

16 

Table 2: Other Registrable Interests 
 

You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is 
likely to affect:

a) Any unpaid directorships
b) any body of which you are in general control or management and to which you 

are nominated or appointed by your authority

c) any body
(i) exercising functions of a public nature
(ii) any body directed to charitable purposes or
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion 

or policy (including any political party or trade union)
of which you are a member or in a position of general control or 
management

Page 34



Westmorland and Furness Council Page 1 
of17

Appendix 3 (note this appendix contains appendices) 
 

Westmorland and Furness Council 
Arrangements for dealing with standards allegations under the Localism Act 2011 

 
1 Context 

 
These “Arrangements” set out how you may make a complaint that an elected or co-
opted member of this authority [or of a parish council within its area] has failed to 
comply with the authority’s Code of Conduct, and sets out how the authority will deal 
with allegations of a failure to comply with the authority’s Code of Conduct. 
 
Under Section 28(6) and (7) of the Localism Act 2011, the Council must have in place 
“arrangements” under which allegations that a member or co-opted member of the 
authority [or of a parish council within the authority’s area], or of a Committee or Sub-
Committee of the authority, has failed to comply with that authority’s Code of Conduct 
can be investigated and decisions made on such allegations.  
 
Such arrangements must provide for the authority to appoint at least one Independent 
Person, whose views must be sought by the authority before it takes a decision on any 
allegation which it has decided shall be investigated, and whose views can be sought 
by the authority at any other stage, or by a member [or a member or co-opted member 
of a parish council] against whom an allegation has been made. 
 

2 The Code of Conduct 
 
The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for members, which is attached as 
Appendix One to these arrangements and available for inspection on the authority’s 
website and on request from Reception at the Council Offices, [INSERT ADDRESS]. 
 
Each parish council is also required to adopt a Code of Conduct. If you wish to inspect 
a Parish Council’s Code of Conduct, you should do so by going to the  website 
operated by the parish council and request the parish clerk to allow you to inspect the 
parish council’s Code of Conduct. 
 

3 Making a complaint 
 
If you wish to make a complaint, please write or email to – 
 

Monitoring Officer 
Westmorland and Furness Council  
INSERT 
 

Or – 
 

INSERT 
 
 

Page 35

mailto:MarkL@carlisle.gov.uk


Westmorland and Furness Council Page 2 
of17

The Monitoring Officer is a senior officer of the authority who has statutory 
responsibility for maintaining the register of members’ interests and who is responsible 
for administering the system in respect of complaints of member misconduct. 
 
In order to ensure that we have all the information which we need to be able to 
process your complaint, please complete and send us the model complaint form, 
which can be downloaded from the authority’s website and is available on request 
from Reception at the main council Offices. 
 
Please do provide us with your name and a contact address or email address, so that 
we can acknowledge receipt of your complaint and keep you informed of its progress. 
If you want to keep your name and address confidential, please indicate this in the 
space provided on the complaint form, in which case we will not disclose your name 
and address to the member against whom you make the complaint, without your prior 
consent. The authority does not normally investigate anonymous complaints unless 
there is a clear public interest in doing so. 
 
The Monitoring Officer will acknowledge receipt of your complaint within 5 working 
days of receiving it and will keep you informed of the progress of your complaint. 
 
The Monitoring Officer will seek to identify any conflicts of interest which may arise at 
any stage of the process and put alternative arrangements in place as appropriate. 
 

4 Will your complaint be investigated? 
 
The Monitoring Officer will review every complaint received and, after consultation with 
the Independent Person and Chair of the Council’s Standards Committee, take a 
decision as to whether it merits formal investigation. This decision will normally be 
taken within 10 working days of receipt of your complaint. Where the Monitoring 
Officer has taken a decision, they will inform you of their decision and the reasons for 
that decision. 
 
In certain cases the Monitoring Officer may refer particular complaints to the 
Standards Committee where they feel that it would be inappropriate for them to take a 
decision on it, for example where the Monitoring Officer has previously advised the 
member on the matter or the complaint is particularly sensitive. 
 
Where the Monitoring Officer requires additional information in order to come to a 
decision, they may come back to you for such information, and may request 
information from the member against whom your complaint is directed. Where your 
complaint relates to a Parish Councillor, the Monitoring Officer may also inform the 
Parish Council of your complaint and seek the views of the Parish Clerk before 
deciding whether the complaint merits formal investigation. 
 
In appropriate cases, the Monitoring Officer may seek to resolve the complaint 
informally, without the need for a formal investigation. Such informal resolution may 
involve the member accepting that their conduct was unacceptable and offering an 
apology, or other remedial action by the authority. Where the member or the authority 
make a reasonable offer of local resolution, but you are not willing to accept that offer, 

Page 36



Westmorland and Furness Council Page 3 
of17

the Monitoring Officer will take account of this in deciding whether the complaint merits 
formal investigation. 
  
If your complaint identifies criminal conduct or breach of other regulation by any 
person, the Monitoring Officer has the power to call in the Police and other regulatory 
agencies. 
 

5 How is the investigation conducted? 
 
The Council has adopted a procedure for the investigation of misconduct complaints, 
which is attached as Appendix Two to these arrangements. 
 
If the Monitoring Officer decides that a complaint merits formal investigation, they will 
appoint an Investigating Officer, who may be another senior officer of the authority, an 
officer of another authority or an external investigator. The Investigating Officer will 
decide whether they need to meet or speak to you to understand the nature of your 
complaint, so that you can explain your understanding of events, suggest what 
documents the Investigating Officer needs to see, and who the Investigating Officer 
needs to interview. 
 
The Investigating Officer would normally write to the member against whom you have 
complained and provide them with a copy of your complaint, and ask the member to 
provide their explanation of events, and to identify what documents they need to see 
and who they need to interview. In exceptional cases, where it is appropriate to keep 
your identity confidential or disclosure of details of the complaint to the member might 
prejudice the investigation, the Monitoring Officer can delete your name and address 
from the papers given to the member, or delay notifying the member until the 
investigation has progressed sufficiently. 
 
At the end of their investigation, the Investigating Officer will produce a draft report 
and will send copies of that draft report, in confidence, to you and to the member 
concerned, to give you both an opportunity to identify any matter in that draft report 
which you disagree with or which you consider requires more consideration. 
 
Having received and taken account of any comments which you may make on the 
draft report, the Investigating Officer will send their final report to the Monitoring 
Officer. 
 

6 What happens if the Investigating Officer concludes that there is no evidence of 
a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct? 
 
The Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating Officer’s report and (following 
consultation with the Independent Person and Chair of the Standards Committee), if 
he is satisfied that it is sufficient, the Monitoring Officer will write to you and to the 
member concerned and to the Parish Council, where your complaint relates to a 
Parish Councillor, notifying you that they is satisfied that no further action is required, 
and give you both a copy of the Investigating Officer’s final report.  The matter will be 
reported to the Standards Committee. If the Monitoring Officer is not satisfied that the 
investigation has been conducted properly, they may ask the Investigating Officer to 
reconsider their report. 

Page 37



Westmorland and Furness Council Page 4 
of17

7 What happens if the Investigating Officer concludes that there is evidence of a 
failure to comply with the Code of Conduct? 
 
The Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating Officer’s report and, after 
considering the public interest, will then either send the matter for local hearing before 
the Hearings Panel or, after consulting the Independent Person, seek local resolution. 
 
The Public Interest Stage 
In every case where there is sufficient evidence to justify an investigation or formal 
hearing, Monitoring Officer must go on to consider (following consultation with the 
Independent Person) whether an investigation or formal hearing is required in the 
public interest. 

It is not the case that an investigation or formal hearing will automatically take place 
once the evidential stage is met.  An investigation or formal hearing will usually take 
place unless the Monitoring Officer is satisfied that there are public interest factors 
tending against such an investigation/hearing which outweigh those tending in favour. 
In some cases, the Monitoring Officer may be satisfied that the public interest can be 
properly served by offering the relevant elected Member the opportunity to have the 
matter dealt with by an alternative remedy rather than bringing the complaint before a 
formal hearing of the Standards Committee. 

When deciding the public interest, Monitoring Officer should consider each of the 
questions set out below as paragraphs a) to e) so as to identify and determine the 
relevant public interest factors tending for and against investigation/hearing. These 
factors should enable the Monitoring Officer to form an overall assessment of the 
public interest. 

The explanatory text below each question in paragraphs a) to e) provides guidance to 
the Monitoring Officer when addressing each particular question and determining 
whether it identifies public interest factors for or against investigation/hearing. The 
questions identified are not exhaustive, and not all the questions may be relevant in 
every case. The weight to be attached to each of the questions, and the factors 
identified, will also vary according to the facts and merits of each case. 

It is quite possible that one public interest factor alone may outweigh a number of 
other factors which tend in the opposite direction. Although there may be public 
interest factors tending against an investigation or in a particular case, the Monitoring 
Officer should consider whether nonetheless an investigation/formal hearing should go 
ahead and those factors put to the Standards Committee for consideration when 
coming to its decision. 

The Monitoring Officer should consider each of the following questions: 

a. How serious is the breach of the Code? 

  The more serious the breach, the more likely it is that a formal hearing is 
required. 

Page 38



Westmorland and Furness Council Page 5 
of17

  When assessing the seriousness of a breach, the Monitoring Officer should 
include in their consideration the elected Member’s culpability and the harm 
caused, by asking themselves the questions at b) and c). 

b) What is the level of culpability of the elected Member? 

  The greater the Member’s level of culpability, the more likely it is that an 
investigation is required. 

  Culpability is likely to be determined by:  

  the Member’s level of involvement; 

  the extent to which the breach of the Code was premeditated and/or 
planned; 

  the extent to which the Member has benefitted from the conduct; 

  whether the Member has previously breached the Code of Conduct; 

  whether the breach was or is likely to be continued, repeated or 
escalated; 

c) What are the circumstances of and the harm caused to the complainant? 

  The circumstances of the complainant are highly relevant. The more vulnerable 
the complainant’s situation, or the greater the perceived vulnerability of the 
complainant, the more likely it is that a formal investigation or hearing is required. 

  This includes where a position of trust or authority exists between the Member 
and complainant. 

  It is more likely that a formal hearing is required if the conduct complained of was 
motivated by any form of prejudice against the complainant’s actual or presumed 
ethnic or national origin, gender, disability, age, religion or belief, sexual 
orientation or gender identity; or if the Member targeted or exploited the 
complainant, or demonstrated hostility towards the complainant, based on any of 
those characteristics. 

  The Monitoring Officer also needs to consider if a formal hearing is likely to have 
an adverse effect on the complainant’s physical or mental health, always bearing 
in mind the seriousness of the conduct complained of, the availability of special 
measures and the possibility of a formal hearing without the participation of the 
complainant. 

  The Monitoring Officer should take into account the views expressed by the 
complainant about the impact that the conduct has had. In appropriate cases, 
this may also include the views of the complainant’s family. 

  However, the Monitoring Officer does not act for complainants or their families in 
the same way as solicitors act for their clients, and Monitoring Officers must form 
an overall view of the public interest. 

 

 

Page 39



Westmorland and Furness Council Page 6 
of17

d) What is the impact on the community? 

  The greater the impact of the conduct complained of on the community, the more 
likely it is that an investigation or formal hearing is required. 

  Community is not restricted to communities defined by location and may relate to 
a group of people who share certain characteristics, experiences or 
backgrounds, including an occupational group. 

e) Is an investigation or formal hearing a proportionate response? 

  In considering whether investigation or formal hearing is proportionate to the 
likely outcome, the following may be relevant:  

i. The cost, especially where it could be regarded as excessive when weighed 
against any likely penalty. The Monitoring Officer should not decide the public 
interest on the basis of this factor alone. It is essential that regard is also given to 
the public interest factors identified when considering the other questions in 
paragraphs a) to e), but cost can be a relevant factor when making an overall 
assessment of the public interest. 

ii. Cases should be dealt with in accordance with principles of effective case 
management.  

 
7.1 Local Resolution 

 
The Monitoring Officer may consider that the matter can reasonably be resolved without 
the need for a hearing. In such a case, they will consult with the Independent Person 
and with you as complainant and seek to agree what you consider to be a fair resolution 
which also helps to ensure higher standards of conduct for the future. Such resolution 
may include the member accepting that their conduct was unacceptable and offering an 
apology, and/or other remedial action by the authority. If the member complies with the 
suggested resolution, the Monitoring Officer will report the matter to the Standards 
Committee and the Parish Council for information, but will take no further action. 
However, if you tell the Monitoring Officer that any suggested resolution would not be 
adequate, the Monitoring Officer will refer the matter for a local hearing. 

 
8 Local Hearing 

 
If the Monitoring Officer considers that local resolution is not appropriate, or you are not 
satisfied by the proposed resolution, or the member concerned is not prepared to 
undertake any proposed remedial action, such as giving an apology, then the Monitoring 
Officer will report the Investigating Officer’s report to the Hearings Panel which will 
conduct a local hearing before deciding whether the member has failed to comply with 
the Code of Conduct and, if so, whether to take any action in respect of the member. 

 
The Council has agreed a procedure for local hearings, which is attached as Appendix 
Three to these arrangements. 

 
Essentially, the Monitoring Officer will conduct a “pre-hearing process”, requiring the 
member to give their response to the Investigating Officer’s report, in order to identify 
what is likely to be agreed and what is likely to be in contention at the hearing, and the 

Page 40



Westmorland and Furness Council Page 7 
of17

Chair of the Hearings Panel may issue directions as to the manner in which the hearing 
will be conducted. At the hearing, the Investigating Officer will present their report, call 
such witnesses as they consider necessary and make representations to substantiate 
their conclusion that the member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct. For 
this purpose, the Investigating Officer may ask you as the complainant to attend and 
give evidence to the Hearings Panel. The member will then have an opportunity to give 
their evidence, to call witnesses and to make representations to the Hearings Panel as 
to why they consider that they did not fail to comply with the Code of Conduct.  

 
The Hearings Panel, with the benefit of any advice from the Independent Person, may 
conclude that the member did not fail to comply with the Code of Conduct, and so 
dismiss the complaint. If the Hearings Panel concludes that the member did fail to 
comply with the Code of Conduct, the Chair will inform the member of this finding and 
the Hearings Panel will then consider what action, if any, the Hearings Panel should 
take as a result of the member’s failure to comply with the Code of Conduct. In doing 
this, the Hearings Panel will give the member an opportunity to make representations 
to the Panel and will consult the Independent Person, but will then decide what action, 
if any, to take in respect of the matter. 

 
9 What action can the Hearings Panel take where a member has failed to comply 

with the Code of Conduct? 
 
The Council has delegated to the Hearings Panel such of its powers to take action in 
respect of individual members as may be necessary to promote and maintain high 
standards of conduct. Accordingly, the Hearings Panel may – 
 
9.1 Publish its findings in respect of the Member’s conduct; 
 
9.2 Send a formal letter to the Member; 

 
9.3 Report its findings to Council or to the Parish Council for information; 

 
9.4 Recommend to the Member’s Group Leader (or in the case of un-grouped 

members, recommend to Council or to Committees) that they be removed from 
any or all Committees or Sub-Committees of the Council; 

 
9.5 Recommend to the Leader of the Council that the Member be removed from 

the Cabinet, or removed from particular Portfolio responsibilities; 
 
9.6 Instruct the Monitoring Officer to or recommend that the Parish Council arrange 

training for the member; 
 
9.7 Remove or recommend to the Parish Council that the member be removed 

from all outside appointments to which they have been appointed or nominated 
by the authority or by the Parish Council; 

 
9.8 Withdraw or recommend to the Parish Council that it withdraws certain facilities 

provided to the member by the Council; or 
 

Page 41



Westmorland and Furness Council Page 8 
of17

9.9 Exclude or recommend that the Parish Council exclude the member from the 
Council’s offices or other premises, with the exception of meeting rooms as 
necessary for attending Council, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings. 
 

The Hearings Panel has no power to suspend or disqualify the member or to withdraw 
members’ or special responsibility allowances. 
 

10 What happens at the end of the hearing? 
 
At the end of the hearing, the Chair will state the decision of the Hearings Panel as to 
whether the member failed to comply with the Code of Conduct and as to any actions 
which the Hearings Panel resolves to take. 
 
As soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, the Monitoring Officer shall prepare a 
formal decision notice in consultation with the Chair of the Hearings Panel, and send a 
copy to you, to the member and to the Parish Council, make that decision notice 
available for public inspection and report the decision to the next convenient meeting 
of the Council. 
 
The decision notice will include a brief statement of the facts, the provisions of the 
code engaged by the allegations, the view of the Independent Person, the reasoning 
of the decision maker and any sanction applied.  The decision notice will be published 
on the Council’s website. 
 

11 Who are the Hearings Panel? 
 
The Hearings Panel is a Sub-Committee of the Council’s Standards Committee. The 
Standards Committee has decided that it will comprise three members of the Council, 
appointed on a political balance basis.  
 
The Independent Person is invited to attend all meetings of the Hearings Panel and 
their views are sought and taken into consideration before the Hearings Panel takes 
any decision on whether the member’s conduct constitutes a failure to comply with the 
Code of conduct and as to any action to be taken following a finding of failure to 
comply with the Code of Conduct. 
 

12 Who is the Independent Person? 
 
The Independent Person is a person who has applied for the post following 
advertisement of a vacancy for the post, and is the appointed by a positive vote from a 
majority of all the members of Council. 
 
A person cannot be “independent” if he/she – 
 
12.1 Is, or has been within the past 5 years, a member, co-opted member or officer 

of the authority; 
 

12.2 Is or has been within the past 5 years, a member, co-opted member or officer 
of a parish council within the authority’s area, or 
 

Page 42



Westmorland and Furness Council Page 9 
of17

12.3 Is a relative, or close friend, of a person within paragraph 11.1 or 11.2 above. 
For this purpose, “relative” means – 
 
12.3.1 Spouse or civil partner; 

 
12.3.2 Living with the other person as husband and wife or as if they were 

civil partners; 
 

12.3.3 Grandparent of the other person; 
 

12.3.4 A lineal descendent of a grandparent of the other person; 
 

12.3.5 A parent, sibling or child of a person within paragraphs 13.3.1 or 
13.3.2; 
 

12.3.6 A spouse or civil partner of a person within paragraphs 13.3.3, 13.3.4 
or 13.3.5; or 
 

12.3.7 Living with a person within paragraphs 13.3.3, 13.3.4 or 13.3.5 as 
husband and wife or as if they were civil partners. 

 
13 Revision of these arrangements 

 
The Council may by resolution agree to amend these arrangements, and has 
delegated to the Chair of the Hearings Panel the right to depart from these 
arrangements where they considers that it is expedient to do so in order to secure the 
effective and fair consideration of any matter. 
 

14 Appeals 
 
There is no right of appeal for you as complainant or for the member against a 
decision of the Monitoring Officer or of the Hearings Panel 
 
If you feel that the authority has failed to deal with your complaint properly, you may 
make a complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman.  
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix One  The authority’s Code of Conduct 
 
Appendix Two  Procedure for Investigations 
 
Appendix Three  Procedure for Hearings 
 
 
 

Page 43



Westmorland and Furness Council Page 10 
of17

Appendix 1 
 
 

 

 

 

 WESTMORLAND AND FURNESS COUNCIL  

Councillor Code of Conduct 

Adopted INSERT 

 

 

Page 44



 

 

Definitions 

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, a “councillor” means a member or co-
opted member of a local authority or a directly elected mayor. A “co-opted member” 
is defined in the Localism Act 2011 Section 27(4) as “a person who is not a member 
of the authority but who 

a) is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or; 
b) is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or 

joint sub- committee of the authority; 

and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any meeting 
of that committee or sub-committee”. 

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, “local authority” includes county councils, 
district councils, London borough councils, parish councils, town councils, fire and 
rescue authorities, police authorities, joint authorities, economic prosperity boards, 
combined authorities and National Park authorities. 

 

Purpose of the Code of Conduct 

The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a councillor, in modelling 
the behaviour that is expected of you, to provide a personal check and balance, and 
to set out the type of conduct that could lead to action being taken against you. It is 
also to protect you, the public, fellow councillors, local authority officers and the 
reputation of local government. It sets out general principles of conduct expected of 
all councillors and your specific obligations in relation to standards of conduct. The 
LGA encourages the use of support, training and mediation prior to action being 
taken using the Code. The fundamental aim of the Code is to create and maintain 
public confidence in the role of councillor and local government. 

 

General principles of councillor conduct 

Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public 
services, including ministers, civil servants, councillors and local authority officers; 
should uphold the Seven Principles of Public Life, also known as the Nolan 
Principles. 

Building on these principles, the following general principles have been 
developed specifically for the role of councillor. 

In accordance with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions: 

Page 45

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2


  I act with integrity and honesty 
  I act lawfully 
  I treat all persons fairly and with respect; and 
  I lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the 

role of councillor. 

In undertaking my role: 

  I impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local community 
  I do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, 

on any person 
  I avoid conflicts of interest 
  I exercise reasonable care and diligence; and 
  I ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with 

my local authority’s requirements and in the public interest. 
 

Application of the Code of Conduct 

This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of 
acceptance of the office of councillor or attend your first meeting as a co-opted 
member and continues to apply to you until you cease to be a councillor. 

This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as a 
councillor which may include when: 

  you misuse your position as a councillor 

  Your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the 
public with knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a councillor; 

The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including: 

  at face-to-face meetings 

  at online or telephone meetings 

  in written communication 

  in verbal communication 

  in non-verbal communication 

  in electronic and social media communication, posts, 
statements and comments. 

You are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show leadership at all 
times when acting as a councillor. 

Page 46



Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of the 
Code of Conduct, and you are encouraged to seek advice from your Monitoring 
Officer on any matters that may relate to the Code of Conduct. Town and parish 
councillors are encouraged to seek advice from their Clerk, who may refer matters 
to the Monitoring Officer. 

Standards of councillor conduct 

This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct 
required of you as a councillor. Should your conduct fall short of these standards, a 
complaint may be made against you, which may result in action being taken. 

Guidance is included to help explain the reasons for the obligations and how they 
should be followed. 

 

General Conduct 

1. Respect 

As a councillor: 

1.1 I treat other councillors and members of the public with respect. 
 

1.2 I treat local authority employees, employees and representatives of 
partner organisations and those volunteering for the local authority 
with respect and respect the role they play. 

Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the written 
word. Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy democracy. As a 
councillor, you can express, challenge, criticise and disagree with views, ideas, 
opinions and policies in a robust but civil manner. You should not, however, subject 
individuals, groups of people or organisations to personal attack. 

In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and courteously. Rude 
and offensive behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in 
councillors. 

In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the public. If members 
of the public are being abusive, intimidatory or threatening you are entitled to stop 
any conversation or interaction in person or online and report them to the local 
authority, the relevant social media provider or the police. This also applies to fellow 
councillors, where action could then be taken under the Councillor Code of Conduct, 
and local authority employees, where concerns should be raised in line with the local 
authority’s councillor- officer protocol. 

Page 47



2. Bullying,harassment and discrimination As a 

councillor: 

2.1 I do not bully any person. 
 

2.2 I do not harass any person. 
 

2.3 I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully 
against any person. 

The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises bullying as 
offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power 
through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. Bullying 
might be a regular pattern of behaviour or a one-off incident, happen face-to-face, on 
social media, in virtual meetings, emails or phone calls, happen in the workplace or at 
work social events and may not always be obvious or noticed by others. 

The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct that 
causes alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve such 
conduct on at least two occasions. It can include repeated attempts to impose 
unwanted communications and contact upon a person in a manner that could be 
expected to cause distress or fear in any reasonable person. 

Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a protected 
characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a person's 

identity defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, 
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. Councillors have a 
central role to play in ensuring that equality issues are integral to the local authority's 
performance and strategic aims, and that there is a strong vision and public 
commitment to equality across public services. 

 

3. Impartiality of officers of the council As a councillor: 
3.1 I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the 

impartiality of anyone who works for, or on behalf of, the 
local authority. 

Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral (unless 
they are political assistants). They should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a way 
that would undermine their neutrality. You can question officers in order to 
understand, for example, their reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or the 
content of a report that they have written. However, you must not try and force them 

Page 48



to act differently, change their advice, or alter the content of that report, if doing so 
would prejudice their professional integrity. 

 

4. Confidentiality and access to information As a councillor: 

4.1 I do not disclose information: 
a. given to me in confidence by anyone 
b. acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably 

to be aware, is of a confidential nature, unless 
i. I have received the consent of a person authorised to give 

it; 
ii. I am required by law to do so; 

iii. the disclosure is made to a third party for the 
purpose of obtaining professional legal advice 
provided that the third party agrees not to disclose 
the information to any other person; or 

iv. the disclosure is: 
1. reasonable and in the public interest; and 
2. made in good faith and in compliance with 

the reasonable requirements of the local 
authority; and 

3. I have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior 
to its release. 

 

4.2 I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of my 
role as a councillor for the advancement of myself, my friends, my 
family members, my employer or my business interests. 

 

4.3 I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they are 
entitled to by law. 

Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings and 
printed materials are open to the public, except in certain legally defined 
circumstances. You should work on this basis, but there will be times when it is 
required by law that discussions, documents and other information relating to or held 
by the local authority must be treated in a confidential manner. Examples include 
personal data relating to individuals or information relating to ongoing negotiations. 

5. Disrepute As a councillor: 

5.1 I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute. 

As a councillor, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your community and 
your actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than that of ordinary 
members of the public. You should be aware that your actions might have an 
adverse impact on you, other councillors and/or your local authority and may lower 

Page 49



the public’s confidence in your or your local authority’s ability to discharge your/it’s 
functions. For example, behaviour that is considered dishonest and/or deceitful can 
bring your local authority into disrepute. 

You are able to hold the local authority and fellow councillors to account and are able 
to constructively challenge and express concern about decisions and processes 
undertaken by the council whilst continuing to adhere to other aspects of this Code of 
Conduct. 

6. Use of position as a councillor: 

6.1 I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the 
advantage or disadvantage of myself or anyone else. 

Your position as a member of the local authority provides you with certain 
opportunities, responsibilities and privileges, and you make choices all the time that 
will impact others. However, you should not take advantage of these opportunities to 
further your own or others’ private interests or to disadvantage anyone unfairly. 

7. Use of local authority resources and facilities  

As a councillor: 

7.1 I do not misuse council resources. 
 

7.2 I will, when using the resources of the local authority or 
authorising their use by others: 
a. act in accordance with the local authority's requirements; and 
b. ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes. 

You may be provided with resources and facilities by the local authority to assist you 
in carrying out your duties as a councillor. 

Examples include: 

  office support 
  stationery 
  equipment such as phones, and computers 
  transport 
  access and use of local authority buildings and rooms. 

 

These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a councillor more effectively 
and are not to be used for business or personal gain. They should be used in 
accordance with the purpose for which they have been provided and the local 
authority’s own policies regarding their use. 

 

Page 50



8. Complying with the Code of Conduct As a Councillor: 

8.1 I undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my local authority. 
 

8.2 I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation 
and/or determination. 

 

8.3 I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is 
likely to be involved with the administration of any investigation 
or proceedings. 

 

8.4 I comply with any sanction imposed on me following a finding that 
I have breached the Code of Conduct. 

It is extremely important for you as a councillor to demonstrate high standards, for 
you to have your actions open to scrutiny and for you not to undermine public trust 
in the local authority or its governance. If you do not understand or are concerned 
about the local authority’s processes in handling a complaint you should raise this 
with your Monitoring Officer. 

Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local 
authority 

9. Interests 

As a councillor: 

9.1 I register and disclose my interests. 

Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to 
establish and maintain a register of interests of members of the authority. 

You need to register your interests so that the public, local authority employees and 
fellow councillors know which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of interest.  
The register is a public document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue 
arises. The register also protects you by allowing you to demonstrate openness and a 
willingness to be held accountable. You are personally responsible for deciding 
whether or not you should disclose an interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for 
you to know early on if others think that a potential conflict might arise. It is also  
important that the public know about any interest that might have to be disclosed by 
you or other councillors when making or taking part in decisions, so that decision 
making is seen by the public as open and honest. This helps to ensure that public 
confidence in the integrity of local governance is maintained. 

You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest 
as set out in Table 1, is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011. 

Page 51



Appendix B sets out the detailed provisions on registering and disclosing interests. 
If in doubt, you should always seek advice from your Monitoring Officer. 

 
10. Gifts and hospitality  

As a councillor: 

10.1 I do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, 
which could give rise to real or substantive personal gain or a 
reasonable suspicion of influence on my part to show favour from 
persons seeking to acquire, develop or do business with the local 
authority or from persons who may apply to the local authority for 
any permission, licence or other significant advantage. 

 

10.2 I register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality 
with an estimated value of at least £50 within 28 days of its 
receipt. 

 

10.3 I register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or 
hospitality with an estimated value of at least £50 that I 
have been offered but have refused to accept. 

In order to protect your position and the reputation of the local authority, you should 
exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or which you 
reasonably believe to be) offered to you because you are a councillor. The 
presumption should always be not to accept significant gifts or hospitality. However, 
there may be times when such a refusal may be difficult if it is seen as rudeness in 
which case you could accept it but must ensure it is publicly registered. However, 
you do not need to register gifts and hospitality which are not related to your role as 
a councillor, such as Christmas gifts from your friends and family. It is also important 
to note that it is appropriate to accept normal expenses and hospitality associated 
with your duties as a councillor. If you are unsure, do contact your Monitoring Officer 
for guidance. 

 

Appendices 

Appendix A – The Seven Principles of Public Life 

The principles are: 

Selflessness 

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

Page 52



Integrity 

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people 
or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They 
should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for 
themselves, their family, or their friends. They must disclose and resolve any interests 
and relationships. 

Objectivity 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, 
using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

Accountability 

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and 
actions and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

Openness 

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 
manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear 
and lawful reasons for so doing. 

Honesty 

Holders of public office should be truthful. 

Leadership 

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They 
should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge 
poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 

Page 53



 Page 20 
 

Appendix B  

Registering interests 

Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office you 
must register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set 
out in Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as described in “The 
Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012”. You should 
also register details of your other personal interests which fall within the categories set 
out in Table 2 (Other Registerable Interests). 

 

“Disclosable pecuniary interest” means an interest of yourself, or of your partner if 
you are aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 below. 

 

"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners. 

 

1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and 
within 28 days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change 
to a registered interest, notify the Monitoring Officer. 

 

2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the 
councillor, or a person connected with the councillor, being subject to 
violence or intimidation. 

 

3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer 
with the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring 
Officer agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register. 

Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest 

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the 
interest, not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not 
remain in the room/meeting unless you have been granted a dispensation.  In 
addition, you may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also 
allowed to speak and having spoken you must leave the room/meeting. If it is 
a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest, just 
that you have an interest. Dispensation may be granted in limited 
circumstances, to enable you to participate and vote on a matter in which you 
have a disclosable pecuniary interest. 

Page 54



 Page 21 
 

5. Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered 
or is being considered by you as an Executive member in exercise of your 
executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must 
not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart from arranging for 
someone else to deal with it 

Disclosure of Other Registrable Interests 

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Other 
Registrable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must disclose the interest. If 
you have such an interest you must consider whether a reasonable member of 
the public, knowing all the facts, would think the interest such that it may 
influence the way you vote.  If the ordinary person would think that the interest 
may influence your vote then you should not participate in the matter.  In these 
circumstances you may speak on the matter only if members of the public are 
also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any 
discussion or vote on the matter. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to 
disclose the nature of the interest 

 

Disclosure of Non- Registrable Interests 
 

7. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial 
interest or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest set out in 
Table 1) or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, 
you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if members 
of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not 
take part in any discussion or vote on the matter unless you have been 
granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to 
disclose the nature of the interest. 

 

8. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects – 
a. your own financial interest or well-being; 
b. a financial interest or well-being of a friend, relative, close associate; or 
c. a financial interest or wellbeing of a body 

included under Other Registrable Interests set 
out in Table 1  

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you may 
participate in the meeting after disclosing your interest the following test 
should be applied: 

9. Where a matter affects your financial interest or well-being so that a 
reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it 
may affect your view of the wider public interest you may speak on the matter 
only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but 
otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter. 

Page 55



 Page 22 
 

If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

 

10. Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you 
have made an executive decision in relation to that business, you must make 
sure that any written statement of that decision records the existence and 
nature of your interest. 

 
Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in the 
Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012. 

 

Subject Description 
Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 
 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other 
financial benefit (other than from the 
council) made to the councillor during the 
previous 12-month period for expenses 
incurred by him/her in carrying out 
his/her duties as a councillor, or towards 
his/her election expenses. 
This includes any payment or financial 
benefit from a trade union within the 
meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts Any contract made between the councillor 
or his/her spouse or civil partner or the 
person with whom the councillor is living as 
if they were spouses/civil partners (or a firm 
in which such person is a partner, or an 
incorporated body of which such person is 
a director* or a body that such person has a 
beneficial interest in the securities of*) and 
the council 
— 
(a) under which goods or services are to be 
provided or works are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Page 56

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made


 Page 23 
 

Land and Property Any beneficial interest in land which is 
within the area of the council. 
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, 
interest or right in or over land which does 
not give the councillor or his/her spouse or 
civil partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were spouses/ 
civil partners (alone or jointly with another) 
a right to occupy or to receive income. 

Licenses Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to 
occupy land in the area of the council for a 
month or longer 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s 
knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the council; and 
(b) the tenant is a body that the councillor, 
or his/her spouse or civil partner or the 
person with whom the councillor is living as 
if they were spouses/ civil partners is a 
partner of or a director* of or has a 
beneficial interest in the securities* of. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* of a 
body where— 
(a) that body (to the councillor’s 
knowledge) has a place of business or 
land in the area of the council; and 
(b) either— 
(i) ) the total nominal value of the 
securities* exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that body; or 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of 
more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in 
which the councillor, or his/ her spouse or 
civil partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners has a beneficial 
interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class. 

* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an 
industrial and provident society. 
* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of 
a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and 
Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money 
deposited with a building society 

  

Page 57



 Page 24 
 

Table 2: Other Registrable Interests 

 

 
 

 
 

You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates 
to or is likely to affect:

a) Any unpaid directorships
b) any body of which you are in general control or management and to 

which you are nominated or appointed by your authority

c) any body
(i) exercising functions of a public nature
(ii) any body directed to charitable purposes or
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public 

opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union)
of which you are a member or in a position of general control or 
management

Page 58



 Page 25 
 

APPENDIX 2 
 

WESTMORLAND AND FURNESS COUNCIL 
 
 

Procedure for Local Investigation of Referred Complaints 
 

************* 
 

Introduction and Summary 
This note sets out the procedure which will be followed in the local investigation of 
allegations of misconduct by Councillors or Co-opted Members (for ease of 
reference, hereinafter jointly referred to as “Councillors”).  No departure will be made 
from this procedure unless and until the Monitoring Officer has first notified the 
Councillor against whom the allegation has been made of the proposed variation to 
the procedure and the reasons for that variation. 

This procedure applies to breaches of the authority’s Code of Conduct for Members.  

When the Monitoring Officer receives an allegation of a failure by a Councillor to 
comply with the Code of Conduct, and, following consultation with the Independent 
Person and Chair of the Standards Committee, they are of the opinion that the 
allegation merits investigation, they shall arrange for an Investigating Officer to 
investigate the allegation and to report to the Monitoring Officer.  

Where the Investigating Officer has found, after investigation, that the Councillor 
has not acted in breach of the authority’s Code of Conduct for Members or a local 
protocol, the Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating Officer’s report and, 
following consultation with the Independent Person and the Chair of the Standards 
Committee, if they are of the view that the report is sufficient they will write to you, 
enclosing a copy of the report and advise you that no further action will be taken.  

Where the Investigating Officer has found that there has been a failure to comply 
with the Code of Conduct for Members or a local protocol and a Local Resolution 
has not been possible then the Monitoring Officer, following consultation with the 
Independent Person and the Chair of the Standards Committee, may decide to hold 
a full hearing to determine whether a breach of the authority’s Code of Conduct has 
occurred and whether any action should be taken in consequence.   

In this process, the function of the Investigating Officer is to ensure, as far as 
possible, that all the information which is relevant to the allegation is identified and 
presented to the Monitoring Officer, to enable them, in consultation with the Chair 
of the Standards Committee, to make an informed decision as to whether the 
Councillor has failed to comply with the authority’s Code of Conduct for Members, 
and upon any consequential action. At any Hearing, the Standards Committee acts 
in an inquisitorial manner, rather than an adversarial manner, seeking the truth in 
relation to the conduct of the Councillor on the balance of the information available 
to it, and may commission further investigation or information if it needs to do so in 
order to come to a decision.  In the event of the Investigating Officer requiring 

Page 59



 Page 26 
 

information from, or the attendance of, any Officer or elected Member in connection 
with the conduct of an investigation, such Officer or Member will be expected to co-
operate fully with the Investigating Officer in accordance with their responsibilities 
under their contracts of employment and Code of Conduct respectively. 

1.  Interpretation 

‘Councillor’ means the member or co-opted member of the authority who is the 
subject of the allegation being considered by the Standards Committee, 
unless stated otherwise.  It also includes the Councillor’s representative.  

‘Investigating Officer’ means the person appointed by the Monitoring Officer to 
undertake that investigation (which may include the Monitoring Officer and/or 
his or her representative). 

‘The Matter’ is the subject matter of the Investigating Officer’s report. 

‘The Standards Committee’ refers to the Standards Committee or to any Standards 
Sub-Committee to which it has delegated the conduct of the hearing, unless 
the context indicates that it refers only to the Standards Committee itself. 

2.  Notification of Reference of Allegation to the Monitoring Officer 

(a) Appointment of Investigating Officer 

If it is determined that an investigation is appropriate, the Monitoring Officer 
will appoint an Investigating Officer in respect of the allegation and instruct 
them to conduct an investigation of the allegation and to report thereon to the 
Monitoring Officer. The Investigating Officer may be an officer of the authority, 
an officer of another local authority, or an external Investigating Officer.  

The Investigating Officer may appoint persons to assist them in the conduct 
of their functions and may obtain such professional advice as may be 
necessary for the conduct of the investigation. 

(b) Notification to the Councillor 

The Monitoring Officer will then notify in writing the Councillor against whom 
the allegation is made: 

(i) that the allegation has been referred to him for local investigation and 
determination; 

(ii) the identity of the person making the allegation (unless identification 
of the complainant might prejudice the investigation or put the 
complainant at risk); 

(iii) of the conduct which is the subject of the allegation; 

(iv) of the section(s) of the Code of Conduct or local protocol which appear 
to him to be relevant to the allegation; 

(v) of the procedure which will be followed in respect of the allegation, and 

Page 60



 Page 27 
 

(vi) of the identity of the Investigating Officer.  

 

(c) Notification to the Parish or Town Council Clerk 

Where the allegation relates to the conduct of a member of a Parish or Town 
Council in his her capacity as such, at the same time as notifying the 
Councillor, the Monitoring Officer will notify the Clerk of the Parish or Town 
Council concerned in writing of the matters set out in paragraphs 2(b)(i) - (iv) 
and (vi) above. 

(d) Notification to the Person who made the Allegation 

At the same time as notifying the Councillor, the Monitoring Officer will notify 
the person who made the allegation in writing of the matters set out in 
paragraphs 2(b)(i) - (iv) and (vi) above.  

(e) Initial response of the Councillor 

In notifying the Councillor of receipt of the allegation, the Monitoring Officer 
shall request the Councillor to respond to the Investigating Officer in writing 
within 14 days of notification as follows: 

(i) advising the Investigating Officer whether the Councillor admits or 
denies the breach of the Code of Conduct or local protocol which is 
the subject of the allegation; 

(ii) listing any documents which the Councillor would wish the 
Investigating Officer to take into account in any investigation of the 
allegation, where possible providing copies of these documents, and 
informing the Investigating Officer of where the original documents 
may be inspected,  

(iii) providing the Investigating Officer with the name, address and 
telephone number (or other appropriate contact details) of any person 
or organisation whom the Councillor would wish the Investigating 
Officer to interview in the course of any investigation of the allegation 
(providing that, in the reasonable opinion of the Investigating Officer, 
the number of such is not excessive or disproportionate), and 

(iv) providing the Investigating Officer with any information which the 
Councillor would wish the Investigating  Officer to seek from any 
person or organisation. 

(f) Supporting information from the person who made the allegation 

In notifying the person who made the allegation as above, the Monitoring 
Officer will request the person to respond to the Investigating Officer within 
14 days 

(i) listing any documents which the person would wish the Investigating 
Officer to take into account in any investigation of the allegation, where 

Page 61



 Page 28 
 

possible providing copies of these documents, and informing the 
Investigating Officer of where the original documents may be 
inspected,  

(ii) providing the Investigating Officer with the name, address and 
telephone number (or other appropriate contact details) of any person 
or organisation whom the person would wish the Investigating Officer 
to interview in the course of any investigation of the allegation, and  

(iii) providing the Investigating Officer with any information which the 
person would wish the Investigating  Officer to seek from any person 
or organisation. 

3.  Conduct of Investigation 

(a) Purpose of the Investigation 

The purpose of the Investigating Officer’s investigation is to enable them to 
prepare and present to the Monitoring Officer a report which, if subsequently 
referred to the Standards Committee, would provide it with sufficient 
information to determine whether the Councillor has acted in breach of the 
Code of Conduct or local protocol and, where there has been a breach of the 
Code of Conduct or local protocol, whether any action should be taken in 
respect of the Councillor or in consequence of the breach, and what any such 
action should be. 

(b) Termination of the Investigation 

The Investigating Officer may terminate their investigation at any point, where 
they are satisfied that they have sufficient information to enable them to report 
to the Standards Committee and to enable the Standards Committee to come 
to a considered decision on the allegation. 

(c) Additional Matters 

Where, in the course of their investigation, the Investigating Officer becomes 
aware of any other matter which appears to them to indicate a breach of the 
Code of Conduct or local protocol by the Councillor other than the breach 
which they are currently investigating, the Investigating Officer shall either: 

(i) (where the additional matter relates to an apparent breach of the 
authority’s Code of Conduct by a member of the principal authority) 
report the matter to the Monitoring Officer who will provide the 
Councillor with details of the matter in the form set out in paragraphs 
2(b)(iii) and (iv) above and invite the Councillor to provide a statement 
as to why the additional matter does not constitute a breach of the 
Code of Conduct; 

(ii) (where the additional matter constitutes an apparent breach of the 
authority’s local protocols but not a breach of the Code of Conduct by 
a member of the principal authority) report the matter to the Monitoring 
Officer who will provide the Councillor with details of the matter in the 

Page 62



 Page 29 
 

form set out in paragraphs 2(b)(iii) and (iv) above and invite the 
Councillor to provide a statement as to why the additional matter does 
not constitute a breach of the authority’s code of conduct. The 
Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Independent Person and 
the Chair of the Standards Committee, will then take a decision 
whether to refer the matter to an Investigating Officer for local 
investigation and/or report to the Standards Committee as 
appropriate.; 

(iii) (Where the additional matter relates to an apparent breach of the Code 
of Conduct by a Parish or Town Councillor) notify the Clerk to the Town 
or Parish Council of the additional matter, and take no further action in 
respect thereof. 

(d) Following notification to the Councillor, the Investigating Officer will identify 
an initial list of persons to be interviewed, organisations from whom 
information is to be sought and documents to be inspected as part of the 
investigation. Where the Councillor has provided the Investigating Officer 
with the information requested in accordance with Paragraphs 2(f)(ii) and (iii) 
above, the Investigating Officer shall include in this list each document, 
person and organisation referred to in that response, unless they are of the 
opinion that the inclusion of that document, person or organisation would 
unreasonably delay the completion of the investigation rather than contribute 
to the accuracy of the Investigating Officer’s final report. The Investigating 
Officer may supplement or amend this list at any stage of the investigation. 

(e) Production of documents, information and explanations 

(i) In the course of the investigation, the Investigating Officer and any 
person authorised on their behalf may make such enquiries of any 
person or organisation, and request any person or organisation to 
provide any document or information which is in his/its possession or 
control, or provide any explanation, as they think necessary for the 
purposes of carrying out the investigation. 

(ii) In the course of the investigation, the Investigating Officer and any 
person authorised on their behalf may require any authority of which 
the Councillor is a member to provide any document which is in his/its 
possession or control which they think necessary for the purposes of 
carrying out the investigation. 

(iii) Any decision about whether any particular document is sensitive or 
commercially sensitive and thus not suitable for publication shall rest 
with the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Independent 
Person and Chair of the Standards Committee. 

(f) Interviews 

(i) Requesting attendance 

In the course of the investigation the Investigating Officer may request 
any person to attend and appear before him or otherwise provide any 

Page 63



 Page 30 
 

information, document or explanation for the purpose of Paragraph 
3(e), as they thinks necessary for the purposes of carrying out the 
investigation. 

(ii) Representation 

Any person who appears before the Investigating Officer may arrange 
to be accompanied at their own expense by a solicitor or friend. 

(iii) Notes of interviews 

Where practicable, following the interview the Investigating Officer 
shall produce a written note of the material points of the interview, 
provide two copies of that note to the person interviewed and ask them 
to return one copy signed as a correct record of the interview, with 
such corrections or amendments as they may feel necessary for that 
purpose. 

(g) Costs 

The Investigating Officer may, where they consider that it is appropriate in 
order to facilitate the conduct of the investigation, pay to any person who 
provides any document, information, advice or explanation in response to 
their request, such fees or allowances as they consider to be appropriate 
subject to any maxima set by the authority. 

4.  The Draft Report  

(a) When the Investigating Officer is satisfied that they have sufficient 
information to meet the requirement set out in Paragraph 3(a), or has 
obtained as much information as is likely to be reasonably capable of being 
obtained, they shall prepare a draft report with a “confidential” and “draft” 
marking setting out: 

(i) the details of the allegation; 

(ii) the relevant provisions of statute, of the Code of Conduct and any 
relevant local Protocols 

(iii) the Councillor’s initial response to notification of the allegation (if any); 

(iv) the relevant information, evidence, advice and explanations which 
they have obtained in the course of the investigation; 

(v) a list of any documents relevant to the matter; 

(vi) a list of those persons whom they have interviewed and those 
organisations from whom they have sought information; 

 
(vii) a note of any person or organisation who has failed to co-operate with 

the investigation and the manner in which they have failed to co-
operate;  

Page 64



 Page 31 
 

(viii) a statement of their draft findings of fact; 

(ix) their conclusion (with reasons) as to whether the Councillor has or has 
not failed to comply with the Code of Conduct for Members of any 
authority or a local protocol, and 

(x) any recommendations which the Investigating Officer is minded to 
make to any authority concerned for reviewing or reconsidering any 
decision which was the subject of the breach of the Code of Conduct 
or local protocol, for rectifying any deficiency in the authority’s 
decision-making procedures or for preventing or deterring any breach 
of the Code of Conduct or local protocol or to remedy the position of 
any person who may have suffered detriment or injustice as a result of 
the breach. Where the allegation relates to a Parish or Town 
Councillor, such recommendations would be recommendations which 
the Investigating Officer would recommend that the Standards 
Committee make to the Parish or Town Council. 

(b) The draft report should also state that the report does not necessarily 
represent the Investigating Officer’s final finding, and that the investigating 
Officer will present a final report to the Monitoring Officer once they have 
considered any comments received on the draft report. 

(c) The Investigating Officer shall then send a copy of their draft report in 
confidence to the Councillor and the person making the allegation, and 
request that they send any comments thereon to them within 14 days.  

(d) The Investigating Officer may send a copy of, or relevant extracts from their 
draft report in confidence to any person on whose evidence they have relied 
in compiling the draft report, and request that they send any comments 
thereon to them within 14 days. 

5.  The Final Report 

(a) After the expiry of that period (or such extended period as the Investigating 
Officer may allow), the Investigating Officer shall reconsider and amend their 
draft report in the light of any comments received, and produce and send to 
the Monitoring Officer his final report. The final report should be marked “final” 
and state that the report represents the Investigating Officer’s final findings 
and may, if necessary, be presented to the Standards Committee, and 
should, subject to 3(e)(iii), have appended to it copies of any documents 
which the Investigating Officer has relied on in reaching their conclusions, 
such as background documents of telephone conversations, letters, notes of 
interviews with witnesses and a chronology of events; 

(b) The Monitoring Officer shall then send a copy of the final report to the 
Councillor, advising that: 

(i) where the final report concludes that there has not been a failure to 
comply with the Code of Conduct for Members or a local protocol, (if 
the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Independent Person 
and Chair of the Standards Committee are satisfied) that no further 

Page 65



 Page 32 
 

action is required, and 

(ii) where the final report concludes that there has been a failure by the 
Councillor to comply with the Code of Conduct for Members or   with 
a local protocol, they will  consider, in consultation with the 
Independent Person and Chair of the Standards Committee, whether 
the matter be further dealt with by Local Resolution or a Local Hearing. 

(c) If the complaint is dealt with by Local Resolution then that is the end of the 
matter. 

 
(d) If it is determined that there should be a Local Hearing then the Procedure 

for  Determination of Allegations about the Personal Conduct of Members will 
apply. 

  

Page 66



 Page 33 
 

 
Appendix 3 

  WESTMORLAND AND FURNESS COUNCIL 
 

PROCEDURE FOR DETERMINATION OF ALLEGATIONS ABOUT THE 
PERSONAL CONDUCT OF COUNCIL MEMBERS 

 
 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
1. The local determination of complaints by the Standards Committee (or sub-

committee thereof) following a local investigation and referral by the Monitoring 
Officer, will be governed by this procedure.  

 
2. The person[s] making the complaint will be referred to in this procedure as the 

Complainant and the person against whom the complaint is made will be referred 
to as the Member. The allegation will be heard by the Standards Committee or a 
Sub-Committee of the Standards Committee. 

 
PRE-HEARING PROCESS [LOCAL INVESTIGATIONS] 
 
3. Upon receipt of the final report of the Investigating Officer including a finding that 

the Member failed to comply with the Code of Conduct for Members and where it 
has not been possible to reach a local resolution or the Monitoring Officer, in 
consultation with the Independent Person and the Chair of the Standards 
Committee, finds that the matter should be considered at a formal hearing the 
Monitoring Officer shall arrange for the Standards Committee to consider the matter. 

 
4. Where the Monitoring Officer is the Investigating Officer they must arrange for a 

separate legal advisor to the Committee to be appointed in respect of the allegation. 
 
NOTIFYING THE MEMBER AND COMPLAINANT 
 
5. Within five working days of the receipt of the Investigating Officer’s report the 

Monitoring Officer shall send a copy of the report to the Member and, where 
possible, the Complainant, making the provision of the report conditional upon any 
appropriate undertaking of confidentiality. The Chairman and Members of the 
Committee shall be informed of the allegation by the Monitoring Officer, as well as 
any Parish or Town Council Clerk where the allegation relates to conduct of a 
Member in their capacity as a member of a Parish or Town Council. 

 
6. The Member shall be asked for a written response, within fifteen working days of 

the receipt of the report, which response shall set out the reply to the Investigating 
Officer’s report and state whether or not they: 

Page 67



 Page 34 
 

 
i. disagree with any of the findings of fact in the Investigating Officer’s 

report, including the reasons for any disagreement; 
 

ii. wants to be represented, at their own expense, at the hearing by any 
other person; 

 
iii. wants to give evidence to the Committee, either verbally or in writing; 

 
iv. wants to call relevant witnesses to give evidence to the Committee; 

 
v. wants any part of the hearing to be held in private; 

 
vi. wants any part of the Investigating Officer’s report or other relevant 

documents to be withheld from the public. 
 

 
7. The Member shall be informed that if, at the meeting of the Committee, they seeks 

to dispute any matter contained in the Investigating Officer’s report without having 
previously notified the Monitoring Officer of the intention to do so the Committee 
may either [a] adjourn the meeting to enable the Investigating Officer to provide a 
response, or [b] refuse to allow the disputed matter to be raised. 

 
8. Upon receipt, the Monitoring Officer shall invite the relevant Investigating Officer to 

comment, within ten working days, on the Member’s response, and to say whether 
or not they: 

 
i. wants to be represented or be present at the hearing; 
 

ii. wants to call relevant witnesses to give evidence or submit written or other 
evidence to the Committee; 

 
iii. wants any part of the hearing to be held in private; 

 
iv. wants any part of the Investigating Officer’s report or other relevant 

documents to be withheld from the public. 
 
9. Upon receipt of the Investigating Officer’s response, the Monitoring Officer will 

consider the responses of the Member and the Investigating Officer and request the 
Monitoring Officer to set a date for the hearing in consultation with the Chairman. 

 
10. The Member and the Investigating Officer are entitled to request that any witnesses 

they want should be called. However, the Chairman of the Hearing may limit the 
number of witnesses to be called, if they believe the number requested is 
unreasonable and that some witnesses will simply be repeating the evidence of 
earlier witnesses, or else not providing evidence that will assist the Committee to 
reach its decision. 

Page 68



 Page 35 
 

 
11. Nothing in this procedure shall limit the Chairman of the Hearing from requesting 

the attendance of any additional witnesses whose evidence they consider would 
assist the Committee to reach its decision. 

 
12. The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Chairman, will: 
 

i. confirm a date, time and place for the Hearing, which must be within three 
months from the date that the Investigating Officer’s report was received; 

 
ii. confirm the main facts of the case that are agreed; 

 
iii. confirm the main facts that are not agreed; 

 
iv. provide copies of any written evidence to the relevant parties; 

 
v. confirm which witnesses will be called by the parties; 

 
vi. provide the parties with a copy of the proposed procedure for the Hearing, 

specifying which parts of the matter, if any, may be considered in private; 
and 

 
vii. ensure the appropriate information, with the agenda, is provided to 

everyone involved in the Hearing at least two weeks before the proposed 
date of the Hearing. 

 
THE HEARING 
 
13. The Committee shall decide, on a balance of probabilities, whether the complaint[s] 

is or are upheld upon the evidence presented to it. 
 
14. Each Committee Member shall have one vote, and all matters/issues shall be 

decided by a simple majority of votes cast.  If there are equal numbers of votes for 
and against, the Chairman will have second or casting vote. 

 
15. The meeting of the Committee will be open to the public and press unless 

confidential information or exempt information is likely to be disclosed. 
 
PROCEDURE AT THE HEARING 
 
16. The initial order of business at the meeting shall be as follows:- 
 

i. Establishing whether the Committee is quorate; 
 

ii. Declarations of interest; 
 

Page 69



 Page 36 
 

iii. Introductions 
 

iv. Consideration as to whether to adjourn or to proceed in the absence of 
the Member, if the Member is not present; 

 
v. Consideration of any procedural issues and, in particular, any 

representation from the Investigating Officer and/or the Member as to 
reasons why the Committee should exclude the press and public and 
determination as to whether to exclude the press and public. 

 
17. The purpose of the Hearing is to determine the facts at issue and what action, if any, 

should be taken. An inquisitorial approach will be adopted by the Committee 
members in seeking information and clarifying facts and issues. The Chairman will 
control the procedure and evidence presented at the Hearing, including the 
questioning of witnesses. 

 
18. The Committee members may at any time seek legal advice from their advisor. 

[Such advice will be notified to the public in the presence of the Investigation Officer 
and the Member.] 

 
19. The procedure will be as follows, subject to the Chairman being able to make 

changes as he or she thinks fit in order to ensure a fair and efficient hearing. 
 
PROCEEDING IN THE ABSENCE OF THE MEMBER 
 
20. If the Member is not present at the start of the Hearing: 
 

i. The Chairman will ask the Monitoring Officer whether the Member has 
indicated their intention not to attend the Hearing; 

 
ii. The Standards Committee shall then consider any reasons which the 

Member has provided for not attending the Hearing and shall decide 
whether it is satisfied that there is sufficient reason for such failure to 
attend; 

 
iii. If the Standards Committee is satisfied with such reasons, it shall adjourn 

the Hearing to another date; 
 

iv. If the Standards Committee is not satisfied with such reasons, or if the 
Member has not given any such reasons, the Standards Committee shall 
decide whether to consider the matter and make a determination in the 
absence of the member or to adjourn the Hearing to another date. 

 
Presentation by the Investigating Officer 

 
21.     The Investigating Officer will present the 
evidence which is relevant to the matter. The   Investigating Officer may introduce any 

Page 70



 Page 37 
 

witness required to substantiate any matter contained in the report which has been 
disputed and present any other relevant evidence. 

 

22.    The Member or their representative may ask questions 
of the Investigating Officer or any witness. 

 

23.         The Committee 
members may ask questions of the Investigating Officer or any witness. 
 

Presentation by the Member 
 

 

24. The Member or their representative will present the evidence which is relevant to  
 the matter. The Member or their representative may introduce witnesses or  
 present any other relevant evidence. 

 
25. The Investigating Officer may ask questions of the Member, or any witness. 

 
26. The Committee members may ask questions of the Member or any witness. 

 
Summing Up 

 
27. The Investigating Officer and then the Member or their representative will be given 
 the opportunity to sum up. 
 
Power to Adjourn 
28. If the Committee at any time prior to determining whether there was a failure to  
 comply with the Code of Conduct are of the opinion that they require additional  
 evidence on any point in order to be able to come to a considered conclusion on  
 the matter the Committee may (on not more than one occasion) adjourn the  
 hearing and make a request to the Monitoring Officer to seek and provide such  
 additional evidence and to undertake further investigation on any point specified  
 by the Standards Committee. 
 

Decision by the Committee 
 

29. The Committee will consider in private all the evidence which it has heard in order 
 to establish its findings of fact. 
 
30. At any stage in the consideration of the matter the Committee may return to ask  
 further questions of the Investigating Officer or the Member or seek further  
 information. The other party will be given an opportunity to comment upon the  
 questions asked or the responses made. 
 
31. The Committee may seek legal advice at any time. Such advice may be given in  
 the presence of the Investigating Officer and the Member if appropriate. 
 

Page 71



 Page 38 
 

32. At the conclusion of their deliberations, the Chairman will advise the Member and 
 the Investigating Officer of their findings and whether the Code of Conduct has  
 been breached. 
 
33. If the Committee concludes that the Member has acted in breach of the Code  
 representations will be invited from the Investigating Officer and the Member as to 
 what action, if any, it should take. The Committee may ask questions of the  
 Member and the Investigating Officer. 
 

Determining the Matter 

34. The Committee, having heard any representations, will consider what actions, if  
 any, to take. 

 

The findings that the Committee may make are: 

a) That there has been no breach of the Code; 
 

b) That the Member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct, but that 
no action needs to be taken; 

 

c) That the Member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct and the 
sanction(s) should be that the Standards Committee: 

 

  Publish its findings in respect of the Member’s conduct; 
  Send a formal letter to the Member 
  Report its findings to the Council or Parish Council for information; 
  Recommend to the member’s Group Leader (or in the case of an un-

grouped member(s), recommend to Council or Committees) that they 
be removed from any or all committees or sub-committees of the 
Council; 

  Recommend to the Leader of the Council that the member be 
removed from the Executive or removed from particular Portfolio 
responsibilities; 

  Instruct the Monitoring Officer or recommend that the Parish Council 
arrange training for the member; 

  Remove or recommend to the Parish Council that the member be 
removed from all outside appointments to which they have been 
appointed or nominated by the Council or the Parish Council; 

  Withdraw or recommend to the Parish Council that it withdraws certain 
facilities provided to the member by the Council; or 

  Exclude or recommend that the Parish Council exclude the member 
from the member from Council’s offices or other premises, with the 
exception of meeting rooms as necessary for attending Council, 
Committees and Sub-Committee meetings. 

 

35. In deciding what penalty to set, the Committee will consider all relevant   

 circumstances. 

Page 72



 Page 39 
 

 

36, The Chairman will announce the decision of the Committee, the action, if any, it  
 will take and the reasons for the decision. 

 

37. The Committee will then consider in open session whether there are any   

 recommendations which should be made to any Authority concerned arising from 
 the consideration of the allegation. 

 

APPEAL 

 

38. There is no right of appeal against the decision of the Hearing Panel. 

 

NOTICE OF FINDINGS 

 

39. A full written decision in draft [including the reasons for it] will be prepared as soon 
as practicable. The draft decision will be forwarded to the Chairman of the 
Committee for approval. 

 

40. Once approved and as soon as reasonably practicable after the Hearing the full 
written decision will be forwarded to the Member, the Complainant [where 
possible], the Investigating Officer and any other Authority concerned. 

 

41. If the Hearing Panel wishes to publish its finding, the Monitoring Officer, subject to 
paragraph 32, shall arrange for a summary of the findings to be published in one 
newspaper circulating in the area of the Authority in accordance with paragraphs 
33 and 34 or in such other manner as the Hearing Panel may determine (for 
example, by reporting the matter to Council for information). 

 

42. Where the Committee determines that there has not been a beach of the Code of 
Conduct, the notice shall: 

 

i. State that the Committee found that the Member had not failed to comply 
with the Code of Conduct and shall give its reasons for reaching that 
finding; and 

 

ii. Not be published in the local newspaper if the Member so requests. 

Page 73



 Page 40 
 

 

43. Where the Committee determines that there has been a failure to comply with the 
Code of Code but no action is required, the notice shall: 

 

i. State that the Committee found that the Member had failed to comply with 
the Code of Conduct but that no action needs to be taken in respect of 
that failure; 

 

ii. Specify the details of the failure; 
 

iii. Give reasons for the decision reached; and 
 

44. Where the Committee determines that there has been a failure to comply with the 
Code of Conduct and that a sanction should be imposed, the notice shall include a 
brief statement of the facts, the provisions of the code engaged by the allegations, the 
view of the Independent Person, the reasoning of the decision maker and any sanction 
applied.  The decision notice will be published on the Council’s website. 

45. Copies of the agenda, reports and minutes of a Hearing, as well as any background 
papers, apart from sections of documents relating to parts of the Hearing that were 
held in private, shall be available for public inspection for six years after the Hearing. 

 

Page 74



Appendix 4

January 2022 Page 1 
 

GUIDANCE ON CODE OF CONDUCT  

This document has been produced by the Cumberland/Westmorland and Furness 
Monitoring Officers to offer guidance on the Code of Conduct for Members. The code, 
amended from time to time to reflects current guidance, applies to all members and 
co-opted members of the Council. 

The Member code does not apply to the actions of the Council as a whole, or to the 
conduct of its officers and employees.   

Ultimately, it is the members’ responsibility to take specific advice from the Monitoring 
Officer where appropriate and to make a decision as to the most suitable course of 
action. 

Code of Conduct 

The Code of Conduct (“the Code”) is not intended to be an exhaustive list of all the 
obligations that are placed on Members, but it is the responsibility of individual 
members to comply with the provisions of the Code as well as such other legal 
obligations as may apply to them from time to time. 

The Code is intended to be consistent with the seven principles as attached to the 
code which define the standards that members should uphold.  A failure to act in 
accordance with these general principles may amount to a breach of the Code of 
Conduct. For example, by placing yourself in situations where your honesty and 
integrity may be questioned, your conduct may be conduct which could “bringing the 
Council or your office as a member of the Council into disrepute”.  

When does the Code apply to you? 

The Code applies to you whenever you act in your official capacity as a member or 
co-opted member of the Authority.  A co-opted member is a person who is not a 
member of the Council but who is either a member of any committee or sub-committee 
of the Council, or a member of, and represents the Council on any joint committee or 
joint sub-committee of the Council and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls 
to be decided at that meeting of that committee or sub-committee. 

For the purposes of the Code, a “meeting” is a meeting of the Council, any of its 
committees, sub-committees, joint committees or joint sub-committees.      

General Obligations under the Code  

You must act solely in the public interest and should never improperly confer 
an advantage or disadvantage on any person or act to gain financial or other 
material benefits for yourself, your family, a friend, a close associate, an 
employer or business carried on by you. 

For example, your behaviour would be improper if you sought to further your private 
interests through your position as a member. 

 

Page 75



Appendix 4

January 2022 Page 2 
 

You must not place yourself under a financial or other obligation to outside 
individuals or organisations that may influence you in the performance of your 
official duties. 

It would not be appropriate to accept favours, gifts or hospitality from someone that 
may, at a later date, require something from the Council that you are in a position to 
influence.  For example, you may be offered a discount by a business in the area which 
subsequently applies for a planning permission and/or a licence.  You may be on the 
relevant committee dealing with the application and, therefore, be in a difficult position. 

You must not disclose any information given to you as a Member in breach of 
any confidence. 

There may be circumstances where you are required to do so by law but you should 
seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer if there is any doubt about this.  

You must not disclose confidential information, or information which you believe to be 
of a confidential nature, except in any of the following circumstances: 

• You have the consent of the person authorised to give it. 

• You are required by law to do so. 

• The disclosure is made to a third party for the purposes of obtaining 
professional advice (for example, your lawyer or other professional adviser) 
provided that person agrees not to disclose the information to any other 
person. 

• The disclosure is in the public interest.  This is only justified in limited 
circumstances, when all of the following four requirements are met: 

1. the disclosure must be reasonable 

2. the disclosure must be in the public interest 

3. the disclosure must be made in good faith 

4. the disclosure must be made in compliance with any reasonable  
requirements of your authority 

In relation to the disclosure of confidential information in the public interest, the four 
requirements to be met are outlined in more detail below. 

1. The first requirement, that the disclosure must be reasonable, requires you to 
consider matters such as: 

• Whether you believe that the information disclosed, and any allegation 
contained in it, is substantially true. If you do not believe this, the disclosure is 
unlikely to be reasonable. 

• Whether you make the disclosure for personal gain. If you are paid to disclose 
the information, the disclosure is unlikely to be reasonable. 

Page 76



Appendix 4

January 2022 Page 3 
 

• The identity of the person to whom the disclosure is made. It may be 
reasonable to disclose information to the police or to an appropriate regulator. 
It is less likely to be reasonable for you to disclose the information to the world 
at large through the media. 

• The extent of the information disclosed. The inclusion of unnecessary detail, 
and in particular, private matters such as addresses or telephone numbers, is 
likely to render the disclosure unreasonable. 

• The seriousness of the matter. The more serious the matter disclosed, the 
more likely it is that the disclosure will be reasonable. 

• The timing of the disclosure. If the matter to which the disclosure relates has 
already occurred, and is unlikely to occur again, the disclosure may be less 
likely to be reasonable than if the matter is continuing, or is likely to recur. 

• Whether the disclosure involves your authority failing in a duty of confidence 
owed to another person. 

2. The second requirement, that the disclosure must be in the public interest, needs 
to involve one or more of the following matters or something of comparable 
seriousness, that has either happened in the past, is currently happening, or is likely 
to happen in the future: 

(a) A criminal offence is committed. 

(b) Your authority or some other person fails to comply with any legal obligation 
to which they are subject. 

(c) A miscarriage of justice occurs. 

(d) The health or safety of any individual is in danger. 

(e) The environment is likely to be damaged. 

(f) That information tending to show any matter falling within (a) to (e) is 
deliberately concealed. 

3. The third requirement, that the disclosure is made in good faith, will not be met if 
you act with an ulterior motive, for example, to achieve a party political advantage or 
to settle a score with a political opponent. 

4. The fourth requirement, that you comply with the reasonable requirements of your 
authority, means that before making the disclosure you must comply with your 
authority’s policies or protocols on matters such as whistle-blowing and confidential 
information. You must first raise your concerns through the appropriate channels set 
out in such policies or protocols. 

In summary, to decide whether the disclosure is reasonable and in the public interest, 
you may need to conduct a balancing exercise weighing up the public interest in 
maintaining confidentiality against any countervailing public interest favouring 
disclosure. This will require a careful focus on how confidential the information is, on 

Page 77



Appendix 4

January 2022 Page 4 
 

any potentially harmful consequences of its disclosure, and on any factors which may 
justify its disclosure despite these potential consequences. 

In some situations, it is extremely unlikely that a disclosure can be justified in the public 
interest. These will include where the disclosure amounts to a criminal offence, or 
where the information disclosed is protected by legal professional privilege. 

You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded 
as bringing the Council, or your office as a member of the Council, into 
disrepute. 

You must not bring your office or authority into disrepute whilst acting in your official 
capacity. 

As a member, your actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than that of 
ordinary members of the public.  You should be aware that your actions might have 
an adverse impact on your office or your authority.  Dishonest and deceitful behaviour 
in your role as a member may bring your authority into disrepute, as may conduct in 
your private life which results in a criminal conviction, such as dishonest, threatening 
or violent behaviour. 

You must treat others with respect and promote equality by not discriminating 
unlawfully against any person, and by treating people with respect, regardless 
of their sex, race, age, religion, gender, sexual orientation or disability.  You 
should respect the impartiality and integrity of the authority’s statutory officers 
and its other employees. 

Respect  

You must treat others with respect. In politics, rival groupings are common, either in 
formal political parties or more informal alliances.  It is expected that each will 
campaign for their ideas, and they may also seek to discredit the politics and actions 
of their opponents.  Criticism of ideas and opinion is part of democratic debate, and 
does not in itself amount to failing to treat someone with respect. 

Ideas and policies may be robustly criticised, but individuals should not be subject to 
unreasonable or excessive personal attacks.  This particularly applies to dealing with 
the public and officers.  Chairs of meetings are expected to apply the rules of debate 
and procedure rules or standing orders to prevent abusive or disorderly conduct. 

Whilst there may be unreasonable demands on members, members should, as far as 
possible, treat people courteously and with consideration.  Rude and offensive 
behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in its elected 
representatives. 

Equality 

You must not do anything which may cause your authority to breach any equality laws. 
You must be careful not to act in a way which may amount to any of the prohibited 
forms of discrimination, or do anything which hinders your authority’s fulfilment of its 
positive duties under equality laws.  Such conduct may cause your authority to breach 

Page 78



Appendix 4

January 2022 Page 5 
 

the law, and you may find yourself subject to a complaint that you have breached this 
paragraph of the code of conduct. 

Bullying 

You should not bully any person.  As an elected Member you are in a position of 
authority and power over Council employees and others. Bullying if offensive, 
intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour involving the misuse of power that can 
make a person feel vulnerable, upset, humiliated, undermined or threatened.  Power 
does not always mean being in a position of authority, but can include both personal 
strength and the power to coerce through fear or intimidation. 

Bullying can take the form of physical, verbal and non-verbal conduct.  Bullying may 
include, by way of example: 

(a) Physical or psychological threats; 

(b) Overbearing and intimidating levels of supervision/instruction; 

(c) Inappropriate derogatory remarks about someone’s performance; 

Legitimate, reasonable and constructive criticism of a worker’s performance or 
behaviour, or reasonable instructions given to workers in the course of their 
employment, will not amount to bullying on their own. 

Harassment 

You should not harass any person. Harassment is any unwanted physical, verbal or 
non-verbal conduct that has the purpose or effect of violating a person’s dignity or 
creating an intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating or offensive environment for 
them.  A single incident can amount to harassment. 

It also includes treating someone less favourably because they have submitted or 
refused to submit to such behaviour in the past.  

Unlawful harassment may involve conduct of a sexual nature (sexual harassment), or 
it may be related to age, disability, gender reassignment, marital or civil partner status, 
pregnancy or maternity, race, colour, nationality, ethnic or national origin, religion or 
belief, sex or sexual orientation.  Harassment is unacceptable even if it does not fall 
within any of these categories. 

Harassment may include, for example: 

(a) Unwanted physical conduct or “horseplay”, including touching, pinching, 
pushing and grabbing; 

(b) Continued suggestions for social activity after it has been made clear that such 
suggestions are unwelcome; 

(c) Sending or displaying material that is pornographic or that some people may 
find offensive (including e-mails, text messages, video clips and images sent 
by mobile phones or posted on the internet); 

Page 79



Appendix 4

January 2022 Page 6 
 

(d) Unwelcome sexual advances or suggestive behaviour (which the harasser may 
perceive as harmless); 

(e) Racist, sexist, homophobic or ageist jokes, or derogatory or stereotypical 
remarks about a particular ethnic or religious group or gender; 

(f) Outing or threating to out someone as gay or lesbian; 

(g) Offensive e-mails, text messages or social media content; or 

(h) Mocking, mimicking or belittling a person’s disability. 

A person may be harassed even if they were not the intended “target”.  For example, 
a person may be harassed by racist jokes about a different ethnic group if the jokes 
create an offensive environment. 

Impartiality and integrity of officers of the authority 

You should respect the impartiality and integrity of the Authority’s statutory officers and 
its other employees. 

You should not approach or pressure anyone who works for, or on behalf of the 
authority to carry out their duties in a biased or partisan way.  They must be neutral 
and should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a way that would undermine their 
neutrality.  For example, you should not get officers to help you prepare party political 
material, or to help you with matters relating to your private business.   

Although you can robustly question officers in order to understand, for example, their 
reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or the content of a report that they 
have written, you must not try and force them to act differently, change their advice, or 
alter the content of that report, if doing so would prejudice their professional integrity.  

When carrying out your public duties you must make all choices, such as 
making public appointments, awarding contracts or recommending individuals 
for rewards or benefits on merit. 

As an elected Member of the Council you are responsible for administering resources 
on behalf of the public of the area that you serve.  You should administer these 
resources fairly and in accordance with the law.  It is inappropriate for the Council’s 
resources or powers to be used in such a way that the authority and its Members be 
left open to accusations that in appropriate influence played a part, for example, “it’s 
not what you know, it’s who you know!” 

You are accountable for your decisions to the public and you must co-operate 
fully with whatever scrutiny is appropriate to your office. 

This requirement is linked to carrying out all duties in a fair and transparent manner.  
Members are able to be held to account for their actions and, this being the case, you 
must be open to cooperate with any legitimate scrutiny that is to be applied. 

 

Page 80



Appendix 4

January 2022 Page 7 
 

You must be open as possible about your decisions and actions and the 
decisions and actions of your authority and should be prepared to give reasons 
for those decisions and actions. 

The law requires that Members give reasons for their decisions.  This is so that the 
public we serve are able to understand why we have taken a course of action and, if 
necessary, exercise any right of challenge that is open to them. 

You must declare any private interests, both disclosable pecuniary interests and 
any registrable interests, that relate to your public duties and must take steps 
to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects the public interest, 
including registering and declaring interest in a matter which conforms to the 
procedures within the code. 

The Code of Conduct contains a scheme for the registration of interests.  It exists to 
support openness and transparency; the public are able to see where you may have 
an interest.  Secondly, the scheme of registration exists to protect individual Members 
against accusations of a conflict of interest, etc.  Lastly, the registration of disclosable 
pecuniary interests is required by law. 

You must ensure, when using or authorising the use by others of the resources 
of your authority, that such resources are not used improperly for political 
purposes (including party political purposes) and you must have regard to any 
applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity made under the Local Government 
Act 1986. 

Where your authority provides you with resources (for example telephone, computer 
and other IT facilities, transport or support from council employees), you must only use 
these resources or employees for carrying out your local authority business and any 
other activity which your authority has authorised you to use them for. 

You must be familiar with the rules applying to the use of these resources made by 
your authority. Failure to comply with the authority’s rules is likely to amount to a 
breach of the code. 

If you authorise someone (for example a member of your family) to use your authority’s 
resources, you must take care to ensure that this is allowed by the authority’s rules. 

You should never use council resources for purely political purposes, including 
designing and distributing party political material produced for publicity purposes. 

You must promote and support high standards of conduct when serving in your 
office. 

You have a duty to promote and support high standards of conduct and be consistent 
with the seven general principles attached to the Code.  

 

Page 81



Appendix 4

January 2022 Page 8 
 

INTERESTS 

Register of interests 

Any interests notified to the Monitoring Officer will be included in the register of 
interests. A copy of the register will be available for public inspection and will be 
published on the authority’s website. 

You have two types of registrable interests   

a) A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and 

b) Interests other than pecuniary interests that the Council has decided should be 
registered 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

1. These are interests which must be notified to the Council’s Monitoring Officer 
within 28 days beginning with the day on which you become a member or co-opted 
member of the authority in accordance with the statutory requirements of the 
Localism Act 2011. These are enforced by criminal sanction, and failure to declare 
is a criminal offence. 

2. You need to register your interests so that the public, authority staff and fellow 
members know which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of interest.  The 
register is a document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue arises, and 
so allows others to know what interests you have, and whether they might give 
rise to a potential conflict of interest. 

3. The register also protects you. You are responsible for deciding whether or not 
you should declare an interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for you to know 
early on if others think that a potential conflict might arise.  It is also important that 
the public know about any interest that might have to be declared by you or other 
members, so that decision making is seen by the public as open and honest.  This 
helps to ensure that public confidence in the integrity of local government is 
maintained.  

4. A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself or your partner (which 
means spouse or civil partner, a person with whom you are living as husband or 
wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners) of the 
following descriptions: 

(a) Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain 

(b)  Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than 
from the relevant authority) made or provided within the relevant period in 
respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, 
or towards your election expenses. (This includes any payment or financial 
benefit from a trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992).  

Page 82



Appendix 4

January 2022 Page 9 
 

(c) Details of any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a body 
in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and the relevant 
authority under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed; and which has not been fully discharged.  

(d) Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the relevant 
authority.   

(e) Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area 
of the relevant authority for a month or longer.   

(f) Details of any tenancy where (to your knowledge) the landlord is the relevant 
authority; and the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial 
interest. 

(g) Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where that body (to 
your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the relevant 
authority; and either the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 
or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or if that share 
capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of the 
shares of any one class in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest 
exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class.  

For the purposes of the foregoing “relevant authority” means the District Council, and 
“relevant period” means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which you 
notify the Monitoring Officer of your disclosable pecuniary interest.  

Notification of Other Interests 

5. In addition to the disclosable pecuniary interests, you must, within 28 days of the 
Code being adopted by or applied to your authority; or your election or appointment 
to office (where that is later), notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of the details of 
your interests within the following categories, which the Council has decided must 
be included in the register of interests: 

.Details of any unpaid Directorships; 

(a) Details of any body of which you are a member or in a position of general 
control or management and to which you are appointed or nominated by the 
District Council; 

(c) Details of any body of which you are a member or in a position of general 
control or management and which –  

(i) exercises functions of a public nature,  

(ii)  is directed to charitable purposes or  

(iii)  is a body which includes as one of its principal purposes influencing 
public opinion or policy (this includes political parties or trade union); 

Page 83



Appendix 4

January 2022 Page 10 
 

(d)  Details of any persons from who you have a received/rejected a gift or 
hospitality with an estimated value of at least £50. (You must register any gifts 
and hospitality worth £50 or over that you receive/reject personally in 
connection with your official duties).   

What is a “body exercising functions of a public nature”? 

6. Although it is not possible to produce a definitive list of such bodies, here are some 
criteria to consider when deciding whether or not a body meets that definition: 

  Does that body carry out a public service? 

  Is the body taking the place of local or central government in carrying out the 
function? 

  Is the body (including one outsourced in the private sector) exercising a 
function delegated to it by a public authority? 

  Is the function exercised under legislation or according to some statutory 
power? 

  Can the body be judicially reviewed? 

Unless you answer “yes” to one of the above questions, it is unlikely that the body in 
your case is exercising functions of a public nature. 

Examples of bodies included in this definition: government agencies, other councils, 
public health bodies, council-owned companies exercising public functions, arms-
length management organisations carrying out housing functions on behalf of your 
authority, school governing bodies. 

If you need further information or specific advice, please contact your Monitoring 
Officer. 

What do things mean? 

Here are some definitions from the legislation that may help you.  Ask for advice if 
necessary: 

“the Act” means the Localism Act 2011; 

“body in 
which the 
relevant 
person has a 
beneficial 
interest” 

means a firm in which the relevant person is a 
partner or a body corporate of which the relevant 
person is a director, or in the securities of which 
the relevant person has a beneficial interest; 

Page 84

http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&&context=7&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I9AA4F73014C911E1A6718D7CED27531D


Appendix 4

January 2022 Page 11 
 

“director” includes a member of the committee of 
management of an industrial and provident 
society; 

“land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right 
in or over land which does not carry with it a right 
for the relevant person (alone or jointly with 
another) to occupy the land or to receive income; 

“M” means a member of a relevant authority; 

“member” includes a co-opted member; 

“relevant 
authority” 

means the authority of which M is a member; 

“relevant 
period” 

means the period of 12 months ending with the 
day on which M gives a notification for the 
purposes of section 30(1) or section 31(7), as the 
case may be, of the Act; 

“relevant 
person” 

means  

 

(i) M  
(ii) M's spouse or civil partner, 
(iii) a person with whom M is living as 

husband and wife, or 
(iv) a person with whom M is living as if they 

were civil partners, 

 

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan 
stock, bonds, units of a collective investment 
scheme within the meaning of the Financial 
Services and Markets Act 2000 and other 
securities of any description, other than money 
deposited with a building society. 

 

 

 

 

Page 85

http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&&context=7&crumb-action=replace&docguid=ID78FE7E014C911E19E5AF8480E3EF42C
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&&context=7&crumb-action=replace&docguid=ID78FE7E214C911E19E5AF8480E3EF42C
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&&context=17&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I5FACA830E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&&context=17&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I5FACA830E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB


Appendix 4

January 2022 Page 12 
 

Gifts and Hospitality 

7. You must register the gift or hospitality and its source within 28 days of receiving 
it. 

8. You should ask yourself would I have been given/offered this if I was not on the 
Council?  If you are in doubt as to the motive behind a gift or hospitality, we 
recommend that you register it or speak to the Monitoring Officer or your parish 
clerk where appropriate. 

9. You do not need to register gifts and hospitality which are not related to your role 
as a member, such as Christmas gifts from your friends and family, or gifts which 
you do not accept.  However, you should always register a gift or hospitality if it 
could be perceived as something given to you because of your position or if your 
authority requires you to. 

What if I do not know the value of a gift or hospitality? 

10. The general rule is, if in doubt as to the value of a gift or hospitality, you should 
register it, as a matter of good practice and in accordance with the principles of 
openness and accountability in public life. 

11. You may have to estimate how much a gift or hospitality is worth.  Also, an 
accumulation of small gifts you received from the same source over a short period 
that add up to £50 or more should be registered.       

Changes to Interests 

12. You must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any new interest or change to any 
interest registered notify the Monitoring Officer of the details of that new interest 
or change. 

Disclosure of Interests 

13. Where you have a registrable interest in any business of your authority, and where 
you are aware or ought reasonably to be aware of the existence of that interest, 
and you attend a meeting of your authority at which the business is considered, 
you must disclose to that meeting the existence and nature of that interest at the 
commencement of that consideration, or when the interest becomes apparent. 

Sensitive interests 

14. Where you consider that disclosure of the details of an interest could lead to you, 
or a person connected with you, being subject to violence or intimidation, and the 
Monitoring Officer agrees, if the interest is entered on the register, copies of the 
register that are made available for inspection and any published version of the 
register will exclude details of the interest, but may state that you have an interest, 
the details of which are withheld. 

 

 

Page 86



Appendix 4

January 2022 Page 13 
 

What is sensitive information? 

15. It may include your sensitive employment (such as certain scientific research or 
the Special Forces) or other interests that are likely to create serious risk of 
violence or intimidation against you or someone who lives with you. 

16. You should provide this information to your Monitoring Officer and explain your 
concerns regarding the disclosure of the sensitive information; including why it is 
likely to create a serious risk that you or a person who lives with you will be 
subjected to violence or intimidation.  You do not need to include this information 
in your register of interests, if your Monitoring Officer agrees but you need to 
disclose at meetings the fact that you have a disclosable pecuniary interest in the 
matter concern.  

Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest 

17. If you are present at a meeting of the Council, Executive or any committee, sub-
committee, joint committee or joint sub-committee of the authority, and you have 
a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter to be considered or being 
considered at the meeting: 

  You may not participate in any discussion of the matter at the meeting. 

  You  may not participate in any vote taken on the matter at the meeting. 

  If  the interest is not registered, you must disclose the interest to the  
meeting. 

  If  the interest is not registered and is not the subject of a pending 
notification, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 
days. 

Dispensations 

18. The Monitoring Officer or Standards Committee may grant you a dispensation, but 
only in limited circumstances, to enable you to participate and vote on a matter in 
which you have a disclosable pecuniary interest. These circumstances are where: 

1. It is considered that without the dispensation the number of persons 
prohibited from participating in any particular business would be so great a 
proportion of the body transacting the business as to impede the transaction 
of the business.   

2. That, without the dispensation, the representation of different political 
groups on the body transacting any particular business would be so upset 
as to alter the likely outcome of any vote relating to the business.   

3. That, without a dispensation, no member of the Executive would be able to 
participate on this matter. 

4. That the authority considers that the dispensation is in the interests of 
persons living in the authority’s area 

5. That the authority considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a 
dispensation. 

Page 87



Appendix 4

January 2022 Page 14 
 

Offences 

19. It is a criminal offence to 

  Fail to notify the Monitoring Officer of any disclosable pecuniary interest 
within 28 days of election 

  Fail to disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest at a meeting if it is not on 
the register 

  Fail to notify the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of a disclosable pecuniary 
interest that is not on the register that you have disclosed to a meeting 

  Participate in any discussion or vote on a matter in which you have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest 

  As an executive member discharging a function acting alone, and having a 
disclosable pecuniary interest in such a matter, failing to notify the 
Monitoring Officer within 28 days of the interest. 

  Knowingly or recklessly providing information that is false or misleading in 
notifying the Monitoring Officer of a disclosable pecuniary interest or in 
disclosing such interest to a meeting 

The criminal penalties available to a court are to impose a fine not exceeding level 5 
on the standard scale and disqualification from being a councillor for up to 5 years. 

Bias/Predetermination 

Although not part of the Code, members need to be clear that they are not biased 
going into the decision making process. 

If you have a personal interest in a matter as a result of the matter affecting the well-
being or financial position of yourself, member of your family or close association more 
than it would affect the majority of other people in the ward or electoral divisions 
affected by the decision, or in the authority’s areas or constituency then there may be 
potential for bias/predetermination. 

The rules against bias say that there are three distinct elements.  The first seeks 
accuracy in public decision-making and the second seeks the absence of prejudice or 
partiality on the part of you as the decision-maker. An accurate decision is more likely 
to be achieved by a decision-maker who is in fact impartial or disinterested in the 
outcome of the decision and who puts aside any personal prejudices.  

The third requirement is for public confidence in the decision-making process. Even 
though the decision-maker may in fact be scrupulously impartial, the appearance of 
bias can itself call into question the legitimacy of the decision-making process. In 
general, the rule against bias looks to the appearance or risk of bias rather than bias 
in fact, in order to ensure that justice should not only be done, but should manifestly 
and undoubtedly be seen to be done.  

To varying degrees, these “requirements” might be seen to provide the rationales 
behind what are generally taken to be three separate rules against bias: “automatic” 
(or “presumed”) bias, “actual” bias and “appearance” bias. 

Page 88



Appendix 4

January 2022 Page 15 
 

The rationale behind “automatic” or “presumed” bias appears to be that in certain 
situations (such as if you have a pecuniary or proprietary interest in the outcome of 
the proceedings) then it must be presumed that you are incapable of impartiality. Since 
a motive for bias is thought to be so obvious in such cases, the decisions are not 
allowed to stand even though no investigation is made into whether the decision-
maker was biased in fact.  In these circumstances you should not participate in a 
decision. 

The Localism Act 2011 has enshrined the rules relating to pre-disposition and 
predetermination into statute.  In essence you are not taken to have had, or appeared 
to have had, a closed mind when making a decision just because you have previously 
done anything that directly or in-directly indicated what view you may take in relation 
to a matter and that matter was relevant to the decision.   

So, you are entitled to have a pre-disposition one way or another as long as you have 
not pre-determined the outcome.  You are able to express an opinion providing that 
you come to the relevant meeting with an open mind, able to take account of all of the 
evidence and make your decision on the day. 

What does “affecting well-being” or “financial position” mean? 

The term “well-being” can be described as a condition of contentment and happiness.  
Anything that could affect your quality of life, either positively or negatively, is likely to 
affect your well-being. 

A personal interest can affect you, your family or close personal associates positively 
and negatively.  So if you or they have the potential to gain or lose from a matter under 
consideration, a personal interest would need to be declared in both situations. 

Who is a member of your family or close association? 

A member of your family should be given wide meaning.  It includes a partner 
(someone you are married to, your civil partner, or someone you live with in a similar 
capacity), a parent, parent-in-law, a son or daughter, a stepson, or stepdaughter, the 
child of a partner, a brother or sister of yourself or your partner, a grandparent, a 
grandchild, an uncle or aunt, a nephew or niece and the partners of any of these 
people. 

A person with whom you have a close association is someone that you are in either 
regular or irregular contact with over a period of time who is more than an 
acquaintance.  It is someone a reasonable member of the public might think you would 
be prepared to favour or disadvantage when discussing a matter that affects them.  It 
may be a friend, a colleague, a business associate or someone whom you know 
through general social contacts. 

What if I am not aware of my personal interest? 

Clearly you cannot be expected to declare something of which you are unaware.  
However you should not ignore the existence of interests which, from the point of view 
of a reasonable and objective observer, you should have been aware. If you become 

Page 89



Appendix 4

January 2022 Page 16 
 

aware, or should have realised, that you have an interest during consideration of the 
item, you should immediately declare this and take the appropriate action. 

When must I leave the room where the meeting is held? 

You must leave immediately before any debate starts. 

Non participation in case of pecuniary interest 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

Subject to the following paragraph below if you have a disclosable pecuniary interest 
in any matter to be considered, or being considered, at the meeting, then you should 
declare that interest to the meeting and should leave the room whilst any discussion 
or vote takes place. 

If a dispensation has been granted to you in relation to a disclosable pecuniary interest 
then, subject to the terms of the dispensation, you may be relieved from the above 
restrictions but will still be required to declare the interest to the meeting. 

Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest in any business of the Council, you 
may attend a Meeting but only for the purpose of making representations, answering 
questions or giving evidence relating to the business, provided that the public are also 
allowed to attend the Meeting for the same purpose, whether under a statutory right 
or otherwise.  Once any such representations etc have been made, the Member 
should leave the room whilst any discussion or vote takes place. 

This would mean that as under current arrangements, Members will leave the room 
during an item in which they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest. 

In the interests of transparency it is good practice for you to make the nature of a 
disclosable interest known when such a matter arises at a meeting.  You should 
identify the nature of the interest which you have in any matter so that is known and 
understood by all and is a matter of public record.  If a declaration is not made, other 
than through the register, it would not necessarily be apparent to anyone who is 
present at the meeting why a particular Member is not participating or voting in any 
matter.

Page 90



APPENDIX 5 
 

NOTIFICATION BY MEMBER OF WESTMORLAND AND FURNESS 
COUNCIL OF PECUNIARY AND OTHER REGISTRABLE INTERESTS 

 
 

Localism Act 2011, Sections 28 - 30 
The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012  

 
To comply with the Westmorland and Furness Council Code of Conduct, a Member 
or Co-opted Member must register their pecuniary and other interests with the 
Council’s Interim Monitoring Officer within 28 days of the date of their election or co-
option.  
 
 
Important Notes  
 
This form must be completed by both elected and co-opted members of the Council. 
 
If you have been sent this form by email you may complete it electronically but you 
must personally sign the completed form. 
 
If you have any doubts about whether or not something should be declared, you are 
urged to err on the side of openness and avoid the risk of not registering something 
that you should have registered. 
 
If you have any difficulty completing any part of this form please contact Linda Fisher, 
Monitoring Officer – South Lakeland District Council and LGR Technical Lead – Legal 
and Democratic Workstream on 01539 793370 for advice. 
 
Failure to declare a disclosable pecuniary interest is a criminal offence and may 
result in prosecution.  
 
 
NAME OF MEMBER:  
 
I…………………………………………………………………………………………… 

 
GIVE NOTICE that I have the following pecuniary and other interests as are required 
to be registered by the Code and relevant Regulations  
 
DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 
 
A disclosable pecuniary interest is an interest which: 
 

  is of a description specified in regulations made by the Secretary of State and 
 

Page 91



2  

  either it is your interest, or an interest of your partner (which means spouse or 
civil partner, a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person 
with whom you are living as if you are civil partners). 
 

The descriptions specified by the Secretary of State are set out below. 
 
You must register your disclosable pecuniary interests and those of your partner.  
 
In this notification ‘relevant authority’ means Westmorland and Furness Shadow 
Council. 
 
(Please state NONE where appropriate)  
 
 
1 Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on 

for profit or gain.  
 

Include all employment or business which you or your partner carry out, as well 
as any activity that generates income for you or them. Do not include your work as 
you carry out in your role as a Town/Parish Councillor. This does not include 
unearned income e.g. from property or investments, but should include unpaid 
work. Give a short description of the activity concerned e.g. “window cleaner” or 
the job title e.g. “teacher”. 
Also, with regard to you or your partner, state the name of – any person who 
employs (has appointed) you/them; any firm in which you/they are a partner;  
any company for which you/ they are a remunerated Director. 

 
2 Sponsorship - Details of any payment or provision of any other financial 

benefit (other than from the relevant authority) made or provided within the 
relevant period in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses. (This includes any 
payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning of the 
Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.  

 
Please state the amount and name of any person(s) or body who has/have 
made a payment in respect of your election or made a contribution towards  
expenses incurred by you in carrying out your duties within the last twelve  
months. 

3 Contracts - Details of any contract which is made between the relevant 
person (or a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and 
the relevant authority:-  

 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 

 executed; and  
 

(b) which has not been fully discharged.  
 

Give a description of any contract which currently exists for goods, services or 
works made between the Council and – You or your partner; A firm in which you 

Page 92



3  

or your partner are a partner; A company of which you or your partner are a 
remunerated director; or A body specified in question 7 below. 

 

4   Land - Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority.   
Give the address, or a brief description, of any land (including buildings or parts of 
 buildings) in the Town/Parish area in which you or your partner have a 
beneficial interest (i.e. where you or they have some proprietary interest for 
your/their own benefit). This will also include your or your partner’s home whether 
the interest is as owner, lessee or tenants, including Council tenancies. Also 
include details of any property which you or your partner receive rent for, or where 
you or they are a mortgagee. 
 

  

Page 93



4  

5 Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area 
of the relevant authority for a month or longer.   

 
Give the address, or a brief description, of any land (including buildings or parts of 
buildings) in the Town/ Parish area which you or your partner neither own, nor have 
a tenancy for, but have a right to occupy for a period of 28 days or longer. 

 
 
 

6 Corporate Tenancies - Details of any tenancy where (to your knowledge):–  
 
(a) The landlord is the relevant authority; and 
 
(b) The tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest. 

 
List any tenancies of property where you are aware that the landlord is the 
Town/ Parish Council and where the tenant is either Yourself or your partner, a 
firm in which you or your partner are a partner, or a company where you or your 
partner are a Director. 

 
  

Page 94



5  

7 Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where:- 
 
(a) That body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area 

of the relevant authority; and 
 
(b) Either –  
 
 (i) The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 

Hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or 
 
 (ii) If that share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total  

nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant  
person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total  
issued share capital of that class.  

State any corporate body that has a place of business or land in the Town/Parish 
area and in whom you or your partner have a beneficial interest in a class of 
securities of that person or body that exceeds the nominal share value of £25,000 
or one hundredth of the total issued share capital (whichever is the lower). 

 
 

OTHER REGISTERABLE INTERESTS 
 
These interests relate to you alone (not your partner) and are those interests which 
the Shadow Council has determined should be entered in the Authority’s Register of 
Interest. 
 
 
8 Details of any unpaid Directorships 

 
 
  

Page 95



6  

9 Membership of Organisations – I am a member of, or I am in a position of 
general control or management in:- 

 
 

 
(a) The following body/ bodies to which I have been appointed by the 
Council - 
 

(b) The following body/ bodies which exercise functions of a public nature 
(e.g. school governing body or another Council) 

(c) The following body/ bodies which are directed to charitable purposes 
(e.g. a Masonic Lodge) 

(d) The following body/ bodies whose principal purposes include the  
influence of public opinion or policy. (This includes political parties and  
Trade unions) 
 

 
Gifts and Hospitality  
 

Give details of any person from whom you have received/rejected (in your 
capacity as a member/co-opted member) a gift or hospitality with an 
estimated value of at least £50. 
 

 
  

Page 96



7  

DECLARATION 
 
I have not omitted information that ought to be given in this notice and have not 
provided information that is materially false or misleading. 
 
I agree to give further notice in writing to the Interim Monitoring Officer, Westmorland 
and Furness Council, of any change to the interests specified above within 28 days of 
my becoming aware of it. 
 
 
 
Signed: …………………………………………………………….. 
 
 
Dated:  …………………………………………………………….. 
 
 
RECEIVED 
 
Signed: …………………………………………………………….. 
 
 
Date: ……………………………………………………………..

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



Westmorland and Furness Shadow Authority 
Meeting 

17 May 2022 

Proposed Shadow Authority Constitution 

Report from: Linda Fisher, Technical Lead, Legal and 
Democratic Workstream and Monitoring 
Officer (South Lakeland District Council)  

Report Author: Debbie Storr, Monitoring Officer (Barrow 
Borough Council) 

Wards:   All 

Key Decision:   N 

 

1.0 Purpose/Summary of report 
 
1.1 This report recommends a Constitution for adoption by the 

Shadow Authority at its inaugural meeting. 
 
2.0 Recommendation 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Shadow Authority for 

Westmorland and Furness: 

(1) approve and adopt the proposed Constitution and 
therefore, amongst other things, create a  Leader 
and Cabinet Executive within the meaning of Part 
1A of the Local Government Act 2000;    

(2) should Members have any amendments to the 
Constitution which they resolve should be made or 
considered further, that they instruct their 
Officers to report back to the next meeting of the 
Shadow Authority, accordingly; and 

(3) establish a cross-party Constitution Review Group 
to contribute towards the review of the Shadow 
Authority constitution and  the preparation of the 
required post vesting day Westmorland and 
Furness Council Constitution. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 99

Agenda Item 7



3.0 Background and Proposals 
 
3.1 The Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022 (“the SCO”) 

changes the arrangements for local government in the County 
of Cumbria.  Two new Unitary Authorities will come into 
existence, one known as Cumberland Council and the other as 
Westmorland and Furness Council. 

 
3.2 The two new Councils assume full responsibility for functions 

from 1 April 2023 onwards (vesting day) but elections were 
held on 5 May 2022 for the Authorities.  From the fourth day 
after the 2022 election until immediately before vesting day 
what are to be known as Shadow Authorities will exist. 

 
3.3 Part 3 of the SCO sets out what is required of the Shadow 

Authorities and the role includes: 
 
  the creation of a leader and cabinet executive;  
  the designation of interim Head of Paid Service, 

Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer (s151); 
  the appointment, before 31 December 2022, of the 

Authority’s Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer 
and Chief Finance Officer (s151) 

  adoption of a code of conduct for the Shadow 
Authority; 

  formulation of proposals for a scheme of Members’ 
allowances; 

  discharge of functions via the shadow executive; 
  review and revise the Implementation Plan; 
  commence and sustain their running as shadow 

authorities; 
  prepare the authorities for the assumption, as 

Cumberland or Westmorland and Furness Council, of 
local government functions and full local authority 
powers on 1 April 2023; 

  preparation of any budgets or plans required by 
Cumberland or Westmorland and Furness Council 
when those functions are assumed; 

  liaison with the county council and relevant district 
councils and the other Shadow Authority for the 
purpose of ensuring continuity of service delivery of 
public services on and after 1 April 2023; and 

  complying with the “Section 24 Direction” (approval of 
prescribed capital and revenue expenditure by the 
existing councils) 

 
 

Page 100



3.4 The Shadow Authorities have all of the powers of a non-
metropolitan county council or a non-metropolitan district 
council but it is important to note that the shadow authorities 
only carry out the restricted role prescribed in the SCO and 
other relevant legislation.  During the shadow period the 
county council and the six districts remain responsible for the 
delivery of all their existing services. 

 
3.5 Each of the Cumberland and Westmorland and Furness 

Councils will require a Constitution for the shadow period in 
order to facilitate its activities.  It is important to note that the 
shadow authority Constitution is a different document to the 
unitary Council Constitution which will be required post vesting 
day, with the latter document having to cover all functions and 
services delivered by the new Councils. 

 
3.6 The Monitoring Officer Constitution workstream reviewed 

several examples of previous shadow authority constitutions 
with a view to identifying best practice currently available.  The 
proposed shadow authority constitution is attached to this 
report as Appendix 1.  The Westmorland and Furness Joint 
Committee recommended the draft Constitution to the 
Shadow Authority for Westmorland and Furness for 
consideration at its inaugural meeting with the changes 
referenced below. 

 
  That a cross party Constitutional Review Group is 

established to review the Shadow Authority 
Constitution and to contribute to the new unitary 
constitution post vesting day.  

  Agreement that the Implementation Plan falls within 
Executive decision making. 

  Agreement to inclusion of the Housing Revenue 
Account. 

  Agreement to speeches being 5 minutes in length. 
  That Equalities Legislation is applied to the drafting. 
  Replacement of “appointment” of Leader with 

“election” of Leader 
 
Further changes since the meeting as follows have been 
agreed with the Chair and Vice Chair of the Joint Committee. 
 

  A member of the Executive to be part of the Senior 
Appointments Committee. 

  The terms of reference for the Standards Committee 
to include recommending the appointment of the 
Independent member. 

 

Page 101



3.7 THE PROPOSED SHADOW AUTHORITY CONSTITUTION 
 
3.8 The Constitution contains the following sections: 
 

  The Powers and Duties of the Shadow Authority 
  The Shadow Authority: shadow member roles, the 

Chair, the Leader, allowances, conduct etc. 
  The rights and responsibilities of members of the 

public 
  Functions of the Shadow Authority 
  Role of the Chair 
  Overview and Scrutiny 
  The Shadow Executive: Leader, Deputy Leader and 

other members 
  Other Committees: senior appointments committee 

and standards committee 
  The Code of Conduct 
  Functions of Officers: Head of the Paid Service, 

Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer 
  Decision making and legal matters 
  Review and revision of the Constitution 
  Budget and Policy Framework 
  Responsibility for Functions 
  Procedure Rules: access to information, executive, 

overview and scrutiny and meeting rules 
  Financial Procedure Rules 

 
3.9 It is important to note that this is a proposed constitution 

which was drafted for a body of Members not yet in existence 
and therefore able to give guidance.  However, it is intended 
to be a workable document but one which is easily amended 
to cater for the wishes of the new Council.  Any Member may 
request the Monitoring Officer to amend the Constitution and 
if the proposed change is compliant with statute and not likely 
to conflict with policy then a report will be submitted to the 
Shadow Authority.  The Monitoring Officer may also make 
minor amendments (following a consultation process with the 
Chief Finance Officer, the Leader and the Chair) to reflect 
legislative changes or for any other reason providing no power 
reserved to the Shadow Authority is changed.  These matters 
would then be reported to the next meeting of the Shadow 
Authority. 

 
3.10 The Executive is to be the Leader plus between two and nine 

appointed persons.  It is proposed for the shadow period that 
the Leader be appointed at the first meeting of the Shadow 
Authority and hold office until the first meeting of the Council 
following vesting day. 

Page 102



3.11 The Shadow Authority will have three committees and the 
Constitution provides that the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee will have twelve members whilst the Senior 
Appointments Committee and the Standards Committee will 
each have seven members.  The Overview and Scrutiny 
workstream preference is for one Scrutiny Panel which then 
utilises task and finish groups.  The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee may not have a member of the Shadow Executive 
on it whilst, conversely, the Senior Appointments Committee 
must have at least one member of the Shadow Executive as a 
member. 

 
3.12 The Chair of the Shadow Authority includes the remit of 

attending such civic events as are appropriate, for example 
Remembrance Sunday.  Any such events will continue to be 
organised by the relevant existing local authorities. 

 
3.13 Part 3 of the SCO requires that the Shadow Authority, at its 

first meeting, must create a Leader and Cabinet Executive in 
accordance with Part 1A of the Local Government Act 2000 
and this is achieved via the adoption of the Constitution. 

 
3.14 The obligation is to adopt suitable arrangements at the first 

meeting of the new Shadow Authority but, of course, Members 
may have different views as to what they wish their 
Constitution to contain and provide for.  To this end, Members 
should note the ability for the Constitution to be easily 
amended in accordance with Members’ wishes.  If Members of 
the Shadow Authority wish their Constitution to have different 
provisions then the recommended course of action is for them 
to approve the proposed Constitution and instruct officers to 
report to the next Shadow Authority meeting appropriate 
revisions to the said Constitution. 

 
POST VESTING DAY CONSTITUTION 
 
3.15 During the course of the Shadow Authority’s year an important 

task for the Authority will be to prepare a Constitution for the 
Council once it assumes its full role on 1 April 2023.  The 
Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee specifically 
requested that a Cross Party Constitutional Review Group is 
established.  

 

Page 103



SECTION 24 OF THE PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT IN HEALTH ACT 
2007 
 
3.16 Members will be aware that the Government intend to issue 

a direction pursuant to section 24 of the Public Involvement 
in Health Act 2007 which, briefly, will regulate the ability of 
the existing Councils to enter into certain contracts and 
arrangements.  The section is referenced within the body of 
the Constitution by way of acknowledgement of the role of 
the Shadow Authority in the process, however, the said role 
and a protocol for dealing with the requirements will be the 
subject of a separate report to the Shadow Authority setting 
out the detailed mechanism setting out how the process will 
be implemented. 

 
REVISIONS TO THE SHADOW AUTHORITY CONSTITUTION 
AFTER THE JOINT COMMITTEE MEETING 
 
3.17 As made clear to the Joint Committee, the proposed 

Constitution is lengthy and complex document which was still 
being worked upon by the Monitoring Officers and other 
contributors.   

 
3.18 An Equality Impact assessment was carried out and this 
 recommended that the requirement for Members to stand  
 when speaking should be removed so as not to directly  
 discriminate against those persons unable to stand.  This has 
 been actioned. 
 
3.19 Miscellaneous typos have been corrected. 
 
4.0 Consultation 
 
4.1 The draft Constitution has been consulted upon with all of the 

various workstreams working on local government 
reorganisation, including the Chief Executives’ Programme 
Board.  The Constitution was reported to the Westmorland and 
Furness Joint Committee which recommended the document 
to the Shadow Authority for consideration at its inaugural 
meeting. 

Page 104



5.0 Alternative Options 
 
5.1 The Shadow Authority must adopt a Constitution at its first 

meeting and, as catered for in the recommendations, 
amendments may be made easily and in due course. 

 
6.0 Implications 
 
Financial, Resources and Procurement 
 
6.1 There are no direct financial or procurement issues arising 

from this report but the proposed Constitution does set in 
place the framework of financial rules within which the Shadow 
Authority will operate.  The Section 151 Officers have input 
into the formulation of the said rules. 

 
Human Resources 
 
6.2 The proposed Constitution sets up a Senior Appointments 

Committee to lead the recruitment of various posts within the 
Shadow Authority and it also deals with the appointment of 
interim/permanent statutory officers.  There are no direct 
staffing implications arising from the Report. 

 
Legal 
 
6.3 Legal comments are contained within the body of the Report.  

The Monitoring Officers workstream has drafted the report and 
Constitution to deliver the requirements of the Structural 
Change Order and a sound Constitution.  The Constitution has 
been drafted in such a way that it may easily be amended to 
cater for the needs of the Shadow Authority during its 
existence in 2022/23. 

 
Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment 
 
6.4 The proposals have no health and sustainability impacts and 

so no assessment of the health and sustainability impact of 
the proposal has been carried out. 

 
Equality and Diversity.  
 
6.5 An equality and diversity review of the Constitution has been 

undertaken and the advice incorporated into the document. 
  

Page 105



 
Contact Officers 
 
Linda Fisher, Technical Lead Legal and Democratic Workstream and 
Monitoring Officer for South Lakeland District Council 
 
Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Constitution 

  

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background 
document 

Where it is available 

Equality Impact Assessment By request. 

 

 

Risk Management Consequence Controls required 
There is a risk that the 
Shadow Authority does 
not approve a Constitution 
at its inaugural meeting. 

The Shadow 
Authority will fail to 
comply with the SCO. 

Members are 
reassured that the 
proposed 
Constitution is a 
workable and robust 
document but also 
one which is easily 
changed should that 
be the Shadow 
Authority’s 
instruction. 

Page 106



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 
 
 
 
 
 

WESTMORLAND AND FURNESS 
SHADOW AUTHORITY 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONSTITUTION 
 
 

(Approved by the Shadow Authority on XXXX) 
 

2022/2023

Appendix 1

Page 107



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 
 
 

Table of Contents 
 

Part 1 – Constitution – summary and explanation  

General  
The Constitution and its content  
The Shadow Authority and how it operates in making decisions  

  

Part 2 – Articles of the Constitution  

Article 1 – The Constitution  
Powers and duties of the Shadow Authority  
The Constitution  
Purpose of the Constitution  
Article 2 – The Shadow Authority  
Composition  
Term of Office  
Role of Shadow Members  
Shadow Members Representational Roles  
Shadow Members’ Rights  
Chair and Vice-Chair of the Shadow Authority  
Leader of the Shadow Authority  
Other Offices  
Conduct of Shadow Members  
Shadow Members’ Scheme of Allowances  
Shadow Member Support  
Article 3 – Rights and responsibilities of Members of the Public  
Rights  
Responsibilities of Members of the Public  
Article 4 – The Shadow Authority  
Functions  
Shadow Authority meeting  
Conduct of Shadow Authority Meetings  
Responsibility for Functions  
Article 5 – The role of the Chair of the Shadow Authority  
Civic Role  
Shadow Authority role  
Vice-Chair of the Shadow Authority  
Article 6 – Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
Shadow Overview and Scrutiny  
Responsibilities of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
Membership of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
Conduct of Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings  
Task and Finish Panels  
Article 7 – The Shadow Executive  
Role of the Shadow Executive  
Composition of the Shadow Executive  
The Leader and Deputy Leader  

Page 108



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 
 
 

Proceedings of the Shadow Executive  
Responsibility for functions  
Sub-committees  
Task & Finish Groups  
Article 8 – Other Committees  
Other Committees  
Powers of Committees  
Conduct of Committee meetings  
Article 9 – Joint Arrangements  
None currently  
Article 10 – Arrangements for promoting good standards of 
Behaviour 

 

Adoption of a Code of Conduct for Shadow Members  
Application of the Code of Conduct  
Alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct  
Independent Person  
Article 11 – Officers  
The Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022  
Functions of the Head of Paid Service  
Functions of the Monitoring Officer  
Functions of the Chief Finance Officer  
Duty to provide sufficient resources to the Monitoring Officer and the 
Chief Finance Officer 

 

Conduct  
Employment  
Article 12 – Decision Making  
General  
Types of decisions and the decision-takers  
Decision making procedures  
Definition of Key Decision  
Article 13 – Legal Matters  
Legal proceedings  
Document authentication  
Address for service of documents  
Article 14 – Review, revision, suspension, interpretation and 
publication of the Constitution 

 

Review  
Changing the Constitution  
Suspension of the Constitution  
Interpretation  
Publication  
Article 15 – Budget and Policy Framework  
Framework  
Matters reserved to Shadow Authority  

  

Part 3 – Responsibility for Functions  

Responsibility for Functions  
General  

 
 
 

3Page 109



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 
 
 

Functions of the Leader and the Shadow Executive  
Responsibilities of committees of the Shadow Executive  
Functions of the Shadow Authority  
Regulatory Committees  
Responsibility of the Senior Appointments Committee  
Responsibility of the DBWG is prepared to consider contracting with the successful 
Supplier under a services contract based on the successful Supplier’s engagement letter and 
terms and conditions of supply, provided that the final version of the contract ultimately entered 
into between the successful Supplier and DBWG reflects the Required Contract Terms and the 
contents of the Supplier’s Tender Response. The Committee 

 
Responsibility of the Standards Committee  
Independent Remuneration Panel  
Powers of Officers  

  

Part 4 – Procedure Rules  

A. Access to Information Procedure Rules  
General  
Notice of meetings  
Agenda and supporting papers – Rights of access  
Access to decision records, minutes, agenda and supporting papers 
after a meeting 

 

Background documents  
Definition of confidential and exempt information  
Exclusion of the press and public  
No public right of access to agenda papers  
The Shadow Executive: application of these rules  
Procedure before taking a Key Decision  
The Forward Plan  
General exceptions for Key Decisions  
Special urgency for Key Decisions  
Report to Shadow Authority  
Record of decisions of the Shadow Executive  
Meetings of the Shadow Executive in private  
Attendance at private meetings of the Shadow Executive  
Officer attendance at Shadow Executive meetings  
Decisions by Members of the Shadow Executive  
Record of executive and non-executive decisions taken by officers  
Access to documents – Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
Additional rights of access for Shadow Members  
Appendix 1 – Descriptions of Exempt Information  

  
B. Shadow Authority Procedure Rules  
Shadow Authority meetings  
Chair and Vice-Chair of the Shadow Authority  
Quorum  

What the Shadow Authority can decide  
Notice of and summons to Meetings  
Chair of Meeting and Appointment of Chairs of Committees  
Duration of Meeting  
Questions by the public 
Committees and Sub-Committees 

 
Questions by members   

Page 110



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

Motions on Notice  
Motions moved without Notice  
Rules of debate  
Previous Decisions and Motions  
Voting  
Minutes  
Record of Attendance  
Exclusion of Public  
Members’ Conduct  
Disturbance by Public  
Recording of Meetings  
Declarations of Interest  
Suspension and Amendment of Shadow Authority Procedure Rules  
Application to Committees, Sub-Committees, Panels and Working Groups 
 
GroupsGroups 

 
  

C. Shadow Executive Procedure Rules  
Meetings of the Shadow Executive  
Quorum at meetings of the Shadow Executive  
Taking of Decisions by the Shadow Executive  
Members attending and speaking at Shadow Executive Meetings  
Business at Shadow Executive Meetings  
Voting at Shadow Executive Meetings  
Shadow Executive – Committees and Sub-Committees  
Motion under Meeting Procedure Rule 12  
Resolving Disputes  

Reserves/substitute members  
Approval of urgent business  
Conflicts of interest  
  

D. Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules  
Work Programme  
Agenda for meetings of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
Policy Review and Development  
Reports from the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

 Access to the Forward Plan  
Rights of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Members to documents  
Shadow Members and Officers giving account  
Attendance by others  
Call-in  
Call-in and urgency  
Member Call for Action  
The Party Whip  
Task and Finish Panels  
Procedure at Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee Meetings  
  
E. Financial Procedure Rules  
Introduction  
Financial Transactions  
Employees  

 

Page 111



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer  
Policies, strategies and plans  
Budget Setting for 2023/24  
Capital Programme  
Council Tax Base  
Setting the Council Tax  
Collection Fund  
Reserves and balances  
Returns and grant claims  
Banking arrangements  
Treasury management  
Insurances  
Taxation  
Audit  

  
F. Officer Employment Procedure Rules  
General  
Recruitment and appointment of staff  
Responsibility for Human Resources matters  
Responsibility of the Senior Appointments Committee  
Appointment of the Head of Paid Service  
Appointment of Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer  

Appointment/dismissal of Interim/Acting/Permanent Head of Paid 
Service, Statutory Chief Officers, Non-Statutory Chief Officers and 
Deputy Chief Officers 

 

Appointments/dismissal of other officers  
  

Part 5 – Code of Conduct, Member/Officer Protocol and 
other related provisions 

 

  
Code of Conduct  
Part 1 – General Provisions  
Part 2 – Interests  
Officer/Member Protocol  
Politically Restricted Posts  

  

Part 6 – Members’ Allowances Scheme  
  
Part 7 – Glossary  

 
 
 

Note: For the purposes of this Constitution, where the term Monitoring Officer, Head of Paid 
Service or Chief Financial Officer are utilised, this will apply to the officer duly designated at 
that time, whether interim, acting or permanent.

Page 112



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 
 
 
 
 
 

Part 1 – Constitution – summary and 
explanation

Page 113



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 

 
 
Part 1 – Constitution – summary and explanation 

 
General 

 
1 Shadow Authority for the Westmorland and Furness Council (“the Shadow Authority”) 

has been created by the Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022 (“the 2022 Order”) 
and will operate as the Shadow Authority for Westmorland and Furness Council that will 
become a local authority on 1 April 2023. The Shadow Authority will operate during the 
period beginning with the fourth day after the 2022 Election Day and ending immediately 
before 1st April 2023, “the Shadow Period”. As required under the Local Government Act 
2000, the Shadow Authority has approved this Constitution which sets out: 

 

 
•  How the Shadow Authority operates; 
•  How its decisions are made; and 
•  The procedures which will be followed. 

 

 
2 Some of the processes in the Constitution are required by law while others are considered 

by the Shadow Authority to be necessary to ensure that it operates effectively and 
efficiently; in the interests of the people it serves and to deliver the requirements of the 
2022 Order.  

 
The Constitution and its Content 
 
3 The Constitution is divided into seven parts. 
 

Part 1 sets out an explanation of what the Shadow Authority is and how it works.  
 
Part 2 sets out the formal articles of the Constitution: 
 
Article 1 – The Constitution;  
Article 2 – The Shadow Authority; 
Article 3 – Rights and responsibilities of members of the public; 
Article 4 – The Shadow Authority; 
Article 5 – The role of the Chair; 
Article 6 – Overview and Scrutiny; 
Article 7 – The Shadow Executive;  
Article 8 – Other Committees; 
Article 9 – Joint Arrangements; 
Article 10 – Arrangements for promoting good standards of behaviour by Members; 
Article 11 – Officers; 
Article 12 - Decision Making; 
Article 13 – Legal Matters;  
Article 14 - Review, revision, suspension, interpretation and publication of the 
Constitution; and 
Article 15 – Budget and Policy Framework 

 
 

Part 3 sets out the responsibility of bodies and individuals for various functions carried 
out by the Shadow Authority in relation to the exercise of its powers. 

 
Part 4 contains the Rules of Procedure which are designed to regulate the conduct of 
the Shadow Authority’s business to ensure decisions are made in accordance with the 
law and the wishes of the Shadow Authority. 

 

Page 114



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

Part 5 includes the Code of Conduct for Shadow Members which is designed to ensure 
that Members carry out their duties to the highest ethical standards. It also includes a 
protocol on Member/Officer relations. 

 
Part 6 covers the Scheme of Shadow Members’ Allowances. Article 10 of the 2022 
Order provides that the Shadow Authority has to prepare and adopt a scheme for the 
payment of allowances to its members. 
 
Part 7 provides a glossary to the constitution. 

 
The Shadow Authority and how it operates in making decisions  
 
There are 65 Shadow Members who sit on the Shadow Authority.  The Members who comprise 
the Shadow Authority are the persons who were elected as members of Westmorland and 
Furness Council on the ordinary day of elections of councillors in 2022.The role of the Shadow 
Authority is to: 
 

• Prepare for the assumption as Westmorland and Furness Council of local 
government functions and full local authority powers on 1 April 2023; 

•  Prepare budgets and plans required by Westmorland and Furness Council when 
local government functions are assumed on 1 April 2023; and 

• Liaise with Cumbria County Council, the Westmorland councils and Westmorland 
and Furness Shadow Authority to ensure continuity of public service delivery on 
and after 1 April 2023 and thereafter. 

  Carry out all functions prescribed by the Cumbria Structural Changes Order 2022, 
namely: 

  Create the Shadow Executive; 
  Adopt a code of conduct for the Shadow Authority; 
  Designate an interim monitoring officer, interim chief finance officer and interim head 

of paid service; 
  Appoint a monitoring officer, chief finance officer and head of paid service; 
  Prepare and adopt a scheme of members’ allowances; 
  Keep under review and revise as necessary the implementation plan for 

Westmorland and Furness Council; 
  Take all such practical steps as are necessary or expedient to commence and 

sustain their running as shadow authorities. 
  Carry out any other function or role prescribed by any other relevant legislation. 

 
The Shadow Members are directly accountable to their constituents for the running of the 
Shadow Authority. Whilst Shadow Members have this very broad role they have a duty to 
represent the interests of all their constituents. They also work closely with officers in developing 
policies and strategies to give direction to the Shadow Authority’s vision . 
 
The Shadow Authority will meet during the Shadow Period. Meetings are open to the public, but 
the public may be excluded where an item of a confidential or exempt nature is being discussed. 
 
 

Page 115



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 
 
There are two main areas in the Shadow Authority’s political structure covering the Shadow 
Executive and Overview and Scrutiny. These are covered in more detail within the 
Constitution. 
 
Executive  
 

 
At its first meeting, the Shadow Authority for Westmorland and Furness must create a leader 
and cabinet executive within the meaning of Part 1A of the Local Government Act 2000. 
The cabinet executive will comprise of the executive leader together with at least 2, but not more 
than 9, shadow authority councillors appointed to the executive by the executive leader.  The 
leader must appoint one of the members of the executive as deputy leader. 
 
The Shadow Executive is that part of the Shadow Authority which is responsible for most of 
the day-to-day decisions. 
 
The leader of the Westmorland and Furness Shadow Executive is appointed by the Shadow 
Authority for Westmorland and Furness. 
 
Should a vacancy occur in the office of leader of the Shadow Executive during the Shadow 
Period, the Shadow Authority must elect a new leader and from among members of the Shadow 
Authority. 
 
Any Key Decisions to be made by the Shadow Executive are published on a monthly basis in 
the Shadow Executive Forward Plan which looks at the forthcoming four-month period. It is not 
always possible to anticipate all the items to be included in the Plan. In cases where this is 
not possible items will be added to the Plan at the next date of publication. Special 
arrangements apply where a matter is urgent or cannot be included in the Plan. 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 
The Shadow Authority’s Overview and Scrutiny arrangements ensure that Shadow Members 
who are not on the Shadow Executive can be involved in Shadow Executive decisions by 
questioning and making recommendations. 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny arrangements will reflect as far as practicable the overall political 
proportionality of the Shadow Authority.  Members of the Shadow Executive cannot sit on the 
Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
General 
 

 
In performing their various roles, Shadow Members are supported by the Officers who give 
advice and implement decisions.  Officers ensure the Shadow Authority acts within the law and 
uses resources efficiently and effectively. 
 
As the Shadow Authority is a public body, members of the public have a number of rights in their 
dealings with it. Whilst some are legal rights such as the right to film, audio record or to report 
on meetings, others will depend on the Shadow Authority’s own processes. These rights are 
set out in Parts 2 and 4 of this Constitution. 
 
The Constitution will be updated to reflect changes within the Shadow Authority, its procedures 
and processes.

Page 116



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 
 
 

Part 2 – ARTICLES OF THE CONSTITUTION

Page 117



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 

 
 
Part 2 – ARTICLES OF THE CONSTITUTION 
 
 
 
 
Article 1 – The Constitution;  
Article 2 – The Shadow Authority; 
Article 3 – Rights and responsibilities of members of the public; 
Article 4 – The Shadow Authority; 
Article 5 – The role of the Chair; 
Article 6 – Overview and Scrutiny; 
Article 7 – The Shadow Executive;  
Article 8 – Other Committees; 
Article 9 – Joint Arrangements; 
Article 10 – Arrangements for promoting good standards of behaviour by Members; 
Article 11 – Officers; 
Article 12 – Decision Making; 
Article 13 – Legal Matters; 
Article 14 – Review, revision, suspension, interpretation and publication of the Constitution; 
and 
Article 15 – Budget and Policy Framework

Page 118



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 

 
 
Article 1 – The Constitution 
 
1 Powers and duties of the Shadow Authority 
 
 
1.1 The powers and duties of the Shadow Authority are set down in Acts of Parliament 

and secondary legislation.  The Shadow Authority will exercise those powers and duties 
in accordance with the law and its Constitution. 

 
2 The Constitution 
 
 
2.1 The Shadow Authority’s Constitution includes all those parts listed in Part 1 – Summary 

and Explanation. 
 
3 Purpose of the Constitution 
 
 
3.1 The objectives of this Constitution are: 
 

(a) To support the preparations for the establishment of the Westmorland and 
Furness Council; 
 

(b) To provide a framework for clear leadership to the community in partnership 
with its people, businesses and other organisations; 

 
(c) To enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively; 
 
(d) To provide a robust and effective overview and scrutiny function; 
 
(e) To ensure that a decision will not be reviewed or scrutinised by anyone who 

was directly involved in making the decision; and 
 
(f)   To ensure that those responsibilities for decision making can be clearly 

identified by local people and that they can explain the reasons for their 
decisions. 

 
3.2 The Shadow Authority will ensure that the articles, procedural rules and protocols in this 

Constitution reflect and deliver the objectives set out above.

Page 119



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 

 
 
Article 2 – The Shadow Authority 
 
1 Composition 
 
 
1.1 The Shadow Authority comprises the 65 Members elected through elections to 

Westmorland and Furness Council held on 5 May 2022.  
 
2 Term of Office 
 
2.1 Members term of office commenced on the 4th day after the May 2022 election, the date 

that the Shadow Period commenced, and ends the fourth day after the 2027 election. 
 
3 Role of Shadow Members 
 
3.1 Shadow Members will undertake the following roles: 
 

(a) as a body, they will keep under review and revise as necessary the 
implementation plan for Westmorland and Furness Council, set  the  Shadow 
Authority’s  major plans,  policies  and strategies as required by law, perform 
those functions identified in the 2022 Order and will take decisions on such 
matters as must be reserved to the Shadow Authority by law or as provided for 
in this Constitution; 

 
(b) oversee the Shadow Authority’s strategic and corporate management; 
 
(c) represent their communities and the views of their electorate in the decision- 

making process; 
 
(d) support, as appropriate, individuals in their dealings with the Shadow Authority 

and represent them in seeking to resolve particular concerns or grievances; 
 
(e) balance the different interests of people within their constituency with a view 

to representing their constituency as a whole; 
 
(f) participate, as appropriate, in the decision making and/or overview and scrutiny 

processes; and 
 
(g) maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics and will observe the 

Shadow Authority’s Code of Conduct for elected Shadow Members. 
 
4 Shadow Members Representational Roles 
 
4.1 All Shadow Members represent their constituents and the Shadow Authority sees this 

as an important role and responsibility under this Constitution. 
 
4.2 Shadow Members have an important job in consulting their communities on the 

development of policies, plans and strategies and other local initiatives. 
 
4.3 The Shadow Authority will ensure in its processes that appropriate procedures are in 

place so that Shadow Members can contribute to the Shadow Authority’s business on 
behalf of their local community both in terms of policy development and decision making. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 120



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

5 Shadow Members Rights 
 
5.1 Shadow Members will have rights of access to any document, information, land or 

buildings of the Shadow Authority where this is necessary for the proper discharge of 
their functions as a Shadow Member and in accordance with the law and this 
Constitution. 

 
5.2 A Shadow Member is not permitted to make available to the press or to a member of 

the public any information which they have been sent or given in whatever form and which 
is exempt or confidential information as defined in the Access to Information Procedure 
Rules which are set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
5.3 A Shadow Member shall not divulge information given in confidence to them to anyone 

other than a Shadow Member or officer or other person legally entitled to know it. 
 

6 Chair and Vice-Chair of the Shadow Authority 
 

6.1 The Shadow Authority will elect, from amongst its number, at its first meeting, a Shadow 
Member to serve as Chair of the Shadow Authority for the Shadow Period. 

 
6.2 Similarly, the Shadow Authority will appoint the Vice-Chair of the Shadow Authority for 

the Shadow Period. 
 
6.3 Where a vacancy occurs in respect of either office, the Shadow Authority will elect/appoint 

as appropriate at its next meeting. 
 
6.4 A member of the Shadow Executive cannot be elected or appointed as Chair or Vice-

Chair of the Shadow Authority while serving on the Shadow Executive, otherwise any 
Shadow Member is eligible for election/appointment as Chair or Vice-Chair of the 
Shadow Authority. 

 
6.5 Where the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Shadow Authority are both absent from a 

meeting of the Shadow Authority, or part of it, the Shadow Authority will appoint one of 
their members, other than a member of the Shadow Executive, to preside. 

 
7 Leader of the Shadow Authority 
 
7.1 The Leader of the Shadow Authority will be elected at the first meeting of the Shadow 

Authority and hold office until the first meeting of Westmorland and Furness Council 
following vesting day. 

 
8 Other Offices 

 
8.1 The Shadow Authority will elect other Members to fill such offices as it may determine 

from time to time in accordance with any requirements set out in law or this Constitution. 
 

9 Conduct of Shadow Members 
 

9.1 All Shadow Members are required, at all times, to observe the Shadow Members’ 
Code of Conduct and to have appropriate regard to such other protocols, policies, 
guidance and advice as may be issued from time to time through the Shadow Authority’s 
formal processes. 

 
10 Shadow Members’ Scheme of Allowances 

 
10.1 All Shadow Members shall be entitled to receive such allowances as are laid down 

from time to time in the Shadow Members’ Scheme of Allowances and/or statute. 
 

Page 121



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

11 Shadow Member Support 
 
11.1 The Shadow Authority will also provide support to Shadow Members as appropriate to 

enable them to fulfil their roles and responsibilities.

Page 122



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 
Article 3 – Rights and responsibilities of Members of the Public 
 
1 Rights 
 
1.1 Members of the public have the following rights in regard to the affairs of the Shadow 

Authority: 
 

(a) access to information subject to such constraints as may be imposed by law and 
as set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this 
Constitution; 

 
(b) to  attend  meetings  of  the  Shadow Authority  and  its  committees  and  sub- 

committees except where exempt or confidential information is likely to be 
disclosed; 

 
(c)  to attend public meetings of the Shadow Executive except where exempt or 

confidential information is likely to be disclosed; 
 

(d)  to film, audio record or report on meetings of the Shadow Authority and its 
committees  and  sub-committees  and  the  Shadow  Executive, except where 
exempt or confidential information is likely to be disclosed, subject to guidelines 
published on the Shadow Authority’s website and available at meetings; 

 
(e) to have access to the Shadow Authority’s Forward Plan of Key Decisions to 

be taken by the Shadow Executive; 
 

(f) in accordance with the statutory framework to inspect reports, background 
papers  and  any  records  of  decisions  made  by  the  Shadow Authority,  the 
Shadow Executive, a committee, a sub-committee, the Leader or an Executive  
Member subject to provisions on exempt or confidential information applying; 

 
(g) to ask questions or present petitions at designated meetings in accordance 

with such procedures as the Shadow Authority may determine from time to time; 
 
(h) to contribute to investigations by the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

where invited to do so; and 
 
(i) to complain to the Shadow Authority where there is an alleged breach of the 

Shadow Members’ Code of Conduct. 
 
2 Responsibilities of Members of the Public 
 
2.1 The Shadow Authority in turn expects members of the public not to use violent, abusive 

or threatening behaviour in any form against any Shadow Member, Officer or persons 
acting for or on behalf of the Shadow Authority. 

 
2.2 The Shadow Authority also requires that the property, assets and other resources of the 

authority, Shadow Members, Officers or persons acting for or on behalf of the Shadow 
Authority are not wilfully harmed or damaged. 

 
2.3  When attending a meeting of the Authority, the public will follow the reasonable 

instructions of the chair of the meeting and not disturb the conduct of business. The 
chair of the meeting, under the approved Meeting Procedure Rules, has the right if 
required to exclude a member of the public who is  causing a disturbance  to  the conduct 
of business.

Page 123



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 

 
 
Article 4 – The  Shadow Authority 
 
1 Functions 
 
1.1 The functions of the Shadow Authority are set out in the Cumbria (Structural Changes) 

Order 2022 (“the 2022 Order”) and in relevant consequential orders. 
 

1.2 The Shadow Authority has the functions set out in Part 3 of this Constitution. 
 

1.3 Except where there is provision by statute or this Constitution, the functions conferred 
by or under the Structural Changes Order are to be delegated to, and discharged by, 
its Executive Committee. 

 
2 Shadow Authority Meeting 
 
2.1 The first meeting of the Shadow Authority will be held no later than 19 May 2022. 
 
2.2 Ordinary meetings will be held according to a calendar of meetings to be agreed by the 

Shadow Authority and which will be published once agreed. 
 
2.3  Extraordinary meetings may be called as and when required as provided in the Shadow 

Authority Procedure Rules. 
 
3  Conduct of Shadow Authority Meetings 
 
3.1 Shadow Authority meetings will be conducted in accordance with the law and the 

Shadow Authority’s Meeting Procedure Rules. 
 
4 Responsibility for Functions 
 
4.1 The Shadow Authority will maintain a record of those  Shadow Authority functions which 

are the responsibility of its subordinate bodies i.e. committee or Officers of the Authority.

Page 124



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 

Article 5 – The role of the Chair of the Shadow Authority 
 
1 Civic Role 
 
1.1 The Chair of the Shadow Authority, supported by the Vice-Chair, and as appropriate 

other Shadow Members, will perform the civic role on behalf of the Shadow Authority. 
 
1.2 The civic role entails raising and maintaining the profile of the Shadow Authority’s area, 

the Shadow Authority and its members to the public. The office will promote the aims and 
values of the Shadow Authority in an apolitical manner. 

 
1.3 The  Chair will promote  such civic and ceremonial functions as the  Shadow Authority 

may determine following consultations, where appropriate. 
 
1.4 The Chair will represent the Shadow Authority at civic and ceremonial functions of other 

local authorities or involving other appropriate bodies. 
 
2 Shadow Authority Role 
 
2.1 The Chair will be elected by the Shadow Authority at its first meeting. The Vice- Chair is 

also appointed at the same meeting. 
 
2.2 The Chair is responsible for the following: 
 

(a) upholding and promoting the purposes of this Constitution and interpreting it 
with appropriate advice when necessary; 

 
(b) presiding over meetings of the  Shadow Authority to ensure that business is 

carried out efficiently and effectively whilst preserving the rights of Shadow 
Members and the interests of members of the public; 

 
(c) ensuring that at Shadow Authority meetings matters of concern to local 

communities can be debated through the appropriate Shadow Members; 
 
(d) ensuring that Shadow Members who are not on the Shadow Executive 

Committee or who do not hold the Chair of a main committee are able to hold 
those office holders to account; 

 
(e) promoting public involvement in the Shadow Authority’s affairs and acting as a 

contact between members of the public and organisations and the Shadow 
Authority; and 

 
(f) undertaking such other roles as may be placed upon the office from time to 

time by the Shadow Authority. 
 
2.3 The role of Chair is apolitical. 
 
2.4 The Chair will represent the Shadow Authority at civic and ceremonial functions of other 

local authorities or involving other appropriate bodies. 
 
 
3 Vice-Chair of the Shadow Authority 
 
3.1 The Vice-Chair will support the Chair in his/her civic role and will carry out civic duties 

as well on behalf of the civic office. 
 

Page 125



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

3.2 The Vice-Chair will also deputise in the absence of the Chair in carrying out the 
responsibilities of the office of Chair.

Page 126



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 

 
 
Article 6 – Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
1 Overview and Scrutiny 
 
1.1 The Shadow Authority has established arrangements for the overview and scrutiny of 

decisions or other action taken by the Shadow Executive and others in accordance with 
the Local Government Act 2000 as applied by the 2022 Order. This Article  sets  out  
those  arrangements.  It should be read in conjunction with the Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules. 

 
1.2 The Shadow Authority will keep under review its overview and scrutiny arrangements 

and will make changes where it considers these are appropriate and will lead to 
improvements and an improved overview and scrutiny function. 

 
2 Responsibilities of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
2.1 The S h a d o w  Overview and Scrutiny Committee has the functions set out in Part 

3 of this Constitution. 
 
3 Membership of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
3.1 The Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall comprise twelve Shadow 

Members.  
 
3.2 No member of the Shadow Executive may be a member of the Shadow Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee or any Shadow Overview and Scrutiny task and finish panel. 
 
3.3 Any body established under these Scrutiny arrangements will be a politically 

proportionate body reflecting the overall political representation on the Shadow Authority. 
 
4 Conduct of Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings 
 
4.1  Conduct of the proceedings at Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings 

shall be in  accordance with the Shadow Authority and Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules as appropriate. 

 
5 Task and Finish Panels 
 
5.1 The Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee may establish such task and finish 

panels as it considers necessary after taking into account the availability of resources, 
the work programme and scope of the review. 

 
5.2 The Committee will appoint the Chair (and Vice Chair, if appropriate) of each panel and 

agree the membership

Page 127



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 
Article 7 – The Shadow Executive 
 
1 Role of the Shadow Executive 
 
1.1 The role of the Shadow Executive is limited to functions contained in the 2022 Order.  

The Shadow Executive will carry out all of the Shadow Authority’s duties and 
responsibilities which are not the responsibility of any other part of the Shadow 
Authority, whether by law or under this Constitution, and in particular it will carry out 
those duties and responsibilities of the Shadow Executive which are contained in the 
2022 Order. 

 
1.2 The Shadow Executive shall be responsible for making recommendations to the 

Shadow Authority on the setting of the 2023/2024 budgets for the Westmorland and 
Furness Council. 

 
2 Composition of the Shadow Executive 
 
2.1 The Leader of the Shadow Authority will be elected at the first meeting of the Shadow 

Authority and hold office until the first meeting of Westmorland and Furness Council 
following vesting day subject to 3.1 below 

 
2.2 The Shadow Executive will consist of the Leader and between two and nine Shadow 

Members appointed by the Leader.  
 
2.3 The Deputy Leader of the Authority will be appointed and may be removed by the 

Leader. 
 
2.4 The Shadow Executive  will be chaired by the Leader of the Authority, or in their absence 

by the Deputy Leader. Should both the Leader and Deputy Leader be absent at a 
meeting, the remaining Shadow Executive  Members will elect a Chair for the duration 
of that meeting. 

 
2.5 No deputy or substitution arrangements are allowed in respect of the Shadow 

Executive. Neither the Chair nor Vice-Chair of the Shadow Authority may be appointed 
to the Shadow Executive. No Member of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee may be on the Executive. 

 
3 The Leader and Deputy Leader 
 
3.1 The Leader of the Shadow Authority will be elected at the first meeting of the Shadow 

Authority and hold office until the first meeting of Westmorland and Furness Council 
following vesting day unless 

 
(a) they resign from the office of Leader; or 
 
(b) they become ineligible to be a Shadow Member for a specified period or 

indefinitely; or 
 
(c) they cease to be a Shadow Member: or 
 
(d) the Shadow Authority passes a resolution to remove them as Leader. 
 

3.2 Where there is a vacancy in the office of Leader, the Deputy Leader shall assume 
the responsibilities of the Leader until the next meeting of the Shadow Authority, 
whether that be an Ordinary or Extraordinary meeting of the Authority. 

 

Page 128



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

3.3 If the vacancy in the position results as a resolution of the Shadow Authority to remove 
the Leader, a new Leader may be elected at that meeting, or the vacancy be filled at 
the subsequent meeting of the Shadow Authority. 

 
3.4 If the Leader is subject to a successful resolution (see 3.1.d above), this will not 

impact on their right to be a member of the Shadow Executive. 
 
3.6 If for any reason the Leader of the Authority is unable to act or the office of Leader is 

vacant, the Deputy Leader must act in their place.  If for any reason both the Leader 
and Deputy Leader are unable to act, or both posts are vacant, the Shadow Executive 
must act or must arrange for another Executive Member to act in the interim, until a 
permanent solution is determined. 

  
4 Proceedings of the Shadow Executive 
 
4.1 All proceedings of the Shadow Executive and its Committees shall be conducted in 

accordance with the Shadow Executive Procedure Rules set out in this Constitution. 
 
5 Responsibility for Functions 
 
5.1 The Leader may undertake any of the functions of the Shadow Executive themselves or 

may arrange for the discharge of any executive functions by: the Shadow Executive 
as a whole another member of the Shadow Executive; a sub-committee of the Shadow 
Executive; or an Officer  or a Joint Committee. 

 
5.2  If the Leader is unavailable, absent or there is a vacancy in the post of the Leader, 

the Deputy Leader may act in place of the Leader and exercise any executive power of 
the Leader. 

 
5.3 Unless the Shadow Executive requests the Shadow Authority to discharge any function 

in accordance with Article 19 of the 2022 Order, the Shadow Executive can exercise 
any function of the Shadow Authority conferred on the Shadow Authority by or under 
the 2022 Order save to the extent any provision of any Act, the 2022 Order or regulations 
under section 9D or 9DA of the Local Government Act 2000 require otherwise. 

 
5.4 The Shadow Executive and other committees can delegate powers to the extent as  

provided for in Part 1A of the Local Government Act 2000.  The arrangements set out in 
this Constitution reflect those currently agreed. Further, the Shadow Executive can also 
delegate its powers to any Officer of the Shadow Authority, and/or Westmorland and 
Furness councils or Cumbria County Council as defined in the 2022 Order. 

 
5.5 The Leader will ensure that a record is kept of the Shadow Executive functions which 

are the responsibility of any sub-committee of the Shadow Executive, any Executive 
Member, Officers or under any joint arrangements. A copy of that record to be 
deposited with the Shadow Authority’s three statutory officers. 

 
5.6 Where a delegation arrangement is made under paragraph 5.4 above, it shall not 

preclude the body or person delegating the function, or part of it, from exercising that 
function on giving notice in writing to that body or person. 

 
5.7 The Leader may establish portfolios of executive functions for the purpose of delegating 

any executive function to a Member of the Shadow Executive. 
 
6 Sub-Committees of the Shadow Executive  
 
6.1 The Shadow Executive may establish from its membership, sub-committees with full 

or partial delegated powers to undertake its responsibilities and functions. 

Page 129



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 
7 Task and Finish Groups 
 
7.1 The Shadow Executive may establish any Task and Finish Groups it determines are 

required to assist in formulating recommendations, guidance or providing advice, on 
matters relating to the Executive’s responsibilities and functions. 

 
7.2 Task and Finish Groups cannot determine matters on behalf of the Shadow Executive  

but may provide recommendations for deliberation and determination by the Executive 
Committee. 

 
7.3 Each Task and Finish Group will be chaired by a Member of the Shadow Executive; 

however, its full membership can be drawn from other Members of the Shadow 
Authority and include other stakeholder representatives where appropriate.

Page 130



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 
Article 8 – Other Committees 
 
1 Other Committees 
 
1.1 The  Shadow Authority will appoint the following other Committees to take  such decisions 

which are not within the responsibilities of the Shadow Executive: 
 

Committee Shadow Members 

Shadow Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

Twelve 

Senior Appointments Committee Seven 

Standards Committee Seven 

 
1.2 The Shadow Authority may appoint other Committees, Sub-Committees and Special 

Committees with delegated powers to act under specific terms of reference which 
must be set out in the minutes. 

 
1.3 To the extent that any committees are not exercising executive functions the provisions of 

sections 15-17 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the Local Government 
(Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990 will apply to their membership. 

 
1.4 The membership of the Senior Appointments Committee must include at least one 

member of the Shadow Executive. 
 
2 Powers of Committees 
 
2.1 The Committees shall have the functions set out in Part 3 of this Constitution. 
 
2.2 A Committee may, at any time, decline to exercise a delegated power. The matter 

must then be considered and determined by the Shadow Authority as appropriate. 
 
3 Conduct of Committee Meetings 
 
3.1 Committee meetings will be conducted in accordance with the law and the Meeting 

Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 
4 Constitution Review Group 
 
4.1 The Shadow Authority shall establish a cross-party Constitution Review Group to assist 

officers with reviewing the constitution of the Shadow authority and preparing a 
constitution for Westmorland and Furness Council for use after vesting day. 

 

Page 131



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 

Article 9 – Joint Arrangements 
 
There are currently no joint arrangements.

Page 132



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 

 
 
Article 10 – Arrangements for promoting good standards of behaviour 
 
1 Adoption of a Code of Conduct for Shadow Members 
 
1.1 The Shadow Authority has adopted the Code of Conduct for Shadow Members set 

out in Part 5 of this Constitution. 
 
2 Application of the Code of Conduct 
 
2.1 The Code of Conduct will apply to all Shadow Members when they are acting as a 

member of the Shadow Authority or hold themselves out as doing so. 
 
3 Alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct 
 
3.1 Any allegations that a Shadow Member has breached the Code of Conduct are to be 

reported to the Monitoring Officer who will follow the approved arrangements for 
deal ing with such matters. 

 
4 Independent Person 
 
4.1 For the  purposes of  Part  5  of this Constitution,  references  to  “the  Independent Person” 

are to a person appointed by the Shadow Authority for the purposes of s28 of the 
Localism Act 2011.

Page 133



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 

 
Article 11 – Officers 
 
1 Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022 
 
1.1 Article 9 of the 2022 Order makes provision for the Shadow Authority to designate 

officers to the posts of interim Monitoring Officer, interim Chief Finance Officer and to be 
its interim Head of Paid Service, and by 31st December 2022 to appoint the Westmorland 
and Furness  Authority’s permanent   Monitoring   Officer,   permanent Chief Finance 
Officer and permanent Head of Paid Service. 

 
1.2 The roles and functions of those officers are set out in the 2022 Order. 
 
1.3 The Monitoring Officer may appoint, in writing, a deputy as appropriate. 
 
1.4 The Chief Finance Officer may appoint, in writing, a deputy as appropriate. 
 
2 Functions of the Head of Paid Service 
 
2.1 The Head of Paid Service will report to the Shadow Authority on the manner in which 

the Shadow Authority develops its functions and the co-ordination of those functions. 
They also have statutory functions in relation to staff directly employed or engaged by 
the Shadow Authority.  The Head of Paid service is the returning officer for the 
Westmorland and Furness Council. 

 
3 Functions of the Monitoring Officer 
 
3.1 The Monitoring Officer will maintain an up-to-date version of the Constitution and will 

ensure that it is widely available for consultation by Shadow Members, staff and the 
public. 

 
3.2 After consulting with the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer will report to the 

Shadow  Authority, (or to the Shadow Executive in relation to a Shadow Executive 
function), if they consider any proposal, decision or omission would give rise to 
unlawfulness or if any decision or omission would give rising to a finding of 
maladministration. Such a report will have the effect of stopping the proposal or decision 
being implemented until the report has been considered. 

 
3.3 They will contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high standards of conduct. 
 
3.4 They will provide advice to all Shadow Members on issues in relation to the scope of 

powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety and 
probity. 

 
4 Functions of the Chief Finance Officer 
 
4.1 After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer, the Chief 

Finance Officer will report to the Shadow Authority (or to the Shadow Executive in 
relation to a Shadow Executive function) and the Shadow Authority’s external auditor, if 
appointed, if they consider that any proposal, decision or course of action will involve 
incurring unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency 
or if the Shadow Authority is about to enter an item of account unlawfully. 

 
4.2 They will have overall responsibility for the administration of the financial affairs of the 

Shadow Authority. 
 

Page 134



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

4.3 They will contribute to the corporate management of the Shadow Authority, in particular, 
through the provision of professional financial advice. 

 
4.4 They will provide advice on issues to all Shadow Members in relation to the scope of 

powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety and 
probity issues and will support and advise Shadow Members and officers in their 
respective roles. 

 
4.5 They will provide financial information to the media, members of the public and the 

community. 
 
5 Duty to provide sufficient resources to the Monitoring Officer and the Chief 

Finance Officer 
 
5.1 The Shadow Authority will provide these officers with such or procure the provision to 

these officers of such Officers, accommodation and other resources as are in their 
opinion sufficient to allow their duties to be performed in their statutory roles. 

 
6 Conduct 
 
6.1 Officers will comply with any protocol on Member/Officer Relations that has been 

adopted by the Shadow Authority. 
 
7 Employment 
 
7.1 The recruitment, selection and dismissal of officers will comply with the Officer 

Employment Procedure Rules as set out in this Constitution. 
 
The functions set out in this Article are the functions of the officers who are appointed to the 
specified posts on an interim and a permanent basis. 
 

Page 135



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 
Article 12 – Decision Making 
 
1 General 
 
1.1 The Shadow Authority will keep an up-to-date record, which shall be available for 

public inspection, of who has responsibility for  making  decisions  in  relation  to Shadow 
Authority functions and services. 

 
1.2 All decisions of the Shadow Authority will be made in accordance with the law, this 

Constitution and the principles set out below. 
 
2 Types of Decision and the Decision-Takers 
 
2.1 The Shadow Authority will take all decisions which it has reserved to itself or which it is 

required to take by law. 
 
2.2 The Shadow Executive will take all decisions including Key Decisions which it is 

required to determine as required by law or because the Shadow Authority has decided 
to delegate the matter to the Shadow Executive. 

 
2.3 Other Committees, Sub-Committees, Executive Members, Officers will take such 

decisions as are delegated to them by the Shadow Authority or  the  Shadow Executive. 
 
3 Decision Making Procedures 
 
3.1 In taking decisions the Shadow Authority, the Shadow Executive , Shadow Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee, and other Committees and Sub-Committees will follow the 
Shadow Authority’s Procedure Rules and in particular as follows: 

 
(a) Shadow Authority – Meeting Procedure Rules Parts A and D; 
 
(b) Shadow Executive – Shadow Executive Procedure Rules and Meeting Procedure 

Rules Part C; and 
 
(c) Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 

Rules and Meeting Procedure Rules Parts C. 
 
4 Definition of Key Decision 
 
4.1 A Key Decision means: 
 

“a decision which, is likely - 
 

(a) To result in the relevant local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the 
making of savings which are, over £500,000; or 
 

(b) To be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in an area 
comprising two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area of the relevant 
local authority.”

Page 136



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 
 

In determining the meaning of “significant” for these purposes the Shadow Authority will 
have regard to any guidance for the time being issued by the Secretary of State in 
accordance with section 9Q of the Local Government Act 2000, and the advice of the 
Shadow Authority’s statutory officers.

Page 137



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 

 
Article 13 – Legal Matters 
 
1 Legal Proceedings 
 
1.1 The Monitoring Officer is authorised to institute, defend or participate in any legal 

proceedings or to take such other action where such action is necessary to give 
effect to decisions of, or on behalf of, the Shadow Authority or in any case where they  
consider that  such action is necessary to protect or further the Shadow Authority’s 
interests. 

 
2 Document Authentication 
 
2.1 Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or proceedings on behalf of 

the Shadow Authority, it will be signed by the Monitoring Officer or other person 
authorised by him/her unless any enactment otherwise authorises or requires, or the 
Shadow Authority has given requisite authority to some other person. 

 
2.2 In the absence of any authority given to a specific officer, whether by this Constitution or 

in any other manner, all contracts entered into on behalf of the Shadow Authority may be 
signed by any one or more of the following: 

 
(a) the Head of Paid Service; 
 
(b) the Monitoring Officer; and/or 
 
(c) the Chief Finance Officer. 

 
3 Address for service of documents 
 
3.1 Documents to be served on the Shadow Authority may be addressed  to  the Monitoring 

Officer at the main offices of the Shadow Authority. For this purpose and all purposes 
connected with this Constitution the Shadow Authority’s main office is at the main office 
of the Authority as stated on the Shadow Authority’s website.

Page 138



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 

 
 
Article 14 – Review, Revision, Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of 
the Constitution 
 
1 Review 
 
1.1 The Monitoring Officer will monitor and review the operation of the Constitution to ensure 

that the aims and principles of the Constitution are given full effect. 
 
2 Changing the Constitution 
 
2.1 Any Member, the Shadow Authority or part of the Shadow Authority may request the 

Monitoring Officer to consider changes to the Constitution. The Monitoring Officer will 
consider any requests for changes to the Constitution to ensure their compliance with 
statute. If the proposed changes are compliant with statute and are not likely to conflict 
with policy approved by the Shadow Authority, the Monitoring Officer will submit a 
report to Shadow Authority accordingly. 

 
2.2 The Monitoring Officer may make minor amendments to the Constitution, in consultation 

with the Chief Finance Officer, the Leader and the Chair of the Authority: 
 

(a) where they consider this necessary and/or expedient to reflect legislative 
change, secure consistency, address any legal ambiguity and/or other legal issue 
and/or address any uncertainty in interpretation; or 

 
(b) for any other reason, provided that any such amendment does not seek to 

remove any reserved power of the Shadow Authority and/or the Shadow 
Executive and confirmation of such amendments are reported to the next 
available meeting of the Shadow Authority. 

 
Should any consultee (listed above) request any proposed amendment be submitted to 
the Shadow Authority for ratification then this will be submitted to the next scheduled 
meeting. 

 
2.3 For proposed changes from Executive arrangements, the Authority must comply with 

necessary statute.  
 
3 Suspension of the Constitution 
 
3.1 The Articles of this Constitution may not be suspended.  However, the Meeting Procedure 

Rules set out in this Constitution may be suspended by the Shadow Authority to the 
extent permitted within those Rules and the law. 

 
3.2 A motion to suspend any rules cannot be moved without notice, unless at least one 

half of the whole number of Shadow Authority Members are present. The extent and 
duration of suspension will be proportionate to the result to be achieved, taking into 
account the purposes of the Constitution set out in Article 1. 

 
4 Interpretation 
 
4.1 The ruling of the Chair of the Shadow Authority as to the construction or application of 

this Constitution or as to any proceedings of the Shadow Authority shall not be challenged 
at any meeting of the Shadow Authority. Such interpretation will have regard to the 
purposes of this Constitution. 

 

Page 139



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

4.2 The Chair will consult with the Monitoring Officer, or in the Monitoring Officer’s absence, 
other appropriate officers prior to any ruling under 4.1 above. 

 
5 Publication 
 
5.1 The Monitoring Officer: 
 

(a) will give each Shadow Authority Member access to a copy of this Constitution 
in their preferred format; 
 

(b) will ensure that a copy of this Constitution is made available on the Shadow 
Authority’s website; 

 
(c) will ensure that copies are available for inspection at the Shadow Authority’s Main 

Office, and other appropriate locations, and can be purchased by members of the 
public and press on payment of a reasonable fee; 

 
(d) will ensure that the summary of the Constitution is made available within the 

area and is updated as necessary. 

Page 140



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 
Article 15 - Budget and Policy Framework 
 
This article details those policy documents and strategy documents which comprise the “policy 
framework” w h i c h  the Shadow Authority will be responsible for adopting in preparation of the 
Westmorland and Furness Authority assuming local government functions and full local authority 
powers on 1 April 2023. This policy framework and the annual budget are the responsibility 
of the Shadow Authority. 
 
Framework 
 
(a) General Fund Budget ; 
 
(b) Housing Revenue Account Budget ; 
 
(c) Capital Programme ; 
 
(d) Medium Term Financial Strategy onwards; 
 
(e) The Council Plan; 
 
If the following matters are considered, they are reserved for Shadow Authority as set out in 
legislation – 
(i) Adopting and changing the Shadow Authority Constitution (subject  to  Article  14 above); 
 
(ii) Confirming the appointment or designation, of the interim, acting or permanent Head 

of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer, Monitoring Officer ; 
 
(iii) Adopting or amending a Member Allowance Scheme for the Shadow Authority 

(following receipt of recommendations from an Independent Remuneration Panel); 
 
(iv) The Annual Library Plan; 
 
(v) The Best Value Performance Plan;  
 
(vi) The Children and Young People’s Plan; 
 
(vii) The Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy; 
 
(viii) The Development Plan Documents; 
 
(ix) The Shadow Licensing Authority Policy Statement; 
 
(x) The Local Transport Plan; 
 
(xi) The Sustainable Community Strategy; 
 
(xii) The Youth Justice Plan; 

 
(xiii) The Gambling Licensing Policy; 

 
(xiv) All other matters which by law must be reserved to the Shadow Authority. 
 

Page 141



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 
 
 

Part 3 – Responsibility for Functions

Page 142



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 
Responsibility for Functions 
 
1 General 
 
1.1 The Shadow Authority has the functions set out in the 2022 Order and in particular it 

will have the following responsibilities: 
 

(a) to commence and sustain its running as a Shadow Authority; 
 
(b) to prepare the Shadow Authority for the assumption of local government 

functions and full local authority powers on 1 April 2023; 
 
(c) to prepare any budgets or plans required beyond 1 April 2023 when those 

functions and powers are assumed: 
 
(d) to liaise with Cumbria County Council the Cumberland Shadow Authority a n d  

t h e  W e s t m o r l a n d  a n d  F u r n e s s  C o u n c i l s  for the purposes of 
ensuring continuity of public service delivery on and after 1 April 2023; 

 
(e) to take all such practical steps as are necessary or expedient to liaise with the 

other local authorities within its area for the purposes of ensuring continuity of 
public service delivery on and after 1 April 2023; and 

 
(f)  to exercise any of the Local Government Act 1972 functions referred to in, 

and in accordance with the 2022 Order (as amended). 
 
1.2 The powers and functions of the Shadow Authority are therefore limited and, 

consequently, the powers and functions of its Shadow Executive, committees, sub-
committees and other decision-making bodies are similarly limited. The responsibilities 
for functions described in this Part of the Constitution must therefore be considered in 
this context. However, upon the assumption of full local authority functions and powers 
on 1 April 2023, these responsibilities will increase. 

 
1.3 The Shadow Authority is required in this Constitution to set out the allocation of 

responsibilities for its functions. 
 
1.4 The following paragraphs cover functions which are: 
 

(a)  the responsibility of the Leader and the Shadow Executive; 
 
(b) the responsibility of the Shadow Authority and/or its Committees/Sub- 

Committees; and 
 
(c)  the responsibility of Officers. 

 
1.5 Where a function is not specified as being the responsibility of the Shadow Authority, a 

Committee, Sub-Committee or officer that function shall, unless otherwise proved to 
the contrary by law, be the responsibility of the Executive.

Page 143



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 
 
1.6 The exercise of any power or duty is subject to compliance with the law, the provisions of 

this Constitution and that sufficient budgetary provision having been made. 
 
1.7 Any reference to a function or matter includes a reference to all statutory powers 

about that function or matter whether directly or indirectly and authority to exercise all 
such powers. 

 
1.8 Any reference in the scheme of delegation to  an Act of Parliament or statutory instrument 

includes a reference to any amendment, modification or statutory re- enactment (with or 
without modification). 

 
1.9 Where a power or duty of the Authority has been delegated the delegation includes 

any action that may be incidental to the exercise of the power or duty. 
 
2 Functions of the Leader and the Shadow Executive 
 
2.1 The functions to be exercised by the Leader or Shadow Executive are set out in Article 7 

of this Constitution. Where the Leader or the Shadow Executive Committee is exercising 
a Shadow Executive function, in whole or in part, the Leader or the Shadow Executive is 
empowered to take all necessary and appropriate decisions to fulfil the obligations placed 
upon them subject to any restrictions or constraints imposed by the law or this 
Constitution. 

 
2.2 The Leader may delegate functions to an Executive Member who is responsible for a 

portfolio for such functions in accordance with Article 7. 
 
3 Responsibilities of committees of the Shadow Executive 
 
3.1 Where the Shadow has arranged for an executive function to be exercised by a 

subcommittee of the Shadow Executive or an individual Executive member, the 
committee or Member is empowered to take all necessary and appropriate decisions to 
fulfil the obligations placed upon it by the Executive, subject to any restrictions or 
constraints imposed by the law or this Constitution. 

 
4  Functions of the Shadow Authority 
 
4.1 The functions of the Shadow Authority are set out in Article 4 of Part 2 but include: 
 

(a) Adopting the budget and policy framework for the Westmorland and Furness 
Council and setting of the council tax for its area.  For these purposes the 
budget includes the setting of council tax and the policy framework means such 
plans and strategies as must by law be approved by the Shadow Authority; 

 
(b) adopting the Shadow Authority’s Constitution in accordance with the 

requirements of section 9P of the Local Government Act 2000; 
 
(c) appointing the: 
 

(i) Chair of the Shadow Authority; 
 

(ii) Vice-Chair of the Shadow Authority; 
 

(iii) Chair and Vice-Chair of Committees (except the Executive 
Committee), Sub-Committees and Special Committees, Panels and 
Working Groups if the relevant Committee, Sub-Committee, Special 

Page 144



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

Committee, Panel or working group fails to elect a chair or vice-chair; 
Leader and 

 
(iv) Such other offices as may be required by or under the 2022 Order or 

this Constitution; 
 

(d) Election and removal of the Leader; 
 

(e) Adopting the Shadow Authority’s Codes of Conduct for Shadow Members and 
Officers and the Protocol on Member/Officer Relations; 

 
(f) Where permitted by the law, will make arrangements for appointments to outside 

bodies; 
 
(g) Carrying out all duties specified in and compliant with the 2022 Order where 

the Shadow Executive has given notice under Article 19 of the 2022 Order; 
 
(h) Approving the Shadow Members Allowance Scheme, including any pension 

provision for Members, following advice from any Independent Remuneration 
Panel; 

 
(i) Appointment, designation or dismissal of statutory officers as required under the 

2022 Order or other legislation; 
 
(j)  May determine other matters which may from time to time be submitted to it for 

determination, either by resolution or through approved procedures, where  such  
matters  do  not  fall  within  the  functions  of  the  Shadow Executive. 

 
5 Regulatory Committees 
 
5.1 Until the Shadow Authority assumes local government functions and full local authority 

powers on 1 April 2023, in accordance with the 2022 Order, the Shadow Authority  will  
not exercise any regulatory powers and functions. The Shadow Authority will, however, 
take such practical steps as are necessary or expedient to prepare the Westmorland 
and Furness Council  for the assumption of such regulatory functions and powers. 

 
6 Responsibility of the Senior Appointments Committee 
 
6.1 The Senior Appointments Committee is a sub-committee of the Shadow Authority and 

has responsibility for: 
 

(a)  undertaking the selection process for, and formulating recommendations to the 
Shadow Authority in relation to, the appointment of the permanent Head of Paid 
Service of the Westmorland and Furness Council before 31st December 2022 in 
accordance with the appropriate procedures set out in the Officer Employment 
Procedure Rules; 

 
(b) undertaking the selection process for, and confirming the recommendation to the 

Shadow Authority for the appointment of, the permanent Monitoring Officer and 
section 151 Officer of the Westmorland and Furness Council before 31st 
December 2022 in accordance with the appropriate procedures set out in the 
Officer Employment Procedure Rules; 

 
(c) undertaking the dismissal processes of the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 

Officer and section 151 Officer in accordance with statutory requirements and 
the appropriate procedures set out in the Officer Employment Procedure Rules; 

Page 145



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 
(d) undertaking the selection, appointment and dismissal processes and determining 

the terms and conditions for those other senior appointments specified in the 
Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 in 
accordance with the appropriate procedures set out in the Officer Employment 
Procedure Rules; 

 
(e) Where appropriate and in accordance with statutory requirements hearing 

and determining any grievances or appeals by the permanent Monitoring 
Officer, section 151 Officer and Head of Paid Service of the Westmorland and 
Furness Council. 

 
7 Responsibility of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
7.1 The Shadow Authority shall have one Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee, which 

may commission task and finish groups to undertake scrutiny projects. The Shadow 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee will specifically: 

 
(a) discharge the Shadow Authority’s functions under Section 9F of the Local 

Government Act 2000; 
 
(b)  oversee the Shadow Authority’s overall overview and scrutiny function including 

the preparation, implementation, monitoring and review of an annual work 
programme for overview and scrutiny; 

 
(c) Scrutinise the Shadow Executive’s Budget proposals for 2023/2024. 
 
(d) establish such task and finish groups, appointing the Chair with  such 

membership as it sees fit, to undertake overview and scrutiny on a task and finish 
basis; 

 
(e) ensure that officers discharge their responsibilities effectively and efficiently in 

relation to the overview and scrutiny function; 
 
(f) scrutinise decisions of the Shadow Executive, and offer advice or make 

recommendations on the matter under scrutiny once the Shadow Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee have considered the issues; 

 
(g) refer to the Shadow Authority, the Shadow Executive  or appropriate 

Committee/Sub-Committee any matter which, following scrutiny, the Shadow 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee determines should be brought to the attention 
of the Shadow Authority, Shadow Executive or the Committee or Sub-Committee. 

 
(h) if requested, offer any views or advice to the Shadow Executive in relation to any 

matter referred to the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 
consideration; 

 
(i)  in performing its role, the Committee may consult and involve the local 

community and other public, private and voluntary bodies or organisations; 
 
(j)  review the Shadow Authority’s response to its obligations in respect of the 

overall performance management regime and where appropriate advise the 
Shadow Executive and the Shadow Authority of its findings; 

 
(k) scrutinise decisions after implementation to examine their effect and outcomes; 

 
(l) contribute to ensuring that the Shadow Authority develops and maintains effective 

policies and procedures for handling complaints and other customer feedback to 

Page 146



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

the Shadow Authority; monitor the overall level and nature of complaints and 
other customer feedback received and make recommendations   regarding 
actions to address identified issues as appropriate; and 

 
 

(m) contribute to ensuring that the Shadow Authority has in place appropriate 
mechanisms to protect organisational integrity including the development of 
appropriate policies and guidance. 

 
8 Responsibility of the Standards Committee 
 
8.1 In accordance with the approved arrangements, the Standards Committee is 

responsible for assessing and determining allegations referred to it that Shadow 
Members have breached the Shadow Authority’s Code of Conduct in accordance with 
Article 10 of this Constitution. 

 
8.2 The Standards Committee is responsible for recommending to the Shadow Authority the 

appointment of an Independent Person. 
 
9 Independent Remuneration Panel 
 
9.1 The 2022 Order requires the Shadow Authority to prepare and make a scheme for 

the payment of allowances to its Shadow Members. The Independent Remuneration 
Panel shall have the functions given by Regulation 21 of the Local Authorities (Members’ 
Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003. 

 
10 Powers of Officers 
 
10.1 The Shadow Authority and its Shadow Executive Committee may delegate such powers, 

responsibilities and decisions to any of its own officers, or to any officers of Cumbria 
County Council or the Westmorland and Furness councils as defined in the 2022 Order. 

 
10.2 The Head of Paid Service shall have the power to take: 
 

(a) all necessary action for the effective day-to-day management, operation and/or 
administration of the Shadow Authority and for the efficient discharge of the 
professional responsibilities of their office; 

 
(b)  any action required to implement a decision of the Shadow Authority, the 

Leader, the Shadow Executive or any committee or sub- committee; 
 
(c) in consultation with the Leader, unless the Leader is unavailable or absent, 

any urgent action as may be appropriate in connection with any of the executive 
or non-executive functions of the Shadow Authority; and 

 
(d) without prejudice to the above, any action for the purposes of agreeing the 

terms and entering into any secondment agreements under section 113 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 and/or any arrangements for the purposes of 
securing the provisions of any goods and/or services whether pursuant to the 
Local Authorities (Goods and Services) Act 1970 or otherwise. 

 
10.3 The Monitoring Officer, and the Chief Finance Officer have the statutory powers which 

are set out in the 2022 Order together with the power: 
 

(a) to take all necessary action within their areas of responsibility for the effective 
day-to-day management, operation and/or administration of the Shadow 
Authority and for the efficient discharge of the professional responsibilities of their 
office; 

Page 147



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

 
(b) to take any action within their areas of responsibility required to implement a 

decision of the Shadow Authority, the Leader, the Shadow Executive or any 
committee or sub-committee; 

 
(c) without prejudice to the above, to take any action for the purposes of agreeing the 

terms and entering into any secondment agreement under section 113 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 and/or any arrangements for the purposes of 
securing the provision of any goods and/or services whether pursuant to the 
Local Authorities (Goods and Services) Act 1970 or otherwise; and 

 
(d)  to exercise any power of the Head of Paid Service if unavailable, absent and/or 

any such post is vacant. 
 
10.4 When exercising delegated powers Officers: 
 

(a) must comply with the Shadow Authority’s Financial and other relevant Procedure 
Rules and with the law: 

 
(b) may authorise expenditure only which is in accordance with approved estimates 

and which does not require an approval which has not been authorised or 
received; 

 
(c) save to the extent that the determining officer considers necessary, in order to 

give effect to a matter to which delegation 10.3 (c) above relates, shall comply 
with approved policies, schemes or  directions  of  the  Shadow  Authority, Leader,  
Shadow Executive  Committee or of  any Committee  and  shall not depart from 
such policies, schemes or directions; and 

 
(d) shall consult with the appropriate professional or technical officer(s) of the 

Shadow Authority or the Westmorland and Furness councils (as defined in the 
2022 Order) and Cumbria County Council. 

 
10.5 Delegation to officers does not affect the powers of the Shadow Authority, Leader, 

Shadow Executive or any Committee at any time to decide upon any delegated matter. 
 

10.6 Officers may refer issues on which they have delegated power to the body or person 
by whom the delegation was given. 

 
10.7 Authority to take decisions and other action including the signing of documents and 

the requirement to arrange consultations shall be undertaken on behalf of the Shadow 
Authority in the name of the Officer to whom the authority to act is given, but need not 
necessarily be personally by them. 

 
10.8 Any specific delegation to the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer or the Chief 

Finance Officer (including power to act as the Proper Officer), may be exercised by 
another Officer specifically designated in writing by the Head of Paid Service, 
Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer to whom the delegation applied initially, 
in accordance with any general directions issued and included in such written 
authorisation. 

 
10.9 Neither the Monitoring Officer’s nor the Chief Finance Officer’s statutory responsibilities 

may be delegated, although they may each appoint a member of their staff to carry out 
those functions in their absence. 

 
 
 
 

Page 148



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

Statutory and Proper Officers 
 
Legislation and Section Function Proper Officer 
Section 4(1) Local 
Government and Housing 
Act 1989 

Head of Paid Service Head of Paid Service 

Section 151 Local 
Government Act 1972 

Chief Financial Officer Chief Finance Officer 

Section 5 Local 
Government and Housing 
Act 1989 

Monitoring Officer Monitoring Officer 

Section 9FB Local 
Government Act 2000 

Scrutiny Officer Monitoring Officer 

Section 35 
Representation of the 
People Act 1983 

Returning Officer Head of Paid Service 

Section 8 Representation 
of the People Act 1983 

Electoral Registration 
Officer 

Head of Paid Service 

Section 69 Data 
Protection Act 2018 
Article 37 General Data 
Protection Regulation 
2018 

Data Protection Officer Monitoring Officer 

 
 

Notes 
 

1. Section 113 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 provides that the Chief Finance 
Officer must also be the Council Tax Registration Officer. 

2. Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 provides that the Chief Finance 
Officer must nominate a suitably qualified member of staff to carry out the duties under 
that section when the Chief Finance Officer is unable to act through absence or illness. 

3. Section 5(7) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 provides that the Monitoring 
Officer must nominate a deputy to act when the Monitoring Officer is unable to do so 
through absence or illness. 

4. Section 35 of the Representation of the People Act 1983 provides that the Returning 
Officer may appoint deputies to assist in the duties of the Returning Officer. 

5. Section 5(2) of the Representation of the People Act 1983 provides that the Electoral 
Registration Officer may appoint deputies to assist in the duties of the Electoral 
Registration Officer. 

 
Proper Officers 
 
Proper Officers are listed below. Proper Officers may appoint a Deputy to act when the Proper 
Officer is unavailable. 
 
Legislation, section and function Proper Officer 
Local Government Act 1972  
Section 83(1)(4) - Proper Officer to witness 
and receive declaration of acceptance of 
office 

Head of Paid Service and Monitoring Officer 

Section 84(1) - Proper Officer for receipt of 
resignation of Members of the Council 

Head of Paid Service 

Section 88 – Proper Officer to convene a 
meeting of the Council when the office of 
Chair is vacant 

Head of Paid Service 

Page 149



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

Section 89(1)(b) - Proper Officer to receive 
notice of vacancy in the officer of Member 

Head of Paid Service 

Section 96(2) - Proper Officer to record and 
keep in a book particulars of such 
disclosures 

Head of Paid Service 

Section 100(A) - Proper Officer for 
designating committee reports as 
confidential or exempt 

Monitoring Officer 

Section 100(B)(2) - Proper Officer for 
circulation of reports and agendas 

Monitoring Officer 

Section 100(B)(7)(C) - Proper Officer for 
supply of papers to the press 

Monitoring Officer 

Section 100(C)(2) - Proper Officer for 
summarising minutes 

Monitoring Officer 

Section 100(1)(1) and (5) - Proper Officer for 
identifying papers not open to members 

Monitoring Officer 

Section 100(F)(2) Proper Officer for 
identifying papers not open to members 

Monitoring Officer 

Section 115(2) - Proper Officer to receive 
money due from officers 

Chief Finance Officer 

Section 225(1) - Proper Officer to receive 
documents placed on deposit with the 
Council 

Monitoring Officer 

Section 229 – Proper Officer to certify 
photographic copies of documents 

Monitoring Officer 

Schedule 3 Paragraph 6(2) - Proper Officer 
by whom declarations of acceptance of office 
by Members shall be retained 

Monitoring Officer 

Schedule 12, Section 99 – Contains 
provisions governing conduct of meetings, 
including requirements for notices to be 
given by Proper Officer and the appointment 
of the Proper Officer to sign summons to 
attend meetings of the Council and 
specifying the proposed business 

Monitoring Officer 

Representation of the People Act 1983 –
Section 67(7)(b) - Receipt of notice of an 
election agent for local elections 
Sections 82 and 89 – receipt of election 
expense declaration and returns for the 
holding of those documents for public 
inspection 
Section 128 – Provision that a copy of any 
petition questioning a local government 
election shall be sent to the Proper Officer 
who shall publish it in the local authority area 
– and any regulations made thereunder. 

Head of Paid Service 

Local Government Finance Act 1988  
Section 114 – Duty to report Chief Finance Officer 
Section 116 – Proper Officer must give the 
authority’s auditor notice of meetings held 
under section 115 

Chief Finance Officer 

Local Government and Housing Act 1989  
Section 2 – Listing and publication of 
politically sensitive posts 

Head of Paid Service 

Page 150



Draft Shadow Authority Constitution

G:1526636v2   

Sections 15-17 – To receive notification of 
political groups and to allocate committee 
seats according to political balance 

Monitoring Officer 

Local Government (Committees and 
Political Groups) Regulations 1990 

 

Section 14 – For the purposes of the 
composition of committees and nominations 
to political groups, Proper Officer’s duty to 
notify Leader or representative of a political 
group  

Monitoring Officer 

Local Government Act 2000 and 
Regulations made thereunder 

 

All references to the Proper Officer in the Act 
and subordinate legislation 

Monitoring Officer 

Local Authorities (Standing Orders) 
(England) Regulations 2001 

 

Schedule 1 Part II paragraph 3 – Proper 
Officer to give written notice of appointment 
or dismissal of officers 

Monitoring Officer 

Local Elections (Principal Areas) 
(England and Wales) Rules 2006 and 
Local Elections (Parishes and 
Communities) (Rules) 2006 

 

Schedule 2 to each set of rules – Retention 
and public inspection of documents after an 
election 

Head of Paid Service 

Localism Act 2011 and Regulations made 
thereunder 

 

To receive complaints for failure to comply 
with Code of Conduct 

Monitoring Officer 

 

Page 151



G:1526636v2  
 
 

 

Part 4  
Rules of Procedure 

Page 152



G:1526636v2  
 
 

A Access to Information Procedure Rules 
 
1 General 
 
1.1 These rules apply to all meetings of the Shadow Authority, its Committees and 

Sub- Committees and to public meetings of the Shadow Executive. 
 
1.2 In these Rules the word “meeting” means a meeting or meetings of any of these 

bodies unless specified otherwise. 
 
1.3 These rules do not affect any other specific rights to information contained 

elsewhere in this Constitution or the law. 
 
1.4 Members of the public may attend all public meetings subject to the exceptions 

contained in these Rules. 
 
1.5 Members of the press and public are also entitled to film, audio record and report 

on meetings of the Shadow Authority, Committees and Shadow Executive, 
except in circumstances where the public have been excluded as permitted by 
law. Any such filming, audio recording or reporting shall be in accordance with 
any guidelines published by the Shadow Authority on its website or made 
available at the meeting. 

 
2 Notice of Meetings 
 
2.1 The Shadow Authority will give, wherever possible, at least five clear working 

days’ notice of any such meeting by publicising, including by electronic means, 
relevant details. 

 
2.2 A copy of the official notice will also be published on the Shadow Authority’s 

website. 
 
3 Agenda and Supporting Papers – Rights of Access 
 
3.1 Copies of the Agenda and supporting papers will be made available on the 

Shadow Authority’s website, for inspection by the public at least five clear working 
days before the meeting. Where an item is added to an Agenda at a later date, a 
supplementary agenda will be made available, with any supporting papers, to the 
public as soon as possible. 

 
3.2 The Shadow Authority will supply on request copies of any agenda and reports 

which are open to public inspection, and if the Monitoring Officer thinks fit, copies 
of any further documents supplied to Shadow Members relating to that item. 

 
3.3 The Shadow Authority may require any person to make a payment in advance 

covering postage and actual costs incurred connected to the supply of the papers 
in Rule 3.2 above. 

 
4 Access to Decision Records, Minutes, Agenda and Supporting Papers 

after a meeting 
 

Page 153



G:1526636v2  
 
 

4.1 The Shadow Authority will make electronically available, for a period of six years 
from the date of the meeting: 

 
(a) the minutes of the meeting where, unless these rules or the Constitution 

minutes are required to be made, excluding any part of the minutes relating 
to the conduct of business when the public were not present or where 
exempt or confidential information would be disclosed; and 

 
(b) the records of decisions taken (which may be included within the minutes), 

together with reasons by the Shadow Executive, excluding any part of the 
record relating to the conduct of business when the public were not present 
or where exempt or confidential information would be disclosed; and 

 
(c) where information relating to a decision is considered in private, a summary 

of the proceedings to provide a reasonably fair and coherent record will be 
provided excluding any information which is of a confidential or exempt 
nature; and 

 
(d) the agenda and supporting papers covering items which were considered 

when the public were entitled to be present. 
 
5 Background Documents 
 
5.1 The Officer, in whose name an item is to be submitted for decision, will set out in 

the agenda a list of the background documents which in his/her opinion: 
 

(a) relates to the subject matter of the item in question; and 
 
(b) discloses any facts or matters on which the agenda item or an important 

part of it has been based; and 
 
(c) has been relied upon to a material extent in preparing the agenda item. 

 
5.2 Background documents which have been made available for public inspection 

will continue to be available for a period of four years from the date the decision 
is made. 

 
6 Definition of Confidential and Exempt Information 
 
6.1  For the purposes of these Rules the definitions of confidential and exempt 

information are set out below. 
 
6.2 Confidential information means information supplied or given to the Shadow 

Authority by a Government Department on terms which forbid its disclosure to the 
public or is information which cannot be disclosed to the public by Order of the 
Courts. 

 
6.3 Exempt information is information falling within any of the categories set out in 

Appendix 1 subject to the conditions noted in that Appendix. 
 
7 Exclusion of the Public from Meetings 

Page 154



G:1526636v2  
 
 

 
Confidential Information – Requirement to Exclude 
 
7.1 The public will be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely, in view of the 

nature of the business to be transacted or the proceedings, that confidential 
information, as described in Rule 6.2 above will be disclosed. 

 
Exempt Information – Discretion to Exclude 
 
7.2 In the case of exempt information, the public may be excluded from a meeting 

whenever it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the 
proceedings, that exempt information within the categories set out at Appendix 
1 will be disclosed. 

 
8 No public right of access to agenda papers 
 
8.1 The Monitoring Officer, where they consider it necessary, may refuse access by 

the public to any agenda or supporting papers which in their opinion relate to items 
during which, in accordance with Rule 7 above, the meeting is not to be open to 
the public. Any such papers will be clearly marked “Not for Publication” and will 
contain the category of information to be disclosed as set out in Appendix 1 to 
these Rules. Similar provisions apply to the disclosures of documents related to 
decisions of the Shadow Authority, including the Shadow Executive. 

 
9 The Shadow Executive: Application of these Rules 
 
9.1 Rules 10 to 20 will apply to the Shadow Executive and any Committees or Sub-

Committees which it may establish from time to time. 
 
9.2 Where the Shadow Executive, including a Committee or Sub-Committee of the 

Shadow Executive meet to discuss a Key Decision, with an Officer or Officers 
present, within 28 days of the date according to the Forward Plan by which it is to 
be decided, then the Shadow Executive must comply with Rules 1 to 8 above 
unless Rule 12 (general exception) or 13 (special urgency) apply. This 
requirement does not apply where the sole purpose of the meeting is for officers 
to brief Shadow Members. 

 
10 Procedure before taking a Key Decision 
 
10.1  Subject to Rules 12 or 13, a Key Decision cannot be taken unless: 
 

(a) a notice (“the Forward Plan”) has been published in connection with the 
matter in question and made available to the public at the main office of the 
Shadow Authority; and 

 
(b) at least 28 clear calendar days have elapsed since publication of the 

Forward Plan; and 
 
(c) where the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Shadow Executive, 

including a Committee or Sub-Committee of the Shadow Executive, public 
notice of the meeting has been given under Rule 2 above. 

Page 155



G:1526636v2  
 
 

 
 
11 The Forward Plan 
 
11.1 The Forward Plan will be prepared on behalf of the Leader on a monthly basis to 

cover a four-month period beginning with the first day of any month. The Forward 
Plan will be rolled forward and published each month to cover the four-month 
period beginning again with the new date of publication. There will be instances 
where it is impracticable to include an item in the Forward Plan. In this case Rule 
12 or 13 below will apply. 

 
11.2 The Forward Plan will contain such matters considered to be Key Decisions to be 

taken during the period covered by the Forward Plan. 
 
11.3 The Forward Plan will describe in respect of each matter the following particulars: 
 

(a) the matter relating to the decision to be made; 
 
(b) the name and title of the decision taker if an individual, or the name and 

details of the membership where the decision taker is a body; 
 
(c) the date on which, or the period within which, the decision will be taken; 
 
(d) the identity of the principal groups whom the decision taker proposes to 

consult before taking the decision; 
 
(e) the means by which any such consultation is proposed to be undertaken; 
 
(f) the steps any person might take to make representations to the Shadow 

Executive or decision taker about the matter before the decision is made, 
and the date by which those steps must be taken. 

 
(g) a list of the documents to be submitted to the decision taker for 

consideration in relation to the matter; 
 
(h) the address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction on their 

disclosure, copies of, or extracts from, any document listed in the forward 
plan is available; 

 
(i) that other documents relevant to the matter may be submitted to the 

decision taker; and 
 
(j) the procedure for requesting details of those documents (if any) as they 

become available. 
 
11.4  Where in relation to any matter where the public may be excluded from a public 

meeting under Rule 7, or documents relating to the decision need not be 
disclosed to the public, the Forward Plan must contain the particulars of the 
matter, but may not contain any confidential information, exempt information or 
particulars of the advice of a political adviser or assistant. 

 

Page 156



G:1526636v2  
 
 

12 General exception for Key Decisions 
 
12.1 If a matter which is likely to be a Key Decision has not been included in the 

Forward Plan then, subject to Rule 13, the decision may still be taken if: 
 
(a) the decision has to be taken by such a date that it is impracticable to defer 

the decision until it can be included in the next Forward Plan and until the 
start of the first month to which the next Forward Plan relates; and 

 
(b) the Monitoring Officer has informed the Chair of the Shadow Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee, or if there is no such person, each member of the 
Committee in writing, by notice, of the matter to which the decision is to be 
made; and 

 
(c)  the Monitoring Officer has made copies of that notice available to the 

public at the Main Office of the Shadow Authority; and 
 
(d)  at least five clear working days have elapsed since the Monitoring Officer 

complied with his/her obligations under this paragraph. 
 

12.2 Where such a decision is taken by the Shadow Executive, it must be taken in 
public subject to any requirements relating to the disclosure of confidential or 
exempt information and the exclusion of the public. 

 
13 Special urgency for Key Decisions 
 
13.1 If by virtue of the date by which a Key Decision must be taken, the requirements 

of Rule 12 above cannot be followed, then the decision can only be taken if the 
decision maker (if an individual) or the Leader if the decision is to be taken by the 
Shadow Executive or sub-committee of the Shadow Executive, obtains the 
agreement of the Chair of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee that the 
taking of the decision cannot be reasonably deferred. If there is no Chair of the 
Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee or if they are unable to act, then the 
agreement of the Chair of the Shadow Authority, or in his/her absence the Vice 
Chair will suffice. 

 
13.2 In addition to the requirement for the Chair of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee to agree to the matter being dealt with as urgent business, the Chair 
of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be consulted, and may 
comment, on the subject matter of the decision itself. 

 
14  Report to Shadow Authority 
 
14.1 If the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee is of the opinion that a Key 

Decision has been taken which was not: 
 

(a)  included in the Forward Plan; or 
 
(b)  the subject of the general exception procedure under Rule 12 above; or 
 

Page 157



G:1526636v2  
 
 

(c)  the subject of an agreement with the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Chair, or the Chair/Vice Chair of the Shadow Authority under 
Rule 13 above: 

 
(d) The Committee may require the Shadow Executive to submit a report to 

the Shadow Authority within such reasonable time as the Committee 
specifies. 

 
14.2 In response to any requirement under Rule 14.1 above, the Shadow Executive 

will prepare a report for submission to the next available meeting of the Shadow 
Authority. However, if the next meeting of the Shadow Authority is within 7 clear 
working days of the resolution of the Committee, then the report may be submitted 
to the subsequent meeting. The report to the Shadow Authority will set out 
particulars of the decision, the individual or body taking the decision, and if the 
Shadow Executive is of the opinion that it was not a Key Decision, the reasons 
for that opinion. 

 
15  Record of decisions of the Shadow Executive 
 
15.1 After any meeting of the Shadow Executive or any of its Committees or Sub-

Committees, whether held in public or private, the Monitoring Officer or their 
nominee, or where no officer was present, the person presiding at the meeting, 
will normally produce as soon as practicable an electronic record (which may be 
included within the minutes) of every decision taken at that meeting. The record 
will include: 

 
(a) a record of the decision including the date it was made;  

 
(b) a record of the reasons for the decision; 

 
(c) details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the decision 

taker; 
 
(d) a record of any conflict of interest relating to the matter decided which is 

declared by any member of the decision taker; and 
 
(e) in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of  any dispensation 

granted by the Monitoring Officer. 
 
16 Meeting of the Shadow Executive in private 
 
16.1 Where a meeting of the Shadow Executive, including a Committee or Sub-

Committee of the Shadow Executive, is to be held in private under these Rules, 
at least 28 clear days before the meeting, the Shadow Executive shall make 
available at the main office of the Shadow Authority a notice of its intention to hold 
a meeting in private giving reasons as to why the meeting is to be held in private. 

 
16.2 At least five clear working days before the meeting, the Shadow Executive  must 

make available at the main office of the Shadow Authority a further notice of its 
intention to hold a meeting in private containing: the reasons as to why the 
meeting is to be held in private; details of any representation received by the 

Page 158



G:1526636v2  
 
 

Shadow Executive about why the meeting should be open to the public; and a 
statement of the Shadow Executive’s response to any such representations. 

 
16.3  Copies of the notices required by Rules 16.1 and 16.2 shall be sent to the Chair 

of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
16.4  Where the date by which a private meeting must be held makes compliance with 

Rules 16.1 and 16.2 impracticable, the meeting may only be held in private where 
the Shadow Executive has obtained agreement from: 

  
(a)  the Chair of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee; or 
 
(b)  if there is no such person, or if the Chair of the Shadow Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee is unable to act, the Chair of the Shadow Authority; or 
 
(c)  where there is no Chair of either the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee or of the Shadow Authority able to act, the Vice-Chair of the 
Shadow Authority. 

 
17  Attendance at private meetings of the Shadow Executive 

 
17.1  Any Member of the Shadow Executive may attend a private meeting of a 

Committee or Sub-Committee of the Shadow Executive whether or not they are 
members of that body unless the body determines otherwise. 

 
17.2 Any Shadow Executive member who is not a member of such a Committee or 

Subcommittee shall be entitled to speak with the consent of the person presiding 
but not to vote. 

 
18  Officer attendance at Shadow Executive Meetings 

 
18.1  The Head of Paid Service, the Chief Finance Officer and the Monitoring Officer, 

or their nominees, are entitled to attend any meeting of the Shadow Executive. 
The Shadow Executive cannot meet unless the Monitoring Officer has been given 
reasonable notice that a meeting is to take place. This provision also applies to 
Committees and Sub-Committees of the Shadow Executive.  

  
18.2  A private meeting of the Shadow Executive, including a Committee or Sub-

Committee of the Shadow Executive, may only take place in the presence of the 
Monitoring Officer or their nominee, who shall have responsibility for recording 
and publicising any decisions. 

 
19  Decisions by Members of the Shadow Executive 
 
19.1 Where an individual member of the Shadow Executive receives a report, which 

they intend to take into account in making any Key Decision for which they have 
delegated authority, then they will not make the decision until at least five clear 
working days after receipt of that report. 

 
19.2  On giving of such a report to a member of the Shadow Executive, the person who 

prepared the report will give a copy of it to the Chair of the Shadow Overview and 

Page 159



G:1526636v2  
 
 

Scrutiny Committee as soon as reasonably practicable, and make it publicly 
available at the same time.  

  
19.3  As soon as reasonably practicable after an executive decision has been taken 

by a delegated member of the Shadow Executive, a written record of the decision 
must be produced which must include the following:  

  
(a) a record of the decision including the date it was made; (b) a record of the 

reasons for the decision; 
 

(b) details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the Member; 
 
(c) a record of any conflict of interest relating to the matter decided which is 

declared by any Member of the Shadow Executive who is consulted by the 
Member which relates to the decision; and 

 
(d) the provisions of Rules 4 and 5 will also apply to the making of decisions 

by Shadow Executive Members. 
 
20  Record of Executive and non-Executive decisions taken by Officers 

 
20.1  As soon as reasonably practicable after an Officer has made a decision which is 

an Executive decision (i.e. the responsibility of the Shadow Executive ) a written 
statement will be prepared including: 

 
(a) a record of the decision including the date it was made; 

 
(b) a record of the reasons for the decision; 

 
(c)  details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the Officer 

when making the decision;  
 
(d)  a record of any conflict of interest declared by any Executive Member who 

is consulted by the Officer which relates to the decision; and 
 
(e)  in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of dispensation 

granted by the Monitoring Officer. 
 
20.2  Any record prepared in accordance with Rule 20.1 and any report considered by 

the Officer and relevant to the decision will be available for public inspection at 
the Main Office of the Shadow Authority and on the Shadow Authority’s website.  

 
20.3  Rules 20.1 to 20.2 do not apply to day-to-day administrative or operational 

decisions of the Shadow Authority taken by Officers in connection with the 
discharge of functions which are the responsibility of the Shadow Executive. 

 
20.4 As soon as reasonably practicable after an Officer has made a decision under an 

express delegation from the Shadow Authority, its Committees, Sub-Committees 
or any Joint Committee in which the Shadow Authority is involved or under a 
general delegation from one of these bodies where the effect of the decision is to 
grant a permission or licence, affect the rights of an individual or award a contract 

Page 160



G:1526636v2  
 
 

or incur expenditure, which in either case materially affects the Shadow 
Authority’s position a written statement will be prepared including: 

 
(a)  a record of the decision including the date it was made;  
(b)  a record of the reasons for the decision; 
 
(c)  details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the officer 

when making the decision; and 
 

(d)  a record of the name of any Shadow Member or local government body 
who has declared an interest (for decisions taken under an express 
delegation). 

 
20.5  Any record prepared in accordance with Rule 20.4 together with any background 

papers considered by the officer and relevant to the decision will be available for 
public inspection at the main office of the Shadow Authority and on the Shadow 
Authority’s website. 

 
20.6  Rules 20.4 to 20.5 do not apply to: 

 
(a)  routine administrative and organisational decisions; 
 
(b)  decisions on operational matters such as day-to-day variations in services; 
 
(c)  decisions if the whole or part of the record contains confidential or exempt 

information; and  
  
(d)  decisions that are already required to be published by other legislation, 

provided the record published includes the date the decision was taken and 
the reasons for the decision. 

 
Access to documents – Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 
21.1  Subject to Rule 21.4 below, any member of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee is entitled to copies of any document which is in the possession or 
control of the Leader and/or the Shadow Executive including its Committees and 
Sub- Committees and which contains material relating to:  

 
(a)  any business transacted at a public or private meeting of the Shadow 

Executive including any of its Committees and Sub-Committees; 
 

(b)  any decision taken by an individual member of the Shadow Executive; or 
 

(c)  any Executive decision taken by an officer in accordance with Part 3 of this 
Constitution. 

 
21.2  Where a member of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee (including its 

Sub- Committees) requests a document which falls within Rule 21.1 the Leader 
must provide that document as soon as reasonably practicable and, in any case, 
no later than 10 clear working days after the Leader receives the request. 

 

Page 161



G:1526636v2  
 
 

21.3  Subject to Rule 21.4 the Chair of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
is entitled to see papers in relation to private decisions of the Shadow Executive 
before the decision is made. 

 
21.4  Where the Leader so determines, a member of the Shadow Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee will not be entitled to: 
 

(a) any document that is in draft form; 
 
(b) any such document or part of a document that contains exempt or 

confidential information, unless that information is relevant to an action or 
decision they are reviewing or scrutinising or any review contained in any 
programme of work of the Committee;  

 
(c) the advice of an assistant to a political group who has been appointed 

pursuant to section 9 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 
 

Where the Leader determines that a member of the Shadow Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee is not entitled to a copy of a document, or part of any such 
document, for the reasons set out above the Leader must provide the Shadow 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee with a written statement setting out their 
reasons for that decision. 

 
22  Additional rights of access for Shadow Members 

 
22.1  All Shadow  Members will be entitled to inspect any document which is in the 

possession or under the control of the Leader and or the Shadow Executive  
including its Committees or Sub-Committees and contains material relating to any 
business to be transacted at a public meeting; any business previously transacted 
at a private meeting; any decision made by an individual Member; or an Executive 
decision by an officer unless in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer it contains 
exempt information falling within the categories of exempt information as set out 
in the Appendix; or it contains the advice of a political advisor. 

 
22.2  All Shadow Members will be entitled to inspect any document (except those 

available only in draft form) in the possession or under the control of the Leader 
or the Shadow Executive including its Committees and Sub-Committees which 
relates to any Key Decision unless Rule 22.1 above applies. 

 
22.3  In relation to public meetings, where a document is required to be available for 

inspection by all Shadow Members under Rule 22.1 it must be available for at 
least 5 clear working days before the meeting except where the meeting is 
convened at shorter notice or an item is added to an agenda at shorter notice in 
which case the document must be available for inspection when the meeting is 
convened or the item is added to the agenda. 

  
22.4  In relation to private meetings, decisions made by an individual Member or 

Executive decisions made by an Officer, where a document is required to be 
available for inspection by all Shadow Members under Rule 22.1 must be 
available within 1 working day of the meeting concluding or where an Executive 

Page 162



G:1526636v2  
 
 

decision is made by an individual Member or an Officer within 1 working day of 
the decision being made. 

  
22.5  These rights of a Shadow Member are additional to any right they may have. 
 
Appendix 1 – Descriptions of Exempt Information 

 
Exempt information means information falling within the following categories (subject to 
any qualification): 

 
(1)  Information relating to any individual. 
(2)  Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an 

individual. 
(3)  Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 

(including the authority holding that information). 
(4)  Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 

consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter 
arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or 
office holders under, the authority. 

(5)  Information in respect of which a claim of legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings. 

(6)  Information which reveals that the authority proposes – 
(a) To give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 

requirements are imposed on a person; or 
(b) To make an order or direction under any enactment. 

(7) Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. 

 
Qualifications 

 
Information falling within the above descriptions is not exempt information if it is required 
to be registered under: 
 
(a)  The Companies Acts (as defined in section 2 of the Companies Act 2006); 
(b) The Friendly Societies Act 1974; 
(c)  The Friendly Societies Act 1992; 
(d)  The Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014; 
(e)  The Building Societies Act 1986; or 
(f)  The Charities Act 2011. 
 
Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed development for which the 
local planning authority may grant itself planning permission or permission in principle 
pursuant to Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992. 
 
Information which – 
 
(a)  Falls within any of the descriptions above; and 
(b)  Is not prevented from being exempt by the previous two qualifications is exempt 

information if and so long, as in all the circumstances of the case, the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing 
the information. 

Page 163



G:1526636v2  
 
 

 

Page 164



G:1526636v2  
 
 

B SHADOW AUTHORITY PROCEDURE RULES 
 

1  Shadow Authority meetings  
 
1.1 The Shadow Authority will decide when its meetings will take place. Details will be 

contained in a calendar of meetings which will be approved by the Shadow 
Authority.  
 

1.2 Meetings of the Shadow Authority will normally commence at 10:00am. The Chair, 
or the Shadow Authority, can agree to hold a meeting at a different place or time.  

 
1.3 A special meeting or extraordinary meeting can be called by resolution or by the 

Chair, or five Shadow Members can ask the Chair, in writing, to call a special 
meeting or extraordinary meeting.  If the Chair does not agree, then those Shadow 
Members can call the meeting by giving written notice to the Monitoring Officer. 

 
Calling extraordinary meetings of committees, sub-committees, panels and working 
groups 
 
1.4  The chair of a committee, sub-committee, panel or working group or the chair of 

the Shadow Authority may call a special meeting of a committee, sub-committee, 
panel or working group at any time. A special meeting shall also be called on the 
requisition of a quarter of the whole number of the relevant body delivered in writing 
to the Monitoring Officer but in no case shall less than three members requisition 
a special meeting. The summons to the special meeting shall set out the business 
to be considered thereat and no business other than that set out in the summons 
shall be considered at the meeting. 

 
Order of business 
 
1.5  Business shall be dealt with in the order in which it is set out in the agenda unless 

the Shadow Authority decides otherwise.  
 
Urgent business 
 
1.6  Business cannot be dealt with at a Shadow Authority meeting unless it is included 

in the summons or unless the Chair has agreed in consultation with the Head of 
Paid Service that it is urgent and cannot wait until the next scheduled meeting. The 
Chair must give the reasons for urgency, which must be recorded in the minutes of 
the meeting. 

 
2  Chair and Vice-Chair of the Shadow Authority 
 
2.1  At its first meeting, the Shadow Authority will elect its Chair and appoint its Vice-

Chair for the Shadow Period. 
 
2.2  The Chair of the Shadow Authority, or in their absence the Vice-Chair (who will 

have the same powers and duties as the Chair),  will  preside  at meetings of the 
Shadow Authority. Where both the Chair and Vice-Chair are absent, the Shadow 
Authority will appoint another Shadow Member, other than a member of the 

Page 165



G:1526636v2  
 
 

Shadow Executive, to chair the meeting, who will have the same powers and duties 
as the Chair. 

 
3  Quorum 
 
3.1  No business shall be dealt with at a meeting of the Shadow Authority or any 

committee if there are fewer than a quarter of the whole of the Shadow Authority or 
Committee members present. 

 
3.2  Where the meeting has started, and the number of Shadow Members present is 

fewer than a quarter of the whole of the Shadow Members and does not meet the 
minimum quorum requirements described in 3.1 above, the Chair will adjourn the 
meeting. Where the Chair does not give a date and/or time, all business not 
completed will be considered at the next meeting. 

 
4  What the Shadow Authority can decide  
 
4.1  The Shadow Authority will decide such matters as required by the law, and those 

matters set out in Part 3 of this Constitution. 
 
5.   Notice of and Summons to Meetings 
 
5.1  The Monitoring Officer will give notice to the public of the time and place of any 

meeting in accordance with the Access to Information Rules. At least five clear 
days before a meeting, the Monitoring Officer will send a summons signed by him 
or her by post or email to every member of the Council or leave it at their usual 
place of residence. The summons will give the date, time and place of each 
meeting and specify the business to be transacted, and will be accompanied by 
such reports as are available. 

 
6. Chair of Meeting and Appointment of Chairs of Committees 
 
6.1  The person presiding at the meeting may exercise any power or duty of the chair. 

Where these rules apply to committee, sub-committee, panel or working group 
meetings, references to the chair also include the chair of committees, sub- 
committees, panels and working groups.    The ruling of the chair on the 
construction or application of any of these Council Procedure Rules or upon any 
proceedings of the meeting shall not be challenged at any meeting. 

 
6.2 Every committee, sub-committee, panel or working group  shall at its first meeting 

after appointment before proceeding to any other business elect a chair and may 
at any time elect a vice-chair.  In the absence from a meeting of the chair (and 
vice-chair if elected) the chair for that meeting shall be appointed before the 
business of the meeting is proceeded with.  If a committee, sub-committee, panel 
or working group fails to elect a chair or vice-chair the Shadow Authority may 
appoint a chair of the relevant committee, sub-committee, panel or working group. 
   

6.3 If a committee, sub-committee, panel or working group fails to elect a chair or vice-
chair as provided for under Rule 6.2 above, then the Council may make such an 
appointment from among the voting members of the relevant committee, sub-
committee, panel or working group. 

Page 166



G:1526636v2  
 
 

 
7.  Duration of Meeting 
 

7.1  Unless otherwise specified, the duration of all meetings of the Shadow Authority, 
any committee or any sub-committee will be a maximum of 3 hours. 

  
7.2  If the 3 hour limit is approaching, by a simple majority of all Members in attendance 

agreeing, the meeting may continue beyond the 3 hour guillotine, however a 
revised finish time should be agreed. 

  
7.3  If an extension to the meeting has been agreed, and the revised closure time is 

being approached a further extension may be agreed, as per 8.2 above. 
  
7.4  In the case of the Senior Appointments Committee, 8.1-8.3 shall not apply where 

that Committee is interviewing candidates for positions within the Shadow 
Authority or Westmorland and Furness Council. 

 
8.  Questions by the public and presentation of petitions and deputations 
 
8.1 General 
 

Members of the public may ask questions of the Leader of the Shadow Authority 
or any other member of the Shadow Authority at meetings of the Executive or at 
ordinary meetings of the Shadow Authority and questions of the chair of any 
committee, sub-committee, panel or working group at meetings of that body. 
 

8.2 Order of questions 
 

Questions will be asked in the order notice of them was received, except that the 
chair or person presiding at the meeting may group together similar questions. 
 

8.3 Notice of questions 
 

A question may only be asked if notice has been given by delivering it in writing or 
by electronic mail to the Monitoring Officer no later than midday two clear days 
before the day of the meeting. Each question must give the name and address of 
the questioner and must, if the questioner wishes the question to be answered by 
a specific named member, name that member of the Council to whom it is to be 
put.  If the questioner does not name a specific member, then the question will be 
answered by the leader or such member of the executive whom they nominate in 
respect of any matter for which the executive is responsible, and by the chair of a 
relevant committee, sub-committee, panel or working group in respect of that 
body's functions.   
 

8.4 Number of questions 
 

At any one meeting no person may submit more than 2 questions and no more 
than 2 such questions may be asked on behalf of one organisation. 
 

8.5 Scope of questions 
 

Page 167



G:1526636v2  
 
 

The Monitoring Officer may reject a question if it: 
 
• is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility or which 

affects the district; 
• is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 
• is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a meeting of the 

Shadow Authority, or the relevant committee, sub-committee, panel or working 
group in the past six months; or 

• requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 
 

8.6 Record of questions 
 

The Monitoring Officer will enter each question in a book open to public inspection 
and will immediately send a copy of the question to the member to whom it is to 
be put. Rejected questions will include reasons for rejection. 
Copies of all questions will be circulated to all members of the relevant body at 
which they will be asked and will be made available to the public attending the 
meeting. 
 

8.7 Asking the question at the meeting 
 

The chair will invite the questioner to put the question.  If a questioner who has 
submitted a written question is unable to be present, they may ask the chair to put 
the question on their behalf. The chair may ask the question on the questioner’s 
behalf, indicate that a written reply will be given or decide, in the absence of the 
questioner, that the question will not be dealt with. 
 

8.8 Supplemental question 
 

A questioner who has put a question in person may also put one supplementary 
question without notice to the member who has replied to his or her original 
question. 
 
A supplementary question must arise directly out of the original question or the 
reply. The chair may reject a supplementary question on any of the grounds in 
Rule 8.5 above. 
 

8.9 Written answers 
 

Any question which cannot be dealt with during public question time, either 
because of lack of time or because of the non-attendance of the member to whom 
it was to be put, will be dealt with by a written answer. 
 

8.10 Reference of question to the executive or a committee 
 

Unless the chair decides otherwise, no discussion will take place on any question, 
but any member may move that a matter raised by a question be referred to the 
executive or the appropriate committee, sub-committee, panel or working group. 
Once seconded, such a motion will be voted on without discussion. 
 

Page 168



G:1526636v2  
 
 

8.11 Deputations and Petitions 
 
(a) Deputations may be received at ordinary meetings of the Council and at meetings 

of the executive, committees, sub-committees, panels and working groups 
immediately following questions by the public.  The nature and object of the 
deputation and the names of members shall be delivered in writing to the 
Monitoring Officer at least 14 days before the relevant meeting.  A member of the 
deputation may speak on the issue for up to five minutes.  The issue raised by the 
deputation must relate to a matter which falls within the powers and duties of the 
Council, or the relevant body as determined by the Monitoring Officer or which 
affects the district. 

 
(b) Except where the matter raised by a deputation or petition appears as a separate 

item on the agenda of the relevant meeting, there shall be no discussion at the 
meeting on any matter raised by a deputation or petition, but any member may 
move that the matter be referred to the next meeting of the executive or the 
appropriate committee, sub-committee, panel or working group which shall be 
immediately put to the vote. 

 
(c) A subject or related matter which has been raised at a meeting of the Council or 

other relevant body cannot be raised at the next subsequent meeting of that body. 
 
(d) Deputations and petitions scheduled to be heard at a particular meeting shall be 

dealt with in order of receipt and in the event of there being insufficient time to hear 
them all, opportunity shall be given for them to be heard at a subsequent meeting. 

 
9. Questions by Members 
 
9.1 On reports and minutes of meetings of the executive, committees, sub- 

committees, panels and working groups 
 

A member of the Shadow Authority may ask the leader, the relevant member of 
the Shadow Executive or the chair of a committee, sub-committee, panel or 
working group any question without notice upon an item of the report or upon the 
minutes of meetings of the relevant body when that item is being received or 
under consideration by the Shadow Authority. 
 

9.2 Questions on notice at Shadow Authority Meetings 
 

Subject to Rule 9.4, a member of the Council may ask: 
 
• the chair; 
• the leader or any other member of the executive; 
• the chair of any committee, sub-committee, panel or working group a 

question on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or 
duties or which affects the district.  

  
9.3 Questions on notice at committees, sub-committees, panels and working 

groups 
 

Page 169



G:1526636v2  
 
 

Subject to Rule 9.4, a member of a committee, sub-committee, panel or working 
group may ask the chair of it a question on any matter in relation to which the 
Council has powers or duties or which affect the district and which falls within the 
terms of reference of that body. 
 

9.4 Notice of questions 
 

A member may only ask a question under Rule 9.2 or 9.3 if either:  
 
(a) they have given notice of the question in writing or by electronic mail to the 

Monitoring Officer no later than midday at least two clear days before the 
day of the meeting; or 

 
(b) the question relates to urgent matters, they have the consent of the chair of 

the Shadow Authority in respect of any question to be asked at a Shadow 
Authority meeting and the chair of the relevant committee, sub-committee, 
panel or working group in respect of any question to be asked at that 
meeting and the content of the question is given to the Monitoring Officer 
by 9.30 a.m. on the day of the meeting. 

 
9.5 Response  
 

An answer may take the form of: 
 
(a) a direct oral answer; 
 
(b) where the desired information is in a publication of the Shadow Authority 

 or other published work, a reference to that publication; or 
 
(c) where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written answer 

circulated later to the questioner. 
 

9.6 Supplementary question 
 

A member asking a question under Rule 9.2 or 9.3 may ask one supplementary 
question without notice of the member to whom the first question was asked. The 
supplemental question must arise directly out of the original question or the reply. 
 

10. Motions On Notice 
 
10.1 Notice 
 

Except for motions which can be moved without notice under Rule 12, written 
notice of every motion, signed by the member or members of the Council, must be 
delivered to the Monitoring Officer not later than midday 11 clear days (including 
weekends) before the date of the meeting. These will be entered in a book open 
to public inspection. 
 

10.2  Motion set out in agenda 
 

Page 170



G:1526636v2  
 
 

Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda in the order 
in which notice was received, unless the member giving notice states, in writing, 
that they propose to move it to a later meeting or withdraw it.  
 

10.3 Scope 
 

Motions must be about matters for which the Shadow Authority has a responsibility 
or which affect the districts. 
 

10.4 Scrutiny of Motion 
 
 If it shall appear to the Monitoring Officer that a motion of which they have received 

notice is not in order, or has been delayed in the post, or is framed in improper or 
unbecoming language, they shall take the direction of the chair upon whether and 
in what form it shall be placed upon the Agenda paper and the decision of the chair, 
after consultation if possible with the givers of the notice, shall be final. 

 
10.5 Motion not Moved 
 
 If a motion thus set out in the summons be not moved by a member who gave 

notice thereof or by some other member on his/her behalf it shall, unless 
postponed by consent of the Shadow Authority, be treated as withdrawn and shall 
not be moved without fresh notice.   

 
11. Motions and Amendments which may be moved without notice 
 
11.1 The following motions and amendments may be moved without notice: 
 

(a) to appoint a chair of the meeting at which the motion is moved; 
 

(b) in relation to the accuracy of the minutes; 
 

(c) to change the order of business in the agenda; 
 

(d) to refer something to an appropriate body or individual; 
 

(e) to appoint a committee or member arising from an item on the summons 
for the  meeting; 

 
(e) to receive reports or adoption of recommendations of the Shadow 

Executive, committees, sub-committees, panels, working groups or officers 
and any resolutions following from them; 
 

(f) to withdraw a motion; 
 

(g) to amend a motion; 
 

(h) to proceed to the next business; 
 

(i) that the question be now put; 
 

Page 171



G:1526636v2  
 
 

(j) to adjourn a debate; 
 

(k) to adjourn a meeting; 
 

(l) that the meeting continue beyond 3 hours in duration. 
 

(m) to suspend a particular Shadow Authority Procedure Rule; 
 

(n) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to 
Information Rules; 

 
(o) to not hear further a named member or to exclude them from the meeting; 

and 
 

(p) to give the consent of the Shadow Authority where its consent is required 
by this Constitution. 

 
11.2 The chair, with or without notice, may propose a resolution upon any matter 

which they may deem a matter of urgency and which is within the functions or 
powers of the Shadow Authority.   

 
12. Rules of Debate 
 
12.1  No speeches until motion seconded 
 

No speeches may be made after the mover has moved a proposal and explained 
the purpose of it until the motion has been seconded. 
 

12.2 Right to require motions and amendments in writing 
 
 A motion or amendment shall not be discussed unless it has been proposed and 

seconded and, unless notice has already been given in accordance with Rule 12, 
it shall, if required by the Chair, be put into writing and handed to the Chair before 
it is further discussed or put to the meeting. 

 
12.3 Seconder’s speech 
 

When seconding a motion or amendment, a member may reserve their speech 
until later in the debate. 
 

12.4 Content and length of speeches 
Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to a personal 
explanation or point of order. No speech may exceed five minutes without the 
consent of the chair.  
 

12.5 When a member may speak again 
 

A member who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it is the subject 
of debate, except: 
 
(a) to speak once on an amendment moved by another member; 

Page 172



G:1526636v2  
 
 

 
(b) to move a further amendment if the motion has been amended since they 

last spoke; 
 

(c) if their first speech was on an amendment moved by another member, to 
speak on the main issue (whether or not the amendment on which they 
spoke was carried); 

 
(d) in exercise of a right of reply; 

 
(e) on a point of order; and 

 
(f) by way of personal explanation. 

 
12.6 Amendments to motions 
 

(a) An amendment to a motion must be relevant to the motion and will either 
be: 
 
(i) to refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual for 

consideration or reconsideration; 
(ii) to leave out words; 
(iii) to leave out words and insert or add others; or 
(v) to insert or add words,  

 
as long as the effect of (ii) to (iv) is not to negate the motion. 
 

(b) Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time. No 
further amendment may be moved until the amendment under discussion 
has been disposed of provided that the Chair may permit two or more 
amendments to be discussed (but not voted on) together if circumstances 
suggest that this course would facilitate the proper conduct of the Shadow 
Authority’s business. 
 

(c) If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original motion 
may be moved. 

 
(d) If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place of the 

original motion. This becomes the substantive motion to which any further 
amendments are moved. 

 
(e) After an amendment has been carried, the chair will read out the amended 

motion before accepting any further amendments, or if there are none, put 
it to the vote. 
 

12.7 Alteration of motion 
 

(a) A member may alter a motion of which they have given notice with the 
consent of the meeting. The meeting’s consent will be signified without 
discussion. 
 

Page 173



G:1526636v2  
 
 

(b) A member may alter a motion which they have moved without notice with 
the consent of both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent 
will be signified without discussion. 

 
(c) Only alterations which could be made as an amendment may be made. 
 

12.8 Withdrawal of motion 
 

A member may withdraw a motion which they have moved with the consent of both 
the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent will be signified without 
discussion. No member may speak on the motion after the mover has asked 
permission to withdraw it unless permission is refused. 

 
12.9 Right of reply 
 

(a) The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate on the 
motion, immediately before it is put to the vote. 
 

(b) If an amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion has the right 
of reply at the close of the debate on the amendment, but may not 
otherwise speak on it. 

 
(c) The mover of the amendment has no right of reply to the debate on his or 

her amendment. 
 
12.10 Motions which may be moved during debate 

 
When a motion is under debate, no other motion may be moved except the 
following procedural motions: 
 
(a) to withdraw a motion; 

 
(b) to amend a motion; 

 
(c) to postpone consideration of the motion; 

 
(d) to proceed to the next business; 

 
(e) that the question be now put; 

 
(f) to adjourn a debate; 
 
(g) to adjourn a meeting; 
 
(h) that the meeting continue beyond 3 hours in duration; 
 
(i) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to 

Information Rules; and 
 
(j) to not hear further a member or to exclude them from the meeting. 
 

Page 174



G:1526636v2  
 
 

12.11 Closure motions 
 

(a) A member who has not spoken on the subject under discussion may move, 
without comment, the following motions at the end of a speech of another 
member: 
 
(i) to proceed to the next business; 
(ii) that the question be now put; 
(iii) to adjourn a debate; or 
(iv) to adjourn a meeting. 

 
(b) If a motion to proceed to next business is seconded and the chair thinks 

the item has been sufficiently discussed, they will put the procedural motion 
to the vote.  If it is passed, they will give the mover of the original motion a 
right of reply and then put the original motion to the vote. 
 

(c) If a motion that the question be now put is seconded and the chair thinks 
the item has been sufficiently discussed, they will put the procedural motion 
to the vote. If it is passed they will give the mover of the original motion a 
right of reply before putting their motion to the vote. 

 
(d) If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is seconded and 

the chair thinks the item has not been sufficiently discussed and cannot 
reasonably be so discussed on that occasion, they will put the procedural 
motion to the vote without giving the mover of the original motion the right 
of reply. 

 
(e) A second motion "That the Shadow Authority proceed to the next 

business", "That the debate be now adjourned" or "That the Shadow 
Authority does now adjourn" shall not be made within 15 minutes unless it 
be moved by the Chair. 

 
12.12 Point of order 
 

A member may raise a point of order at any time. The chair will hear them 
immediately. A point of order may only relate to an alleged breach of these 
Procedure Rules or the law. The member must indicate the rule or law and the way 
in which they consider it has been broken. The ruling of the chair on the matter will 
be final. 
 

12.13 Personal explanation 
 

A member may make a personal explanation at any time. A personal explanation 
may only relate to some material part of an earlier speech by the member which 
may appear to have been misunderstood in the present debate. The ruling of the 
chair on the admissibility of a personal explanation will be final. 
 

12.14 Motions affecting persons employed by the Council 
 
 If any member wishes to raise a question at a meeting of the Shadow Authority 

concerning the appointment, promotion, dismissal, salary, superannuation or 

Page 175



G:1526636v2  
 
 

conditions of service or concerning the conduct of any person employed by the 
Council, they shall without specifying the name or department of the person 
concerned, inform the chair of their wish to raise such a question and such question 
shall not be the subject of discussion until the Shadow Authority has decided upon 
the motion of the chair put without debate whether or not the power of exclusion 
under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 shall be exercised. 

 
12.15 Irrelevance 
 
 The chair shall call a member to order for irrelevance or repetition and may direct 

such member if speaking to discontinue his or her speech and the member shall 
thereupon be silent and resume his or her seat. 

 
13. Previous Decisions and Motions 
 
13.1 Motion to rescind a previous decision 
 

A motion or amendment to rescind a decision made at a meeting of the Shadow 
Authority within the past six months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion 
is signed by at least 12 members. 
 

13.2 Motion similar to one previously rejected 
 

A motion or amendment in similar terms to one that has been rejected at a meeting 
of the Shadow Authority in the past six months cannot be moved unless the notice 
of motion or amendment is signed by at least 12 members. Once the motion or 
amendment is dealt with, no one can propose a similar motion or amendment for 
six months. 
 

13.3 Rules 13.1 and 13.2 shall not apply to motions moved in pursuance of a 
recommendation of the executive or any committee, sub-committee, panel or 
working group. 

 
14. Voting 
 
14.1 Majority 
 

Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be decided by a simple 
majority of those members voting and present in the room at the time the question 
was put. 
 

14.2 Chair’s casting vote 
If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the chair will have a second or 
casting vote. There will be no restriction on how the chair chooses to exercise a 
casting vote. 
 

14.3 Voting 
 

Unless a recorded vote is demanded under Rule 15.4, the chair will take the vote 
by either show of hands or electronic means, or if there is no dissent, by the 

Page 176



G:1526636v2  
 
 

affirmation of the meeting.  The ruling of the Chair as to the voting methodology to 
be used will be final. 
 

14.4 Recorded vote 
 

If before the vote is taken at least one fourth of members present at the meeting 
demand it, the names for and against the motion or amendment or abstaining from 
voting will be taken down in writing and entered into the minutes. 
 

14.5 Right to require individual vote to be recorded 
 

Where any member requests it immediately after the vote is taken, their vote will 
be so recorded in the minutes to show whether they voted for or against the motion 
or abstained from voting. 
 

14.6 Voting on appointments 
 

If there are more than two people nominated for any position to be filled and there 
is not a clear majority of votes in favour of one person, then the name of the person 
with the least number of votes will be taken off the list and a new vote taken. The 
process will continue until there is a majority of votes for one person. 
 

15. Minutes 
 
15.1 Signing the minutes 
 

The Chair will sign the minutes of the proceedings at the next suitable meeting. 
The Chair will move that the minutes of the previous meeting be signed as a correct 
record. The only part of the minutes that can be discussed is their accuracy. 
 

15.2 No requirement to sign minutes of previous meeting at extraordinary 
meeting 

 
Where in relation to any meeting, the next meeting for the purpose of signing the 
minutes is a meeting called under paragraph 3 of schedule 12 to the Local 
Government Act 1972 (an Extraordinary Meeting), then the next following meeting 
(being a meeting called otherwise than under that paragraph) will be treated as a 
suitable meeting for the purposes of paragraph 41(1) and (2) of schedule 12 
relating to signing of minutes. 
 

15.3 Form of minutes 
 

Minutes will contain all motions and amendments in the exact form and order the 
chair put them. 
 

16. Record of Attendance 
 
 The attendance of members at meetings of the Shadow Authority shall be recorded 

in such a manner as the Council may from time to time determine. 
 
17. Exclusion of Public 

Page 177



G:1526636v2  
 
 

 
Members of the public and press may only be excluded either in accordance with 
the Access to Information Rules of this Constitution or Rule 20 (Disturbance by 
Public). 
 

18. Members’ Conduct 
 
18.1 Addressing the meeting 
 

When a member speaks they must address the meeting through the chair. If more 
than one member asks to address the meeting, the chair will ask one to speak and 
the others must wait until the chair invites them to speak. Other members must 
remain silent whilst a member is speaking unless they wish to make a point of 
order or a point of personal explanation. If they wish to make a point of order or a 
point of personal explanation, they must inform the chair and wait until the chair 
invites them to make their point of order or point of personal explanation. 
 

18.2 Chair standing 
 

When the chair stands during a debate, any member speaking at the time must 
stop and sit down. The meeting must be silent. 
 

18.3 Member not to be heard further 
 

If a member persistently disregards the ruling of the chair by behaving improperly 
or offensively or deliberately obstructs business, the chair may move that the 
member be not heard further. If seconded, the motion will be voted on without 
discussion. 
 

18.4 Member to leave the meeting 
 

If the member continues to behave improperly after such a motion is carried, the 
chair may move that either the member leaves the meeting or that the meeting is 
adjourned for a specified period. If seconded, the motion will be voted on without 
discussion. 
 

18.5 General disturbance 
 

If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the chair may 
adjourn the meeting for as long as they think necessary. 
 

19. Disturbance by Public 
 
19.1 Removal of member of the public 
 

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the chair will warn the person 
concerned. If they continue to interrupt, the chair will order their removal from the 
meeting room. 
 
 

19.2 Clearance of part of meeting room 

Page 178



G:1526636v2  
 
 

 
If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, 
the chair may call for that part to be cleared. 
 

20. Recording of Meetings 
 
20.1 While any meeting is open to the public, any person present is permitted to report 

the proceedings by: 
 
(i) filming, photographing or making an audio recording of the proceedings at 

the meeting; 
 

(ii) using any other means for enabling persons not present to see or hear 
proceedings at the meeting as it takes place or later; 

 
(iii) reporting or providing commentary on proceedings at the meeting orally (but 

not whilst present in the meeting) or in writing, so that the report or 
commentary is available to other persons as the meeting takes place or later; 
or 

 
(iv) using any communication method, including the internet, to publish, post or 

otherwise share the report. 
 

20.2 The right to report is subject to the chair’s power to deal with disturbance at the 
meeting.  The meeting should not be disrupted by, for example, reporting activities, 
flash photography or intrusive equipment. 

 
20.3 Any person recording a meeting is requested to focus on recording councillors, 

officers and the public who are directly involved in the conduct of the meeting.  No 
recording should take place of children, vulnerable persons or other members of 
the public who actively object to being filmed. 

 
21. Declarations of Interest 
 
21.1 Subject to Rule 22.2, if a Member has a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter 

to be considered, or being considered, at the meeting, then the Member should 
declare that interest to the meeting and should leave the room whilst any 
discussion or vote takes place. 

 
21.2 If a dispensation has been granted to a Member in relation to a disclosable 

pecuniary interest then subject to the terms of the dispensation the Member may 
be relieved from the above restrictions but will still be required to declare the 
interest to the meeting. 

 
21.3 Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary interest in any business of the 

Shadow Authority, they may attend a Meeting but only for the purpose of making 
representations, answering questions or giving evidence relating to the business, 
provided that the public are also allowed to attend the Meeting for the same 
purpose, whether under a statutory right or otherwise.  Once any such 
representations etc have been made, the Member should leave the room whilst 
any discussion or vote takes place. 

Page 179



G:1526636v2  
 
 

 
22. Suspension and Amendment of Shadow Authority Procedure Rules 
 
22.1 Suspension 
 

All of these Rules of Procedure may be suspended by motion on notice or without 
notice if at least one half of the whole number of members of the Shadow Authority 
are present. Suspension can only be for the duration of the meeting. 
 

22.2 Amendment 
 

Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Rules of Procedure will, when proposed 
and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next ordinary meeting of 
the Shadow Authority. 
 

23. Application To Committees, Sub-Committees, Panels and Working Groups 
 
All of the Rules of Procedure apply to meetings of the Shadow Authority.   
The Rules also apply to meetings of committees, sub-committees, panels and 
working groups where the context so permits.  The Rules do not apply to meetings 
of the Shadow Executive unless specifically stated and meetings of the executive 
are governed by the Shadow Executive Procedure Rules. 

  

Page 180



G:1526636v2  
 
 

C SHADOW EXECUTIVE PROCEDURE RULES 
 Meetings of the Shadow Executive 
 

1.1 The Shadow Executive will meet as indicated in the Shadow Authority’s 
programme of meetings. The Shadow Executive or the Leader may agree to 
change the date of any programmed meeting, to cancel a meeting or to arrange 
additional meetings as they see fit. Locations of meetings will be published in the 
calendar of meetings. 

 
1.2 The Shadow Executive may meet in public or in private, subject to legal 

requirements and the Access to Information Procedure Rules set out in this 
Constitution. 

 
1.3 The Leader will chair meetings of the Shadow Executive or in his/her absence, 

the Deputy Leader will preside. Where both the Leader and Deputy Leader are 
absent, the Members present, will appoint one member of the Shadow Executive 
to chair that meeting. 

 
1.4 Attendance by other Members of the Shadow Authority or the public shall be in 

accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules, by invitation under 
Rule1.5 below, or set out in Rules 4.1 to 4.2 below. 

 
1.5 The Shadow Executive may invite any person they  consider appropriate, to its 

meetings to discuss matters of mutual interest or concern or to advise. Such 
persons may only be given access to confidential and/or exempt information on 
terms to be decided by the Monitoring Officer so as to ensure that the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules are observed. 

 
2  Quorum at meetings of the Shadow Executive 

 
2.1 No business shall be transacted where at any time during the meeting of the 

Shadow Executive, or a committee or sub-committee established by the Shadow 
Executive, there are fewer than three members of the Shadow Executive, or 
committee or sub-committee of the Shadow Executive present. 

 
3  Taking of decisions by the Shadow Executive 

 
3.1  Shadow Executive decisions, including those taken under delegated powers, 

shall not take effect until they have been recorded in writing, as required under 
the Access to Information Procedure Rules, and shall not be implemented until 
the call-in process has been concluded. Records of Shadow Executive decisions 
must be confirmed at the next meeting. 

 
4  Members attending and speaking at Shadow Executive Meetings 

 
4.1  The Chair of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled to 

attend any formal public meeting of the Shadow Executive and to speak to any 
matter on the agenda for that meeting. 

 

Page 181



G:1526636v2  
 
 

Other Members not previously described above may also speak at such meetings 
with the permission of the Leader or person presiding in his/her absence. 

 
5  Business at Shadow Executive Meetings  
 
5.1  The business to be transacted at meetings of the Shadow Executive will be set 

out in an Agenda for the meeting in question, subject to any requirements or 
exemptions under the Access to Information Procedure Rules.  

 
5.2 The Agenda may be supported by additional papers prepared by the officers or 

by or on behalf of other bodies, subject to requirements about disclosure of 
confidential or exempt information.  

 
5.3  The Shadow Executive is obliged to consider matters referred to it by the Shadow 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee, or by the Shadow Authority for consideration 
under the Scrutiny Rules. 

 
5.4  The Access  to  Information  Procedure  Rules  will  apply  to  notice  of  meetings, 

agendas, and access to reports and background papers. Where matters are for 
decision, the Agenda must stipulate those which are Key Decisions and those 
which are not, in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules.  

 
5.5  The Shadow Executive will, at each formal meeting, confirm the record of 

decisions taken at its previous meeting as a correct record. 
 
5.6  The Monitoring Officer or their nominated officer shall be responsible for 

preparing and distributing the Agenda for Shadow Executive meetings, attending 
meetings for the purpose of advising the Shadow Executive on matters within 
their area of responsibility and recording decisions as required under this 
Constitution. 

 
5.7   In taking decisions, the Shadow Executive must satisfy itself that it has before it 

adequate and appropriate advice from its service, legal and financial advisers 
who shall be present at any meeting where a decision is being taken and that the 
advice is taken into consideration in determining the matter. Where there is any 
doubt about vires or probity then advice must be obtained from the Monitoring 
Officer and the Chief Finance Officer. 

 
5.8      Any member of the Shadow Executive may require the Monitoring Officer to place 

an item on the Agenda for a stipulated meeting of the Shadow Executive. 
 
5.9   The Monitoring Officer will ensure that any matter referred to the Shadow Executive 

by the Shadow Authority or the Shadow Authority’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee are placed on the Agenda for the next appropriate meeting of the 
Shadow Executive. 

 
5.10     Any Shadow Member may request the Leader to place an item on the agenda of 

a meeting of the Shadow Executive. The leader shall have sole discretion as to 
whether or not to accede to such a request and, if such a request is granted, 
whether the Member in question can speak to the item at the meeting in question. 

 

Page 182



G:1526636v2  
 
 

5.11     The Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer 
can include an item for consideration on the agenda of a Shadow Executive 
Meeting. In pursuance of their statutory duties they can require that a special 
meeting of the Shadow Executive be convened. 

 
5.12  Business cannot be conducted at formal meetings of the Shadow Executive  

unless it is included in the agenda for the meeting. Where it is urgent, the 
requirements of the Access to Information Procedure Rules must be complied 
with. 

 
5.13  The Shadow Executive will report to the Shadow Authority as required under the 

Access to Information Procedure Rules on any matter which is classified as a Key 
Decision and is dealt with under special urgency procedures. 

 
5.14  Questions can be submitted by members of the public at meetings of the Shadow 

Executive in accordance with Shadow Authority Procedure Rule 28 and Appendix 
6 of the Shadow Authority Meeting Procedure Rules. 

 
6  Voting at Shadow Executive Committee Meetings 

 
6.1  Voting at Shadow Executive meetings will be by a show of hands or electronic 

means. Any Member may require, immediately after the vote is taken, that the 
minutes of the meeting record how they voted or abstained. Where there are 
equal votes cast, the Leader or in their absence, the person presiding will have 
a second and casting vote. 

 
6.2  Voting for any office or appointment, including any paid appointment, where more 

than one person is nominated shall be in accordance with Shadow Authority 
Procedure Rule 15.6. 

 
7  Shadow Executive– Committees and Sub-Committees 

 
7.1  The Shadow Executive may appoint such Committees or Sub- Committees as it 

considers necessary and appropriate to assist in the discharge of functions. In 
making such appointments, the Shadow Executive must specify the name of the 
Committee/Sub-Committee, its membership (including Chair and, if appropriate, 
Vice-Chair) and the terms of reference of the body. 

  
8   Motion under Meeting Procedure Rule 11 

 
8.1       A mover of a motion under Shadow Authority Meeting Procedure Rule 11 which 

has been referred to the Shadow Executive for consideration may attend the 
meeting of the Shadow Executive when their motion is under consideration and 
explain the motion. The mover of the motion will be advised of the date and time 
of the meeting when the matter is to be considered and they will be sent an 
electronic copy of the relevant papers. 

 
9   Resolving disputes 

 
9.1       In the case of any dispute during proceedings of the Shadow Executive the 

relevant part(s) of the Constitution will apply and after considering the application 
 

Page 183



G:1526636v2  
 
 

of the relevant provision(s), the person presiding at the meeting will rule on the 
issue in question and their ruling will be final. 

 
10  Reserves/substitute Members 

 
10.1  There shall  be  no reserve or substitute members of the Shadow Executive. 

 
11  Approval of urgent business 

 
11.1  Where any matter is urgent and cannot await the next meeting, the Head of Paid 

Service may take the necessary action, provided that they have first consulted 
the Leader (or Deputy Leader if the Leader is unavailable) and the appropriate 
statutory officer(s). 

 
11.2  Where action is taken under 11.1 above, the action taken and response to 

consultations shall be reported to the next ordinary meeting of the Shadow 
Executive. 

 
12  Conflicts of Interest 

 
12.1  Where the Leader or any Shadow Executive Member has a conflict of interest, 

they  will follow the requirements of the Shadow Authority’s Code of Conduct for 
Members. 

 
12.2  If all (or a majority) of the Members of the Shadow Executive present have a 

conflict of interest then consideration will be given to applying to the Monitoring 
Officer for a dispensation from the provisions of the Code. 

 
12.3     If the discharge of a Shadow Executive function has been delegated to another 

body or individual and a conflict of interest arises, then it will fall to the body or 
individual who delegated the matter to take the decision. Where that body or 
individual also has a conflict of interest then action set out in Rule 12.2 shall be 
considered. 

 

 

 

  

Page 184



G:1526636v2   

D OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULES 
1.  Work Programme 

 
1.1  The Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee will consult with other parts of the 

Shadow Authority as appropriate, including the Shadow Executive, on the 
preparation of any work programme. 

 
1.2  The Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee will take into account any views 

expressed following consultation under Rule 1.1 above in drawing-up and agreeing 
any work programme. It should also take into account the resources, both officer 
and financial, available to support its proposals. 

 
1.3  Once any programme has been approved, a copy will be sent to all Members of the 

Shadow Authority and all relevant officers. 
 
1.4 The Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall respond, as soon as it may 

consider it is possible to do so, to requests from the Shadow Authority and the 
Shadow Executive, to review particular areas of Shadow Authority activities. Where 
it does so, it will report its findings and any recommendations back to the Shadow 
Executive and/or Shadow Authority in accordance with Rule 4 below. 

 
2  Agenda for meetings of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

 
2.1      Matters to be considered will be set out in an Agenda, together with appropriate and 

relevant supporting papers.  
  
2.2       Any member of the Committee shall be entitled to suggest, in writing, that an item be 

included on the agenda, and such item shall appear on the agenda for the next 
meeting of the Committee in question provided that the item relates to the functions 
of the Committee. The committee will decide how the item should be considered 
and whether or not it can be included in its work programme. 

  
2.3 Similarly, the Leader or the Executive may give notice in writing suggesting that an 

item appear on an agenda of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The 
Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee will decide how the item should be 
considered and whether or not it can be included in its work programme. 

 
2.4       Subject to the Shadow Authority Procedure Rules, any other Shadow Member may 

give notice in writing to the Monitoring Officer, suggesting an item appear on an 
agenda of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The item shall be 
included after consulting the Chair of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

 
2.5       Any Shadow Member raising an item under Rules 2.2, 2.3 or 2.4 above shall be 

precluded from raising the matter again for a period of 6 months from the date it is 
considered by the Committee.  

  
3           Policy Review and Development  

  
3.1       The Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee has a key role in policy and budget 

development in the approach to the creation of Westmorland and Furness Authority. 
 
4 Reports from the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

  
4.1       Once recommendations have been formed, the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee may submit a formal report for consideration by the Shadow Executive 

Page 185



G:1526636v2   

or to the Shadow Authority as appropriate (if the recommendation would require a 
departure from or a change to the agreed budget and policy framework).  

  
4.2 The Shadow Authority or the Shadow Executive shall consider the report of the 

Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee within one month (or next available 
meeting in the case of the Shadow Authority) of it being submitted.  

  
5          Access to the Forward Plan 

  
5.1 The Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee will have access to the Shadow 

Executive Forward Plan and timetable for decisions and intentions for consultation. 
  
6          Rights of Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee members to documents 

  
6.1       In addition to their rights as Shadow Members, members of the Shadow Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee have the additional right of access to documents, and to 
notice of meetings as set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in this 
Constitution as they deem necessary. 

  
7          Shadow Members and Officers giving account 

  
7.1       The Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee may scrutinise and review decisions 

made or actions taken in connection with the discharge of any Shadow Authority 
function. As well as reviewing the documentation, in fulfilling its scrutiny role, it may 
require the Leader or any Member of the Executive (or a nominated substitute), to 
attend before it to explain in relation to matters within their remit:  

  
(a) any particular decision or series of decisions;  

  
(b) the extent to which the actions taken implement Shadow Authority policy; and 

or  
  

(c) their performance.  
  

And it is the duty of that person to attend if so 
required.  

 
7.2       Where the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee requires an officer to attend 

to answer questions or discuss issues, this will be agreed with the Interim Head of 
Paid Service. 

  
Where it is agreed that an officer should appear to answer questions, their evidence 
should, as far as possible, be confined to questions of fact and explanation relating 
to policies and decisions. Officers may be asked to explain:  

  
(a) What the policies are;  
 
(b)  The justification and objectives of those policies as the Shadow Executive 

sees them; 
 
(b) The extent to which those objectives have been met; and 
 
(d)  How administrative factors may have affected both the choice of policy 

measures and the manner of their implementation. 
  
7.3       Officers may be asked to explain and justify advice they have given to the Shadow 

Executive prior to decisions being taken. They may also be asked to explain and 

Page 186



G:1526636v2   

justify decisions they have taken under delegation powers from the Shadow 
Executive.  

  
7.4       Officers should not be expected and should avoid being drawn into discussions of 

politically contentious matters and any officer input should be consistent with the 
requirements for political impartiality.  

  
7.5       The requirements of any protocols on Member/Officer relationships and the Code of 

Conduct must be adhered to where an officer is attending the Shadow Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 

  
7.6       Where any Member of the Shadow Executive or officer is required to attend Shadow 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee under this provision, the Chair of that Committee 
will inform the Monitoring Officer, who will inform the Shadow Member or officer in 
writing at least ten clear working days’ notice of the meeting. The notice will state 
the nature of the item on which they are required to attend to give account and 
whether any papers are required to be produced for the Committee. Where the 
account to be given to the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee will require 
the production of a report, then the Shadow Member or Officer concerned will be 
given reasonable and sufficient notice to allow for its preparation.  

  
7.7       Where, in exceptional circumstances, the Member of the Executive or officer is 

unable to attend on the required date, then the Committee shall, in consultation with 
the Member of the Executive or officer, arrange an alternative date for attendance 
within a reasonable timescale, or allow a substitute to attend.  

  
8          Attendance by others  

  
8.1       The Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee may invite individuals other than 

those referred to in Rules 7.1 and 7.2 to address it, discuss issues of local concern 
and/or answer questions. 

  
9          Call-in 

  
9.1       Call-in is the exercise of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s statutory 

power in section 21(3) of the Local Government Act 2000 to review an Executive 
decision that has been made but not yet implemented. Where a decision is called in 
and the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee decides to refer it back to 
the  Executive Committee for reconsideration, it cannot be implemented until the 
call-in procedure is complete. 

  
9.2       Any decision of the Shadow Executive Committee, an individual Member of the 

Shadow Executive, or a Key Decision made by an officer under authority delegated 
by the Shadow Executive, is subject to call-in. A decision may be called-in only once. 
A recommendation by the Shadow Executive to the Shadow Authority may not be 
called-in. 

  
9.3       The call-in procedure and the powers to refer a decision back for reconsideration 

may only be exercised by the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee, within the 
remit of its terms of reference. 

  
9.4       Call-in of decisions which may be contrary to the budget and policy framework shall 

be governed by the provisions of the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules set out elsewhere within this Constitution.  

  
9.5       The Call-in Procedure  

  

Page 187



G:1526636v2   

9.5.1    Once made, an Executive decision shall be published, in the form of a 
decision note, within two clear working days on the public website of the 
Shadow Authority. 

  
9.5.2    The decisions digest will bear the date on which it is published and will 

specify that the decision will be effective on the expiry of five clear working 
days after the publication of the decision and may then be implemented, 
unless called-in under this provision within that five clear working day period. 
The deadline for a call-in request will be specified in the decisions digest. 

  
9.5.3    Requests for call-in may be made by submission of a notice in accordance 

with 9.5.4 below. A request shall only be considered to be valid if 
signed/authorised by at least four Shadow Members who are not Members 
of the Executive.  

  
9.5.4     A call-in request must be in the form of a written/e-mailed notice submitted 

to the Monitoring Officer and received before the published deadline. Either 
one notice containing all required signatures or four separate notices will be 
acceptable.  

  
9.5.5    The notice must set out – 

  
(a) the resolution or resolutions that the Member(s) wish to call-in;  
  
(b)  the reasons why they wish the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee to consider referring it back to the Executive Committee, 
with particular reference to the principles of decision making set out 
within Article 12 (Decision Making); and  

  
(c)  the alternative course of action or recommendation(s) that they wish 

to propose.  
  

9.5.6    The call-in request will be deemed valid unless either –  
  

(a) the procedures set out in Procedure Rules 9.5.3 to 9.5.5 above have 
not been properly followed;  

 
  
(b) a similar decision has been called-in to the Committee 

previously;  
 
(c) the Executive decision has been recorded as urgent in accordance 

with paragraph 10 below; or  
  
(d)  the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Chair of the Shadow 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee, considers the call-in to be 
frivolous, vexatious or clearly outside the call-in provisions, in which 
case the Monitoring Officer may reject the call-in request and write/e-
mail to the Members making the request explaining why it was 
rejected. 

  
9.5.7    Before deciding on its validity, the Monitoring Officer may seek clarification 

of the call-in request from the Member(s) concerned.  
  

9.5.8    Upon deciding on its validity, the Monitoring Officer shall forthwith inform the 
Member(s) concerned, the Leader of the Shadow Authority, Shadow 
Executive, Shadow Executive Member(s) as appropriate, the Chair and the 

Page 188



G:1526636v2   

Vice Chair of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Head 
of Paid Service.  

  
9.6       Consideration of Call-in requests by the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

  
9.6.1    The  Monitoring Officer will ensure  that any valid  call-in  is  considered and 

determined at the next available meeting of the Shadow Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, or will convene a special meeting if so agreed by the 
Chair of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the decision 
taker. 

  
9.6.2    The Members submitting the request for call-in will be expected to attend the 

meeting of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee to explain their 
reasons for the call-in and the alternative course of action or 
recommendations they wish to propose.  

  
9.6.3 Having considered the call-in and the reasons given, the Shadow Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee may – 
 

(a)      refer it back to the decision-making person or body for 
reconsideration, normally in time for its next scheduled meeting, 
setting out in writing the nature of its concerns and any alternative 
recommendations; 

  
(b)        refer the decision to the Shadow Authority, if it feels the original 

decision  was  outside  of  the  Budget  and  Policy  Framework,  afte
r seeking advice of the Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Finance 
Officer; or  

  
(c)        decide to take no further action, in which case the original Executive 

decision will be effective immediately.  
  
9.7       Decision referred back to the Decision Maker  

  
9.7.1    If a decision is referred back to the original decision maker, that person or 

body shall then reconsider the matter, taking into account any concerns and 
recommendations of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and 
make a final decision, amending the decision or not, giving reasons for their 
final decision.  

 
9.7.2  If a decision relates to an Executive function only the Shadow Executive can 

ultimately decide the matter.  
 
10        Call-in and Urgency 

  
10.1     The call-in procedure set out above shall not apply where the decision being taken 

is urgent. A decision is urgent if –  
  

(a)        A  call-in would  prevent  the  Shadow  Authority  reaching  a  decision  that  is 
required by law within a specified timescale; or  

  
(b)        Any delay likely to be caused by the call-in process would seriously prejudice 

the Shadow Authority’s or the public’s interests and the reasons for urgency 
are reported to the decision-making body or person before the decision is 
taken.  

  
10.2     The decision note shall state whether the decision is an urgent one, and therefore 

not subject to call-in.  

Page 189



G:1526636v2   

  
10.3     The Chair of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee must agree to the 

decision being treated as a matter of urgency. In the absence of the Chair, the Vice-
Chair of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be requested to give 
consent. In the absence of both the Chair and Vice-Chair  of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, the Chair of the Authority (or in his/her absence) the Vice-
Chair, will be requested to provide consent. 

  
10.4     Where the Executive has recorded a decision as urgent, the Shadow Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee may retrospectively review actions arising from that decision 
(within agreed criteria) but cannot delay its implementation.  

  
11        Member Call for Action  

  
11.1     Any member of the Shadow Authority may submit a Member Call for Action using 

the appropriate form. The Member Call for Action is intended to be a process of last 
resort and therefore a member must demonstrate that reasonable steps have been 
taken to resolve  the matter  including  a response from the Leader or appropriate 
Executive Member and the Head of Paid Service or their nominee. The Member Call 
for Action will be placed on the agenda of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. It is for the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee to determine how 
it wishes to respond to the Member Call for Action and in the case of refusal to 
undertake a review then reasons must be provided.  

  
12        The Party Whip  

  
12.1     It is generally accepted that the Party Whip should be suspended in respect of 

Scrutiny matters. However, when considering any matter in respect of which a 
member of the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee is subject to a formal 
party whip, the Shadow Member must declare the existence of the whip, and the 
nature of it before the commencement of the Committee’s deliberations on the 
matter. The declaration, and the detail of the whipping arrangements, shall be 
recorded in the minutes of the meeting. 

 
13        Task and Finish Panels  

  
13.1     The Committee may appoint such task and finish panels as it considers appropriate 

to undertake specific tasks on its behalf, with the same powers as the Committee, 
excluding the provision to call-in Executive decisions. Whilst these will be on a task 
and finish basis in most cases, the Committee is not precluded from establishing 
such Panels on a more permanent basis subject to regular review. Task and Finish 
Panel  members  do  not  have  to  be  members  of  the  Overview  and  Scrutiny 
Committee, but cannot be members of the Shadow Executive.  

  
13.2     Where the Committee establish any Panel under Rule 13.1 above, it will set out the 

name of the Panel, its membership (including the Chair and, if appropriate, the Vice-
Chair) and the terms of reference including relevant dates for completion of the task 
or review.  

  
13.3     Any Task and Finish Panel established will report back to the Overview and   

Scrutiny Committee who will consider the Panel’s outcome or recommendations.  
  
14        Procedure at Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee Meetings  

  
14.1     The Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall consider the following 

business:  
 

Page 190



G:1526636v2   

(a) record of the last meeting;  
 

(b)        consideration  of  any  matter  referred  to  the  Committee  by  the  Shado
w  

Authority or by the Shadow Executive;  
  

(c)        consideration of any matter referred to the Committee for advice in relation 
to call-in or a decision;  

  
(d)        responses of the Shadow Executive on reports of the Shadow Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee; and  
  

(e)        the business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting.  
  
14.2     Where the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee conducts investigations (e.g. 

with a view to policy development), the Committee may also ask people to attend to 
give evidence at its meetings, which are to be conducted in accordance with the 
following principles:  

  
(a)        the investigation be conducted fairly and all members of the Committee be 

given the opportunity to ask questions of attendees, and to contribute and 
speak;  

  
(b) those assisting the Committee by giving evidence be treated with respect 

and courtesy; and  
 

(c)        the  investigation  be  conducted  so  as  to  maximise  the  efficiency  of  the 
investigation or analysis.  

  
14.3    Following any investigation or review, the Committee shall prepare a report for 

submission to the Shadow Executive and/or Shadow Authority as appropriate and 
shall, unless there are exceptional reasons, make its report and findings public.  

 

Page 191



G:1526636v2   

 E FINANCIAL PROCEDURE RULES 
1          Introduction 

 
1.1       The Local Government Act 1972 Section 151 requires the Westmorland and 

Furness Shadow Authority to make arrangements for the proper administration of 
its financial affairs. The Shadow Authority has allocated this responsibility to the 
Section 151 Officer (Chief Financial Officer) for the new Westmorland and 
Furness Council. 

 
1.2       References to  Section  151  Officer  also  apply  to  the  interim  appointment  until  

a permanent appointment is made to the post. 
 
1.3      These Financial Procedure Rules set out the financial responsibilities of the Shadow 

Authority, the Shadow Executive, Section 151 Officer and the Head of Paid Service 
and their nominated representatives as appropriate, in relation to the Shadow 
Westmorland and Furness Authority prior to the creation of Westmorland and 
Furness Council on the 1 April 2023. 

 
1.4       Should any uncertainty or dispute arise about these Procedure Rules, the 

matter must be referred to the Section 151 Officer for interpretation and arbitration. 
 
1.5     The Section 151 officer may appoint one or more deputy Section 151 Officers each 

of whom has power to exercise all the powers and duties of the Section 151 Officer 
during the absence or incapacity of or during the vacancy of the role of, the Section 
151 Officer. 

 
1.6  The Section 151 Officer has the authority to delegate matters under these Financial 

Procedure Rules, where appropriate, and records will be maintained of any such 
delegations. 

 
2          Financial Transactions 

 
2.1 The Shadow Authority  will  not  incur  any  direct  payments  nor  receive  any  

income directly. 
 
2.2       Any expenditure incurred, or income received on behalf of the Shadow Authority 

will be undertaken and accounted for by Cumbria County Council, whose approved 
financial procedures will be utilised for those purposes. 

 
2.3 Any procurement undertaken by the Shadow Authority, or authorised on its 

behalf, will be  compliant  with  the  law and  the  approved  procedures contained 
within the Cumbria  LGR Implementation Reserve Memorandum of Understanding. 

 
3          Employees 

 
3.1 Interim appointments to the three statutory posts made by the Shadow 

Westmorland and Furness Council will be designated and the appointed 
employees will remain employed by their existing authorities on their existing 
terms and conditions. 

 
3.2    The appointment to permanent posts will be made in the most appropriate and 

convenient manner as determined at the time, as follows: 
 

i. The appointment to permanent posts will be made by the Shadow Authority 
and Westmorland and Furness Council will be the employer of the said 
posts and determine the terms and conditions of their employment; or. 

Page 192



G:1526636v2   

ii. The appointment to permanent posts by the Shadow Authority on behalf of 
the Westmorland and Furness Council may be employed by a designated 
principal Council under terms and conditions to be agreed by the Senior 
Appointments Committee. 

 
4          Responsibilities of the Section 151 Officer 

 
4.1       Under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, to undertake the duties of 

the Responsible Financial Officer to the Shadow Authority in preparing for a legally 
compliant Westmorland and Furness Authority on the 1 April 2023. 

 
4.2       As Responsible Financial Officer, under Section 114 of the Local Government 

Act 1988, making a report to the Shadow Authority, the Shadow Executive  
and, if appointed, external auditor if the Shadow Authority or one of its appointed 
officers: 

 
(a)        has made, or is about to make, a decision which involves committing one 

of the existing authorities to unlawful expenditure on behalf of the Shadow 
Authority; or 

 
(b)        has taken, or is about to take, an unlawful action on behalf of the Shadow 

Authority, which has resulted or would result in a loss or deficiency to the 
existing councils or the future Westmorland and Furness Council. 

 
4.3      As Responsible Financial Officer, under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, 

to comply with internal control requirements as far as they are applicable to the 
creation of Westmorland and Furness Council. 

 
4.4       Reporting to, and gaining the approval of, the Shadow Executive any decisions, as 

determined by the direction made under section 24 of the Local Government and 
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007,  of  the existing councils that would be to the 
detriment of the Shadow Authority or Westmorland and Furness Council. 

 
4.5       Working with  the  Shadow  Executive  and  any  other  Member  body established  

to  provide  advice  and  financial information  on  the  emerging  financial position  
of Westmorland and Furness  Council  and  on  the  key  financial  controls 
necessary to secure sound financial management in the new organisation. 

 
4.6       Maintaining and updating a Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). 

 
4.7       Preparing the  revenue  budget  and  capital  programme;  advising  on  the  level  of 

council tax; and preparing treasury management, banking and exchequer 
functions. 

 
5          Policies, Strategies and Plans 

 
5.1       The Section  151  Officer  is  responsible for  preparing  the following  documents 

for consideration  by the  Shadow Executive   and  approval by the  Shadow 
Authority at the same time as the 2023/24 budget is approved and council tax set: 

 
(a)        Capital Programme; 

 
(b)        Treasury Management Strategy including: 

 
i)          Prudential Indicators and Limits for 2023/24 to 2027/28; 

 
ii)          Minimum Revenue Provision Statement; 

Page 193



G:1526636v2   

 
iii)         Treasury Management Indicators; 

 
iv)         Debt and Investment Strategy 2023/24 and associated 

criteria.  
 

(c) Treasury Management Policy Statement; 
 

(d) Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) 
 

(e)        Capital Investment Strategy 2023-2028; 
 

(f)        Housing Revenue Account; and 
 

(g)         Medium Term Financial Strategy 2023-2028. 
 
5.2 The Head  of  Paid  Service  is  responsible  for  preparing Westmorland and 

Furness Council’s Pay Policy Statement for 2023/24, for consideration by the 
Shadow Executive  and approval by the Shadow Authority before 31st March 2023. 

 
6          Budget Setting for 2023/24 

 
6.1       The revenue budget should reflect the corporate aims and priorities of the 

Shadow Authority and is set in the context of the proposed Medium-Term Financial 
Strategy. 

 
6.2       The Section 151 Officer is responsible for preparing a balanced 2023/24 budget in 

accordance with the Local Government Act 1992, as amended, in particular by the 
Localism Act 2011. To achieve this the Section 151 Officer is responsible for: 

 
(a) preparing a 2023/24 budget strategy and timetable for engagement with: 

the Shadow Executive, Shadow Authority, other Member bodies, 
stakeholders and the public, for consideration by the Shadow Executive ; 

 
(b) setting  a  timetable  for  receipt  of  local  precept  information  from  town  

and parish councils in the Westmorland and Furness area; 
 
(c) determining the detailed form of revenue estimates; 
 
(d) consolidating  the  first  draft  2023/24  budget  from  the  budget  information 

prepared by the existing Councils, namely Cumbria County Council and the 
Westmorland and Furness councils; 

 
(e) developing the draft budget, taking into account the revenue implications 

of the proposed capital programme, council tax and fees and charges 
harmonisation policies; to identify the budget gap and recommend ways to 
close this gap, in liaison with appropriate Member bodies, having regard for 
achieving best resources and value for money; 

 
(f) undertaking consultation on the budget proposals and reporting the 

outcome of the consultation to the appropriate Member body for 
consideration; 

 
(g) reporting the final draft budget, along with proposals to balance the 

budget and the outcome of the consultation, to the Shadow Executive for 
consideration. 

 

Page 194



G:1526636v2   

6.3 The Shadow Executive must consider the draft budget and agree budget proposals 
which will be submitted to the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 
review, before the end of January 2023. 

 
6.4 The Shadow Executive must make recommendations on the final, scrutinised, 

budget and council tax proposals to the Shadow Authority for approval by the third 
week of February 2023. 

 
7 Capital Programme 
 
7.1 The Section  151  Officer  is  responsible  for  undertaking  financial  appraisals  of 

schemes,  if  required,  and  collating  the  capital  estimates  to  form  the  capital 
programme, identifying the required financing and taking into account the full year 
revenue effect of each scheme and report this to the Shadow Executive 

 
7.2 The  Shadow  Executive  will  make  recommendations  on  the  capital programme 

and on any associated financing requirements to the Shadow Authority as part of 
the budget setting process. 

 
8          Council Tax Base 

 
8.1 Each of the existing billing authorities comprising the three district/borough 

councils (Barrow Borough Council, Eden District Council and South Lakeland 
District Council) is responsible for calculating the council tax base for its 
administrative area and aggregating these figures to provide a council tax base  for  
the council area  in  accordance  with  the  Local Authorities (Calculation of Council 
Tax Base) (England) Regulations 2012. 

 
8.2       The Section 151 Officer is responsible for: 

 
(a) aggregating the council tax base information provided by each of the 

districts and boroughs to create a council tax base for the administrative 
area of Westmorland and Furness (the billing authority), in early 
December; 

 
(b) ensuring that any differences in the CTRS schemes are resolved for 

recommendation to the Shadow Authority; 
 

(c) ensuring that all reliefs, discounts and premiums in respect of Council Tax 
and NNDR are harmonized as far as practicably possible; 

 
(d) promptly notifying the major preceptors and local preceptors of the 

relevant tax base for their purposes. 
 
9          Setting the Council Tax 

 
9.1 In order to raise sufficient council tax to meet the needs of Westmorland and 

Furness Council, the major preceptors and local preceptors, the Section 151 Officer 
is responsible: 

 
(a)       for estimating any surplus or deficit on the Collection Fund, as at 15 January 

2023 and to notify all relevant organisations  of their relevant share of any 
surplus or deficit; 

 
(b) using the tax base to calculate the average band D council tax and all of 

the council tax bands for Westmorland and Furness Council and each of 
the major and  local  preceptors  in  the  billing  authority’s  area  in  

Page 195



G:1526636v2   

accordance  with  the Local Government Act 1992 (as amended) in 
particular by the Localism Act 2011; 

 
(c)        agreeing the council tax leaflet, for inclusion with the bills, with the Leader 

of the Shadow Authority; 
 

(d) promptly  publishing  the  list  of  council  tax  bands  once  approved  by  
the Shadow Authority; and 

 
(e)        applying any alternative notional amounts to the council tax comparators 

for 2022/23, when undertaking the comparison with the 2023/24 council 
tax, for the purposes of identifying if the council tax referendum limit has 
been breached. A statement as to the outcome of this calculation to be 
approved by the Shadow Authority. 

 
9.2      The Shadow Authority is responsible for approving the council tax bands in respect 

of Westmorland and Furness Council and the aggregation of the bands to arrive at 
the actual council tax chargeable in its administrative area and the average council 
tax bands for the billing authority area. 

 
10        Collection Fund 

 
10.1     The Section 151 Officer is responsible for: 

 
(a)       creating a Collection Fund for the Westmorland and Furness Council area 

one day after the Shadow Authority sets the 2023/24 budget and council 
tax: and 

 
(b)        undertaking council tax and national non-domestic rates billing, as soon 

as the Shadow Authority has approved the council tax. 
 
11        Reserves and Balances 

 
11.1 Financial reserves and balances are maintained as a matter of prudence against 

unforeseen  events  and  future  contingencies.  They will enable Westmorland and 
Furness Council to provide for unexpected events and thereby protect it from 
future extraordinary expenditure and overspends. Reserves for specific known 
purposes are also maintained and it is reasonable to build reserves in anticipation 
of a known call on resources in future years. 

 
11.2 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for advising the Shadow Executive  and 

Shadow Authority on the prudent level of reserves and balances for Westmorland 
and Furness Council as part of the annual budget setting process based on an 
assessment of risk. 

 
11.3     The purpose, usage and basis of transactions must be clearly set out in respect 

of each of the reserves and balances held by Westmorland and Furness Council. 
 
12        Returns and Grant Claims 

 
12.1 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for submission of all returns and grant 

claims in respect of Westmorland and Furness Council prior to the 1 April 2023. 
These returns include: 

 
(a) CTB1 – Calculation of Council Tax Bases; 

 
(b) NNDR1 – National Non-Domestic Rates Return; 

Page 196



G:1526636v2   

 
(c) Relevant Housing Revenue Account returns 
 
(d)        CTR1 – Council Tax Requirement Return; 
 
(e) RA – Revenue Account Form (to be submitted after 1 April 2023 and 

the responsibility of the unitary s.151 Officer);  
 
(f)      Benefit Subsidy Claim; and 
 
(g)  DHP – Discretionary Housing Payment Return 

 
13        Financial Control 

 
13.1 Under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the Section 151 Officer is 

responsible for ensuring that appropriate systems and financial controls are in 
place on the 1 April 2023 to provide effective management information, financial 
stewardship and control for Westmorland and Furness Council. 

 
13.2 This will include the ability to operate a robust general ledger and other core 

financial systems to be able to deliver the following on 1 April 2023: 
a. run payroll, 
b. manage the pension fund and pay pensions payroll (designated host 
authority), 
c. raise orders and pay suppliers, 
d. pay other third parties, 
e. raise invoices and collect all income due, 
f. produce internal budget monitoring reports, 
g. produce the Council’s statutory accounts, 
h. produce monthly bank reconciliations, 
i. operate robust Treasury Management activities for daily cash 
management, loans and investments. 

 
 
14        Banking Arrangements 

 
14.1     The Section 151 Officer is responsible for: 

 
(a)       Identifying the bank accounts required (including a separate account for 

the CLGPS) and opening these accounts in the name of Westmorland 
and Furness Council by the 1 April 2023; 

 
(b)      Authorising bank signatories and setting up authorised accesses and 

roles; 
 
(c)       Putting in place the arrangements required for the transmission of funds and 

collection of cash; and 
 
(d)         Agreeing  procedures  for  managing  the  transition  from  the  existing  

bank accounts and banking arrangements to those of Westmorland and 
Furness Council. 

 
15        Treasury Management 

 
15.1 The   Section   151   Officer   is   responsible   for   putting   in   place   all   necessary 

arrangements to enable Westmorland and Furness Council to invest or borrow 
monies on the 1 April 2023. 

Page 197



G:1526636v2   

 
16        Insurances 

 
16.1 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for putting in place adequate insurance 

arrangements for Westmorland and Furness Council in readiness for the 1 April 
2023. 

 
17        Taxation 

 
17.1 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for liaising with HM Revenues and Customs 

to obtain appropriate taxation and VAT reference numbers, including a separate 
PAYE reference for Westmorland and Furness’ Returning Officer. 

 
18        Audit 

 
18.1 The Section 151 Officer is responsible for ensuring appropriate audit 

arrangements are in place for the Shadow Authority compliant with statute and 
good practice. 

 
19 Pensions 

 
19.1 The Section 151 Officer of the designated Administering Authority for Cumbria 

Local Government Pension Scheme (CLGPS) will be responsible for developing 
the constitutional requirements to ensure that the functions of the CLGPS can be 
transferred to the new Administering Authority on 1 April 2023. 

 
 

Page 198



G:1526636v2   

F OFFICER  EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE RULES 
1 General  
 
1.1 The Shadow Authority has limited powers in connection with the employment and 

designation of staff. It relies upon staff resources provided by all of the Westmorland 
and Furness local authorities and the Central Implementation Team to carry out its 
work. These Rules must therefore be read in that context. 

 
1.2 Officers within the organisation are employed, appointed, designated or engaged by 

or on behalf of the whole Shadow Authority and not by parts of the organisation or 
individuals.  

 
1.3 The employment, appointment, designation or engagement of all staff will be in 

compliance with the law and any relevant policies and practices of the employing 
organisation and the Shadow Authority.  

  
1.4 Generally (except for certain senior appointments specified in the Local Authorities 

(Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001) the function of appointment and 
dismissal of, and taking disciplinary action against a member of staff of the Shadow 
Authority shall be discharged on behalf of the Shadow Authority by the Head of Paid 
Service or by an officer nominated by them and shall comply with the employing 
organisation’s and the Shadow Council’s relevant practices and procedures.  

 
1.5 Appointment, dismissal and disciplinary action in relation to statutory officers shall 

follow the statutory procedures laid down in the relevant legislation, guidance and 
handbooks. 

 
2 Recruitment and Appointment of Staff  
 
2.1 Subject to the provisions of these Procedures, the recruitment, designation and 

appointment of officers will be conducted in accordance with law and the employing 
organisation’s policies and procedures. 

  
2.2 Any candidate for any designation or appointment with the Shadow Authority who 

knows that they are related to a Shadow Member or employee of the Shadow 
Authority shall, when making application, disclose, in writing, that relationship to the 
Central Implementation Team lead officer for Human Resources. A person who 
deliberately fails to disclose such a relationship shall be disqualified from 
designation or appointment and, if designated or appointed, shall be liable to 
dismissal. 

  
2.3 Every Shadow Member and employee of the Shadow Authority shall disclose to the 

Central Implementation Team lead officer for Human Resources any relationship 
known to them to exist between themselves and any person they know is a 
candidate for designation or appointment by the Shadow Authority. 

  
2.4 Any candidate for designation or appointment who directly or indirectly seeks the 

support of a Shadow Member or officer of the Shadow Authority in any designation 
or appointment shall be disqualified and, if designated or appointed, shall be liable 
for dismissal. A Shadow Member shall not solicit for any person in respect of any 
designation or appointment with the Shadow Authority, but may give a written 
testimonial of a candidate’s ability, experience or character if so requested by the 
Central Implementation Team lead officer for Human Resources.  

 
2.5 Persons shall be deemed to be related to a candidate or officer if they are a spouse, 

partner (i.e. member of couple living together), parent, parent-in-law, grandparent, 

Page 199



G:1526636v2   

child,  stepchild,  adopted  child,  grandchild,  child  of  partner,  brother,  sister,  un
cle, aunt, cousin, nephew or  niece  or the  spouse or  partner of  any 
of  the  preceding persons.  

  
2.6 In the case of a dispute under paragraph 2.5 above about the status of a relationship 

in  relation  to  an  appointment,  the  Central  Implementation  Team  lead  officer  f
or Human Resources will rule and such ruling will be applied.  

  
2.7 The Central Implementation Team lead officer for Human Resources will ensure that 

the provisions of these Rules are reflected, as appropriate, in application forms or in 
any accompanying detailed procedures for each post, following advertisement.  

  
3 Responsibility for Human Resources matters  
  
3.1 Subject to any matters reserved to the Shadow Authority, the Senior Appointments 

Committee is responsible for the development of corporate personnel policies and 
for determining and monitoring such policies and for the operational implementation 
of those policies, including  the development of  practices and procedures to support 
those policies.  

  
4 Responsibility of the Senior Appointments Committee 
  
4.1 The responsibilities of the Senior Appointments Committee are set out in Part 3 of 

this Constitution.  
  
4.2 Subject to the provisions of these Rules, the Committee is also responsible for 

hearing and determining appeals under the Shadow Authority’s employment-related 
policies, the suspension of sick pay and the review and determination of matters 
relating to any fixed term contracts. In determining these matters the Committee will 
have regard to the appropriate provisions of this procedure. The Committee may 
agree to discharge some of these functions through a Sub-Committee. 

  
4.3 The Shadow Executive is required to ensure that the corporate personnel policies 

and procedures of Cumbria County Council and the Westmorland and Furness 
Councils for employees working on its behalf are adhered to by the Shadow 
Authority, or the employing authority of the individual,  including  training, matters 
relating to discipline, workforce performance management, and grievance (other 
than determining appeals).  

  
5 Appointment of the Head of Paid Service  
 
5.1 The appointment of the Head of Paid Service is subject to specific requirements as 

set out below.  
  
5.2 Where the Shadow Authority proposes to appoint to the Head of Paid Service, the 

Senior  Appointments  Committee  will  oversee  the  arrangements  for  filling  the 
vacancy. For this purpose the Committee shall include at least one member of the 
Shadow Executive in its membership.  

 
5.3 The Senior Appointments Committee shall: 
 

(a) draw up a statement specifying the duties of the officer concerned and any 
qualifications or guidelines to be sought in the person to be appointed;  

  
(b) make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is likely to 

bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply for it;  
  

Page 200



G:1526636v2   

(c) make arrangements for a copy of the statement mentioned above to be sent to 
any person on request;  

  
(d) where a post has been advertised as required above, the Committee will select 

from the applications a short list of qualified candidates and will then interview 
those included in the short list.  

  
5.4 Following the interview of candidates, the Committee will come to a view as to the 

most suitable person for the position.  
  
5.5 The Committee must advise the Monitoring Officer of: 
  

(a)        the name of the person in question; and  
  

(b)      any other particulars which the Committee consider are relevant to the 
appointment.  

  
5.6 Within two clear working days of receiving the notification in paragraph 5.5 above, 

the Monitoring Officer will notify each member of the Shadow Executive of:  
  

(a) the information notified under paragraph 5.5 above; and  
  

(b) the period within which any objection to the making of the offer is to be made by 
the Leader on behalf of the Shadow Executive to the Central Implementation 
Team lead officer for Human Resources; such period shall not exceed five clear 
working days.  

  
5.7 A provisional offer of appointment shall not be made before:  

  
(a) the Leader has, within the period of the notice under paragraph 5.6 above, 

notified the Committee through the Central Implementation Team lead officer for 
Human Resources that neither they nor any member of the Shadow Executive 
has any objection to the making of the offer; or  

  
(b) the  Central  Implementation  Team  lead  officer  for  Human  Resources  has 

notified  the  Committee  that  no  objections  have  been  received  by  him/her 
within the period of the notice under paragraph 5.6 above; or  

  
(c) the Committee is satisfied that any objection received from the Leader within the 

notice period is not material or is not well founded. In this regard, where 
necessary, the advice of the Monitoring Officer should be sought.  

 
5.8 Where following the above procedure there are no objections to the proposed 

appointment or any objections are not up-held, the Committee will recommend that 
person for  appointment at  the  next meeting  of the Shadow Authority or  at  a 
specially  convened  meeting  of  the  Shadow  Authority.  If  the  Shadow  Authority 
approve the recommendation, then a formal offer of appointment can be made.  

  
5.9 Where following the interviews the Committee are of the view that there is no 

suitable candidate, it shall re-advertise the post.  
  
5.10 Where the Shadow Authority do not approve the recommendation of the Committee, 

it shall indicate how it wishes to proceed.  
 
 

6. Appointment of Monitoring Officer and section 151 Officer 
 

Page 201



G:1526636v2   

6.1 The appointment of the Monitoring Officer and section 151 Officer for the 
Westmorland and Furness Council shall be undertaken following the procedure set 
out in paragraphs 5.2 to 5.7 above. 

 
6.2 Where, following the above procedure, there are no objections to the proposed 

appointment or any objections are not upheld, the Committee will make a formal 
offer of appointment. 

 
7 Appointment/dismissal of Interim/Acting/Permanent Head of Paid Service, 

Statutory Chief Officers, Non-Statutory Chief Officers and Deputy Chief 
Officers 

 
7.1 The requirements of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations  

2001 (“the Regulations”) and any other relevant legislation, guidance and terms will 
be followed in respect of those posts which fall within the definitions of Head of Paid 
Service, Statutory Chief Officers, Non-Statutory Chief Officers and Deputy Chief 
Officers. 

 
8. Appointment/dismissal of other officers  
 

Where any appointments are made to positions other than those referred to in 
paragraph 6 above, or where such persons are dismissed, these shall be the 
responsibility of the Head of Paid Service of the employing Council, or another 
officer to whom they have delegated that responsibility.  

 
  

Page 202



G:1526636v2   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Part 5 – Code of Conduct, Member/Officer 
Protocol and other related provisions

Page 203



G:1526636v2   

 
 

WESTMORLAND AND FURNESS SHADOW AUTHORITY 
MEMBERS’ CODE OF CONDUCT 

 
Definitions 

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, a “councillor” means a member or co-opted member of a local 
authority or a directly elected mayor. A “co-opted member” is defined in the Localism Act 2011 Section 
27(4) as “a person who is not a member of the authority but who 

a) is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or; 
b) is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or joint sub- committee of 
the authority; 

and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any meeting of that committee or 
sub-committee”. 

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, “local authority” includes county councils, district councils, 
London borough councils, parish councils, town councils, fire and rescue authorities, police authorities, 
joint authorities, economic prosperity boards, combined authorities and National Park authorities. 
 
Purpose of the Code of Conduct 

The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a councillor, in modelling the behaviour that is 
expected of you, to provide a personal check and balance, and to set out the type of conduct that could 
lead to action being taken against you. It is also to protect you, the public, fellow councillors, local authority 
officers and the reputation of local government. It sets out general principles of conduct expected of all 
councillors and your specific obligations in relation to standards of conduct. The LGA encourages the use 
of support, training and mediation prior to action being taken using the Code. The fundamental aim of the 
Code is to create and maintain public confidence in the role of councillor and local government. 
 
General principles of councillor conduct 

Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public services, including ministers, 
civil servants, councillors and local authority officers; should uphold the Seven Principles of Public Life, 
also known as the Nolan Principles. 

Building on these principles, the following general principles have been developed specifically for 
the role of councillor. 

In accordance with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions: 

  I act with integrity and honesty 
  I act lawfully 
  I treat all persons fairly and with respect; and 
  I lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the role of 

councillor. 

In undertaking my role: 

  I impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local community 
  I do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on any person 
  I avoid conflicts of interest 
  I exercise reasonable care and diligence; and 

Page 204

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2


G:1526636v2   

  I ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with my local 
authority’s requirements and in the public interest. 

 

Application of the Code of Conduct 

This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of acceptance of the office of 
councillor or attend your first meeting as a co-opted member and continues to apply to you until you cease to 
be a councillor. 

This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as a councillor which may include 
when: 

  You misuse your position as a councillor 
  Your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the public with 

knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a councillor; 

The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including: 
  at face-to-face meetings 
  at online or telephone meetings 
  in written communication 
  in verbal communication 
  in non-verbal communication 
  in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and 

comments. 

You are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show leadership at all times when acting as a 
councillor. 

Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of the Code of Conduct, and 
you are encouraged to seek advice from your Monitoring Officer on any matters that may relate to the 
Code of Conduct. Town and parish councillors are encouraged to seek advice from their Clerk, who may 
refer matters to the Monitoring Officer. 
 
Standards of councillor conduct 

This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct required of you as a 
councillor. Should your conduct fall short of these standards, a complaint may be made against you, which 
may result in action being taken. 

Guidance is included to help explain the reasons for the obligations and how they should be followed. 
  

Page 205



G:1526636v2   

General Conduct 

1. Respect 

As a councillor: 

1.1 I treat other councillors and members of the public with respect. 
 

1.2 I treat local authority employees, employees and representatives of partner organisations and 
those volunteering for the local authority with respect and respect the role they play. 

Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the written word. Debate and having 
different views are all part of a healthy democracy. As a councillor, you can express, challenge, criticise 
and disagree with views, ideas, opinions and policies in a robust but civil manner. You should not, 
however, subject individuals, groups of people or organisations to personal attack. 
In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and courteously. Rude and offensive 
behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in councillors. 

In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the public. If members of the public are being 
abusive, intimidatory or threatening you are entitled to stop any conversation or interaction in person or 
online and report them to the local authority, the relevant social media provider or the police. This also 
applies to fellow councillors, where action could then be taken under the Councillor Code of Conduct, and 
local authority employees, where concerns should be raised in line with the local authority’s councillor- 
officer protocol. 

2. Bullying, harassment and d iscrimination 

As a councillor: 

2.1 I do not bully any person. 
 

2.2 I do not harass any person. 
 

2.3 I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against any person. 

The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises bullying as offensive, intimidating, 
malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power through means that undermine, humiliate, 
denigrate or injure the recipient. Bullying might be a regular pattern of behaviour or a one-off incident, 
happen face-to-face, on social media, in virtual meetings, emails or phone calls, happen in the workplace or 
at work social events and may not always be obvious or noticed by others. 

The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct that causes alarm or distress or 
puts people in fear of violence and must involve such conduct on at least two occasions. It can include 
repeated attempts to impose unwanted communications and contact upon a person in a manner that could 
be expected to cause distress or fear in any reasonable person. 

Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a protected characteristic. 
Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a person's 
identity defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and 
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. Councillors have a central role to play in 
ensuring that equality issues are integral to the local authority's performance and strategic aims, and that 
there is a strong vision and public commitment to equality across public services. 

 

Page 206



G:1526636v2   

3. Impartiality of officers of the council 

As a councillor: 

3.1 I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality of anyone who works 
for, or on behalf of, the local authority. 

Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral (unless they are political 
assistants). They should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a way that would undermine their neutrality. 
You can question officers in order to understand, for example, their reasons for proposing to act in a 
particular way, or the content of a report that they have written. However, you must not try and force them to 
act differently, change their advice, or alter the content of that report, if doing so would prejudice their 
professional integrity. 

 

4. Confidentiality and access to information 

As a councillor: 

4.1 I do not disclose information: 
a. given to me in confidence by anyone 
b. acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is of a 

confidential nature, unless 
i. I have received the consent of a person authorised to give it; 
ii. I am required by law to do so; 
iii. the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining professional legal 

advice provided that the third party agrees not to disclose the information to any 
other person; or 

iv. the disclosure is: 
1. reasonable and in the public interest; and 
2. made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable 

requirements of the local authority; and 
3. I have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to its release. 

 
4.2 I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of my role as a councillor for the 

advancement of myself, my friends, my family members, my employer or my business 
interests. 

 
4.3 I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they are entitled to by law. 

  

Page 207



G:1526636v2   

Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings and printed materials are 
open to the public, except in certain legally defined circumstances. You should work on this basis, but 
there will be times when it is required by law that discussions, documents and other information relating to 
or held by the local authority must be treated in a confidential manner. Examples include personal data 
relating to individuals or information relating to ongoing negotiations. 

5. Disrepute 

As a councillor: 

5.1 I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute. 

As a councillor, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your community and your actions and 
behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than that of ordinary members of the public. You should be aware 
that your actions might have an adverse impact on you, other councillors and/or your local authority and 
may lower the public’s confidence in your or your local authority’s ability to discharge your/it’s functions. For 
example, behaviour that is considered dishonest and/or deceitful can bring your local authority into 
disrepute. 

You are able to hold the local authority and fellow councillors to account and are able to constructively 
challenge and express concern about decisions and processes undertaken by the council whilst continuing 
to adhere to other aspects of this Code of Conduct. 

6. Use of position 

As a councillor: 

6.1 I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the advantage or disadvantage of 
myself or anyone else. 

Your position as a member of the local authority provides you with certain opportunities, responsibilities 
and privileges, and you make choices all the time that will impact others. However, you should not take 
advantage of these opportunities to further your own or others’ private interests or to disadvantage 
anyone unfairly. 

 

7. Use of local authority resources and facilities  

As a councillor: 

7.1 I do not misuse council resources. 
 

7.2 I will, when using the resources of the local authority or authorising their use by others: 
a. act in accordance with the local authority's requirements; and 
b. ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes. 

You may be provided with resources and facilities by the local authority to assist you in carrying out your 
duties as a councillor. 
  

Page 208



G:1526636v2   

Examples include: 

  office support 
  stationery 
  equipment such as phones, and computers 
  transport 
  access and use of local authority buildings and rooms. 

 
 
These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a councillor more effectively and are not to be used 
for business or personal gain. They should be used in accordance with the purpose for which they have 
been provided and the local authority’s own policies regarding their use. 
 

8. Complying with the Code of Conduct 

As a Councillor: 

8.1 I undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my local authority. 
 

8.2 I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or determination. 
 

8.3 I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is likely to be involved with the 
administration of any investigation or proceedings. 

 
8.4 I comply with any sanction imposed on me following a finding that I have breached the Code 

of Conduct. 

It is extremely important for you as a councillor to demonstrate high standards, for you to have your 
actions open to scrutiny and for you not to undermine public trust in the local authority or its governance. 
If you do not understand or are concerned about the local authority’s processes in handling a complaint 
you should raise this with your Monitoring Officer. 

 

Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local authority 

9. Interests 

As a councillor: 

9.1 I register and disclose my interests. 

Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to establish and maintain a 
register of interests of members of the authority. 

You need to register your interests so that the public, local authority employees and fellow councillors know 
which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of interest.  The register is a public document that can be 
consulted when (or before) an issue arises. The register also protects you by allowing you to demonstrate 
openness and a willingness to be held accountable. You are personally responsible for deciding whether or 
not you should disclose an interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for you to know early on if others think 
that a potential conflict might arise. It is also  important that the public know about any interest that might 
have to be disclosed by you or other councillors when making or taking part in decisions, so that decision 
making is seen by the public as open and honest. This helps to ensure that public confidence in the integrity 

Page 209



G:1526636v2   

of local governance is maintained. 

You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest as set out in Table 1, 
is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011. 

Appendix B sets out the detailed provisions on registering and disclosing interests. If in doubt, you should 
always seek advice from your Monitoring Officer. 
 
10. Gifts and hospitality 

As a councillor: 

10.1 I do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, which could give rise to real 
or substantive personal gain or a reasonable suspicion of influence on my part to show favour 
from persons seeking to acquire, develop or do business with the local authority or from 
persons who may apply to the local authority for any permission, licence or other significant 
advantage. 

 
10.2 I register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality with an estimated value of 

at least £50 within 28 days of its receipt. 
 

10.3 I register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality with an estimated value 
of at least £50 that I have been offered but have refused to accept. 

In order to protect your position and the reputation of the local authority, you should exercise caution in 
accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or which you reasonably believe to be) offered to you because 
you are a councillor. The presumption should always be not to accept significant gifts or hospitality. 
However, there may be times when such a refusal may be difficult if it is seen as rudeness in which case 
you could accept it but must ensure it is publicly registered. However, you do not need to register gifts and 
hospitality which are not related to your role as a councillor, such as Christmas gifts from your friends and 
family. It is also important to note that it is appropriate to accept normal expenses and hospitality 
associated with your duties as a councillor. If you are unsure, do contact your Monitoring Officer for 
guidance. 
 

Page 210



G:1526636v2   

Appendices 

Appendix A – The Seven Principles of Public Life 

The principles are: 

Selflessness 

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

Integrity 

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people or 
organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They should not 
act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves, their 
family, or their friends. They must disclose and resolve any interests and relationships. 

Objectivity 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, using the 
best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

Accountability 

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions and 
must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

Openness 

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent manner. 
Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear and lawful reasons 
for so doing. 

Honesty 

Holders of public office should be truthful. 

Leadership 

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They should 
actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge poor behaviour 
wherever it occurs. 

 

Page 211



G:1526636v2   

Appendix B  

Registering interests 

Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office you 
must register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set out 
in Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as described in “The Relevant 
Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012”. You should also register 
details of your other personal interests which fall within the categories set out in Table 2 
(Other Registerable Interests). 
 
“Disclosable pecuniary interest” means an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you 
are aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 below. 
 
"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners. 
 

1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and 
within 28 days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change 
to a registered interest, notify the Monitoring Officer. 

 
2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the 

councillor, or a person connected with the councillor, being subject to 
violence or intimidation. 

 
3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer 

with the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring 
Officer agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register. 

Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest 

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the 
interest, not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not 
remain in the room/meeting unless you have been granted a dispensation.  In 
addition, you may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also 
allowed to speak and having spoken you must leave the room/meeting. If it is a 
‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest, just 
that you have an interest. Dispensation may be granted in limited circumstances, 
to enable you to participate and vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest. 

5. Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered or 
is being considered by you as an Executive member in exercise of your executive 
function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take 
any steps or further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to 
deal with it 

Disclosure of Other Registrable Interests 

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Other 
Registrable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must disclose the interest. If you 
have such an interest you must consider whether a reasonable member of the 
public, knowing all the facts, would think the interest such that it may influence 
the way you vote.  If the ordinary person would think that the interest may 
influence your vote then you should not participate in the matter.  In these 

Page 212



G:1526636v2   

circumstances you may speak on the matter only if members of the public are 
also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any 
discussion or vote on the matter. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to 
disclose the nature of the interest 

 
Disclosure of Non- Registrable Interests 
 

7. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial 
interest or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest set out in 
Table 1) or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, you 
must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the 
public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part 
in any discussion or vote on the matter unless you have been granted a 
dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature 
of the interest. 

 
8. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects – 

a. your own financial interest or well-being; 
b. a financial interest or well-being of a friend, relative, close associate; or 
c. a financial interest or wellbeing of a body 

included under Other Registrable Interests set 
out in Table 1  

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you may 
participate in the meeting after disclosing your interest the following test 
should be applied: 

9. Where a matter affects your financial interest or well-being so that a 
reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it 
may affect your view of the wider public interest you may speak on the matter 
only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but 
otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter. 

If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 
 

10. Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you 
have made an executive decision in relation to that business, you must make 
sure that any written statement of that decision records the existence and nature 
of your interest. 

 
Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in the 
Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012. 

 
Subject Description 
Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 
 

Page 213

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made


G:1526636v2   

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other 
financial benefit (other than from the 
council) made to the councillor during the 
previous 12-month period for expenses 
incurred by him/her in carrying out 
his/her duties as a councillor, or towards 
his/her election expenses. 
This includes any payment or financial 
benefit from a trade union within the 
meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts Any contract made between the councillor 
or his/her spouse or civil partner or the 
person with whom the councillor is living as 
if they were spouses/civil partners (or a firm 
in which such person is a partner, or an 
incorporated body of which such person  is 
a director* or a body that such person has a 
beneficial interest in the securities of*) and 
the council 
— 
(a) under which goods or services are to be 
provided or works are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land and Property Any beneficial interest in land which is 
within the area of the council. 
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, 
interest or right in or over land which does 
not give the councillor or his/her spouse or 
civil partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were spouses/ 
civil partners (alone or jointly with another) 
a right to occupy or to receive income. 

Licenses Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to 
occupy land in the area of the council for a 
month or longer 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s 
knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the council; and 
(b) the tenant is a body that the councillor, 
or his/her spouse or civil partner or the 
person with whom the councillor is living as 
if they were spouses/ civil partners is a 
partner of or a director* of or has a 
beneficial interest in the securities* of. 

Page 214



G:1526636v2   

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* of a 
body where— 
(a) that body (to the councillor’s 
knowledge) has a place of business or 
land in the area of the council; and 
(b) either— 
(i) ) the total nominal value of the 
securities* exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that body; or 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of 
more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in 
which the councillor, or his/ her spouse or 
civil partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners has a beneficial 
interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class. 

 
 

‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial 
and provident society. 

‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and 
Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited 
with a building society. 

Table 2: Other Registrable Interests 
 

 
 
 

 

You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or 
is likely to affect:

a) Any unpaid directorships
b) any body of which you are in general control or management and to which you are 

nominated or appointed by your authority

c) any body
(i) exercising functions of a public nature
(ii) any body directed to charitable purposes or
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or 

policy (including any political party or trade union)
of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management

Page 215



G:1526636v2   

 
 
Code and Protocol 
 
 
Protocol on Shadow Member/Officer Relations 
 
Introduction 
 
1.1 The purpose of this Protocol is to guide Shadow Members and Officers of the 

Shadow Authority in their relations with one another. 
 
1.2 Given the variety and complexity of such relations, this Protocol does not seek to be either 

prescriptive or comprehensive.   It seeks simply to offer guidance on some of the issues 
which most commonly arise.  It is hoped however that the approach which it adopts to 
these issues will serve as a guide to dealing with other issues. 

 
1.3 This Protocol also seeks to reflect the principles underlying the respective Codes of 

Conduct which apply to Shadow Members and Officers.  The shared object of these codes  
is to  enhance  and  maintain  the  integrity  (real  and  perceived)  of  local government and 
they therefore demand very high standards of personal conduct. 

 
1.4  It is important that any dealings between Shadow Members and Officers should observe 

reasonable standards of courtesy and that neither party should seek to take unfair 
advantage of their position. 

 
1.5 In their dealings with one another Members and Officers should bear in mind the 

seven Nolan principles of public life: 
 

•    Selflessness 
•    Integrity 
•    Objectivity 
•    Accountability 
•    Openness 
•    Honesty 
•    Leadership 

 
1.6. The Standards Committee shall maintain oversight of this protocol as part of its work 

programme. 
 
The Roles of Shadow Members and Officers 
 
2.1 Both  Shadow  Members  and  Officers  are  servants  of  the  public  and  they  are 

indispensable to one another. However, their responsibilities are distinct. 
 
2.2 Mutual respect between Shadow Members and Officers is essential to good local 

government. The best service will be provided to local people by Members and staff 
working as one team. Effective working relationships between Members and staff 
must be based on trust and mutual respect. 

 
2.3. Both Members and staff have a duty to act in accordance with the Authority’s ethical 

standards as set out in the adopted codes of conduct. 
 

 

Page 216



G:1526636v2   

Shadow Members 
 
2.4.1 Shadow Members are responsible to the electorate and serve only so long as their term 

of office lasts. 
 
2.4.2 Shadow Members have some main areas of responsibility as follows: 
 
 
 

(a) Determining the policy of the Shadow Authority and giving it  political leadership. 
 

(b) Monitoring and reviewing the performance of the Shadow Authority. 
 

(c) Representing the Shadow Authority externally. 
 

(d) Acting as advocates on behalf of their constituents.  It is not the role of Shadow 
Members to involve themselves in the day to day management of the Shadow 
Authority. 

 
Officers 
 
2.5.1 Officers are responsible to the Shadow Authority.  Officers are professional staff and 

together have expertise covering a wide range of areas.  Their job is to give advice to 
Shadow Members and the Shadow Authority, and to carry out the Shadow Authority’s work 
under the direction and control of the Shadow Authority, its Committees and Sub-
Committees. Officers work to the instructions of Senior Officers and not to individual 
Shadow Members, whatever office the Member may hold. 

 
2.5.2 The role of Officers is to give advice and information to Shadow Members and to 

implement the policies determined by the Shadow Authority. In giving such advice to 
Shadow Members, and in preparing and presenting reports, it is the responsibility of the 
Officer to express his/her own professional views and recommendations. Whilst an 
Officer may report the views of individual Shadow Members on an issue, if the Shadow  
Member wishes to express a contrary view they should not  seek to pressure the Officer to 
make a recommendation contrary to the Officer’s professional view. 

 
2.5.3. The political impartiality of staff must be maintained and no member of staff shall be 

asked to work in such a way that they support any political group or movement, 
except  for  those  officers  appointed  specifically  as  administrative  support  to  a particular 
political group represented on the Authority. See also paragraph 5 below. 

 
2.5.4. Certain officers e.g. Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance Officer 

(Section 151 Officer) have responsibilities in law over and above their obligations to the 
authority and to individual Shadow Members.   Shadow Members must respect these 
obligations, must not obstruct Officers in the discharge of these responsibilities and must 
not victimise Officers for discharging these responsibilities. 

 
Expectations 
 
2.6.1 Shadow Members can expect the following from Officers: 
 
 

(a) A commitment to the Shadow Authority as a whole, and not to any political group. 
 

Page 217



G:1526636v2   

(b) A working partnership. 
 

(c) An understanding by Officers that all Shadow Members have the same rights and 
obligations in their relationship with Officers and will be treated equally. 

 
(d) An understanding of and support for respective roles, workloads and pressures. 

 
(d) Timely response to enquiries and complaints. 

 
(e) Professional advice, not influenced by political views or preference. 

 
(f) Regular, up-to-date information on matters that can reasonably be considered 

appropriate and relevant to their needs, having regard to any individual 
responsibilities that they have and positions that they hold. 

 
(g) Awareness of and sensitivity and confidentiality in the political environment. 

 
(h) Respect, dignity and courtesy. 

 
(i) Training and development in order to carry out their role effectively. 

 
(j) Integrity, mutual support and appropriate confidentiality. 

 
(k) That Officers will not use their relationship with Shadow Members to advance their 

personal interests or to influence decisions improperly. 
 

(l) That Officers will at all times comply with the relevant Code of Conduct. 
 

(m) Not to be the subject of bullying or to be put under undue pressure. 
 
2.6.2 Officers can expect the following from Shadow Members: 
 
 
 

(a) A working partnership. 
 

(b) An understanding of and support for respective roles, workloads and pressures (and 
in this regard Shadow Members are encouraged to make prior appointments to 
see Officers). 

 
(c) Political leadership and direction. 

 
(d) Respect, dignity and courtesy. 

 
(e) Respect for their professional advice. 

 
(f) Integrity, mutual support and appropriate confidentiality. 

 
(g) Not to be the subject of bullying or to be put under undue pressure. 

 
(h) That regard will be had by Shadow Members to the seniority of Officers in 

determining the reasonableness of requests and that Shadow Members will 
be mindful of the potential vulnerability of Officers at junior levels. 

Page 218



G:1526636v2   

 
(i) That Shadow Members will be aware that Officers cannot respond to personal 

criticism in the same way that Shadow Members can and that Shadow Members 
will make their comments accordingly, and will avoid intimidating Officers. 

 
(j) That Shadow Members will not use their position or relationship with Officers to  

advance  their  personal  interests  or  those  of  others,  or  to  influence decisions 
improperly. 

 
(k) That Shadow Members will at all times comply with the Westmorland and Furness 
Shadow Members’ Code of Conduct. 

 
Limitations upon Behaviour 
 
2.7.1 The  distinct roles  of  Shadow Members  and  Officers  necessarily impose  limitations 

upon behaviour. By way of illustration, and not as an exclusive list: 
 
 

(a) Close personal familiarity between Shadow Members and Officers can confuse 
these separate roles.  It can get in the way of the proper discharge of the Shadow 
Authority’s functions, not least in creating the perception in others that a particular 
Shadow Member or Officer may secure advantageous treatment.   It can also prove 
embarrassing to other Shadow Members and Officers. 

 
(b) The need to maintain the separate roles means that there are limits to the 
matters on which Shadow Members may seek the advice of Officers, both in relation to 
personal matters and party political issues. 

 
(c) Relationships with a particular individual or party group should not be such as to 
create public suspicion that an Officer favours that Shadow Member or group above 
others. The issue of Officer advice to party political groups is specifically covered below. 

 
Executive Arrangements 
 
3.1 The Shadow Authority has established a Shadow Executive which is the 

Shadow Authority's principal decision-making body. 
 
3.2 Certain points must be clearly understood by Officers and Shadow Members: 
 

(a) The Shadow Executive is the decision making body within the policy framework 
and budget set by the Shadow Authority. 

 
(b) The Shadow Executive takes most but not all the decisions. Some decisions are still 

taken by other committees or the Shadow Authority itself or by Officers. 
 

(c) Meetings of the Shadow Executive are open to the public, except where 
confidential matters are to be discussed. Minutes of meetings will be available for 
public inspection. 

 
3.3 The Shadow Authority has also established a Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

to scrutinise the work of the Shadow Executive  Committee.  Officers  and Shadow 
Members must recognise, when giving information and advice to the Shadow Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, that Officers are responsible to the Shadow Authority as a whole. 

Page 219



G:1526636v2   

 
Officer advice to Party Groups 

 
4.1 There is statutory recognition of party groups.   In accordance with common practice, 

such  groups  may  give  preliminary  consideration  to  matters  of  Shadow  Authority 
business  in  advance  of  such  matters  being  considered  by  the  relevant  Shadow 
Authority decision-making body.  Officers may properly be called upon to support such 
deliberations by party groups. 

 
4.2 The support provided by Officers can take many forms, ranging from a briefing meeting 

with a Chairperson or Spokesperson prior to a Committee meeting, to a presentation to a 
full party group meeting.  Whilst in practice such Officer support is likely to be in most 
demand from whichever party group is for the time being in control of the Shadow 
Authority, such support is available to all party groups. 

 
4.3 Certain points must however be clearly understood by all those participating in this 

type of process, Shadow Members and Officers alike.  In particular: 
 

(a) Officer support in these circumstances must not extend beyond providing information 
and advice in relation to matters of Shadow Authority business. Officers must not 
be involved in advising on matters of party business. The observance of this 
distinction will be assisted if Officers are not expected to be present at meetings, or 
parts of meetings, when matters of party business are to be discussed. 

 
(b) Although party group meetings may form part of the preliminaries to Shadow 

Authority decision making, they are not empowered to make decisions on behalf 
of  the  Shadow  Authority. Conclusions reached  at  such  meetings  do  not 
thereafter rank as Shadow Authority decisions and it is essential that they are not 
interpreted or acted upon as such. 

 
(c) Similarly, where Officers provide information and advice to a party group meeting in  

relation to a matter of  Shadow Authority  business, this cannot act as  a substitute 
for providing all necessary information and advice to the relevant Shadow Authority 
meeting, Committee or Sub-Committee when the matter in question is considered. 

 
4.4 Special care needs to be exercised whenever Officers are involved in providing information 

and advice to a party group meeting which includes persons who are not members of 
the Shadow Authority.  Such persons will not be bound by the Code of Conduct for Shadow 
Members (in particular, the provisions concerning the declaration of interests and 
confidentiality).  For this and other reasons Officers may not be able to provide the same 
level of information and advice as they would to a Shadow Members only meeting. 

 
4.5 If there are individuals present at a party group meeting (see 4.4 above) who are not 

members of the shadow authority and are not therefore bound by this code, the meeting 
organiser shall make clear to the Officer(s) concerned. 

 

 
4.6 Officers must respect the confidentiality of any  party group discussions at which they are 

present in the sense that they should not relay the content of any such discussion to 
another party group or anyone outside that group. 

 
4.7 Any particular cases of difficulty or uncertainty concerning Officer support to party 

groups, should be raised with the Chief Executive who will discuss the matter with the 
relevant group leader(s). 

 
 

Page 220



G:1526636v2   

Shadow Members' access to information and to Shadow Authority documents 
 
5.1 Shadow Members are free to approach any officer of the Shadow Authority to provide 

them with such information, explanation and advice as they may reasonably need in order 
to assist them in discharging their role as members of the Shadow Authority. This can 
range from a request for general information about some aspect of the work of the 
Shadow Authority to a request for specific information on behalf of a constituent. Such 
approaches should be directed to the relevant Chief Officer or Head of Service in the first 
instance. . 

 
5.2 As  regards the legal rights of Shadow Members  to  inspect  Shadow  Authority 
documents, these are covered partly by statute and partly by the common law. 
 

5.3  Shadow Members have a statutory right to inspect any Shadow Authority document which 
contains material relating to any business which is to be transacted at a Shadow Authority, 
Committee or Sub-committee meeting. 

 
This right applies irrespective of whether the Shadow Member is a member of the 
Committee or Sub-Committee concerned and extends not only to reports which are to 
be submitted to the meeting, but also to any relevant background papers. 

 
This right does not however apply to documents relating to certain items which may appear 
on the private agenda for meetings.   The type of information that would be contained 
within a private meeting agenda would for example be exempt information, such   as   
information   relating   to   employees,   contract   and   industrial   relations negotiations, 
legal advice and criminal investigations. 

 
5.4  The common law right of Shadow Members is much broader and is based on the 

principle that any Shadow Member has a prima facie right to inspect Shadow Authority 
documents so far as access to the documents is reasonably necessary to enable the 
Shadow  Member  properly  to  perform  their  duties  as  a  member  of  the  Shadow 
Authority. This principle is commonly referred to as the "need to know" principle. 

 
5.5 The exercise of this common law right depends therefore upon the Shadow Member’s 

ability to demonstrate that they have the necessary "need to know".  In this respect a 
Shadow Member has no right to "a roving commission" to go and examine documents of 
the Shadow Authority.   Mere curiosity is not sufficient. The crucial question is the 
determination of the “need to know".  This question must initially be determined by the 
relevant Chief Officer with advice from Monitoring Officer.  In the event of a dispute, the 
question falls to be determined by the Chief Executive, having consulted with an 
Independent Person appointed pursuant to the Localism Act. 

 
5.6 In  most  circumstances  (e.g.  a  Committee  member  wishing  to  inspect  documents 

relating to the functions of that Committee) a Shadow Member's "need to know" will 
normally be presumed. In other circumstances (e.g. a member wishing to inspect 
documents which contain personal information about third parties) a Shadow Member will 
normally be expected to justify the request in specific terms. 

 
5.7 Whilst the term "Shadow Authority document" is very broad and includes, for example, 

any document produced with Shadow Authority resources, it is accepted by convention 
that a member of one party group will not have a "need to know", and therefore a right 

Page 221



G:1526636v2   

to  inspect,  a  document  which  forms  part  of  the  internal  workings  of  another  party 
group. This does not apply to documents in draft. 

 
5.8  Further and more detailed  advice regarding Shadow Members' rights to  inspect 

Shadow Authority documents may be obtained from the Monitoring Officer. 
 
5.9 Finally, any Shadow Authority information provided to a Shadow Member must only be 

used  by  the  Shadow  Member  for  the  purpose  for  which  it  was  provided  i.e.  in 
connection with the proper performance of the Shadow Member’s duties as a member 
of the Shadow Authority. 

 
Officer/Chairperson/Member of the Shadow Executive Relationships 
 
6.1 It is clearly important that there should be a close working relationship  between Members 

of the Shadow Executive, Chairs of Committees, and relevant senior Officers. However, 
such Shadow Members must still respect the impartiality of Officers and such relationships 
should never be allowed to become so close, or appear to be so close, as to bring into 
question the Officers' ability to deal impartially with other Shadow Members and other party 
groups. 

 
6.2 Whilst the Leader, Chair of a Committee (or Sub-Committee) or a Shadow Executive 

Member will routinely be consulted as part of the process of drawing up the agenda for a 
forthcoming meeting, it must be recognised that in some situations statutory Chief Officers 
and other senior Officers will be under a duty to submit a report on a particular matter.   An 
Officer will always be fully responsible for the contents of any report submitted in his/her 
name.   Any issues arising between a Chair or a Cabinet Member and an Officer in this 
area should be referred to the Chief Executive for resolution. 

 
6.3 Finally, it must be remembered that Officers are accountable to their Chief Officer and 

that whilst Officers should always seek to assist a Chair or a Shadow Executive Member 
(or indeed any Shadow Member), they must not, in so doing, go beyond the bounds of 
whatever authority they have been given by their Chief Officer or in the case of Officers 
exercising delegated powers, the Shadow Authority. 

 
Correspondence 
 
7.1 Correspondence between an individual Shadow Member and an Officer should not 

normally be copied (by the Officer) to any other Shadow Member.  Where exceptionally 
it is necessary to copy the correspondence to another Shadow Member, this should be 
made clear to the original Shadow Member. In other words, a system of "silent copies" 
should not be employed. 

 
7.2 Official letters on behalf of the Shadow Authority should normally be sent out in the 

name of the appropriate Officer, rather than in the name of a Shadow Member.  It may 
be appropriate in certain circumstances (e.g. representations to a Government Minister or 
where a specific delegation applies) for a letter to be sent in the name of a Shadow 
Member, but this should be the exception rather than the norm. Letters which, for example,  
create obligations  or give  instructions on  behalf  of  the  Shadow Authority should not 
normally be sent out in the name of a Shadow Member. 

 
 
 

Page 222



G:1526636v2   

Public Relations 
 
8.1 Both Officers and Shadow Members should follow the Code of Recommended Practice on 

Local Authority Publicity particularly when issuing press releases.

Page 223



G:1526636v2   

 

Code and Protocol 
 
Politically Restricted Posts - Westmorland and Furness Shadow Authority 
 
The main provisions regarding Politically Restricted Posts are set out in Part 1 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989.  Further details were set out in the Local Government 
(Political Restrictions) Regulations 1990. 
 
The effect of including a local authority employee on the list of “politically restricted posts” is to  
prevent  that  individual  from  having  any  active  political  role  either  in  or  outside  the 
workplace.   Politically restricted employees will automatically be disqualified from standing 
for  or  holding  elected  office  and  these  restrictions  are  incorporated  as  terms  in  the 
employee’s contract of employment. 
 
Employees are also restricted from:- 
 

  Canvassing on behalf of a political party or a  person who is or seeks to be a 
candidate; and 

  Speaking to the public at large or publishing any written or artistic work that 
could give the impression that they are advocating support for a political party. 

 
The cumulative effect of these restrictions is to limit the holders of Politically Restricted Posts to 
bare membership of political parties, with no active participation within the party permitted. 
 
Each local authority is under a duty to draw-up and regularly update a list of those posts 
which are politically restricted. 
 
The Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 modified the previous 
scheme. 
 
With effect from 12 January 2010 politically restricted posts fall into two broad categories: 
specified posts and “sensitive” posts. 
 
Specified posts 
 
Specified posts include:- 
 

  The Head of Paid Service 
  The statutory chief officers 
  Non-statutory chief officers (officers reporting to the Head of Paid Service 

excluding secretarial/clerical support staff) 
  The Monitoring Officer 
  Officers exercising delegated powers i.e. persons whose posts are for the time 

being specified by the authority in a list maintained in accordance with 
s.100G(2) of the Local Government Act 1972 

  Assistants to political groups 
 
All of the above-mentioned posts are politically restricted without rights of appeal for 
exemption to the local authority’s Standards Committee.

Page 224



G:1526636v2   

 
 
“Sensitive” posts 

 
A sensitive post is one which meets one or both of the following duties-related criteria:- 

 
  Giving advice on a regular basis to the authority itself, to any committee or 

sub- committee of the authority or to any joint committee on which the authority is 
represented; and 

  Speaking on behalf of the authority on a regular basis to journalists or 
broadcasters. 

 
These postholders can appeal to the local Standards Committee to be exempted from the 
list, on the grounds that the authority has wrongly applied the criteria. 

 
The right of appeal to  the local Standards Committee was introduced under the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007. 
 

Appeal Process 
 
Employees included on the list compiled by the local authority on duties-related grounds 
(“sensitive” posts) can appeal against their inclusion, if they feel that they cannot influence policy, 
or that the local authority has incorrectly applied the duties-related criteria. 
 
All such appeals require a letter from the applicant formally seeking exemption and a full job 
description of the post. 
 
The letter should be submitted to the authority’s local Monitoring Officer (or his/her Deputy) 
with a copy lodged with the authority’s Human Resources Service. 
 
The local Monitoring Officer (or their Deputy) will ensure that the appeal is tabled at a special 
meeting of a Panel of 3 Standards Committee members; membership of the Panel shall be drawn 
from the full or substitute membership of the local Standards Committee. 
 
The applicant shall have the right to address the Panel when they are determining the appeal 
and submit any written testimony or evidence ahead of the meeting.   Any written documentation 
must be provided to the local Monitoring Officer at least 5 working days prior to the Panel 
meeting for distribution to Panel members. 
 
The Panel shall determine the appeal.  The outcome of the appeal shall be communicated in 
writing to the applicant within 5 working days of the determination. 
 
If the appeal is unsuccessful the applicant may not lodge a further appeal within a period of 
12 calendar months unless their substantive job description has been amended significantly in 
the interim. 
 
If the appeal is successful the authority shall immediately remove the post from the designated 
“sensitive” post list.  The authority may not re-instate the post on the list unless there is a 
significant amendment to the substantive job description of the post.

Page 225



G:1526636v2   

 
 
 
 

Part 6 – Members’ Allowances Scheme 
 
 
 
 

TO BE INCLUDED

Page 226



G:1526636v2   

 
 
 

Part 7 – Glossary 
  

Articles The basic rules governing the Shadow 
Authority’s business, which cannot be 
suspended.  

 

Budget/ Budget framework  The framework developed by the Shadow 
Authority which identifies all the financial 
resources allocated to different services and 
projects for /Westmorland and Furness 
Council.  

 

The agreed budget levels for each year from 
1 April 2023 form a framework for 
expenditure which until 1 April 2023 only the 
Shadow Authority can alter and from 1 April 
2023 only the Council of Westmorland and 
Furness Council can alter. 

 

Call-in A mechanism, which allows Overview &  

Scrutiny Committees to examine, and 
challenge, an Executive decision before it is 
implemented. 

Chief Finance Officer The officer responsible for the administration 
of the financial affairs of the Shadow 
Authority in accordance with section 151 of 
the Local Government Act 1972. This 
applies to both the interim and permanent 
appointments to the role. 

 

Chief Officers The officers appointed to the roles of Head 
of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer and 
Monitoring Officer on an interim and 
permanent basis. 

Committee/Sub-Committee A group of members appointed by the 
Shadow Authority to undertake tasks 
allocated to it under the articles  

of this constitution or by direct instruction of  

the Shadow Authority. Decisions are taken 
collectively by majority present at a meeting. 

Page 227



G:1526636v2   

Confidential Information Information either given to the Shadow 
Authority on terms which forbid its public  

disclosure or which cannot be publicly 
disclosed by Court Order. 

Constitution The document setting out how the Shadow 
Authority operates, how decisions are made 
and all the procedures that have to be 
followed. 

Co-optee/Co-opted A non-voting, non-Councillor appointed to 
serve on a Committee/Sub-Committee in an 
advisory capacity. 

Councillors/Members 

 

A person elected by their local community to  

represent them. Each Councillor represents 
a ward from the fourth day after the elections 
to the Shadow Authority on 5 May 2022 until 
the fourth day after the elections to 
Westmorland and Furness Council in 2027. 

Council The collective term for all councillors who are 
members of the Shadow Authority. 

Executive Term used to describe the collective role of 
the Leader,  & those individual  Members 
appointed by  the Leader who together carry 
out those functions which are not reserved to 
the Shadow Authority.  

 

Exempt Information Information falling into a category set out in 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 
1972 which usually cannot be  

publicly disclosed – see the Access to  

Information Procedure Rules. 

Forward Plan A schedule of all the Key Decisions the 
Shadow Executive expects to take over the 
next four months. 

Governance The collective terms used to describe the 
process of continuous monitoring of the 
implementation of policies and practices that 
ensure the good management of the 
Council. 

Head of Paid Service The  officer designated as head of paid 
service in accordance with section 4 of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989; 
also known as the Chief Executive.  This 

Page 228



G:1526636v2   

applies to both the interim and permanent 
appointments to the role. 

Key Decision A decision by the Shadow Executive or 
Shadow Executive Member, which is likely 
either to incur significant expenditure/make 
significant savings or to have a significant 
impact on local communities. 

Leader A Councillor that is elected by the Shadow 
Authority as leader of the Authority and who 
will chair the Shadow Executive 

Main Office The address of the main office of the 
Shadow Authority as stated on the Shadow 
Authority’s website 

Monitoring Officer The officer designated as monitoring officer 
in accordance with section 5 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989.  This 
applies to both the interim and permanent 
appointments to the role. 

Officer Any officer of Allerdale Borough Council, 
Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council, 
Carlisle City Council, Copeland Borough 
Council, Eden District Council, South 
Lakeland District Council or Cumbria County 
Council 

Overview & Scrutiny A committee of Members, appointed by the 
Shadow Authority, which has responsibility 
for providing support and advice to the 
Shadow Executive by contributing to the 
review and development of policy; and 
holding the Shadow Executive to account by 
questioning, challenging and monitoring 
their performance. 

Policy Framework The plans and strategies, which have to be 
adopted by the Shadow Authority and in 
accordance with which the Shadow 
Executive has to operate. 

Portfolio/Portfolio Holder Pursuant to delegations from the Leader: 

 

A group of functions for which a member of 
the Shadow Executive has responsibility for  

decision making and affecting use of 
Shadow Authority resources. 

 

A member of the Shadow Executive who has 
collective and individual decision making 

Page 229



G:1526636v2   

powers for a number of Council services and 
sections. 

Procedure Rules Detailed rules, which govern how the 
Shadow Authority operates and how 
decisions are taken. 

Proper Officer An Officer appointed to undertake a statutory 
function, can be a different person for each 
function. Often the Chief Executive or 
Monitoring Officer. 

Quorum The minimum number of people who have to 
be present before a meeting can take place. 

Senior Appointments Panel A committee of the Shadow Authority with 
responsibility for recommending to the 
Shadow Authority suitable candidates for 
appointment to identified senior posts. 

Shadow Executive Portfolio-holding Members of the Shadow 
Authority, including the Leader, who are 
responsible for carrying out almost all of the 
local authority’s functions.  

Standards Committee A Committee responsible for promoting and 
maintaining high standards of conduct by 
Councillors and considers written allegations 
that a Councillor has failed to comply with 
their Code of Conduct.  

Virement Moving funds from one area of expenditure 
to another. 

 

Page 230



Westmorland and Furness Shadow Authority 
Meeting 

17 May 2022 
Interim Statutory Roles 

 
Report from:  Nicola Houwayek 

Report Author:  LGR Technical Lead, OD&HR Workstream 

Wards:   All wards 
Key Decision:   No  

1.0 Purpose/Summary of report 

1.1 Process and appointment of the Interim Statutory Officers to the 
Westmorland and Furness Shadow Authority. 

1.2 The Structural Change Order requires that at the first meeting of the 
Shadow Authority, Members designate interim statutory officers for 
the shadow period to the roles of: 

  Interim Head of Paid Service 
  Interim Monitoring Officer 
  Interim Chief Finance Officer 

1.3 At its meeting on 29 March 2022 the Westmorland and Furness Joint 
Committee agreed the process and principles for the appointments 
process to these roles and subsequently carried out a recruitment 
exercise which has resulted in recommendations to the Shadow 
Authority.  This report outlines the process that has been undertaken 
and the recommended candidates.  

2.0 Recommendation 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Shadow Authority:- 

 (1) Approves the designation of the nominated interim 
statutory officers with immediate effect; namely: 

  Interim Head of Paid Service – Sam Plum, Chief 
Executive Barrow Borough Council 

  Interim Monitoring Officer – Linda Fisher, Legal, 
Governance & Democracy Lead Specialist/Monitoring 
Officer, South Lakeland District Council 

  Interim Chief Finance Officer - Helen Smith, Finance 
Lead Specialist (s151 Officer), South Lakeland District 
Council 

Page 231

Agenda Item 8



3.0 Background and Proposals 
 
3.1 On 29 March 2022, the Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee 

received a report from the LGR Technical Lead for the OD&HR 
Workstream regarding the designation of the interim statutory officers 
for the Shadow period to 1 April 2023. 

3.2 The report referenced the requirement, as stated in the Structural 
Change Order, that at the first meeting of the Shadow Authority, 
Members designate interim statutory officers for the shadow period, to 
the roles of: 

  Interim Head of Paid Service 
  Interim Monitoring Officer 
  Interim Chief Finance Officer 

3.3 The Structural Change Order also specifies that these interim roles be 
assigned to officers of the County Council or one of the District Councils 
in the area of Westmorland and Furness. 

3.4 On 29 March, the Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee agreed 
the appointments process for the Interim Statutory Officers and that 
nominated members of the Joint Committee would act as panel 
members for the interviews, making a recommendation for nominated 
candidates to the third meeting of the Joint Committee on 10 May 
2022. 

3.5 This report sets out the process that was undertaken for the Shadow 
Authority to meet the requirements of the Structural Change Order to 
designate interim statutory officers.  This includes: 

  Defining the roles in the context of the Shadow Authority 
  Developing objective selection criteria 
  Designing a proportionate selection process, recognising that 

these are interim roles 

3.6 Interviews for the three roles took place between 20 – 22 April 2022. 

3.7 The substantive roles will be subject to a separate recruitment process, 
the first of which is the Chief Executive post, which will commence as 
soon as the Shadow Authority is in place. 

3.8 As required by the Structural Change Order, interim statutory roles for 
the Shadow Authority will be taken up by existing officers of the 
Westmorland and Furness area councils. Once designated, the 
individuals will continue to operate in their substantive posts, and it is 
envisaged that the amount of time needed for their interim 
responsibilities will vary throughout the duration of the programme. 

 

Page 232



3.9 The Structural Change Order references specific legislation and 
indicative responsibilities for each statutory role.  These have been 
developed into detailed role profiles and person specs, as set out in 
Appendix 1 to this report. 

3.10 The roles will be in operation from the establishment of the Shadow 
Authority to 1 April 2023 or until a person to perform those functions 
on a permanent basis is appointed and takes up that appointment.  The 
duration of individual interim roles will potentially be longer in the case 
of the Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer than Head of Paid 
Service. 

3.11 It was made clear that these time limited roles are different from their 
substantive equivalents in the new council and that it should therefore 
not be assumed that any individual selected for an interim post will 
automatically be successful should they also apply for the substantive 
role. 

3.12 It was agreed by the Joint Committee to widen the field of selection, 
so that the opportunities were open to all officers of the relevant 
Councils who have the required experience, skills and qualifications. 

3.13 A proportionate selection process was designed, recognising that these 
are interim roles of limited duration.  The process consisted of: 

  Expressions of interest submitted where applicants were asked 
which of the roles they wished to be considered for and answering 
the following questions: 

o Why are you applying and what can you bring to the role(s)? 
o How will you balance the demands of the interim role with 

your substantive role to ensure that you successfully 
contribute to both the formation of the new council and 
ensure business as usual within your existing authority? 

  Panel interviews were set-up with membership consisting of the 4 
nominated representatives of the Joint Committee, assisted by 
Sharon Senior of NW Employers and Nicola Houwayek, LGR 
Technical Lead for the OD&HR Workstream.  At the panel 
interview, candidates were also asked to give a presentation. 

3.14 The panel agreed their nominated candidates which, at the time of 
writing this report, were to be presented to the Joint Committee at its 
meeting of 10 May to be agreed as the nominated candidates to put 
before the Shadow Authority. 

 3.15 The candidates nominated by the representative panel members are 
as follows: 

  Interim Head of Paid Service – Sam Plum, Chief Executive 
Barrow Borough Council 

Page 233



  Interim Monitoring Officer – Linda Fisher, Legal, Governance & 
Democracy Lead Specialist/Monitoring Officer, South Lakeland 
District Council 

  Interim Chief Finance Officer - Helen Smith, Finance Lead 
Specialist (s151 Officer), South Lakeland District Council 

 4.0 Consultation 

4.1 No consultation was required in the production of this report. 

5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1 Members could designate an alternative officer who has not been 
recommended by the Joint Committee to any of the interim roles. This 
is not advised as there would be human resources implications and it 
would not be in line with the process adopted for selection.  

6.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

6.1 None at this stage 

Human Resources 

6.2 As the designated responsibilities of these roles are in addition to those 
of the nominated candidates’ substantive positions, arrangements will 
be made to ensure that the responsibilities of both roles can be fulfilled 
through delegation and backfill as required within the relevant 
sovereign council. 

Legal 

6.3 The Westmorland and Furness Shadow Authority is required to 
designate the statutory responsibilities of the roles against these 
interim statutory roles in order to meet the requirements outlined in 
The Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022 

6.4 The Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022 requires that at its first 
meeting, the Shadow Authority for Westmorland and Furness must 
designate on an interim basis an officer to be responsible for 
performing the duties of each of the statutory roles listed in this report. 

6.5 The officer designated to perform the duties must be an officer of the 
Councils that form the Westmorland and Furness Shadow Authority. 

6.6 A fair process has been followed to ensure selection of the nominated 
candidates for appointment in accordance with legal requirements. 

Page 234



Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment 

6.9 Have you completed a Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment? 
No    

6.10 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain 
your reasons: There are no direct health and sustainability issues 
relating to this report. 

Equality and Diversity  

6.11 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No   

6.12 If you have not completed an Impact Analysis, please explain your 
reasons: There are no direct Equality and Diversity issues relating to 
this report. 

Contact Officers 

Nicola Houwayek, LGR Technical Lead OD&HR Workstream, 07904 977600, 
Nicola@HRODSolutions.onmicrosoft.com 

Appendices Attached to this Report 
 
Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Role Descriptions 

 
Background Documents Available 
 

Name of Background 
document 

 

Reports and minutes of the 
Joint Committee meetings of 
29 March and 10 May. 

Westmorland & Furness, Joint Committee 
Papers 

 

  

Page 235

https://councilportal.cumbria.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=1277
https://councilportal.cumbria.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=1277


Appendix 1 

Interim Head of Paid Service 

Job Description 

Purpose 

To ensure the smooth continuance and delivery of the LGR Programme for the 
Westmorland & Furness Council area, enabling the successful transition to the new 
Council. 

Key Responsibilities 

1. Accountable for the delivery of the LGR Programme in Westmorland & Furness 
area, sitting on the LGR Programme Board. 

2.  Lead and manage the Westmorland & Furness Shadow Management Team 
including the Interim Chief Finance Officer, Interim Monitoring Officer. 

3. Lead the development and delivery of the Implementation Plan for the 
Westmorland & Furness Council area, liaising with the County Council and 
other Shadow Authority to ensure continuity of the delivery of public services on 
and after 1 April 2023. 

4. Build effective working relationships with Elected Members and senior officers 
within the constituent authorities and national policy makers. 
 

5. Exert influence at the most senior levels across the constituent authorities when 
necessary to overcome potential barriers/issues to ensure the delivery of the 
Programme.  
 

6. Represent the Programme in the Westmorland & Furness area through a 
visible presence and be responsible for regular and appropriate 
communications to constituent authorities, Government, Local MP’s and the 
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities and Local Government 
regarding the Programme’s progress. 
 

7. Establish options for potential operating models for the new Westmorland & 
Furness Council in consultation with the constituent authorities. 
 

8. Where he or she considers it appropriate, prepare a report to the Shadow 
Authority setting out his or her proposal for: 
 

  The manner in which the discharge by the Shadow Authorities of their 
different functions is coordinated 

  The number and grades of staff required for the discharge of these 
functions 

  Organisation of the Shadow Authority’s staff 
  Appointment and proper management of the Shadow Authority’s staff 

 

Page 236



9. Where, during the shadow period, a casual vacancy occurs in the office of 
councillor for Westmorland & Furness area and an election is required to be 
held in accordance with section 89 of the 1972 Act, to be the returning officer in 
accordance with article 21(12)(c) of the Cumbria Structural Change Order 
2022.  The Head of Paid Service can appoint one or more deputies to 
discharge any or all of the functions of the Returning Officer. 

Person Specification 

Qualifications 

• A degree or relevant professional qualification.  
• Evidence of work related continuing managerial and professional 

development. 

Specialist Knowledge & Experience 

• Substantial leadership and managerial experience and skills gained at a 
senior level, including contributing to the corporate management of an 
organisation. 

• Track record of promoting, leading and managing change. 
• Substantial experience of successfully working with Elected or Board 

Members on complex issues, and the ability to work productively and 
closely with Members and provide clear advice on policy options. 

• A successful track record in corporate performance management and 
participation in the formulation of corporate objectives, policies and 
strategies within a large multi-disciplined organisation with comparable 
scope, responsibilities, budgets and resources. 

• Track record of operating strategically on corporate projects and policy 
development. 

• The ability to think creatively and innovatively in developing, 
recommending and leading strategic initiatives and policies to assist in 
the achievement of organisational goals  

• The ability to work corporately and manage resources effectively in a 
complex environment, including the ability to interpret and understand 
complex financial and budgetary information, and to negotiate and 
influence to direct resources  

• Demonstrable experience of partnership working, including the ability to 
influence and lead corporate and multi-agency projects and initiatives 
effectively. 

• Demonstrable experience of taking difficult or contentious decisions and 
the ability to constructively manage conflict  

• In-depth knowledge and understanding of the statutory, policy, strategic 
and service delivery framework in which local government operates, and 
the major issues facing local government. 

• Experience of influencing Government Departments and Ministers. 
 
 

Page 237



Personal Attributes 

• A high degree of political awareness and sensitivity and commitment to 
working closely with all councillors, local organisations and communities 

• Highly developed diplomatic skills, particularly in motivating, negotiating 
and persuading others outside the span of control, including partner 
organisations  

• Actively promotes the need for change and acts as a role model for 
change. 

• Positive, committed, adaptable, robust and confident approach. 
• Ability to work under pressure and to motivate others to work quickly, 

without undue stress, and demonstrate a duty of care. 
• Innovative and creative approach to change. 
• Personal integrity. 
• Drive and self-motivation – “can do” attitude. 
• Sound judgement in devising and evaluating options and dealing with 

complex issues. 

  

Page 238



Interim Monitoring Officer 

Job Description 

Purpose 

As a member of the Westmorland and Furness Shadow Management Team, being 
responsible for the Monitoring Officer responsibilities in Westmorland and Furness 
area. 

Key Responsibilities 

Take overall accountability for the probity of the Shadow Authority by carrying out the 
statutory responsibilities as Monitoring Officer, the duties imposed by: 

  Subsections (2) and (3) of the section 5 (designation and reports of 
monitoring officer) of the 1989 Act; and 

  Subsections (2) and (5) of section 5A of the 1989 Act (reports of 
monitoring officer – local authorities operating executive arrangements); 

 and as follows: 

(a) Decision-making:  Ensures all decisions taken by members and officers 
are lawful. 

(b) The Constitution:  Responsibility for the design, implementation and 
maintenance of the Council’s Constitution including the Full Council 
Procedural Rules, the schemes of delegation/scrutiny/ and partnership 
arrangements - in accordance with the requirements of the members, 
ensuring legal requirements are met. 

(c) Proper Officer for access to information:  Ensures that member decisions 
(and officer decisions where required), together with the reasons for 
those decisions (as required) and relevant Officer reports and 
background papers are properly recorded and made publicly available 
as soon as possible and retained for public access in accordance with 
legislative requirements. 

(d) Provides high level advice and guidance to the Shadow Executive 
Committee and Westmorland and Furness Shadow Management Team 
on the scope of powers and authority to take decisions, 
maladministration, financial impropriety (in conjunction with the Interim 
Section 151 Officer), standards and probity and Budget and Policy 
Framework issues. 

10. Responsible for ensuring the appropriate administration of advice to meetings of 
the Shadow Authority, including the Executive. 

 

11. Provides ‘trouble shooting’ expertise to the Shadow Executive Committee and 
Westmorland and Furness Shadow Management Team as necessary where 
expert knowledge and sound interpretation of democratic processes, statutory 

Page 239



guidance and/or Constitution of the Council is vital to the resolution of 
issues/problems. 
 

12. Lead Officer for the management of the Shadow Authority’s Strategic Risk 
Register, its operational risk registers and ensuring that action to mitigate risk is 
taken across all services. 
 

13. Lead officer for ensuring that appropriate impact assessments in support of 
decision-making are prepared and published ensuring that all statutory 
requirements are met.  
 

Person Specification 

Qualifications 

• Relevant degree or professional qualification.  
• Evidence of work related continuing managerial and professional 

development. 

Specialist Knowledge & Experience 

• Extensive experience of providing strategic legal advice to a large and 
diverse organisation. 

• A successful track record in corporate performance management and 
participation in the formulation of corporate objectives, policies and 
strategies within a large multi-disciplined organisation with comparable 
scope, responsibilities, budgets and resources. 

• Substantial leadership and managerial experience and skills gained at a 
senior level, including contributing to the corporate management of an 
organisation. 

• Track record of promoting, leading and managing change. 
• Significant experience of successfully working with Elected or Board 

Members on complex issues, and the ability to work productively and 
closely with Members and provide clear advice on policy options. 

• Track record of operating strategically on corporate projects and policy 
development. 

• Demonstrable experience of partnership working, including the ability to 
influence and lead corporate and multi-agency projects and initiatives 
effectively. 

• In-depth knowledge and understanding of the statutory, policy, strategic 
and service delivery framework in which local government operates, and 
the major issues facing local government. 

Personal Attributes 

• Actively promotes the need for change and acts as a role model for 
change. 

• Positive, committed, adaptable, robust and confident approach. 

Page 240



• Ability to work under pressure and to motivate others to work quickly, 
without undue stress, and demonstrate a duty of care. 

• Innovative and creative approach to change. 
• Personal integrity. 
• Drive and self-motivation – “can do” attitude. 
• Sound judgement in devising and evaluating options and dealing with 

complex issues. 

  

Page 241



Interim Chief Finance Officer 

Job Description 

Purpose 

As a member of the Westmorland and Furness Shadow Management Team, being 
responsible for the budget in Westmorland and Furness area, and for developing and 
delivering the financial aspects of the Implementation Plan for Westmorland and 
Furness area, establishing proper arrangements for the administration of the new 
Council’s financial affairs. 

Key Responsibilities 

1. Take overall accountability for the financial probity of the Shadow Authority by 
carrying out the statutory responsibilities under S151 of the Local Government 
Act for the proper conduct of the Authority’s financial activities. 
 

2. Provide the Shadow Executive Committee and Westmorland and Furness 
Shadow Management Team with robust strategic financial analysis and advice 
on the effective allocation of resources. 
 

3. Ensure the establishment of the new Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan 
and Annual Budget for 2023/24. 
 

4. Ensure that appropriate financial standards and processes for the new Council 
are in place and operational through the development of the following: 
 
• The Medium-Term Financial Planning and Budget Setting Process 
• Financial Regulations and Procedures 
• Contract Management Framework 
• Procurement Strategy 
• Risk Management Strategy 
• Treasury Management Strategy 
• Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy 
• Money Laundering Policy 
• The Budget Management Framework 
• Annual Audit Plan 
• Debt Management Strategy 
• Council Tax Benefit Scheme 
• Business Rate Scheme 
• Capital Strategy 
• Corporate Debt Policy 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 242



Person Specification 

Qualifications 

• Relevant degree or professional qualification.  
• Evidence of work related continuing managerial and professional 

development. 
• Membership of a recognised accountancy body specified in s.113 of the 

Local Government Finance Act 1988.  

Specialist Knowledge & Experience 

• Extensive experience of managing, setting and monitoring budgets and 
financial management information, including developing and using 
management information. 

• A successful track record in corporate performance management and 
participation in the formulation of corporate objectives, policies and 
strategies within a large multi-disciplined organisation with comparable 
scope, responsibilities, budgets and resources. 

• Substantial leadership and managerial experience and skills gained at a 
senior level, including contributing to the corporate management of an 
organisation. 

• Track record of promoting, leading and managing change. 
• Significant experience of successfully working with Elected or Board 

Members on complex issues, and the ability to work productively and 
closely with Members and provide clear advice on policy options. 

• Track record of operating strategically on corporate projects and policy 
development. 

• Demonstrable experience of partnership working, including the ability to 
influence and lead corporate and multi-agency projects and initiatives 
effectively. 

• Understanding of Government Accounting with a demonstrable level of 
commercial acumen. 

• Knowledge of effective and innovative financial planning and controls 
across a diverse organisation. 

• In-depth knowledge and understanding of the statutory, policy, strategic 
and service delivery framework in which local government operates, and 
the major issues facing local government. 

Personal Attributes 

• Actively promotes the need for change and acts as a role model for 
change. 

• Positive, committed, adaptable, robust and confident approach. 
• Ability to work under pressure and to motivate others to work quickly, 

without undue stress, and demonstrate a duty of care. 
• Innovative and creative approach to change. 
• Personal integrity. 

Page 243



• Drive and self-motivation – “can do” attitude. 
• Sound judgement in devising and evaluating options and dealing with 

complex issues. 

Page 244



Westmorland and Furness Shadow Authority 
Meeting 

17 May 2022 

Political Balance, and Allocation of Committee 
Places 

Report from: Linda Fisher, Technical Lead Legal and Democratic  
   Workstream and Monitoring Officer (South Lakeland  
   District Council) 

Report Author: Debbie Storr, Monitoring Officer (Barrow Borough  
   Council) 

Wards:  All 
Key Decision:  N 

1.0 Purpose/Summary of report 

1.1 This report provides the political balance information following 
elections on 5 May 2022, and invites the Shadow Authority to agree 
the allocation of committee places between the political groups in 
accordance with the political balance requirements of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Council:- 

(1) note the political balance of the Council, as set out in 
Appendix 1; and 

(2) notes the creation of a Leader and Cabinet Executive 
within the meaning of Part 1A of the Local Government 
Act 2000(s) arrangements with respect to local 
authority governance ("the shadow executive"); 

(3) agrees the allocation of places on committees between 
the political groups in accordance with the political 
balance requirements of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989, as set out at paragraph 3.11 and 
Appendix 2; and 

(4) receive nominations of councillors to serve on each 
committee (details to be circulated at the meeting) and 
agree to the appointment of Members to the Council’s 
committees as set out in Appendix 3.   

 
 

Page 245

Agenda Item 12



 
3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 The Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022 ("the 2022 Order") 
provided for the establishment of a single tier of local government in 
Cumbria.  Westmorland and Furness Council is one of two new 
Councils which will be established on 1 April 2023.  The new councils 
to which elections were held on 5 May 2022 will operate as "Shadow 
Authorities" until 1 April 2023. This report provides an update of the 
makeup of the Council following the elections and seeks to agree 
allocation of committee places in accordance with the political balance 
requirements. 

3.2 Following the elections held on 5 May 2022, details of the political 
balance of the Council and political membership of the Council are as 
shown in Appendix 1. 

3.3 The responsibility for Council functions delegated to each committee 
and the size of each committee is set out in Part 3 of the Council's 
Constitution if adopted earlier at this meeting.  Copies of the 
Constitution have been made available to all members prior to this 
meeting and will be made available on the Council's website. 

3.4 Under the 2022 Order the Shadow Authority at its first meeting must 
create a leader and cabinet executive ("the shadow executive within 
the meaning of Part 1A of the Local Government Act 2000). Adoption 
of the Constitution will establish the leader and cabinet executive. 
Items elsewhere on this agenda will deal with the election of the 
Leader and receive names of the Executive Members. 

3.5 In addition, the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 ("the 1989 
Act") and its associated regulations, requires the Shadow Authority 
at its first meeting, or as soon as practicable afterwards following any 
changes to its political makeup, to review the representation of 
political groups and determine the allocation of seats (i.e. 
proportionality) to committees. 

3.6 The 1989 Act states that when carrying out calculations to apply 
political balance to committees, only those elected members who are 
members of political groups are to be counted. However, Council can 
determine whether it wishes to allocate a seat(s) to a member not 
part of a political group on such committees as Council deems 
necessary by passing a resolution with no- Members voting against 
it. 

3.7 The composition of the political groups is as show in Appendix 1. 

3.8 The following principles must be applied in allocating committee 
places, in order of priority; 

Page 246



3.8.1 that not all seats on all committees are allocated to the 
 same political group; 

3.8.2 That the majority of seats on all committees are allocated 
to the political group that has a majority of the Shadow 
Authority's membership or otherwise reflects the make-
up of the Shadow Authority; 

3.8.3 That subject to 3.8.1 and 3.8.2 above, the number of 
seats for all main committees which are allocated to each 
political group bears the same proportion to the total of 
all the seats on the main committees as is borne by the 
number of members of that group to the membership of 
the Shadow Authority; and 

3.8.4 Subject to 3.8.3 the number of seats on the individual 
committees allocated to each political group bears the 
same proportion to the number of seats of that 
committee as is borne by the number of members of that 
group to the membership of the Authority. 

3.9 Subject to adoption of the Constitution there are 26 allocated 
Committee places which must be allocated as shown in Appendix 2. 
(NB constitutional requirement that no member of the Shadow 
Executive may be a member of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, and at least one member of the Senior Appointments 
Committee should be a Shadow Executive member). 

3.10 The allocation of seats for the recognised groups is shown in appendix 
2 which will be circulated prior to the meeting.  

3.11 The proposed allocation of places on the committees will be circulated 
prior to the meeting. 

4.0 Consultation 

4.1 The leaders of the political groups are in the process of being 
consulted and have been asked for nominations in relation to 
committee places where applicable. 

5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1 The Council is required to give consideration to the allocation of 
committee places, etc. 

6.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

6.1 There are no financial, resource or procurement implications arising 
as a result of this report.  

Page 247



Human Resources 

6.2 There are no additional staffing implications arising as a result of this 
report. 

Legal 

6.3 The report and its recommendations have regard to the relevant 
legislation and constitutional requirements.  

Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment 

6.4 Have you completed a Health and Sustainability Impact 
Assessment? No - there are no health, or sustainability impacts 
arising as a result of this report. 

Equality and Diversity 

6.5 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No it is 
considered that the recommendations will have a neutral effect on 
equality and diversity. 

 

Risk Management Consequence Controls required 

Committees not properly 
constituted 

Challenge to decision 
making process 

Review constitutional 
makeup 

Constitution not up to date Challenge to decision 
making process 

Failure to comply with 
relevant legislation 

Ensure review and 
make any necessary 
changes 

Contact Officers 

Linda Fisher, Monitoring Officer and Technical Lead Legal and Democratic 
Work Stream (South Lakeland District Council) 

7.0 Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix 
No. 

Name of Appendix 

1 Political Make up and membership of the Council (will be 
available on 6 May) 

2 Allocation of Committee Places (to follow) 

3 Committee membership list (to follow) 

 
 
 

Page 248



 
Background Documents Available 

Name of Background 
document 

Where it is available 

Constitution  As attached to agenda 

Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1
989/42 

Localism Act 2011 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/201
1/20/contents/enacted 

Page 249



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

FULL LIST OF WESTMORLAND AND FURNESS COUNCILLORS 
 
Conservatives 

 Name 
1 Colin Atkinson 
2 Matt Brereton 
3 Hilary Carrick 
4 Ben Cooper 
5 Phil Dew 
6 Daniel Edwards 
7 Les Hall 
8 Helen Irving 
9 Niyall Phillips 
10 Ben Shirley 
11 Roy Worthington 

         

Total no. of Conservative members (11) 

Labour 

 Name 
1 Therese Assouad 
2 Trevor Biggins 
3 Derek Brook  
4 Anne Burns 
5 Tony Callister 
6 Frank Cassidy 
7 Andy Coles 
8 Jackie Drake 
9 Kevin Hamilton 
10 Michael Hanley 
11 Anita Husband 
12 Bill McEwan 
13 Beverley Morgan 
14 Jane Murphy  
15 Margaret Ann Thomson 

       

Total no. of Labour members (15)  

Liberal Democrats 

 Name 
1 Giles Archibald 
2 Rupert Audland 
3 Lorna Baker 
4 Janet Battye 
5 Stephen Bavin 
6 Patricia Bell 
7 Jenny Boak 

Page 251



8 Jonathan Brook 
9 Helen Chaffey 
10 Will Clark 
11 Andy Connell 
12 Jonathan Cornthwaite 
13 Judith Derbyshire 
14 Philip Dixon 
15 Peter Endsor 
16 Shirley Evans 
17 Michael Eyles 
18 Eamonn Hennessy 
19 Hazel Hodgson 
20 Neil Hughes 
21 Vicky Hughes 
22 Ali Jama 
23 Andrew Jarvis 
24 Dyan Jones 
25 Helen Ladhams 
26 Neil McCall 
27 Ian Mitchell 
28 John Murray 
29 Suzanne Pender 
30 Douglas Frederick Rathbone 
31 Mark Rudhall 
32 Sue Sanderson 
33 Matthew Severn 
34 Graham Simpkins 
35 Virginia Taylor 
36 Peter Thornton 

Total no. of Lib Democrat members (36) 

Independents 

 Name 
 Mary Robinson 
 David Taylor 

      

Total no. of Independent members (2) 

Green Party 

 Name 
 Judy Filmore 

         

Total no. of Green Party members (1) 

 
TOTAL MEMBERS – 65

Page 252



Westmorland and Furness Shadow Authority 
Meeting 

17 May 2022 

Calendar of Meetings 2022-2023 
 
Report from: Linda Fisher - Technical Lead, Legal and Democratic 

Workstream and Monitoring Officer (South Lakeland 
District Council) 

Report Author: Debbie Storr (Monitoring Officer Barrow Borough 
Council) 

Wards:  All Wards 
Key Decision:  N 

1.0 Purpose/Summary of report 
 
1.1 The Cumbria Democratic Services Officer’s (DSO) Group have been 

tasked with identifying suitable dates for meetings of the Shadow 
Authority from May 2022 – April 2023 that will not clash with other 
Committee meetings from Sovereign Authorities in the Westmorland 
and Furness locality or meetings of the Cumberland Shadow Authority 
or Executive.  The attached schedule was considered by the 
Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee on 29 March 2022 and is 
recommended to the Shadow Authority for adoption. 

 
2.0 Recommendation 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Shadow Authority for 

Westmorland and Furness :- 

(1) agree the attached Schedule of Meetings for 2022/2023 
for the Shadow Authority for Westmorland and Furness; 

(2) agree the start time for subsequent Shadow Authority 
for Westmorland and Furness meetings as 10.00 a.m. 
(dates of 1 August 2022, 17 October 2022 and February 
2023); 

(3) agree that, where practicable, the meetings are rotated 
across the area; and 

(4) note that additional meetings may be called as 
required. 

 

Page 253

Agenda Item 13



3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 Attached is a calendar which identifies potential dates for meetings 
of the Shadow Authority where no Committee meetings are 
scheduled for either Barrow Borough Council, Cumbria County 
Council, Eden District Council or South Lakeland District Council, 
along with proposed dates set out to hold meetings of the Shadow 
Authority. 

 
3.2 It is considered good practice that all meetings for a particular 

Shadow Authority Committee are on a set day, wherever possible.  
 
3.3 It is proposed that the Shadow Executive meet, wherever possible, 

on a Friday and the Shadow Overview and Scrutiny Committee on a 
Wednesday. However, there will be instances when this is not 
possible due to clashes with sovereign council meetings. 

3.4 Where practicable meetings will be rotated across the area and it is 
proposed that the first Shadow Executive be held in Barrow. The table 
at Appendix 2 identifies provisional venues for the dates provided. 

 
4.0 Consultation 
 
4.1 The Westmorland Furness Joint Committee considered the schedule 

at its meeting on 29 March 2022 and has recommended the schedule 
to the Shadow Authority for adoption. 

 
4.2 Following that meeting, a request was received to move the February 

2023 budget meeting back from 16 to 22 February 2023 to take 
account of the PCC budget setting meeting which is scheduled for 16 
February. The Chair and Vice-Chair of the Joint Committee were 
consulted on this and are comfortable with the amendment being 
incorporated into the attached schedule. 

 
5.0 Alternative Options 
 
5.1 The Shadow Authority could suggest alternatives dates for meetings, 

and also alternative start times. 
 
6.0 Implications 
 
Financial, Resources and Procurement 
 
6.1 Where costs are incurred by the Shadow Authorities in delivering and 

hosting these meetings they can be funded from the LGR 
Implementation Reserve. The process to approve funding from the 
LGR Implementation reserve is determined by a Memorandum of 
Understanding (MoU) agreed by all seven sovereign authorities and 

Page 254



the County Council Finance Regulations as the County Council is the 
hosting authority for the Reserve. 

 
Human Resources 
 
6.2 The Meetings will be supported from within existing teams across 

the Westmorland and Furness councils. 
 

Legal 
 
6.3 There are no legal issues to raise in this report. 
 
Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment 
 
6.4 Have you completed a Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment? 

Yes (attached at Appendix *)   No - There are no issues to raise. 
 
Equality and Diversity.  
 
6.5 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis?  No – there are no 

direct equality and diversity implications associated with this report. 
 

Risk Management Consequence Controls required 
The schedule of meetings 
is not agreed 

Business of the 
Shadow Authority for 
Westmorland and 
Furness would be 
unable to be 
conducted. 

The risks would be 
mitigated by agreeing 
the schedule of 
meetings, additional 
potential dates have 
been identified in the 
appendix to this 
report. 

 
Contact Officers 
 
Linda Fisher – Monitoring Officer and Technical Lead Legal and Democratic 
Work Stream (South Lakeland District Council) 
 
7.0 Appendices Attached to this Report 
 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Appendix 1 – Calendar of Shadow Authority Meetings 
2022-2023 

2 Table of potential venues 

Page 255



 
Background Documents Available 
 

Name of Background 
document 

Where it is available 

Report to Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee 29 March 2022 

Page 256



SHADOW AUTHORITY FOR WESTMORLAND AND FURNESS COUNCIL – Proposed Calendar of Meetings               Appendix 1

1 

 
May                                       2022 
          
Sunday 1 
          
Monday 2 – Public Holiday 
          
Tuesday 3 
          
Wednesday 4 
          
Thursday 5 
          
Friday 6 
          
Saturday 7 
          
Sunday 8 
          
Monday 9 
          
Tuesday 10 
          
Wednesday 11 
          
Thursday 12 
          
Friday 13 
          
Saturday 14 
          
Sunday 15 
          
Monday 16 
          
 
 
 

 
          
Tuesday 17 
Shadow Authority – 2.30pm, County Hall, Busher Walk, Kendal,  
          
Wednesday 18 
          
Thursday 19 
          
Friday 20 
          
Saturday 21 
          
Sunday 22 
          
Monday 23  
          
Tuesday 24  
          
Wednesday 25 
          
Thursday 26 
          
Friday 27 
           
Saturday 28 
          
Sunday 29 
          
Monday 30       (School Holidays) 
Senior Appointments Committee (Time and Venue TBC) 
          
Tuesday 31      (School Holidays) 
Standards Committee (Time and Venue TBC) 
 

P
age 257



SHADOW AUTHORITY FOR WESTMORLAND AND FURNESS COUNCIL – Proposed Calendar of Meetings               Appendix 1

2 

 
June                                       2022    
          
Wednesday 1      (School Holiday) 
          
Thursday 2 - Public Holiday   (School Holiday) 
          
Friday 3 - Public Holiday    (School Holiday) 
          
Saturday 4 
          
Sunday 5 
          
Monday 6 
          
Tuesday 7 
          
Wednesday 8  
          
Thursday 9  
          
Friday 10 
Shadow Executive (Time and Venue TBC) 
          
Saturday 11 
          
Sunday 12 
          
Monday 13 
          
Tuesday 14 
          
Wednesday 15 
Shadow Scrutiny Committee (Time and Venue TBC) 
          
 
 
          

Thursday 16 
          
Friday 17  
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Saturday 18 
          
Sunday 19 
          
Monday 20 
          
Tuesday 21 
          
Wednesday 22 
          
Thursday 23  
          
Friday 24 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Saturday 25  
          
Sunday 26 
          
Monday 27 
          
Tuesday 28 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Wednesday 29  
          
Thursday 30  
          
 

P
age 258



SHADOW AUTHORITY FOR WESTMORLAND AND FURNESS COUNCIL – Proposed Calendar of Meetings               Appendix 1

3 

 
July                                       2022 
          
Friday 1 
          
Saturday 2 
          
Sunday 3 
          
Monday 4 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Tuesday 5 
          
Wednesday 6 
          
Thursday 7   
          
Friday 8 
          
Saturday 9 
          
Sunday 10 
          
Monday 11  
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Tuesday 12 
                              
Wednesday 13 
          
Thursday 14 
          
Friday 15 
          
Saturday 16 
          
 

Sunday 17 
          
Monday 18 
          
Tuesday 19 
          
Wednesday 20 
          
Thursday 21      (School Holiday) 
          
Friday 22      (School Holiday) 
Shadow Executive (Time and Venue TBC) 
          
Saturday 23 
          
Sunday 24 
          
Monday 25      (School Holiday) 
          
Tuesday 26      (School Holiday) 
          
Wednesday 27     (School Holiday) 
          
Thursday 28      (School Holiday) 
          
Friday 29      (School Holiday) 
          
Saturday 30 
          
Sunday 31 
 

P
age 259



SHADOW AUTHORITY FOR WESTMORLAND AND FURNESS COUNCIL – Proposed Calendar of Meetings               Appendix 1

4 

 
August                                     2022 
         
Monday 1      (School Holiday)  
Shadow Authority (Time and Venue TBC) 
          
Tuesday 2      (School Holiday) 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
 
          
Wednesday 3      (School Holiday) 
          
Thursday 4      (School Holiday) 
          
Friday 5      (School Holiday) 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
      __________________ 
Saturday 6 
          
Sunday 7 
          
Monday 8      (School Holiday) 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Tuesday 9      (School Holiday) 
          
Wednesday 10     (School Holiday) 
Shadow Scrutiny Committee (Time and Venue TBC)  
          
Thursday 11      (School Holiday) 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Friday 12      (School Holiday) 
Shadow Executive (Time and Venue TBC) 
          
Saturday 13 
          
Sunday 14 

          
Monday 15      (School Holiday) 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Tuesday 16      (School Holiday) 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Wednesday 17     (School Holiday)  
          
Thursday 18      (School Holiday) 
          
Friday 19       (School Holiday) 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Saturday 20 
          
Sunday 21 
          
Monday 22       (School Holiday) 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Tuesday 23      (School Holiday) 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Wednesday 24     (School Holiday) 
          
Thursday 25      (School Holiday) 
          
Friday 26      (School Holiday) 
          
Saturday 27 
          
Sunday 28 
          
Monday 29 - Public Holiday 
          
 
 

P
age 260



SHADOW AUTHORITY FOR WESTMORLAND AND FURNESS COUNCIL – Proposed Calendar of Meetings               Appendix 1

5 

 
 
Tuesday 30      (School Holiday) 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Wednesday 31      (School Holiday) 
          
 

P
age 261



SHADOW AUTHORITY FOR WESTMORLAND AND FURNESS COUNCIL – Proposed Calendar of Meetings               Appendix 1

6 

 
September                                     2022 
          
Thursday 1       (School Holiday) 
          
Friday 2       (School Holiday) 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Saturday 3 
          
Sunday 4 
          
Monday 5       (School Holiday) 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Tuesday 6       (School Holiday) 
                                  
Wednesday 7  
          
Thursday 8 
          
Friday 9 
          
Saturday 10 
          
Sunday 11 
          
Monday 12 
Shadow Executive (Time and Venue TBC)   
          
Tuesday 13 
          
Wednesday 14 
          
Thursday 15 
          
Friday 16 
          

Saturday 17 
          
Sunday 18 
          
Monday 19 
          
Tuesday 20 
          
Wednesday 21 
Shadow Scrutiny Committee (Time and Venue TBC) 
           
Thursday 22 
          
Friday 23  
          
Saturday 24 
          
Sunday 25 
                                                         
Monday 26 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Tuesday 27  
          
Wednesday 28 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Thursday 29  
          
Friday 30 
          
 
 
 

P
age 262



SHADOW AUTHORITY FOR WESTMORLAND AND FURNESS COUNCIL – Proposed Calendar of Meetings               Appendix 1

7 

 
October                                  2022 
          
Saturday 1 
          
Sunday 2 
          
Monday 3 
          
Tuesday 4 
          
Wednesday 5 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Thursday 6 
          
Friday 7 
Shadow Executive (Time and Venue TBC)  
          
Saturday 8 
          
Sunday 9 
          
Monday 10 
          
Tuesday 11 
          
Wednesday 12  
          
Thursday 13 
          
Friday 14 
          
Saturday 15 
          
Sunday 16 
          
 

 
 
Monday 17 
Shadow Authority (Time and Venue TBC) 
          
Tuesday 18 
          
Wednesday 19  
          
Thursday 20 
          
Friday 21 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Saturday 22 
          
Sunday 23 
          
Monday 24       (School Holiday) 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Tuesday 25      (School Holiday)  
          
Wednesday 26      (School Holiday) 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Thursday 27      (School Holiday) 
          
Friday 28       (School Holiday) 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Saturday 29 
          
Sunday 30 
          
Monday 31 
          
 

P
age 263



SHADOW AUTHORITY FOR WESTMORLAND AND FURNESS COUNCIL – Proposed Calendar of Meetings               Appendix 1

8 

 
November                                 2022 
 
Tuesday 1 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Wednesday 2 
          
Thursday 3  
          
Friday 4 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Saturday 5 
          
Sunday 6 
          
Monday 7  
          
Tuesday 8 
          
Wednesday 9  
          
Thursday 10  
          
Friday 11 
Shadow Executive (Time and Venue TBC)  
          
Saturday 12 
          
Sunday 13 
          
Monday 14 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Tuesday 15  
          
 

 
Wednesday 16 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
         
Thursday 17 
          
Friday 18 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Saturday 19 
          
Sunday 20 
          
Monday 21 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Tuesday 22  
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Wednesday 23 
Shadow Scrutiny Committee (Time and Venue TBC)  
          
Thursday 24 
          
Friday 25 
          
Saturday 26 
          
Sunday 27 
          
Monday 28  
          
Tuesday 29 
          
Wednesday 30 
           
 

P
age 264



SHADOW AUTHORITY FOR WESTMORLAND AND FURNESS COUNCIL – Proposed Calendar of Meetings               Appendix 1

9 

 
December                                 2022 
          
Thursday 1 
          
Friday 2 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Saturday 3 
          
Sunday 4 
          
Monday 5 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
 
          
Tuesday 6 
          
Wednesday 7 
          
Thursday 8 
          
Friday 9 
Shadow Executive (Time and Venue TBC) 
                                  
Saturday 10 
          
Sunday 11 
          
Monday 12 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Tuesday 13 
          
Wednesday 14 
          
Thursday 15 
          

Friday 16 
 
 
          
Saturday 17 
          
Sunday 18 
          
Monday 19 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Tuesday 20 
          
Wednesday 21      (School Holiday) 
          
Thursday 22       (School Holiday) 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Friday 23        (School Holiday) 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Saturday 24 
          
Sunday 25 – Christmas Day 
          
Monday 26 Public Holiday – Boxing Day   (School Holiday) 
          
Tuesday 27 Public Holiday     (School Holiday) 
          
Wednesday 28     (School Holiday) 
          
Thursday 29       (School Holiday) 
          
Friday 30      (School Holiday) 
          
Saturday 31  
 

P
age 265



SHADOW AUTHORITY FOR WESTMORLAND AND FURNESS COUNCIL – Proposed Calendar of Meetings               Appendix 1

10 

 
January                                 2023 
          
Sunday 1 – New Years Day                                     (School Holiday) 
          
Monday 2 – Public Holiday     (School Holiday) 
          
Tuesday 3      (School Holiday) 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Wednesday 4  
          
Thursday 5 
          
Friday 6 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Saturday 7 
          
Sunday 8 
          
Monday 9 
          
Tuesday 10 
          
Wednesday 11 
          
Thursday 12 
           
Friday 13 
Shadow Executive (Time and Venue TBC)  
          
Saturday 14 
          
Sunday 15 
          
Monday 16  
          

 
 
          
Tuesday 17 
      ____________  
Wednesday 18 
          
Thursday 19  
           
Friday 20 
          
Saturday 21 
          
Sunday 22 
          
Monday 23 
Shadow Scrutiny Committee (Time and Venue TBC) 
          
Tuesday 24 
          
Wednesday 25  
          
Thursday 26 
          
Friday 27 
          
Saturday 28 
          
Sunday 29 
          
Monday 30 
          
Tuesday 31  
          
 
 

P
age 266



SHADOW AUTHORITY FOR WESTMORLAND AND FURNESS COUNCIL – Proposed Calendar of Meetings               Appendix 1

11 

 
February                                 2023 
          
Wednesday 1 
          
Thursday 2 
          
Friday 3 
          
Saturday 4 
          
Sunday 5 
          
Monday 6 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Tuesday 7 
          
Wednesday 8  
          
Thursday 9  
          
Friday 10 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Saturday 11 
          
Sunday 12 
          
Monday 13 
          
Tuesday 14 
          
Wednesday 15 
Shadow Authority (Time and Venue TBC) 
          
Thursday 16 
          

 
 
          
Friday 17 
Shadow Executive (Time and Venue TBC) 
          
Saturday 18 
          
Sunday 19 
          
Monday 20       (School Holiday) 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Tuesday 21      (School Holiday) 
          
Wednesday 22     (School Holiday) 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Thursday 23      (School Holiday) 
          
Friday 24      (School Holiday) 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Saturday 25 
          
Sunday 26 
          
Monday 27 
          
Tuesday 28 
          
 
 
 

P
age 267



SHADOW AUTHORITY FOR WESTMORLAND AND FURNESS COUNCIL – Proposed Calendar of Meetings               Appendix 1

12 

 
March                                2023 
          
Wednesday 1  
          
Thursday 2 
          
Friday 3  
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Saturday 4 
          
Sunday 5 
          
Monday 6 
           
Tuesday 7 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Wednesday 8 
          
Thursday 9  
          
Friday 10 
          
Saturday 11 
          
Sunday 12 
          
Monday 13 
          
Tuesday 14    
          
Wednesday 15 
Shadow Scrutiny Committee (Time and Venue TBC) 
          
 
 

 
Thursday 16  
          
Friday 17  
          
Saturday 18 
          
Sunday 19 
          
Monday 20 
Shadow Executive (Time and Venue TBC) 
          
Tuesday 21 
          
Wednesday 22  
           
Thursday 23 
          
Friday 24 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Saturday 25 
          
Sunday 26 
          
Monday 27 
          
Tuesday 28 
          
Wednesday 29  
          
Thursday 30 
          
Friday 31  
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
 
 

P
age 268



SHADOW AUTHORITY FOR WESTMORLAND AND FURNESS COUNCIL – Proposed Calendar of Meetings               Appendix 1

13 

 
April                               2023 
          
Saturday 1 
           
Sunday 2 
          
Monday 3       (School Holiday) 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
         
Tuesday 4       (School Holiday)  
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Wednesday 5      (School Holiday) 
          
Thursday 6       (School Holiday) 
          
Friday 7 – Public Holiday Good Friday   (School Holiday) 
          
Saturday 8 
          
Sunday 9 
          
Monday 10 – Public Holiday Easter Monday 
(School Holiday) 
          
Tuesday 11       (School Holiday) 
          
Wednesday 12      (School Holiday) 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Thursday 13       (School Holiday) 
          
Friday 14       (School Holiday) 
Shadow Executive (Time and Venue TBC)  
          
Saturday 15 
          

 
 
          
Sunday 16 
          
Monday 17  
          
Tuesday 18 
          
Wednesday 19 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Thursday 20  
          
Friday 21 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Saturday 22 
          
Sunday 23 
                                                
Monday 24 
          
Tuesday 25 
           
Wednesday 26 
Shadow Scrutiny Committee (Time and Venue TBC)  
          
Thursday 27 
          
Friday 28 
Potential Date for Shadow Meetings, if required 
          
Saturday 29 
          
Sunday 30 
          

P
age 269



T
his page is intentionally left blank



PROVISIONAL MEETING VENUES FOR WESTMORLAND AND FURNESS 
SHADOW AUTHORITY MEETINGS 2022 – 2023                                      
Appendix 2 

DATE Venue 

SHADOW AUTHORITY MEETINGS  

17 May 2022 County Hall Kendal 

1 August 2022 County Hall Kendal 

17 October 2022 County Hall Kendal 

22 February 2023 County Hall Kendal  

SHADOW EXECUTIVE MEETINGS (CABINET)  

10 June 2022 Barrow Town Hall 

22 July 2022 Penrith Town Hall 

12 August 2022 Kendal Town Hall 

12 September 2022 County Hall, Kendal 

7 October 2022 Barrow Town Hall  

11 November 2022  Penrith Town Hall 

9 December 2022 County Hall Kendal 

13 January 2023 Kendal Town Hall 

17 February 2023 Barrow Town Hall  

20 March 2023 Penrith Town Hall  

14 April 2023 Kendal Town Hall  

SENIOR APPOINTMENTS COMMITTEE  

30 May 2022 County Hall, Kendal 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE (if required)  

31 May 2022 Barrow Town Hall 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MEETINGS   

15 June 2022 Penrith Town Hall  

10 August 2022 County Hall Kendal 

21 September 2022 Kendal Town Hall 

23 November 2022 Penrith Town Hall  

23 January 2023 Barrow Town Hall  

15 March 2023 Penrith Town Hall  

26 April 2023 Kendal Town Hall 

Page 271



This page is intentionally left blank



Westmorland and Furness Shadow Authority 
Meeting 

17 May 2022 

Implementation Team 
 
Report from:  LGR Programme Director 

Report Author:  Kim Rennie, LGR Programme Director 

Wards:   All 
Key Decision:   N 

 

1.0 Purpose/Summary of report 
 

1.1 This report informs Members about the Implementation Team that 
has been put in place to support the Local Government Re-
organisation process. Another report on the agenda provides related 
information regarding the Implementation Plan and programme 
governance arrangements that have been developed by officers of 
the County Council, the Cumberland Councils and the Westmorland 
and Furness Councils, to ensure a smooth transition to the new 
unitary Councils for Cumberland and Westmorland and Furness on 
Vesting Day, 1 April 2023. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that the Shadow Authority: - 
 

(1) Notes the Implementation Team arrangements that 
are in place to support the LGR Programme. 

 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 In July 2021 the Secretary of State announced his decision, subject 
to Parliamentary approval, to implement a two unitary pattern of 
Local Government in Cumbria based on an East-West geography.  
The Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022 gives effect to that 
decision and came into force on 18 March 2022. 

 

Page 273

Agenda Item 14



3.2 Article 23 and Article 26 of the Order refer to the establishment of 
two Joint Committees, and the establishment of a single team of 
officers (“the Implementation Team”) for the purposes of assisting: 

(i) the relevant Joint Committee in the discharge of its functions; 
and 

(ii) if, after the dissolution of the relevant Joint Committee, the 
relevant Shadow Authority so requires, that Shadow 
Authority. 

3.3 The members of the Implementation Team are to be officers of the 
sovereign Councils, and there is a duty placed on sovereign Councils 
within the Order to co-operate in the formation of the Implementation 
Team, and to release the officers concerned from their normal duties 
to assist in the work as reasonably required by Joint Committees or 
Shadow Authorities, as well as a general duty to consult and co-
operate with one another and the Shadow Authorities, (Article 26 
(5)). 

3.4  Since the announcement in July, prior to the Joint Committees being 
stood up, and during their period of operation, preparations have 
continued to enable the smooth operation of the two new Councils 
from Vesting Day. The work undertaken to date, and the work 
required to ensure successful transition to two new unitary councils 
on 1 April 2023, is outlined in the Implementation Plan report 
elsewhere on this agenda. 

3.5 A diagram illustrating the officer programme governance that has 
been established to deliver the LGR Programme is set out at Appendix 
1 of this report.  Work to move to the two new Councils has been 
organised into six thematic areas: People; Place; Corporate/Enabling 
Services; ICT; Customer and Digital, and Finance. Each theme is 
overseen by a Board chaired by a Chief Executive/Senior Officer of 
one of the sovereign Councils and supported by a series of 
Workstream/Technical leads who co-ordinate working groups 
involving subject matter experts from each of the Councils. 

3.6 The design and delivery of the LGR Programme is overseen by a Chief 
Executive/senior officer Board (“the Implementation Team”), chaired 
by the Senior Responsible Officer(s).  LGR Programme Board 
membership includes all Chief Executives of the sovereign 
authorities, the Interim/Permanent Heads of Paid Service for the two 
Shadow Authorities (on appointment), the Chairs of the thematic 
groups (where these are not Chief Executives); the Programme 
Finance Lead (and Section 151 Officer); and the Programme Director. 
In summary, the membership of the LGR Programme Board is 
currently: 

Page 274



o John Metcalfe, Chief Executive, Cumbria County Council 
(SRO) 

o Sam Plum, Chief Executive, Barrow Borough Council (SRO -
Westmorland and Furness Councils) 

o Andrew Seekings, Chief Executive, Allerdale Borough Council 
(SRO -Cumberland Councils) 

o John Readman, Executive Director, Cumbria County Council 
(Chair of the People Board) 

o Pat Graham, Chief Executive, Copeland Borough Council 
(Chair of the Place Theme Board) 

o Lawrence Conway, Chief Executive, South Lakeland District 
Council (Chair of the Corporate/Enabling Services Theme 
Board) 

o Jason Gooding, Chief Executive, Carlisle City Council (Chair 
of the ICT Theme Board) 

o Dawn Roberts, Executive Director – Corporate, Customer and 
Community Services, Cumbria County Council (Chair of the 
Customer and Digital Theme Board) 

o Ian Frost, Interim Chief Executive, Eden District Council 
(Chair of the Finance Theme Board) 

o Pam Duke, Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer), Cumbria 
County Council (Programme Finance Lead) 

o Kim Rennie, Programme Director   

3.7 The LGR Programme Board, as the Implementation Team are 
supported in this role by the Programme Management Team and 
Programme Management Office that has been established, (currently 
totalling circa 30 staff), together with the officers of all seven 
sovereign Councils involved in the arrangements described above and 
supplemented by the capacity available via the Strategic Partner 
arrangement with KPMG where appropriate. 

3.8 In terms of the SRO arrangements, the programme has operated a 
three-way joint SRO approach since December 2021 which has 
served the programme well.  For continuity in the remaining phases 
of the programme, this arrangement will be extended, with the 
leadership role being discharged by the three SROs continuing to 
work together.  On the appointment of the two Interim Heads of Paid 
Service, (the subject of a report elsewhere on the agenda), they 
would assume the area-based SRO roles, to be replaced in these roles 
by the permanent Heads of Paid Service on appointment later this 
year. 

3.9 For Members’ information, the Westmorland and Furness Joint 
Committee has met on three occasions, considering a report on the 
Implementation Team at its first meeting.  The Joint Committee 
agreed the Implementation Team arrangements.  (The minute of that 

Page 275



meeting is attached at Appendix 2 of this report for Members’ 
reference).   

3.10  With the dissolution of the Joint Committees, (the day following that 
on which the Shadow Authorities for each area holds its first 
meeting), the Shadow Authorities then assume responsibility for 
keeping the Implementation Plan that has been prepared under 
review and revised as necessary, and for preparing the authorities for 
taking on of the full range of local government functions and full local 
authority powers on 1 April 2023, liaising with the county council and 
the other shadow authority, and the sovereign authorities in their 
areas to ensure continuity of services. 

3.11 The Implementation Team arrangements set out in this report have 
been designed to assist the Shadow Authorities in delivering their 
responsibilities, effectively and efficiently, however should a Shadow 
Authority choose to do so it could make alternative arrangements, 
noting the implications. 

4.0 Consultation 

4.1 The contents of this report respond to a Statutory Instrument which 
was the subject of consultation by the Government. 

5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1  The contents of this report respond to a statutory instrument, and 
whilst there is a choice about Implementation Team arrangements, 
the approach described is considered the most effective, efficient, 
and fitting to local circumstances. 

6.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

6.1 A single LGR implementation Reserve of £18.920m has been 
established through contributions from all District Councils (£1.577m 
each) and the County Council (£9.460m) and it is being hosted by 
the County Council. 

6.2 The purpose of the Reserve is to fund capacity within the LGR 
Programme to ensure the two new unitary authorities can provide 
safe and legal services from 1 April 2023, and to develop the future 
structure of the two new authorities’ services. This will include 
funding the cost of existing council staff across all partners who are 
seconded into the programme, recruitment of additional external 
capacity and the procurement of consultant or specialist support. 

 

Page 276



6.3 Where staff within the Implementation Team/support arrangements 
are formally seconded or transferred to the programme their costs 
will be funded from the LGR Implementation Reserve. This includes 
any staff recruited directly into the Implementation Team/support 
arrangements. Where formal secondment or transfer is not in place 
then sovereign Councils will continue to fund the staff costs of 
individuals in the Implementation Team as part of the duty to co-
operate. 

Human Resources 

6.4 There are no direct implications associated with this report. 

Legal 

6.5 Article 26 of The Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022. The Joint 
Committee is required not later than 21 days after the coming into 
force of The Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022 to form a 
single Implementation Team. This is to assist the Joint Committee in 
the discharge of its functions set out in Articles 22, 24, 25 and 26. 
The Implementation Team may continue to assist the Shadow 
Authority if the Shadow Authority so requires.  

6.6 The requirements of the Order are as follows: 

  The members of the Implementation Team must comprise officers 
from the County Council, the Cumberland councils and the 
Westmorland and Furness councils. 

  The Implementation Team must appoint a member of that Team 
to be the Leader of that Team. 

  The Deputy Leaders of the Implementation Team are to be an 
officer of one of the Cumberland Councils and the Westmorland 
and Furness Councils. 

6.7 All Councils must co-operate in the formation of the Implementation 
Team, and release the officers concerned from their normal duties at 
such times or for such periods as the relevant Joint Committee or the 
relevant shadow authority may reasonably require. 

Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment 

6.8 Have you completed a Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment? 
No   

6.9 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain 
your reasons: There are no direct implications associated with this 
report. 

Page 277



Equality and Diversity.  

6.10 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis?  No    

6.11 If you have not completed an Impact Analysis, please explain your 
reasons: There are no direct implications associated with this report.   

Risk Management Consequence Controls required 

There is a need for a co-
ordinated approach to 
delivering the transition 
to two new sustainable 
unitary Councils, in an 
effective and efficient 
manner 

Failure to deliver 
statutory and key 
services on vesting 
day 

The Implementation 
team and officer 
support 
arrangements 
described in this 
report assist in 
mitigating this risk 

 
Contact Officers 

Kim Rennie, LGR Programme Director, kim.rennie@carlisle.gov.uk, 
tel:07880728536. 

Appendices Attached to this Report 
 
Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 

2 

Programme Governance 

Minute of Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee -
29.3.22 

 
Background Documents Available 
 

Name of Background 
document 

Where it is available 

The Cumbria (Structural 
Changes) Order 2022 

The Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022 
(legislation.gov.uk) 

  

Page 278

mailto:kim.rennie@carlisle.gov.uk
tel:07880728536
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2022/9780348231359/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2022/9780348231359/contents


Appendix 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 

W&F/9 FORMATION OF THE IMPLEMENTATION TEAM 
 
The Programme Director presented a report informing the Joint Committee 
about “the Implementation Team,” a single team of officers as required by 
Article 26 of the Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022 (SCO). 
 
The members of the Implementation Team were to be officers of the 
sovereign Councils, with the members of that Team appointing a leader of 
the Team, and the deputy leaders of the Implementation Team being an 
officer of one of the Cumberland Councils and an officer of one of the 
Westmorland and Furness Councils. There was a duty placed within the 
Order on sovereign Councils to co-operate in the formation of the 
Implementation Team and to release the officers concerned from their 
normal duties to assist in the work as reasonably required by Joint 
Committees or Shadow Authorities, as well as a general duty to consult and 
co-operate with one another and the Shadow Authorities. 
 
Since the announcement in July 2021, and prior to this Joint Committee 
having been stood up, preparations had commenced to enable the smooth 
operation of the two new Councils from Vesting Day, key details of which 
were provided within the report. 
 
Diagrams illustrating the officer programme structure and governance that 
had been established to deliver the Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) 
Programme were set out at Appendix 2 to the report. Work to move to the 
two new Councils had been organised into six thematic areas: People; 
Place; Corporate/Enabling Services; ICT; Customer and Digital; and 
Finance. 

Page 279



 
The design and delivery of the LGR Programme was being overseen by a 
Chief Executive/senior officer Board (the LGR Programme Board), chaired 
by the Senior Responsible Officer(s). LGR Programme Board membership 
included all Chief Executives of the sovereign authorities, the Chairs of the 
thematic groups (where these were not Chief Executives); the Programme 
Finance Lead (and Section 151 Officer); and the Programme Director. In 
due course, once Interim Heads of Paid Service had been appointed by the 
Shadow Authorities, it was intended that they would also join the Board. 
 
In terms of meeting the requirements of the SCO, the LGR Programme 
Board, described above would be “the Implementation Team”. They would 
be supported in this role by the Programme Management Team and 
Programme Management Office that had been established, together with 
the officers of all seven sovereign Councils involved in the arrangements 
described above and supplemented by the capacity available via the 
Strategic Partner arrangement where appropriate. 
 
In terms of the (Senior Responsible Officer) SRO arrangements, the 
programme had operated a three-way joint SRO approach since December 
2021 which had served the programme well. For continuity in the next 
phase of the programme, this arrangement was to be extended, and the 
SCO leadership requirements, (for a team leader and two deputies, one 
from the Cumberland Councils and one from the Westmorland and Furness 
Councils), would be discharged by the three SROs continuing to work 
together. This arrangement would operate until such time as it was 
reviewed; following the appointment of the two Interim Heads of Paid 
Service, and the Chief Executive of the County Council would also be in 
post. It would be appropriate to reflect the roles of Interim Head of Paid 
Service (and subsequently the Heads of Paid Service) in the leadership of 
the Implementation Team, and it was the intention to bring a report to the 
first meeting of the Shadow Authorities in this regard. 
 
RESOLVED – That the arrangements for the formation of a single team of 
officers (“the Implementation Team”) as required by Article 26 of the 
Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022, as set out at paragraphs 3.6-
3.8 of the report and above, be agreed.

Page 280



Westmorland and Furness Shadow Authority 
Meeting 

17 May 2022 

Implementation Plan 
Report from:  LGR Programme Director 

Report Author:  Kim Rennie, LGR Programme Director 

Wards:   All 
Key Decision:   N 

 

1.0 Purpose/Summary of report 

1.1 This report informs Members about the Implementation Plan and 
programme governance that has been developed by officers of the 
County Council, the Cumberland Councils and the Westmorland and 
Furness Councils, to ensure an effective transition to the new 
unitary Councils for Cumberland and Westmorland and Furness on 
Vesting Day, 1 April 2023. This reflects the requirements in The 
Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022.  

2.0 Recommendation 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Shadow Authority: - 

(1) Notes the Implementation Plan attached at 
Appendix 1; and 

(2) Notes the programme governance and funding 
arrangements outlined in the report.  

 
3.0 Background and Proposals 
 
3.1 In July 2021 the Secretary of State announced his decision, subject 

to Parliamentary approval, to implement a two unitary pattern of 
Local Government in Cumbria based on an East-West geography.  
The Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022 (SCO) gave effect to 
that decision and came into force on 18 March 2022. 

3.2 Articles 23 and 26 of the Order refer to the establishment of two Joint 
Committees, and the formation of a single team of officers (“the 
Implementation Team”) for the purposes of assisting: 

Page 281

Agenda Item 15



(i) The relevant Joint Committee in the discharge of its 
functions, and 

(ii) If, after the dissolution of the relevant Joint Committee, the 
relevant Shadow Authority so requires, that Shadow 
Authority 

3.3 The Implementation Team is the subject of a separate report on 
today’s agenda.  

3.4 Article 24 of the Order, required the Joint Committees, preceding the 
establishment of Shadow Authorities to prepare, keep under review, 
and revise as necessary, an Implementation Plan, including any plans 
and timetables considered necessary to secure the effective, efficient, 
and timely transfer of functions, property, rights, and liabilities to the 
successor Councils. 

3.5 The Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee has met on three 
occasions, considering reports on the Implementation Plan at two of 
its meetings. (The minutes of those meetings are attached at 
Appendix 2 of this report for Members’ reference).   

3.6 With the dissolution of the Joint Committees, (the day following that 
on which the Shadow Authorities for each area holds its first 
meeting), the Shadow Authorities then assume responsibility for 
keeping the Implementation Plan that has been prepared under 
review and revised as necessary. The advice is that matters relating 
to the Implementation Plan are an executive function of the Shadow 
Authorities, and as a consequence this report is presented for 
information and noting by Members, with the intention that a further 
report on the Implementation Plan be presented to the meeting of 
the Shadow Executive in June for decision. 

3.7 The Implementation Plan that has been prepared (at April 2022) is 
attached at Appendix 1 of this report. It describes the approach that 
has been developed to deliver two sustainable Unitary Councils, and 
a sustainable Fire and Rescue service, in a safe, legal, and seamless 
fashion, delivering both benefits from day 1 and the foundation for 
further transformation in the future. The Programme has been 
designed for delivery in four key stages (see slide 7 in Appendix 1): 
Preparation and Mobilisation Phase (in advance of, and following, the 
Secretary of State’s decision last summer); Design Phase (in which 
baselining and analysis of current service provision has been 
undertaken, the options for delivery of services with a focus on day 
1 operation have been appraised by officers for consideration and 
discussion by Members, the essential requirements for day 1 have 
been appraised, and the development of draft Blueprints 
commenced); Implementation Phase (in which the final shape of 

Page 282



services for day 1 will be determined, together with budgets, staffing 
and structures, ICT, accommodation requirements and contractual 
arrangements finalised, and key policies/procedures developed, 
amongst other matters, to ensure smooth transition); and Post 
Transition Phase (post Vesting Day), where further transformation 
will follow a period of stabilisation. 

3.8 The Implementation Plan will develop over time and will be subject 
to consideration by, agreement of, and reporting to the Shadow 
Executive in terms of progress. The delivery of the Implementation 
Plan is currently supported by the Implementation Team and officer 
arrangements which are presented in the separate report on today’s 
agenda.   

3.9 Since the announcement in July, prior to the Joint Committees being 
stood up, and during their period of operation, preparations have 
continued to enable the smooth operation of the two new Councils 
from Vesting day. Key in this regard have been: 

  The development and embedding of an overall programme 
structure, and associated leadership and governance model, 
together with agreed ways of working 

  Identification of a Senior Responsible Officer(s) (currently a 
three-way SRO) arrangement with accountability for programme 
delivery, and the establishment and operation of a Chief 
Executive level LGR Programme Board, (the Implementation 
Team), to oversee and direct the work being done  

  The shared appointment of a Programme Director and the formal 
establishment of a Programme Management Team, incorporating 
a Programme Management Office, to coordinate the development 
of the overall timeline, and the delivery of the programme, with 
Programme and Project Management, and Support staff formally 
seconded/transferred to the Programme from 1 April 2022, and a 
further recruitment process underway  

  The operation of thematic officer working groups, supported, and 
advised by a range of workstreams/work packages, with the 
creation of new groups where appropriate, to provide service and 
technical expertise, and deliver projects to support the process   

  The development of a Data-Hub, and initial analysis of the 
information it holds, providing a coordinated approach to data 
collection, analysis, and provision 

  Use of internal resources has been supplemented by KPMG as 
the Strategic Partner to the Programme, adding capacity and 
expertise, and acting as advisors and critical friends. Most 
recently this has involved data analysis, support around day one 
readiness and identifying the “must have” deliverables, to ensure 
the Councils can operate safely from Vesting Day in a consistent 
way. They have been helping to identifying the interfaces and 

Page 283



tracking progress, helping to create generic guidance/training 
for/on the development of draft Blueprints, and providing some 
quality assurance to work that is being undertaken on assets, 
including how the recommendations as to future locations of 
Headquarters will be determined 

  The selection process for the Interim Statutory Officers required 
to be designated at the first meetings of the Shadow Authorities 

  On-going work to collate HR data and policies, and engage and 
consult with staff and unions   

  The establishment and operation of an LGR Implementation 
Reserve in line with a Memorandum of Understanding agreed by 
all seven sovereign Councils which governs the use of this fund 

  Work to support the Joint Committees and develop the work 
programmes/forward plans of the Shadow Authorities from May 
2022 

  Representations made to Government on the draft Section 24 
Direction that is proposed for all Councils/areas in this phase of 
Local Government Re-Organisation 

  The development and delivery of communications plans for staff, 
Members, and key partners/stakeholders. 

 

3.10 The democratic governance arrangements that have been in place, 
and that are currently envisaged will be required to oversee the 
transition to the two new Councils on 1 April 2023 are set out in 
Appendix 1 (slides 13 and 14). The details of these are a matter for 
the Shadow Authorities in liaison with sovereign authorities, to be 
refined as appropriate with the establishment of the Shadow 
Authorities and the dissolution of the Joint Committees. The current 
officer level programme governance arrangements are summarised 
in Appendix 1 (slides 16 and 17). These arrangements are reviewed 
periodically to make sure they remain fit for purpose. 

 
3.11 In addition to the Implementation Plan presented here, one of the 

early items for consideration by the Executive and Scrutiny functions 
of the Shadow Authority will be the draft Blueprints that are currently 
at an early stage of development. It is anticipated that Members will 
want to have the benefit of, and give early consideration to, the work 
done to date in arriving at these. It is envisaged that Members will 
have this opportunity through a range of informal and more formal 
mechanisms (e.g., task and finish groups, presentations/workshops, 
Committees, etc.), to enable further development over the 
spring/summer, and beyond as part of the Strategic Planning 
process, (integrating the corporate planning (Council Plan), financial 
planning and service planning milestones). 
 
 

Page 284



3.12 Strategic Planning is the overarching process through which the 
Shadow Councils will develop their Council Plans, Medium Term 
Financial Plans, Workforce plans and more detailed policy and service 
plans for 2023/24 onwards. It brings together aspirations and 
opportunities for transformation and improvements alongside 
delivery of the many statutory functions and responsibilities all within 
the available financial envelope so that resource planning in its widest 
sense (people, assets, revenue and capital plans, savings, and 
pressures) can be presented and approved.  
 

3.13 For 2023/24 across the sovereign Councils there is already a budget 
gap between available funding and planned expenditure of £31m 
based on existing assumptions. These assumptions will be updated, 
and options developed to meet that budget gap as Council’s must by 
law set a balance budget for the immediate financial year ahead.  This 
will be through potential savings that can be delivered in 2023/24 but 
it can also be affected by decisions around Council Tax levels and 
harmonisation plans, national funding changes, levels of fees and 
charges as well as potential additional pressures emerging (e.g., cost 
of living pressures) that all need to be factored in.   
 

3.14 For each Shadow Authority the draft Blueprint will pull together at a 
high level the work done to date on baselining existing services and 
options appraisals for future delivery options including high level 
costings. These will be a key element of the strategic planning 
process as they will provide a baseline statement as to what services, 
staff and revenue expenditure levels are envisaged for each Authority 
as at Vesting Day based on the work done to date.  
 

3.15 To establish the opening Balance sheet (assets and liabilities) and 
Revenue income and expenditure position for the shadow authorities 
there is significant work ongoing to establish appropriate aggregation 
and disaggregation principles to ensure financially sustainable 
Councils and Cumbria Fire and Rescue Service (CFRS) are 
established. The approach is described at a high level within the 
Implementation Plan attached at Appendix 1 and it will ultimately be 
for the shadow authorities and CFRS governance arrangements to 
approve these. Where required subject matter experts including 
Government Departments are advising and the LGA and CIPFA are 
providing independent advice and guidance.   
 

3.16 Each Shadow Authority will then need to take decisions around the 
blueprint options taking into account their own priorities and 
aspirations and also their available funding envelope and balance 
sheet positions to determine the level of services they will deliver 
within a balanced budget position for 2023/24 and beyond.   

 

Page 285



3.17 In a number of service areas transitional arrangements may be 
required/recommended pending any preferred option being 
deliverable. The focus of draft Blueprints will be on making the 
transition to the new Authorities a safe, legal, and smooth one, whilst 
paving the way for further transformation, and longer-term options 
development/consideration should Authorities so wish. The 
development of draft Blueprints is further described in the 
Implementation Plan attached at Appendix 1. 

3.18 One further significant matter is in respect of Cumbria Fire and 
Rescue service. The Government’s continued intention is that the fire 
service should be provided on a county basis with two potential 
options to achieve this. The first is for the functions to be transferred 
to the Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria by Order made 
under section 4A of the Fire and Rescue services Act 2004, should the 
Secretary of State be satisfied that the relevant statutory tests are 
met. The second option is for the Secretary of State to create a new 
combined fire and rescue authority by 1 April 2023. For completeness 
other possible options remain in scope at this time and discussions 
with Civil Servants in relation to all of the options continue to enable 
effective planning in the context of the Structural Changes Order.  
Work as required is being developed through the Cumbria Fire and 
Rescue Service Transition Board, in a programme which is aligned to 
the work on LGR. 

3.19 As referred to at paragraph 3.9 above, a single LGR Implementation 
Reserve has been created with Cumbria County Council acting as the 
host authority. A Memorandum of Understanding has been agreed by 
all Councils in respect of the use of and governance for decision 
making for the reserve.  

3.20 The purpose of the Reserve is to support delivery of the 
Implementation Plan including the Implementation Team with 
examples of eligible expenditure against the Reserve being, but not 
limited to, the following: 

  Additional staff capacity to deliver the programme 
  Procurement of specialist support and advisory services 
  Communication and public consultation 
  Purchase of Systems and Information Technology for the two 

new unitary authorities 
  Election costs with regards to the two new unitary authorities 
  Running costs related to the shadow authorities 
  Rebranding, implementation and creating the two new unitary 

authorities 
3.21 The Reserve will not be used to support Transformation and 

Investment costs, nor any redundancy costs associated with LGR in 
Cumbria. 

Page 286



 
3.22 Contributions to the Reserve have been made by all seven Councils 

at the same time to an initial total value of £18,920,000. 
Contributions to the Reserve have been approved through each 
Council’s own governance processes, the values are:  

  £1,576,667 Allerdale Borough Council 
  £1,576,667 Barrow Borough Council 
  £1,576,667 Carlisle City Council 
  £1,576,667 Copeland Borough Council 
  £9,460,000 Cumbria County Council 
  £1,576,667 Eden District Council 
  £1,576,667 South Lakeland District Council 

3.23 Initial allocations from the Reserve to the different activities for the 
Implementation Programme have been approved by the LGR 
Programme Board including an allocation to Contingencies.  If any 
balances remain in the Reserve once the Implementation Plan has 
been delivered the balance will be shared 50/50 with the two new 
Unitary Councils.  

  
4.0 Consultation 

4.1  The contents of this report respond to a Statutory Instrument which 
was the subject of consultation by the Government. 

5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1 The contents of this report respond to a Statutory Instrument, and 
whilst there is a choice about how to define the Implementation Plan, 
and the approach to governance and budgets, the approach 
described is considered the most fitting to local circumstances. 

6.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

6.1 The funding available to deliver the Implementation Plan is through 
the LGR Implementation Reserve as described above.  Any funding 
to support transformational change will need to be agreed as part of 
the budget setting process for the new Unitary Council. 

 

Human Resources 

6.2 There are no direct implications associated with this report. 

Page 287



Legal 

6.3 To comply with the Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022 the 
following Articles are relevant that relate to the Implementation 
Plan.   

6.3.1 Article 22 provides that all Councils have an additional 
function, exercisable only in the transitional period beginning 
on the coming into force of the Order and ending on the 
fourteenth day after the 2022 election day, of preparing for 
and facilitating the economic, effective, efficient, and timely 
transfer to the, of such of its functions, property, rights, and 
liabilities as relate to the new Unitary Councils.  

6.3.2 Article 24 further provides that the Joint Committees each 
prepare, keep under review, and revise as necessary, an 
Implementation Plan which must include—  

(a) such plans and timetables as are in the opinion of each 
Joint Committee necessary to secure the effective, 
efficient, and timely discharge of the article 22 functions 
(referenced above); and  

(b) such budgets and plans as it considers necessary or 
desirable to facilitate the economic, effective, efficient, 
and timely discharge, on and after 1st April 2023, of the 
functions that, before that date, are functions of the 
County Council, the Cumberland councils, or the 
Westmorland and Furness councils. 

6.3.3  For the purposes of (a) preparing, reviewing, and revising 
the Implementation Plan, (b) discharging the article 22 
functions, and (c) discharging such other functions as may 
be conferred on it, each Joint Committee must have regard 
to the information supplied to the Secretary of State in 
support of the proposal for single tier local government in 
Cumbria. 

 6.3.4 Article 11 provides that after the dissolution of the relevant 
Joint Committee, the Shadow Authority must keep under 
review, and revise as necessary, the Implementation Plan 
prepared by that Committee.  

6.3.5  The report presents an Implementation Plan which has been 
considered by the relevant Joint Committee. This will be kept 
under review and considered further by the Shadow 
Authorities as described above.  

 

Page 288



Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment 

6.4 Have you completed a Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment? 
No    

6.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain 
your reasons: There are no direct health and sustainability 
implications associated with this report. 

Equality and Diversity.  

6.6 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No    

6.7 If you have not completed an Impact Analysis, please explain your 
reasons: There are no direct equality and diversity implications 
associated with this report. 

Risk Management Consequence Controls required 

There is a legal obligation 
to prepare, keep under 
review and revise as 
necessary an 
Implementation Plan. 

Contravention of a 
legal requirement 

 
 

The contents of this 
report mitigate the 
risk 

 
Contact Officers 

Kim Rennie, LGR Programme Director, kim.rennie@carlisle.gov.uk, 
tel:07880728536. 

 
Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 
 
2(a) 
 
2(b)  

Implementation Plan (April 2022). (Ref:20220222 LGR 
Programme Implementation Plan – April 22 v6.pptx.) 
Minute of Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee – 
29.3.22 
Minute of Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee – 
10.5.22 (To follow) 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background 
document 

Where it is available 

The Cumbria (Structural 
Changes) Order 2022 

The Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022 
(legislation.gov.uk)  

  

Page 289

mailto:kim.rennie@carlisle.gov.uk
tel:07880728536
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2022/9780348231359/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2022/9780348231359/contents


This page is intentionally left blank



Delivering Two Unitary
Councils for Cumbria

LGR Implementation Plan
(April 2022)

P
age 291

Jackie Currie
Text Box
Appendix 1



Vision and Ambition for Cumbria

• We have a once-in-a-generation opportunity to
shape the county’s public services for the better.

• This implementation plan, which will develop
overtime, will facilitate the development and
the creation of two distinct councils focused on
the specific communities they will serve.

• Vesting Day, on April 1, 2023 is a significant
milestone and will be the start of the next stage
of the journey, with the process of
transformation continuing after this point.

P
age 292



Two New Councils for Cumbria
Our Vision for Cumbria is that in creating the two new Councils we will promote Cumbria with strong
and fair representation for our communities and businesses. Our services will drive sustainable
economic growth, enable safe and healthy lives and deliver value for money for everyone.

Our Ambition as we move through the LGR programme is that we create:
• Two new financially sustainable unitary authorities, that operate

safely and legally from day one, whilst providing improved access
to services, a seamless transition for our customers and
stakeholders, and a great place to work for employees. We will
ensure that on vesting day services operate to at least the
standard they did before.

• Foundations to enable the new organisations to further transform
and improve outcomes for residents, businesses, partners and the
environment with Vesting Day being a milestone on a
transformation journey which is likely to take 5-7 years.

• Governance structures that enable the two new councils to raise
ambitions and become more successful in terms of place, so that
the economy is transformed, and the opportunities and life
chances of all residents are significantly improved.

• Ways of working that deliver local, responsive, accessible, high
quality, services efficiently and in collaboration with our partners.

• Governance structures that realise the opportunities of creating
two unitary authorities to reflect the distinctiveness of place, but
also facilitate operating on a Cumbria wide basis when this will
bring investment to the area or mean they function more
effectively.

• Councils who share decisions and power with the communities of
Cumbria.

• Councils who ensure staff are fully supported through the process
and are able to see and benefit from the opportunities LGR
presents.

• Councils who elect and induct Members to lead the new unitary
authorities and provide community leadership.

P
age 293



Our Implementation Approach – Values
To achieve this, we have adopted a set of values to guide our work together, and a set of design
principles to guide the transition of services to the two new Councils.

Underpinning this is a One team – One Programme – Two Plans approach.

Our Core Values are:
• Open and transparent

• Collaborative

• Supportive and
strength based

• Put organisational
boundaries aside

• Committed

….and we are committed to:

• Sharing resources (for the programme and to support service needs in the transition period

• Using principles of co-design and production

• Being evidenced based and giving due consideration to professional expertise

• Once and together – a single hub model

• Remaining conscious of what is best for the communities of Cumbria, and the different needs and
opportunities in Cumberland and Westmorland in Furness

• Acting and speaking collectively for the programme, whist respecting the sovereignty of authorities

P
age 294



Our Implementation Approach – Design Principles

• Creating Strong and Accountable Leadership
– at local and strategic level through effective
member-led governance.

• Outcome-focused – a focus on delivering better
outcomes and realising the benefits of local
government reform.

• Customer and community-focused – ensuring
that the needs and aspirations of customers and
local communities are at the centre of the design
of new structures.

• Creating Sustainable Communities – putting
the creation and support of sustainable
communities and sustainable development at the
core –recognising the diversity of local
communities, and the opportunities and
challenges of the area’s rurality and unique
geographies and landscapes.

• Place-focused – building on place-based
approaches, local decision-making, co-production
and community-based delivery mode.

• Promoting Public Health approaches – putting
public health approaches at the centre of new
models focusing on prevention and early
intervention.

• Climate and Environment-focused – creating
organisations and developing models of delivery
with environmental sustainability, protecting and
improving biodiversity, achieving net zero and the
impacts of climate change at their core.

• Promoting Inclusive Economy approaches –
focusing on both local and strategic approaches
to build strong and inclusive economies, realising
the benefits of collaboration to unlock inclusive
economic growth.

• Collaborative and Strength-based – building
on collaborative and strength-based approaches
with individuals and families, with communities,
and with local and strategic partners. Do with not
do to.

• Evidence-based – informing decisions through a
good understanding of the needs and aspirations
of communities, and of best practice.

• Modern, Innovative and Digitally-enabled –
unlocking innovation to modernise public
services which are agile and adaptable. Ensuring
digitally-enabled models fit for the 21st century.

• Financial sustainability and Value for Money
– providing the best value for money through
delivery of efficient and effective services and
building long-term financially sustainable
organisations.

• Creating positive organisational cultures –
creating new organisations with cultures that
promote positivity, creativity, flexibility, the
building of positive relationships and emphasising
the importance of being learning organisation

• Valuing the Workforce – valuing the skills,
knowledge, capabilities and commitment of our
greatest asset.

We have agreed to design our new Councils using the following Organisational Design Principles:

P
age 295



Timeline and Phasing

• The high level Programme timeline to deliver the unitary Councils of Cumberland and Westmorland
and Furness is set out on the following slide.

• A Programme has been developed in a series of phases that will enable the two Councils to deliver
improvements from day one (vesting day – the 1 April 2023), including in relation to ease of
customer access.  The Programme will ensure a smooth transition to the new arrangements,
operation in a safe and legal fashion, and the building blocks for further transformation and delivery
of benefits for local communities.

P
age 296



LGR Programme -Timeline and Phasing

P
age 297



Design Phase

• We have developed a design phase for the two new Councils and this involves a series of stages
outlined on the following slide.

• At the time of writing, this phase of the Programme, involving developing officer recommendations
for Shadow Authority consideration, is nearing completion.  The work that has been done in this
phase is being collated and assessed and will inform the development of draft Blueprints, describing
the services, staff and budget each Council will have on vesting day.

• The development of  these will be iterative as the detail will be developed through discussion with
Members and incoming leadership teams and  as part of the strategic planning process.

P
age 298



Design Phase

Stage 1: Scope of Themes,
Introduction to services

November December January February March April May

Stage 2: Service
Profile/Baselining, SWOT,

Options Identification

Stage 3: Options Appraisal
Review

Stage 4: Draft
Blueprints
Developed

Stage 2-4: Day 1 Requirements and Interdependencies Identified

P
age 299



Design Phase – Design Options, Day 1
Requirements and Initial Blueprints
• Over the last few months the process of considering the high level design options for services has

followed the approach shown on the next slide.

• The starting point is to disaggregate, aggregate and integrate services into two separate Councils
unless there is a compelling reason not to do so, to deliver the requirements of legislation.

• We continue to consider all options, evaluating these to arrive at a preferred option for each service
on Day 1 to recommend to Members.

• Officer recommendations are being brought together in the draft Blueprints for how services in the
new Councils will operate seamlessly from vesting day, so that they can be considered by the
Members of Shadow Authorities once established.

• The design phase has also involved the identification of those critical elements without which
services will not be able to function effectively on vesting day, (“Day 1 Requirements”), regardless of
the design of the service.

P
age 300



Design Options

In some service areas a hybrid of options may be appropriate, and transitional arrangements may be recommended for day 1

P
age 301



Democratic and Programme Governance
• Democratic and programme governance arrangements are in place to oversee the transition to the

two new Councils on 1 April 2023, and to ensure that they can operate safely and legally from day 1.

• The democratic governance structure involves the Joint Committees which had to be established no
later than 14 days after the Structural Changes Order came into force, and which are stood down
following the first meeting of Shadow Authorities on 17 May 2022.

• The Joint Committees with decision making powers (one for Cumberland and one for Westmorland
and Furness) are/were charged with managing the transition to the two new Shadow Authorities, to
be established in May 2022.

• Two Shadow Executives are to be appointed, and Interim Heads of Paid Service, Chief Finance and
Monitoring Officers designated, within 14 days of the elections on 5 May 2022.  Permanent Heads of
Paid Service, Chief Finance Officers and Monitoring Officers are required to be appointed by
31.12.22.  The two Shadow Authorities gain full powers on vesting day, 1.4.23.

• The next two slides describe the democratic  governance structure, the first up to May 2022, the
second to 1.4.23.

P
age 302



Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Other committees as required

Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Other committees as required

Democratic Governance to May 2022

Cumbria Leaders Oversight Forum (CLOF) For informal liaison

Member task and finish groups
As required– formed by the Shadow Executive and report back recommendations

Westmorland and Furness
Joint Committee

Westmorland and Furness
Shadow Authority / Shadow Executive

Member task and finish groups
As required – formed by the Shadow Executive and report back recommendations

Cumberland
Shadow Authority / Shadow Executive

Cumberland Joint
Committee

CLOF Reconstituted

March
2022

May
2022

Structural change order (SCO) Elections/Day Zero

P
age 303



Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Other committees as required

Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Other committees as required

Member task and finish groups
As required – formed by the Shadow Executive and report back recommendations

Westmorland and Furness
Shadow Authority / Shadow Executive

Member task and finish groups
As required – formed by the Shadow Executive and report back recommendations

Cumberland
Shadow Authority / Shadow Executive

CLOF Reconstituted

Democratic Governance to April 2023

Westmorland and Furness
Unitary Council

Cumberland
Unitary Council

April
2023

Day 1

P
age 304



Programme Governance and Structure cont.
• In terms of officer level programme governance, the work to move to the two new Councils is

currently organised in a series of themes, with representation from all Councils, complemented by
individual pieces of cross cutting work, for example in relation to economy and devolution.  There is
also an aligned piece of change work in relation to the options for the future of the Cumbria Fire and
Rescue Service.

• A series of thematic officer boards have been established, involving senior representatives of the
County Council, and from the Cumberland and Westmorland and Furness Councils, together with
subject matter experts to oversee the work involved in setting up the new councils.  There are six
boards currently, with a series of workstreams/work packages in each. The number and focus of the
boards is reviewed periodically to ensure they remain fit for purpose.

• LGR Programme as a whole is overseen by an LGR Programme Board at the most senior level of
representation from sovereign councils.  The arrangements are shown diagrammatically on the next
two slides.

P
age 305



Programme Structure

P
age 306



Programme Governance

P
age 307



Implementation Phase

• The next phase of the programme to be embarked upon is the Implementation Phase.

• The slide that follows describes the high level time line for this phase of the LGR programme.

• As described in preceding slides, Day 1 Readiness Planning involves identifying the must haves for
day one, what achieving these relies on (interdependencies), and the order in which these need to
be addressed.  Detailed critical paths are also in place/under development for different
workstreams/work-packages as part of Day 1 planning.  This will enable more detailed reporting on
the Programme over the coming months.

• In the design phase the draft Blueprints that are being developed (April to May), will contain the
details of the resources available to each service based on 2022/23 budgets.  Work over May/June,
to look at budget disaggregation/aggregation, including savings proposals, will result in costed
Blueprints, for consideration of Shadow Authorities for taking into the Strategic and Service Planning
processes over the summer/early autumn period.

P
age 308



May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
2022 2023

Day 1 Readiness

Blueprint / Service
Planning

Corporate plans /
policies

Organisational
structure

Strategic Planning
(other)

Implementation Phase – High Level Timeline

Day 1 plans for Cumberland, and Westmorland and Furness refined and delivered (two plans with some
joint and some specific requirements)

Draft blueprints considered,
refined, and adopted by Shadow

Authorities

Development of Council Plan and required Day 1 policies and plans, in tandem with budget process

Interim
statutory
officers

designated

See next slide

Discussion of draft blueprints and refinement of service plans
through budget process

Recruitment of Chief Executives/
Senior structure options

developed

Consultation and filling of structures to meet statutory
requirements and operational needs

P
age 309



Blueprints, service plans and strategic financial planning

May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Initial
version of
blueprints Updated

with
2022/23
budget

disaggregation

Costed
Blueprints
reported to
Programme

Board via
Theme
Boards

Costed
Blueprints

Reported to
shadow

executives

Blueprints include
“Day 1” safe & legal

Refinement period to accommodate
wider disaggregation decisions,

political priorities & policy decisions

Blueprints evolve into
service plans with

performance data and
standards and organisational

design focus

Member
Task & Finish
groups set-up

Strategic financial planning process
(Stages 1-3). Will involve Overview & Scrutiny

Bringing together
overall budgets,

affordability and
updated service plans

Detailed analysis/completion of
service plans and MTFP aligned to

transition &
Day 1 planning.

Statutory consultation on 2023/24
budget. Government settlement etc

Budget
Sign-off

Ch
an

ge
 fr

ee
ze

Cu
t-

ov
er

 to
 n

ew
un

ita
rie

s

BLUEPRINT FOCUS SERVICE PLAN FOCUS

Strategic financial planning stages

1 2 3 4

*

* Continues into Stage 4 of
the strategic planning process

CONSULTATION ON BUDGET /
SAVINGS/ COUNCIL PLAN

FINALISE COUNCIL PLAN/
MTFP etc

P
age 310



Next steps
• The next steps in the programme will be to refine Day 1 plans, finalise the officer recommendations

on options for Day 1 operation, and  the development of draft Blueprints for Shadow Authority
consideration.

• Preparations for operation of Shadow Authorities (Day 0 work)  and vesting day (Day 1 work)
including laying the foundations for future transformation will continue.

• The Implementation Plan will be kept under review, and progress reported to the new Shadow
Authorities.

• The One Programme  approach will continue – with two sets of plans developing overtime.

P
age 311



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 (a) 
  

MINUTE EXTRACT FROM THE WESTMORLAND AND FURNESS 
JOINT COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 29 MARCH 2022 
 
 

W&F/9 FORMATION OF THE IMPLEMENTATION TEAM  
 
The Programme Director presented a report informing the Joint Committee 
about “the Implementation Team,” a single team of officers as required by 
Article 26 of the Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022 (SCO). 
 
The members of the Implementation Team were to be officers of the sovereign 
Councils, with the members of that Team appointing a leader of the Team, and 
the deputy leaders of the Implementation Team being an officer of one of the 
Cumberland Councils and an officer of one of the Westmorland and Furness 
Councils.  There was a duty placed within the Order on sovereign Councils to 
co-operate in the formation of the Implementation Team and to release the 
officers concerned from their normal duties to assist in the work as reasonably 
required by Joint Committees or Shadow Authorities, as well as a general duty 
to consult and co-operate with one another and the Shadow Authorities. 
 
Since the announcement in July 2021, and prior to this Joint Committee having 
been stood up, preparations had commenced to enable the smooth operation of 
the two new Councils from Vesting Day, key details of which were provided 
within the report. 
 
Diagrams illustrating the officer programme structure and governance that had 
been established to deliver the Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) 
Programme were set out at Appendix 2 to the report.  Work to move to the two 
new Councils had been organised into six thematic areas: People; Place; 
Corporate/Enabling Services; ICT; Customer and Digital; and Finance. 
 
The design and delivery of the LGR Programme was being overseen by a Chief 
Executive/senior officer Board (the LGR Programme Board), chaired by the 
Senior Responsible Officer(s).  LGR Programme Board membership included 
all Chief Executives of the sovereign authorities, the Chairs of the thematic 
groups (where these were not Chief Executives); the Programme Finance Lead 
(and Section 151 Officer); and the Programme Director.  In due course, once 
Interim Heads of Paid Service had been appointed by the Shadow Authorities, it 
was intended that they would also join the Board. 
 
In terms of meeting the requirements of the SCO, the LGR Programme Board, 
described above would be “the Implementation Team”.  They would be 
supported in this role by the Programme Management Team and Programme 
Management Office that had been established, together with the officers of all 
seven sovereign Councils involved in the arrangements described above and 
supplemented by the capacity available via the Strategic Partner arrangement 
where appropriate. 
 
 

Page 313



In terms of the (Senior Responsible Officer) SRO arrangements, the 
programme had operated a three-way joint SRO approach since December 
2021 which had served the programme well.  For continuity in the next phase of 
the programme, this arrangement was to be extended, and the SCO leadership 
requirements, (for a team leader and two deputies, one from the Cumberland 
Councils and one from the Westmorland and Furness Councils), would be 
discharged by the three SROs continuing to work together.  This arrangement 
would operate until such time as it was reviewed; following the appointment of 
the two Interim Heads of Paid Service, and the Chief Executive of the County 
Council would also be in post.  It would be appropriate to reflect the roles of 
Interim Head of Paid Service (and subsequently the Heads of Paid Service) in 
the leadership of the Implementation Team, and it was the intention to bring a 
report to the first meeting of the Shadow Authorities in this regard. 
 
RESOLVED – That the arrangements for the formation of a single team of 
officers (“the Implementation Team”) as required by Article 26 of the Cumbria 
(Structural Changes) Order 2022, as set out at paragraphs 3.6-3.8 of the report 
and above, be agreed. 
 

Page 314



Westmorland and Furness Shadow Authority  
Meeting 

17 May 2022 

Members’ Allowances and Appointment of Independent 
Remuneration Panel    

 

Report from:  Linda Fisher – Technical Lead Legal and   
    Democratic Work Stream and Monitoring Officer 
    (South Lakeland District Council)  

Report Author: Nicola Hartley, Head of Corporate Governance and 
Legal, Monitoring Officer 

Wards:   All 
Key Decision:   No 

1.0 Purpose/Summary of report 

1.1 The Cumbria (Structural Changes Order) 2022 states at Article 10 
that the shadow authority for Westmorland and Furness must 
formulate proposals for the scheme of members allowances to be 
adopted by Westmorland and Furness Council. The LGR Independent 
Remuneration Panel, (IRP) proposed a scheme of member allowances 
for the Shadow Authorities for consideration by the Joint Committees 
for both Cumberland and Westmorland and Furness. The 
Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee will consider the scheme 
on 10 May 2022. 

2.0 Recommendation 
2.1 It is recommended that  

The Westmorland and Furness Shadow Authority :- 

(1) Consider the recommendations of the Independent 
Remuneration Panel and the Scheme of Member 
Allowances which it has proposed (Appendix 1) to be 
adopted for the Shadow year with effect from 9 May 
2022; and 

(2)  To authorise the Interim Monitoring Officer to 
advertise the recruitment of an Independent 
Remuneration Panel of 5 members for the Council to 
consider a scheme of members allowances to be 
adopted by Westmorland and Furness Council post 
vesting day 1 April 2023 

Page 315

Agenda Item 16



3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 The Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022 provides that the 
Westmorland and Furness Council Shadow Authority must prepare 
and adopt a scheme for the payment of allowances to its Members. 
It also provides that the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) 
(England) Regulations 2003 shall apply in relation to the Shadow 
Authority. 

3.2 The 2003 Regulations provide that before an authority makes a 
scheme for Members allowances it shall have regard to the 
recommendations made by an Independent Remuneration Panel. 

3.3 An experienced Independent Remuneration Panel, representing all 7 
Cumbrian councils and consisting of six members who had previously 
taken on the role at the existing borough and county councils, held a 
scheduled series of meetings to consider a Member Allowance scheme 
for the new Westmorland and Furness Council. To assist with their 
deliberations, the IRP were sent a briefing pack in advance of their 
first meeting, and were supplied with details of the existing District 
and County members’ allowance schemes and also the schemes of 
four Unitary Councils who have in recent years also been through an 
LGR process.   

3.4 From the discussions the IRP members held, they were confident 
their approach of one Member Allowance scheme was appropriate 
and a good starting position for both new Shadow Authorities of 
Cumberland and Westmorland and Furness. The IRP were also aware 
that the Shadow Authorities would be appointing their own IRP to 
review the allowances for 2023-24 in readiness for the two new 
unitary councils at vesting day, April 2023. 

3.5 Having considered both the information made available and having 
regard for the number of newly elected Members forming the 
Westmorland and Furness Shadow Authority, the IRP decided and 
agreed that North Northamptonshire Council was of a comparable 
size in terms of Member ratio to constituents and therefore their 
Member Allowance scheme was used as a guide.  

3.6 The Member Allowance Scheme (appendix 1) proposed and 
recommended for Westmorland and Furness is also the scheme 
proposed to Cumberland in line with the IRP agreed principal of one 
scheme being drawn up to be put forward to each Shadow 
Authorities. Although the two Shadow Authorities may vary in 
Member size, the duties, responsibilities and work to be undertaken 
by both is the same as prescribed within section 3 of the Cumbria 
Structural Changes Order 2022, Part 3, Shadow Authorities. 

3.7 The Panel also considered the prospective work and duties of the 
Shadow Authority in the period to 31 March 2023, in particular the 
non-delivery of council services, the lack of case work and the limited 

Page 316



number of committees and panels which would be formed which in 
turn will reduce the number of meetings held for Members to attend. 
The IRP was also cognisant that during the “Shadow” year the newly 
elected Members of the Authority would still have County and District 
Councillors to respond to ward and constituent matters arising from 
5 May 2022 to 31 March 2023. 

3.8 It further reasoned that during this time (9 May 2022 to 31 March 
2023) the Members’ Basic and Special Responsibility Allowances 
should be paid at 50% of that proposed for the Westmorland and 
Furness Council post vesting day at which point full responsibilities 
from the sovereign councils are transferred.  It was noted that this 
was an approach adopted by North Northants Shadow Authority. 

3.9 Under the Local Authorities (Members Allowances)(England) 
Regulations 2003, before making or amending its allowance scheme, 
the Council has a duty to have regard to the recommendations made 
in relation to it by the Independent Remuneration Panel.  Once the 
report is received, the Council is also required to ensure that copies 
are available for inspection by the public, and a notice published in a 
local newspaper advising of the Council’s receipt of the report from 
the IRP.  This is to be done and a notice is due to be published week 
commencing 9 May 2022. 

3.10 If Members resolve to amend the Members Allowance Scheme, 
officers will place an advertisement in local newspapers setting out 
the details of the revised scheme that will be in effect from 9 May 
2022. 

3.11 Members are asked to delegate to the Monitoring Officer authority to 
prepare a recruitment pack and advertise for an Independent 
Remuneration Panel to consider allowances for the new Council from 
vesting day.  It is recommended that any such panel consist of 5 
members, and a report will be brought to a future shadow authority 
meeting to make appointments to the Panel. 

4.0 Consultation 

4.1 The Member Allowances Working Group were tasked with convening 
an LGR Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) and facilitating the 
Panel in order to support and assist in their deliberations to propose 
recommendations for a Scheme of Member Allowances for both 
Shadow Authorities. 

 

Page 317



5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1 Option 1 – The Shadow Authority could agree the Scheme of Members 
Allowances for the shadow year and convene its own Independent 
Remuneration Panel to advise on a scheme of members allowances 
for Westmorland and Furness Council post vesting day. 

4.2 Option 2 – The Shadow Authority could partially agree with aspects 
of the Member Allowances scheme and make amendments to other 
aspects for the shadow year and convene its own Independent 
Remuneration Panel. 

4.3 Option 3 – The Shadow Authority could, having taken note of the IRP 
report suggest an alternative scheme for the Westmorland and 
Furness Shadow Authority and convene its own Independent 
Remuneration Panel to advise on a scheme for the Westmorland and 
Furness Council. 

6.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

6.1 It is intended that allowances for newly elected Members of the 
Shadow Authority will be financed from the established LGR 
Implementation Reserve which is being centrally administered and 
controlled by Cumbria County Council. 

6.2 Existing sovereign council Finance systems currently utilised for 
Member Allowances’ payments will be utilised in the same way as a 
mechanism for Shadow Authority Member allowance payments in 
order to avoid incurring any unnecessary or additional processing 
costs, and to keep the process simplified.  

Human Resources 

6.3 Administration of the Members’ Allowance Scheme will be supported 
by Democratic Service Officers from the District Councils within the 
Westmorland and Furness authority area. 

6.4 It is agreed that each sovereign council, through their own 
Democratic Services as a point of contact, will be responsible for 
capturing and calculating the monthly allowance and permissible 
expenses of each Member elected by virtue of a seat allocated to the 
sovereign council: Barrow 19 Members, Eden 15, South Lakeland 31. 

Legal 

6.5 The Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022 provides that the 
Westmorland and Furness Council Shadow Authority must prepare 
and adopt a scheme for the payment of allowances to its Members. 
It also provides that the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) 
(England) Regulations 2003 apply in relation to the shadow authority. 

Page 318



6,6 The 2003 Regulations provide that before an authority makes a 
scheme for Members’ allowances it shall have regard to the 
recommendations made by the IRP. The regulations provide that an 
IRP must consist of at least three members, none of whom are a 
Member of the authority in respect of which it makes 
recommendations or are disqualified from becoming a Member of 
such authority. 

6.7 A scheme must make provision to ensure that where a member of an 
authority is also a member of another authority, that member may 
not receive allowances from more than one authority in respect of 
the same duties. 

Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment 

6.8 The proposals have no health and sustainability impacts and so no 
assessment of the health and sustainability impact of the proposal 
has been carried out. 

Equality and Diversity  

6.9 The proposal has been equality streamed and no evidence of impact 
has been raised. 

Risks 

Risk Management Consequence Controls required 
Failure to adopt a scheme 
 

Not complying with 
the requirements of 
the SCO  
Delay in members 
allowances being paid 

Consider the Scheme 
proposed by the LGR 
IRP as attached 

 
Contact Officers 

Linda Fisher, Technical Lead, Legal and Democratic Work Stream and 
Monitoring Officer (South Lakeland District Council) 
 
Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Shadow Authority for Westmorland and Furness Elected 
Members Allowances Scheme 2022/23 

Page 319



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 1 

 
Shadow Authority for  

Westmorland and Furness 
Council  

 
Elected Members’ Allowances 

Scheme 
 

2022/23 
 
 

 
 
 
  

Page 321



 
 
Shadow Authority for Westmorland and Furness Council, in exercise of the 
powers conferred by the Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) (England) 
Regulations 2003, hereby makes the following Scheme.  
1. This Scheme may be cited as the Shadow Authority for Westmorland and 

Furness Council Members' Allowances Scheme and shall have effect for the 
period set out in Schedule 1 to this scheme, until amended or revoked.  

 
2. In this Scheme, 'Councillor' means a Member of the Shadow Authority of 

Westmorland and Furness Council who is a Councillor. 
 
 
3. Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) 
 

  The Shadow Authority for Westmorland and Furness Council is required by 
the Local Authorities (Members Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 to 
establish and maintain an Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP), which will 
broadly have the functions of providing the Shadow Authority with advice on 
its scheme and the amounts to be paid.  

  The IRP will make recommendations about the level of basic allowance for 
all Councillors, a recommendation about the special responsibilities for which 
a special responsibility allowance should be paid and the levels of those 
allowances. 

  The IRP will make recommendations about childcare and dependent carer’s 
allowance and the level of this allowance.  

  The IRP will make decisions regarding Pension arrangements for Elected 
Members. 

  The IRP will make recommendations regarding which aspects of a Members 
Remuneration i.e. Basic & Special Responsibility Allowances are subject to 
Pension contributions. 

  The IRP will make recommendations about the rates of travel & subsistence 
allowances which Members can claim when undertaking Official Shadow 
Authority business. 

  The IRP will make recommendations in respect of allowances to be paid to 
co-opted members of committees and the levels of those allowances. 
 
Any decision of the Shadow Authority to amend, revoke or replace their 
scheme of allowances, and to make a new annual scheme must be taken 
having regard to the recommendations of the IRP. The function of agreeing 
and adopting a scheme is the function of the full Shadow Westmorland and 
Furness Authority.  
 
The decision by the Shadow Authority to amend or revoke recommendations 
made by the IRP, does not extend to the issue of Pensions for Elected 
Members. The Council can only approve admission to the LGPS in respect 
of those Members explicitly recommended by the IRP.  

 
 
 
 

Page 322



4. Basic Allowance  
 
Subject to paragraph 12, a Basic Allowance shall be paid to each Councillor at 
the annual rate specified in Schedule 1 to this Scheme.  The allowance shall 
be paid in monthly instalments. 
The IRP recommends a rate of 50% of the allowance be paid in the 
‘Shadow’ period to 31 March 2023. 
 

5. Special Responsibility Allowances 
 
Subject to paragraph 12, a Special Responsibility Allowance shall be paid at the 
annual rate specified in Schedule 1 to those Councillors who hold the special 
responsibilities in relation to the Shadow Westmorland and Furness Authority as 
are specified in that Schedule.   The allowance shall be paid in monthly 
instalments.  
No Councillor shall be entitled to be paid more than one Special Responsibility 
Allowance at any one time and in the event that a Councillor undertakes more 
than one Special Responsibility at a time, then the entitlement shall be to the 
Special Responsibility Allowance of that Councillor’s choice. 

 
SRA ceases to be payable as at the day immediately prior to the Annual Council 
meeting. Chair’s re-elected at the Annual Council meeting will receive SRA 
payable effective from that date.  
Where a Chair is not elected at the Annual Council meeting and the committee 
does not sit until some time after the Annual Council meeting, SRA will not be 
payable to the outgoing Chair after the day before the Annual Council meeting 
and will only be payable from the date the committee sits and the Chair is 
elected or re-elected.  

 
6. Telephone Provision / Miscellaneous expenses 

 
No separate provision shall be paid in respect of line rental, broadband, 
telephone calls or other miscellaneous expenses associated with being a 
Councillor except as provided within this scheme. All such costs are to be met 
from the annual amount of Basic Allowance identified in Schedule 1. 

 
7. Dependant Carer’s Allowances 

 
A Dependant Carer’s Allowance shall be payable based upon a reimbursement 
of actual receipted costs of up to the rate per hour specified in Schedule 1 to 
any Councillor who incurs expenditure in respect of the care of their children or 
dependent relatives, whilst undertaking the qualifying duties specified in 
Schedule 1. 

 
8. Subsistence Allowances 

 
Subsistence Expenses shall be reimbursed in accordance with the scales 
detailed in Schedule 1, in respect of the qualifying duties specified in that 
Schedule by reference to the period of absence from home or place of work as 
appropriate 
 
 
 

Page 323



9. Travel Arrangements 
 
Councillors should travel by Public Transport where reasonably possible. Where 
Members travel by rail, they shall be entitled to travel at Standard Class rates, 
and tickets for the journey can be organised through the Council’s officers.  
 
Where a Councillor undertakes a journey by car then reimbursement shall not 
exceed the mileage rates specified in Schedule 1. 
Travel by Air will only be authorised and paid on the conditions and rates set out 
in Schedule 1. 
 

10. Travel Abroad 
 
When travelling beyond the United Kingdom, the Councillor in consultation with 
the organising department and the Democratic Services Manager should ensure 
as far as practical that the arrangements are made for accommodation to be 
provided on a fully inclusive basis as a direct charge to the Shadow Authority.  
Where this is not practical, the Democratic Services Manager will determine an 
appropriate scale of allowance having regard to the nature of the event, the 
location, and the published scales relating to Senior Civil Servants undertaking 
duties abroad in the location concerned. 
 

11. Part Year Entitlements 
 
(i) The provisions of this paragraph regulate the entitlement of a Councillor to a 

Basic or Special Responsibility Allowance, where, in the course of a year, 
this Scheme is amended, or a Councillor becomes or ceases to be a 
Councillor, or accepts or relinquishes a Special Responsibility in respect of 
which a Special Responsibility Allowance is payable. 

 
(ii) If an amendment to this Scheme changes the amount to which a Councillor 

is entitled by way of a Basic Allowance or a Special Responsibility 
Allowance, or if a Councillor accepts or relinquishes a Special Responsibility 
Allowance, then the entitlement to the allowance shall be in proportion to the 
number of days entitlement to each allowance relative to the number of days 
in that year. 

 
(iii) If an amendment to this Scheme changes the amount payable by way of a 

Conference, Dependant Carer’s or Subsistence Allowance or to the rates of 
travel entitlement, the entitlement to such an allowance or payment shall be 
to the amount under the scheme as it has effect when the duty was carried 
out. 

 
(iv) Where the term of office of a Councillor begins or ends otherwise than at 

the beginning or end of a year, the entitlement of that Councillor to a Basic or 
Special Responsibility Allowance shall be in proportion to the number of 
days of his term of office, relative to the number of days in that year. 

 
12. Renunciation 

 
A Councillor may by notice, in writing given to the Democratic Services Manager 
forego any part of his/her entitlement to an allowance under this Scheme. 
  

Page 324



13. Annual Review of Allowances 
 

The Basic Allowance, Special Responsibility Allowance and Dependent Carer’s 
Allowance shall be reviewed annually by an Independent Remuneration Panel 
and submitted for approval by Council.  
 
Travel and Subsistence rates will also be reviewed annually by an Independent 
Remuneration Panel and submitted for approval by Council. 

 
 

14. Claims and Payments 
 

(a) A claim for Dependant Carer’s or Subsistence Allowance or 
reimbursement of travel expenses under this Scheme shall be made 
in writing within two months of the date of the meeting in respect of 
which the entitlement arises. 

 
(b) A claim for Dependant Carer’s or Subsistence Allowance or to 

reimbursement of any travel expenses, shall be on the form provided 
by the Democratic Services Manager and shall include a statement by 
the Councillor making the claim that he or she is not entitled to 
receive remuneration, reimbursement or any allowance claimable 
from another body in respect of the matter to which the claim relates, 
otherwise than under this Scheme. 
 

(c) Where a payment of the amount specified in this Scheme in respect 
of a Basic Allowance or a Special Responsibility Allowance would 
result in a Councillor receiving more than the amount to which he or 
she is entitled, the payment shall be restricted to such an amount as 
will ensure that no more is paid than the amount to which he or she is 
entitled.  In the event of a Councillor no longer holding a Special 
Responsibility, or ceasing to be a Councillor, the amount of any 
allowance that has been overpaid will be recovered. 

 
15. Elected Members’ Pensions 

 
The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003, 
allow the Council to provide Pension arrangements for any Elected members 
explicitly recommended by the IRP. 
 
The IRP has recommended that no Members should be entitled to currently 
participate in the Pension Scheme. 
 
The IRP recommends this matter be considered at the next annual review. 

 
16. Co Opted Members Allowances 
 

The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) Regulations 2003, allow the 
Council to pay Co-opted members of committees an annual allowance in 
respect of their attendance at meetings. 
 
The IRP recommends that no allowance be set for the period of the ‘Shadow 
Authority’ and that this matter be considered at the next annual review. 
 

Page 325



SCHEDULE 1 
 
1. Basic and Special Responsibility Allowances (SRA) 

 
 The following are specified as the Basic and Special Responsibility 

Allowances which shall be payable at the Annual rates specified below for 
the period commencing  

 May 2022* until revoked or amended: -  
 

 
BASIC ALLOWANCE 

 
£ 

Shadow 
Period 

 
All Councillors 

 
12,000.00 

 
6,000.00 

 
SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCES (SRA) 

  

 
Leader of the Council 

 
21,000.00 

 
10,500.00 

 
Deputy Leader 

 
11,229.00 

 
5,614.50 

 
Chair of Council 

 
4,887.00 

 
2,443.50 

 
Executive Portfolio Holder 

 
6,735.00 

 
3,367.50 

 
Chair of Overview and Scrutiny  

 
1,000.00 

 
500.00 

 
Chair of Standards Committee 

 
500.00 

 
250.00 

 
Chair of Personnel Committee 

 
500.00 

 
250.00 

 
Group Leaders: 

- 2nd biggest group 
- All other groups 

 
(note: A group must be a minimum of five councillors) 

 
 

4,500.00 
1,128.00 

 
 

2,250.00 
564.00 

 
Co opted members  

 
Nil 

 
Nil 

 
* The IRP recommends a rate of 50% of the allowance be paid in the ‘Shadow’   

       period. 
 
Notes 
(i) No separate provision shall be paid in respect of line rental, 

broadband, telephone calls or other miscellaneous expenses 
associated with being a Councillor, except as provided within this 
scheme. All such costs are to be met from the annual amount of Basic 
Allowance identified above 

 
(ii) No Councillor shall receive more than one Special Responsibility 

Allowance. 
 
 
 
 Page 326



2. Dependant Carer’s Allowances 
A carer’s allowance of £9.50 per hour (alignment with the National Living 
Wage) and up to a maximum of £2,000 per annum will be paid for care of 
dependents whether children, elderly person’s or people with disabilities, to 
those Members representing the Council on approved duties (see paragraph 
5). The maximum period of the entitlement will be the duration of the 
approved duty and reasonable travelling time. The allowance will not be 
payable where the care is provided by a member of the claimant’s own 
household or if a member already receives a carers’ allowance. 
 

3. Travel 
Members should travel by Public Transport where reasonably possible. 
 
Rail Travel – the amount of the ordinary Standard Class fare at the cheapest 
rate available for the journey wherever possible. 

 
Taxi Cab - in cases of urgency or where no other form of public transport is 
reasonably available the amount of the actual fare and any reasonable 
gratuity paid - in any other cases the amount of the fare for travel by 
appropriate public transport. 

 
Private Motor Vehicle – Travel allowances are payable to all members who 
necessarily incur expenditure in the performance of an approved duty. The 
mileage rates are the prevailing HM Revenue and Customs limits for tax 
allowance purposes. Currently these are as follows: 
 
Cars and Vans: First 10,000 miles: 45p per mile 
    Over 10,000 miles: 25p per mile 
 
Motorcycles:  First 10,000 miles: 24p per mile 
    Over 10,000 miles: 24p per mile 
 
Bicycles:  First 10,000 miles: 20p per mile 
    Over 10,000 miles: 20 p per mile 
 
Members who submit mileage claims for reimbursement must request and 
submit VAT receipts for the purchase of fuel to support their claim. This 
procedure is necessary to allow the Council to recover VAT from HM 
Revenue & Customs (HMRC).  
 
Air - the rate for travel by air shall not exceed the rate applicable to travel by 
appropriate alternative means of transport together with an allowance 
equivalent to the amount of any saving in subsistence allowance consequent 
on travel by air. Where the saving in time is so substantial as to justify 
payment of the fare for travel by air, the amount paid shall not exceed: 
 
a) The ordinary fare or any available cheap fare for travel by regular air 

service, or 
b) Where no such service is available or in the case of urgency, the fare 

actually paid by the member 
Other Costs - The rates detailed above may be increased by not more than 
the amount of any necessary expenditure incurred on tolls, ferries or parking 
fees including overnight garaging, however receipts must be submitted with 
claims. 

Page 327



 
4. Subsistence 

 Where expenditure on subsistence is necessarily incurred in the 
performance of an 'approved duty' out with the Shadow Authority area, an 
allowance not exceeding the following maximum rates may be claimed upon 
the production of receipts, as set out below: 
 
(a) Breakfast allowance (more than 4 hours away from normal place of 

residence before 11 a.m.) £7.00 
 

(b) Lunch allowance (more than 4 hours away from normal place of 
residence including the period between 12 noon and 2 p.m.) £9.00 
 

(c) Evening meal allowance (more than 4 hours away from the normal 
place of residence ending after 6 p.m.) £15.00 

 
(d) In the case of an absence overnight from the usual place of 

residence,  
Accommodation should be pre-arranged through Democratic 
Services.  
However, where a member makes their own accommodation 
arrangements reimbursement of hotel bills will be limited to the 
following maximum rates. 
 
Non-London Hotel -  £130.00 plus VAT 
* London Hotels     -  £150.00 plus VAT 

 
* For the purposes of this, London means the City of London and the 
London Boroughs of Camden, Greenwich, Hackney, Hammersmith and 
Fulham, Islington, Kensington and Chelsea, Lambeth, Lewisham, 
Southwark, Tower Hamlets, Wandsworth and the City of Westminster. 

 
5. Conference Allowance 
 There is no Conference Allowance payable. 
 
6. Submission of Claims  

Claims under this scheme for the payment of travel and subsistence and 
carers’ allowances shall be submitted electronically on a monthly basis on a 
form prescribed for the purpose to the Monitoring Officer by the fourteenth day 
of the following month.  

 
7. Membership of Other Local Authorities  

Where a member is also a member of another local authority, that member 
may not receive allowances from more than one local authority in respect of 
the same duties.  

  
8. Qualifying Approved Duties  
 (i) For payment of Travel and Subsistence and Dependent Carer’s 
               Allowance:  

  Attendance at any meeting of the Council, Executive, Committee, Sub-
Committee, Panel or Working Group to which the Member has been 
appointed in an official capacity.  

Page 328



  Attendance as the Council’s appointed representative on any public body, 
charity, voluntary body or other organisation formed for a public purpose 
(and not for the benefit of the Member).  

  Attendance by the Chair, Vice Chair or Executive Member for the 
purposes of a briefing prior to a meeting of any meeting of the Council, 
Executive, Committee, Sub-Committee, Panel or Working Group.

Page 329



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 CODE OF CONDUCT AND STANDARDS ARRANGEMENTS
	17 May 2022
	Code of Conduct and Standards Arrangements
	1.0	Purpose/Summary of report
	2.0	Recommendation
	3.0	Background and Proposals
	5.0	Alternative Options
	6.0	Implications
	Financial, Resources and Procurement
	Human Resources
	Legal
	Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment
	Equality and Diversity.

	Contact Officers
	Appendices Attached to this Report
	Background Documents Available

	Item 6 - Appendix 1 Sections 27 and 28 of the Localism Act 2011
	Item 6 - Appendix 2 Code of Conduct
	Definitions
	Purpose of the Code of Conduct
	General principles of councillor conduct
	Application of the Code of Conduct
	Standards of councillor conduct
	2.	Bullying, harassment and discrimination
	As a councillor:
	3.	Impartiality of officers of the council
	As a councillor:
	4.	Confidentiality and access to information
	As a councillor:
	5.	Disrepute
	As a councillor:
	6.	Use of position
	As a councillor:
	7.	Use of local authority resources and facilities
	As a councillor:
	8.	Complying with the Code of Conduct
	As a Councillor:
	Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local authority
	10.	Gifts and hospitality
	As a councillor:
	Selflessness
	Integrity
	Objectivity
	Accountability
	Openness
	Honesty
	Leadership
	Appendix B
	Registering interests
	Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest
	Disclosure of Other Registrable Interests
	Disclosure of Non- Registrable Interests
	Table 2: Other Registrable Interests

	Item 6 - Appendix 3  Westmorland and Furness Arrangement for Dealing with Code of Conduct Matters
	The Public Interest Stage
	a. How serious is the breach of the Code?
	b) What is the level of culpability of the elected Member?
	c) What are the circumstances of and the harm caused to the complainant?
	d) What is the impact on the community?
	e) Is an investigation or formal hearing a proportionate response?

	Definitions
	Purpose of the Code of Conduct
	General principles of councillor conduct
	Application of the Code of Conduct
	Standards of councillor conduct
	General Conduct
	2.	Bullying,harassment and discrimination As a councillor:
	3.	Impartiality of officers of the council As a councillor:
	4.	Confidentiality and access to information As a councillor:
	5.	Disrepute As a councillor:
	6.	Use of position as a councillor:
	7.	Use of local authority resources and facilities
	As a councillor:
	8.	Complying with the Code of Conduct As a Councillor:
	Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local authority
	10.	Gifts and hospitality
	As a councillor:
	Appendices
	Selflessness
	Integrity
	Objectivity
	Accountability
	Openness
	Honesty
	Leadership
	Appendix B
	Registering interests
	Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest
	Disclosure of Other Registrable Interests
	Disclosure of Non- Registrable Interests
	Introduction and Summary
	1.	Interpretation
	‘Councillor’ means the member or co-opted member of the authority who is the subject of the allegation being considered by the Standards Committee, unless stated otherwise.  It also includes the Councillor’s representative.
	‘Investigating Officer’ means the person appointed by the Monitoring Officer to undertake that investigation (which may include the Monitoring Officer and/or his or her representative).
	‘The Matter’ is the subject matter of the Investigating Officer’s report.
	‘The Standards Committee’ refers to the Standards Committee or to any Standards Sub-Committee to which it has delegated the conduct of the hearing, unless the context indicates that it refers only to the Standards Committee itself.

	2.	Notification of Reference of Allegation to the Monitoring Officer
	(a)	Appointment of Investigating Officer
	(b)	Notification to the Councillor
	(i)	that the allegation has been referred to him for local investigation and determination;
	(ii)	the identity of the person making the allegation (unless identification of the complainant might prejudice the investigation or put the complainant at risk);
	(iii)	of the conduct which is the subject of the allegation;
	(iv)	of the section(s) of the Code of Conduct or local protocol which appear to him to be relevant to the allegation;
	(v)	of the procedure which will be followed in respect of the allegation, and
	(vi)	of the identity of the Investigating Officer.

	(c)	Notification to the Parish or Town Council Clerk
	(d)	Notification to the Person who made the Allegation
	(e)	Initial response of the Councillor
	(i)	advising the Investigating Officer whether the Councillor admits or denies the breach of the Code of Conduct or local protocol which is the subject of the allegation;
	(ii)	listing any documents which the Councillor would wish the Investigating Officer to take into account in any investigation of the allegation, where possible providing copies of these documents, and informing the Investigating Officer of where the original documents may be inspected,
	(iii)	providing the Investigating Officer with the name, address and telephone number (or other appropriate contact details) of any person or organisation whom the Councillor would wish the Investigating Officer to interview in the course of any investigation of the allegation (providing that, in the reasonable opinion of the Investigating Officer, the number of such is not excessive or disproportionate), and
	(iv)	providing the Investigating Officer with any information which the Councillor would wish the Investigating  Officer to seek from any person or organisation.

	(f)	Supporting information from the person who made the allegation
	(i)	listing any documents which the person would wish the Investigating Officer to take into account in any investigation of the allegation, where possible providing copies of these documents, and informing the Investigating Officer of where the original documents may be inspected,
	(ii)	providing the Investigating Officer with the name, address and telephone number (or other appropriate contact details) of any person or organisation whom the person would wish the Investigating Officer to interview in the course of any investigation of the allegation, and
	(iii)	providing the Investigating Officer with any information which the person would wish the Investigating  Officer to seek from any person or organisation.


	3.	Conduct of Investigation
	(a)	Purpose of the Investigation
	(b)	Termination of the Investigation
	(c)	Additional Matters
	(i)	(where the additional matter relates to an apparent breach of the authority’s Code of Conduct by a member of the principal authority) report the matter to the Monitoring Officer who will provide the Councillor with details of the matter in the form set out in paragraphs 2(b)(iii) and (iv) above and invite the Councillor to provide a statement as to why the additional matter does not constitute a breach of the Code of Conduct;
	(ii)	(where the additional matter constitutes an apparent breach of the authority’s local protocols but not a breach of the Code of Conduct by a member of the principal authority) report the matter to the Monitoring Officer who will provide the Councillor with details of the matter in the form set out in paragraphs 2(b)(iii) and (iv) above and invite the Councillor to provide a statement as to why the additional matter does not constitute a breach of the authority’s code of conduct. The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Independent Person and the Chair of the Standards Committee, will then take a decision whether to refer the matter to an Investigating Officer for local investigation and/or report to the Standards Committee as appropriate.;
	(iii)	(Where the additional matter relates to an apparent breach of the Code of Conduct by a Parish or Town Councillor) notify the Clerk to the Town or Parish Council of the additional matter, and take no further action in respect thereof.

	(d)	Following notification to the Councillor, the Investigating Officer will identify an initial list of persons to be interviewed, organisations from whom information is to be sought and documents to be inspected as part of the investigation. Where the Councillor has provided the Investigating Officer with the information requested in accordance with Paragraphs 2(f)(ii) and (iii) above, the Investigating Officer shall include in this list each document, person and organisation referred to in that response, unless they are of the opinion that the inclusion of that document, person or organisation would unreasonably delay the completion of the investigation rather than contribute to the accuracy of the Investigating Officer’s final report. The Investigating Officer may supplement or amend this list at any stage of the investigation.
	(e)	Production of documents, information and explanations
	(i)	In the course of the investigation, the Investigating Officer and any person authorised on their behalf may make such enquiries of any person or organisation, and request any person or organisation to provide any document or information which is in his/its possession or control, or provide any explanation, as they think necessary for the purposes of carrying out the investigation.
	(ii)	In the course of the investigation, the Investigating Officer and any person authorised on their behalf may require any authority of which the Councillor is a member to provide any document which is in his/its possession or control which they think necessary for the purposes of carrying out the investigation.

	(f)	Interviews
	(i)	Requesting attendance
	(ii)	Representation
	(iii)	Notes of interviews

	(g)	Costs

	4.	The Draft Report
	(a)	When the Investigating Officer is satisfied that they have sufficient information to meet the requirement set out in Paragraph 3(a), or has obtained as much information as is likely to be reasonably capable of being obtained, they shall prepare a draft report with a “confidential” and “draft” marking setting out:
	(i)	the details of the allegation;
	(ii)	the relevant provisions of statute, of the Code of Conduct and any relevant local Protocols
	(iii)	the Councillor’s initial response to notification of the allegation (if any);
	(iv)	the relevant information, evidence, advice and explanations which they have obtained in the course of the investigation;
	(v)	a list of any documents relevant to the matter;
	(vi)	a list of those persons whom they have interviewed and those organisations from whom they have sought information;
	(vii)	a note of any person or organisation who has failed to co-operate with the investigation and the manner in which they have failed to co-operate;
	(viii)	a statement of their draft findings of fact;
	(ix)	their conclusion (with reasons) as to whether the Councillor has or has not failed to comply with the Code of Conduct for Members of any authority or a local protocol, and
	(x)	any recommendations which the Investigating Officer is minded to make to any authority concerned for reviewing or reconsidering any decision which was the subject of the breach of the Code of Conduct or local protocol, for rectifying any deficiency in the authority’s decision-making procedures or for preventing or deterring any breach of the Code of Conduct or local protocol or to remedy the position of any person who may have suffered detriment or injustice as a result of the breach. Where the allegation relates to a Parish or Town Councillor, such recommendations would be recommendations which the Investigating Officer would recommend that the Standards Committee make to the Parish or Town Council.

	(b)	The draft report should also state that the report does not necessarily represent the Investigating Officer’s final finding, and that the investigating Officer will present a final report to the Monitoring Officer once they have considered any comments received on the draft report.
	(c)	The Investigating Officer shall then send a copy of their draft report in confidence to the Councillor and the person making the allegation, and request that they send any comments thereon to them within 14 days.
	(d)	The Investigating Officer may send a copy of, or relevant extracts from their draft report in confidence to any person on whose evidence they have relied in compiling the draft report, and request that they send any comments thereon to them within 14 days.

	5.	The Final Report
	(a)	After the expiry of that period (or such extended period as the Investigating Officer may allow), the Investigating Officer shall reconsider and amend their draft report in the light of any comments received, and produce and send to the Monitoring Officer his final report. The final report should be marked “final” and state that the report represents the Investigating Officer’s final findings and may, if necessary, be presented to the Standards Committee, and should, subject to 3(e)(iii), have appended to it copies of any documents which the Investigating Officer has relied on in reaching their conclusions, such as background documents of telephone conversations, letters, notes of interviews with witnesses and a chronology of events;
	(b)	The Monitoring Officer shall then send a copy of the final report to the Councillor, advising that:
	(i)	where the final report concludes that there has not been a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct for Members or a local protocol, (if the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Independent Person and Chair of the Standards Committee are satisfied) that no further action is required, and
	(ii)	where the final report concludes that there has been a failure by the Councillor to comply with the Code of Conduct for Members or   with a local protocol, they will  consider, in consultation with the Independent Person and Chair of the Standards Committee, whether the matter be further dealt with by Local Resolution or a Local Hearing.

	(c)	If the complaint is dealt with by Local Resolution then that is the end of the matter.
	(d)	If it is determined that there should be a Local Hearing then the Procedure for  Determination of Allegations about the Personal Conduct of Members will apply.

	INTRODUCTION
	PRE-HEARING PROCESS [LOCAL INVESTIGATIONS]
	NOTIFYING THE MEMBER AND COMPLAINANT
	THE HEARING
	PROCEDURE AT THE HEARING
	PROCEEDING IN THE ABSENCE OF THE MEMBER


	Item 6 - Appendix 4  Code of Conduct Guidance -  2022
	Register of interests
	Sensitive interests

	Item 6 - Appendix 5 Register of interests form

	7 PROPOSED SHADOW AUTHORITY CONSTITUTION
	17 May 2022
	Proposed Shadow Authority Constitution
	2.0	Recommendation
	3.0	Background and Proposals
	4.0	Consultation
	5.0	Alternative Options
	6.0	Implications
	Financial, Resources and Procurement
	Human Resources
	Legal
	Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment
	Equality and Diversity.


	Item 7 - Appendix 1 Westmorland and Furness Shadow Authority Constitution - 4 May 2022
	Definitions
	Purpose of the Code of Conduct
	General principles of councillor conduct
	Application of the Code of Conduct
	Standards of councillor conduct
	General Conduct
	2.	Bullying, harassment and d iscrimination
	As a councillor:
	3.	Impartiality of officers of the council
	As a councillor:
	4.	Confidentiality and access to information
	As a councillor:
	5.	Disrepute
	As a councillor:
	6.	Use of position
	As a councillor:
	7.	Use of local authority resources and facilities
	As a councillor:
	8.	Complying with the Code of Conduct
	As a Councillor:
	Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local authority
	10.	Gifts and hospitality
	As a councillor:
	Appendices
	Selflessness
	Integrity
	Objectivity
	Accountability
	Openness
	Honesty
	Leadership
	Appendix B
	Registering interests
	Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest
	Disclosure of Other Registrable Interests
	Disclosure of Non- Registrable Interests
	Table 2: Other Registrable Interests


	8 INTERIM STATUTORY ROLES
	17 May 2022
	Interim Statutory Roles
	1.0	Purpose/Summary of report
	2.0	Recommendation
	3.0	Background and Proposals
	5.0	Alternative Options
	6.0	Implications
	Financial, Resources and Procurement
	Human Resources
	Legal
	Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment
	Equality and Diversity

	Contact Officers
	Appendices Attached to this Report
	Background Documents Available


	12 POLITICAL BALANCE, AND ALLOCATION OF COMMITTEE PLACES
	17 May 2022
	Political Balance, and Allocation of Committee Places
	1.0	Purpose/Summary of report
	2.0	Recommendation
	3.0	Background and Proposals
	4.0	Consultation
	5.0	Alternative Options
	6.0	Implications
	Financial, Resources and Procurement
	Human Resources
	Legal
	Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment

	Contact Officers
	7.0 Appendices Attached to this Report
	Background Documents Available

	Committee Places Report Appendix 1 - full list of Councillors

	13 CALENDAR OF MEETINGS - 2022-23
	17 May 2022
	Calendar of Meetings 2022-2023
	1.0	Purpose/Summary of report
	2.0	Recommendation
	3.0	Background and Proposals
	4.0	Consultation
	5.0	Alternative Options
	6.0	Implications
	Financial, Resources and Procurement
	Human Resources
	Legal
	Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment
	Equality and Diversity.

	Contact Officers
	Linda Fisher – Monitoring Officer and Technical Lead Legal and Democratic Work Stream (South Lakeland District Council)
	7.0	Appendices Attached to this Report
	Background Documents Available

	Item 13 - Appendix 1 Westmorland and Furness calendar of meetings (003) (002)
	Item 13 - Appendix 2 Proposed  Venues for Westmorland and Furness  Shadow Authority Meetings

	14 IMPLEMENTATION TEAM
	17 May 2022
	Implementation Team
	1.0	Purpose/Summary of report
	1.1	This report informs Members about the Implementation Team that has been put in place to support the Local Government Re-organisation process. Another report on the agenda provides related information regarding the Implementation Plan and programme governance arrangements that have been developed by officers of the County Council, the Cumberland Councils and the Westmorland and Furness Councils, to ensure a smooth transition to the new unitary Councils for Cumberland and Westmorland and Furness on Vesting Day, 1 April 2023.
	2.0	Recommendation
	3.0	Background and Proposals
	4.0	Consultation
	5.0	Alternative Options
	6.0	Implications
	Financial, Resources and Procurement
	Human Resources
	Legal
	Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment
	Equality and Diversity.

	Contact Officers
	Appendices Attached to this Report
	Background Documents Available


	15 IMPLEMENTATION PLAN
	17 May 2022
	Implementation Plan
	1.0	Purpose/Summary of report
	2.0	Recommendation
	3.0	Background and Proposals
		Additional staff capacity to deliver the programme
		Procurement of specialist support and advisory services
		Communication and public consultation
		Purchase of Systems and Information Technology for the two new unitary authorities
		Election costs with regards to the two new unitary authorities
		Running costs related to the shadow authorities
		Rebranding, implementation and creating the two new unitary authorities
	3.21	The Reserve will not be used to support Transformation and Investment costs, nor any redundancy costs associated with LGR in Cumbria.
	3.22	Contributions to the Reserve have been made by all seven Councils at the same time to an initial total value of £18,920,000. Contributions to the Reserve have been approved through each Council’s own governance processes, the values are:

	3.23	Initial allocations from the Reserve to the different activities for the Implementation Programme have been approved by the LGR Programme Board including an allocation to Contingencies.  If any balances remain in the Reserve once the Implementation Plan has been delivered the balance will be shared 50/50 with the two new Unitary Councils.
	4.0	Consultation
	5.0	Alternative Options
	6.0	Implications
	Financial, Resources and Procurement
	Human Resources
	Legal
	Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment
	Equality and Diversity.

	Contact Officers
	Appendices Attached to this Report
	Background Documents Available

	20220222LGRProgrammeImplementationPlanApril22v6
	Item 15 - Appendix 2a 29-03-22 Westmorland and Furness Joint Committee Minutes Final

	16 MEMBERS' ALLOWANCES AND APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL
	17 May 2022
	Members’ Allowances and Appointment of Independent Remuneration Panel
	1.0	Purpose/Summary of report
	2.0	Recommendation
	3.0	Background and Proposals
	4.0	Consultation
	5.0	Alternative Options
	6.0	Implications
	Financial, Resources and Procurement
	Human Resources
	Legal
	Health and Sustainability Impact Assessment
	Equality and Diversity

	Contact Officers
	Appendices Attached to this Report

	Appendix 1 - Members' Allowances - IRP Recommendations - W&F
	SCHEDULE 1
	3.	Travel
	4.	Subsistence
	8.	Qualifying Approved Duties







